
i

HAVANT BOROUGH COUNCIL
PUBLIC SERVICE PLAZA
CIVIC CENTRE ROAD
HAVANT
HAMPSHIRE P09 2AX

Telephone: 023 9247 4174
Fax: 023 9248 0263
Website: www.havant.gov.uk

CABINET AGENDA

Membership:      Councillor Cheshire (Chairman)

Councillors Bains, Briggs, Guest, Turner and Wilson

Meeting: Cabinet

Date: Wednesday 16 November 2016 

Time: 6.00 pm

Venue: Hollybank Room, Public Service Plaza, Civic Centre Road, 
Havant, Hants PO9 2AX

The business to be transacted is set out below: 

Nick Leach
Monitoring Officer

8 November 2016

Contact Officer: Penny Milne 02392446234
Email:  penny.milne@havant.gov.uk

Page
PART 1 (Items open for public attendance)

1 Apologies for Absence  

To receive and record any apologies for absence. 

2 Minutes  

To confirm the minutes of the last meeting held on 7 September 
2016. 

1 - 6

3 Matters Arising  

To consider any matters arising from the minutes of the last meeting. 

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/


ii

4 Declarations of Interests  

5 Chairman's Report  

6 Cabinet Lead Delegated Decisions, Minutes from Meetings etc.  

The Cabinet to note the minutes of the Portchester Crematorium Joint 
Management Committee meeting held on 19 September 2016. 

7 - 10

7 Deputations  

The Cabinet to note deputation requests received, to be set out in the 
supplementary information to follow. 

8 Local Plan Housing Statement  11 - 266

Cabinet Lead for Economy, Planning and Development, 
Prosperity Havant

9 Street Naming and Numbering and Address Management  267 - 288

Cabinet Lead For Governance and Organisational 
Development

10 Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18  289 - 292

11 Councillor Development Panel  293 - 294

PART 2 (Confidential items - closed to the public)

12 Exclusion of the Press and Public  

The Cabinet is asked to consider whether to pass a resolution 
excluding the public from the meeting during consideration of any of 
the items on the agenda.  If members wish to do so then this could be 
achieved by passing the following resolution.  Members are not 
required to pass the resolution but the Solicitor to the Council 
recommends this as to the item set out below.

That the public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of 
the item headed and numbered as below because:

(a) it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if members 
of the public were present during that item there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information of the descriptions 
specified in paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A (as 
amended) of the Local Government Act 1972 shown against 
the heading in question; and

(b) in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in 



iii

maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information.

Item 13 – Exempt Cabinet Lead Delegated Decisions

(Paragraph 3)
 

13 Exempt Cabinet Lead Delegated Decisions  

The Cabinet to note the attached exempt decision taken by the 
Deputy Leader on 30 September 2016 under the Scheme of 
Delegations to Cabinet Leads: Approval for Professional Fees.
 

295 - 296



iv

 GENERAL INFORMATION

IF YOU WOULD LIKE A VERSION OF THIS AGENDA, OR 
ANY OF ITS REPORTS, IN LARGE PRINT, BRAILLE, 
AUDIO OR IN ANOTHER LANGUAGE PLEASE CONTACT 
DEMOCRATIC SERVICES ON 023 9244 6231
Internet

This agenda and its accompanying reports can also be found on the Havant 
Borough Council website: www.havant.gov.uk

Public Attendance and Participation

Members of the public are welcome to attend the Public Service Plaza and 
observe the meetings. Many of the Council’s meetings allow the public to 
make deputations on matters included in the agenda. Rules govern this 
procedure and for further information please get in touch with the contact 
officer for this agenda. 

Disabled Access

The Public Service Plaza has full access and facilities for the disabled.

Emergency Procedure

Please ensure that you are familiar with the location of all emergency exits 
which are clearly marked. In the unlikely event of an emergency an alarm will 
sound.

PLEASE EVACUATE THE BUILDING IMMEDIATELY.

DO NOT RE-ENTER THE BUILDING UNTIL AUTHORISED TO DO SO

No Smoking Policy

The Public Service Plaza operates a strict No Smoking policy in all of its 
offices, corridors, meeting rooms and toilets. 

Parking

Pay and display car parking is available in the Leisure Centre car park 
opposite the Plaza.

http://www.havant.gov.uk/


v

PROTOCOL AT MEETINGS – RULES OF DEBATE

Rules of Debate

 Councillors must always address each other as “Councillor …” and must 
always address the meeting through the Chairman;

 A motion must relate to the business included on the agenda or accepted by 
the meeting as urgent business

 A motion must be proposed and seconded before it is debated until it is either 
accepted or rejected by a vote; 

 An amendment can be proposed to the original motion and this must be 
seconded before it is debated;

 An amendment cannot be considered if it is inconsistent with an amendment 
previously adopted or repeats an amendment previously rejected;

 The mover of an original motion may, with the consent of the mover of an 
amendment, incorporate an amendment into the motion;

 Only one amendment may be moved at a time. No further amendments can be 
moved until the previous amendment has been dealt with;

 Each amendment must be voted on separately;
 If an amendment is carried, the amended motion becomes the substantive 

motion to which further amendments may be moved;
 If an amendment is lost, other amendments may be moved to the original 

motion.
 The mover may withdraw an amendment at any time
 After an amendment has been carried, the Chairman will read out the amended 

(substantive) motion, before accepting any further amendment, or if there are 
none, put it to the vote.

Voting

 Voting may be by a show of hands or by a ballot at the discretion of the 
Chairman;

 Councillors may not vote unless they are present for the full duration of the 
item;

 Where there is an equality of votes, the Chairman may exercise a second 
(casting) vote;

 Two Councillors may request, before a vote is taken, that the names of those 
voting be recorded in the minutes

 A recorded vote will always be taken in respect of approval of the Annual 
Budget

 Councillors may not vote unless they are in the meeting for the full debate on 
any particular item

 A Councillor may request that his/her vote be recorded in the minutes



vi

Public 
Service 
Plaza



1
Cabinet

7 September 2016

HAVANT BOROUGH COUNCIL

At a meeting of the Cabinet held on 7 September 2016

Present 

Councillor Cheshire (Chairman)

Councillors Bains, Turner and Wilson

21 Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Briggs and Guest.

22 Minutes

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 20 July 
2016 were approved as a correct record.

23 Matters Arising

There were no matters arising from the minutes of the last meeting.

24 Declarations of Interests

There were no declarations of interest.

25 Chairman's Report

The Chairman reports that discussions were ongoing with partners in relation to 
devolution and other key current issues. 

26 Cabinet Lead Delegated Decisions, Minutes from Meetings etc.

RESOLVED that the following delegated decision be noted:

(1) Traffic Regulation Order London Road (Outside Nos. 9-19), Cowplain.

27 Recommendations from the Scrutiny Board

None at this meeting.

28 Councillor Grant Scheme



2
Cabinet

7 September 2016

Councillor Cheshire presented a report proposing the establishment of a 
Community Grants Scheme at Havant Borough Council for Councillors to 
spend on local issues.  Cabinet members welcomed the proposal as a valuable 
opportunity for local ward Councillors to engage with local community and 
voluntary groups to support community projects in their area.

RESOLVED that:

(1) A Community Grants Scheme be approved for grants of either £100 or 
£200 up to a maximum of £1,000 each year for each Councillors;

(2) Councillors be permitted to allocate the entire £1,000 to an organisation, 
group or event; and

(3) Approval of any final details of the administration of the scheme be 
delegated to the Head of Communications and Community Engagement 
in consultation with the Cabinet Lead and Section 151 Officer.

29 Encouraging Inward Investment in Havant Borough through Business 
Rates Incentives

In the absence of Councillor Guest, the Leader presented a report to Cabinet 
seeking approval for a scheme to offer discretionary Business Rate incentives 
to new build developments to secure major inward investment, employment 
growth, new business floor space and long term revenue growth in Havant 
Borough.

Confirmation was given that the proposals, if agreed by Cabinet, could help to 
facilitate local business expansion, as well as encourage inward investment, for 
those businesses that met the criteria of the scheme.

The Monitoring Officer also confirmed that, as the proposals were within budget 
and in line with the Council’s Corporate Strategy objective to support local 
business, this decision fell within the remit of the Cabinet.

RESOLVED that the policy as set out in the report be approved as a means to 
facilitate business growth and inward investment in Havant Borough.

30 Park Tennis Provision - Hayling Island Pilot



3
Cabinet

7 September 2016

Councillor Turner presented a report to Cabinet seeking approval for a pilot 
scheme to initiate works that would change the way tennis courts were 
managed and invoke a public charge for usage which would link with the 
Council’s Personalisation Project if successful.

Cabinet members were supportive of the proposal as a means to improve and 
develop tennis facilities for local residents, working with the Lawn Tennis 
Association.

RESOLVED that

(1) the officers be authorised to implement a Park Tennis Pilot Project on 
Hayling island; 

(2) Hayling Island tennis courts be changed from an open access provision 
to a self-funded bookable facility; and

(3) The Pilot Project be reviewed with a view to implementing the Scheme 
across the whole Borough within the next 2 years.

31 Developers' Contributions for Affordable Housing

Councillor Turner presented a report to Cabinet seeking approval for a set of 
both principles, and specific projects which Developers’ Contributions for 
Affordable Housing, collected through the planning system, could be spent.  
Cabinet members were supportive of the proposal in principle and in relation to 
the specific project referred to in the report, as a means of reducing the need 
for short-term B&B placements.

RESOLVED that

(1) the procedure for spending Developers’ Contributions for Affordable 
housing, as set out in Appendix A to the report:

(2) approval be given to spend Developers’ Contributions for:

(a) up to £150,000 per project;
(b) up to £50,000 per affordable housing unit; and
(c) up to £25,000 funding for staff resources, feasibility or enabling 

work per project is delegated to the Head of Housing in 
consultation with the Cabinet Lead for Communities and Housing; 
and

(3) approval be given to use the Developers’ Contributions budget to 
increase staff resources if required.

32 Charter for Elected Member Development - Appointment of Councillor 
Development Panel



4
Cabinet

7 September 2016

Councillor Wilson presented a report to Cabinet seeking the appointment of a 
Councillor Development Panel under the South East Employers scheme for 
achieving Charter for Elected Member Development accreditation.

Councillor Wilson also proposed the following revised recommendation in 
relation to paragraph 2.3:

“2.3 that the Cabinet appoints members to sit on the Councillor Development 
Panel for 2016/17 in accordance with the Terms of Reference.”

RESOLVED that

(1) a Councillor Development Panel be established to oversee 
implementation of the Councillor Development Strategy, the Councillor 
Training and Development Programme and an Action Plan for taking 
forward accreditation under the South East Employers Charter for 
Elected Member Development;

(2) Terms of Reference for the Panel be agreed as set out in Appendix A to 
the report; and 

(3) the following Councillors be appointed to sit on the Councillor 
Development Panel in 2016/17 in accordance with its terms of reference:

Councillors M Wilson, G Shimbart, J Perry, J Branson, L Bowerman, 
B Francis and D Lloyd.

33 Exclusion of the Press and Public

RESOLVED that the press and the public be excluded from the meeting 
during consideration of the following items as:-

(i) it was likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted, or the 
nature of the proceedings, that if members of the public were present during 
that item there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as specified 
in paragraph 1 of Part I of Schedule 12A (as amended) to the Local 
Government Act 1972; and

(ii) in all circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.

The report to be considered was exempt under Paragraph 1(Information
relating to any individual).

34 Dangerous Wall, 97-109 North St, Emsworth

In the absence of Councillor Guest, the Leader presented an exempt report to 
Cabinet advising on the status of the dangerous wall at 97-109 North Street, 
Emsworth and recommending that the wall be replaced by the Council.

RESOLVED as set out in the restricted minute.



5
Cabinet

7 September 2016

The meeting commenced at 2.00 pm and concluded at 2.52 pm

……………………………

Chairman





1

PORTCHESTER CREMATORIUM JOINT COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF THE MEETING of the Joint Committee held in the Public 
Services Plaza, Havant on Monday 19 September 2016 at 2.00 pm.

Present

Fareham Borough Council

Councillor Susan Bell
Councillor Keith Evans

Gosport Borough Council
                                 

Councillor Alan Scard
                            Councillor Dennis Wright (Chairman)

Havant Borough Council

Councillor Tony Briggs

Portsmouth City Council

Councillor Lee Mason
Councillor Rob New

Apologies for Absence (AI 1)

Councillor David Guest (Havant Borough Council).  Terry Garvey (Engineer & 
Surveyor), Mark Pam (Deputy Engineer & Survey) and Ashley Humphrey 
(Horticultural Consultant)

698 Appointment of Vice-Chairman (AI 2)

RESOLVED that Councillor Lee Mason (Portsmouth City Council) be 
appointed Vice-Chairman for the municipal year 2016/17.

699 Declarations of Members’ Interests (Al 3) – None

700 Minutes of the Meeting held on 13 June 2016 (AI 4)

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on the 13 June 2016 be 
signed as a correct record.

701 Matters Arising from the Minutes not specifically referred to on the 
Agenda (AI 5)  - None



2

702 Clerk’s Items (AI 6) 

(a) Metals Reycling Scheme

The Clerk reported that following consultation with members during early 
September 2016, there was support for the submission of an application for 
the Macmillan Nurses under the metals recycling scheme operated by the 
Institute of Cemetery and Cremation Management.    The application had now 
been submitted, with the support of the Macmillan Nurses who were 
consulted. 

Arising out of a question about other possible recipients of grants, the 
Manager and Registrar advised that the scheme required any application to 
explain how the charity or organisation assisted bereavement.
 
RESOLVED that the action taken be noted.

(b) Internal Audit Report 1083

(TAKEN IN REPORT DATED AUGUST 2016)

The Clerk and the Deputy Treasurer reported on the findings of this report 
which covered the Internal Audit work carried out in 2016/17 in accordance 
with the 5 year plan previously approved by the Joint Committee.

Overall, for the areas audited, the report found that adequate controls were in 
place and were working effectively.    Improvements had been suggested to 
some areas of performance management and monitoring and arrangements 
were in hand to implement the proposals. 

RESOLVED that the report be received and the action being taken noted.

703 Building Works Programme (AI 7)

(TAKE IN REPORT OF THE ENGINEER AND SURVEYOR)
 
Arising out of a question, the Manager and Registrar reported that the officers 
would be looking at refurbishment opportunities for the North Chapel in the 
future as part of the maintenance programme. 

RESOLVED that the contents of the report be noted.

704 Manager and Registrar’s Report (AI 8)

(a) General Statistical Report

(TAKE IN REPORT OF THE MANAGER AND REGISTRAR)

In submitting his report the Manager and Registrar advised that, together with 
September’s figures to date, the number of cremations was in line with that 
expected.



3

RESOLVED (a) that the report be received and noted.

(b) Any other items of topical interest - None 

705 Horticultural Consultant’s Report (AI 9)

(TAKE IN REPORT OF THE HORTICULTURAL CONSULTANT)   

Members were advised that the Crematorium had received a Gold Medal in 
the 2016 South and South East Britain in Bloom Awards. 

RESOLVED that the report be received and approved.

706 Portchester Crematorium Grounds Maintenance Contract (AI 10)

Before considering this item the Joint Committee –
 
RESOLVED that the public be excluded from the meeting during this 
item of business because it is likely that if members of the public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of ‘exempt information’ 
within paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972.

                              (TAKE IN EXEMPT MINUTE)

The officers reported that the present grounds maintenance contract would 
expire on 31 December 2016.   The report contained options for the provision 
of grounds maintenance services after this date.

The Joint Committee agreed (summarised) that arrangements be made to 
invite tenders for the grounds maintenance contract to start from a date in 
2017 and that interim arrangements be made for the provision of grounds 
maintenance until the start of the new contract.   
 

707 Date of Next Meeting – Monday 12 December 2016 at 2pm in Portsmouth
          

The meeting concluded at 2.40pm

Chairman

JH/me  
19 September 2016  
106190916m.doc





NON EXEMPT

             

HAVANT BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET 16 November 2016

Local Plan Housing Statement
Report by: David Hayward

FOR RECOMMENDATION 
TO COUNCIL

Cabinet Lead (HBC):  Cabinet Lead for Economy, Planning, Development and 
Prosperity Havant

Key Decision: Yes

1.0 Purpose of Report 

1.1 To feed back to Cabinet the full results of the recent Local Plan consultation and 
recommend that changes should be made to the Local Plan Housing Statement before 
its adoption.

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 Cabinet are recommended to:

a) Note the responses to the recent consultation (Appendix 1).

b) Approve the proposed changes to the Local Plan Housing Statement (as set out in 
appendix 1).

c) Recommend to Full Council the adoption of the Local Plan Housing Statement 
(Appendix 2).

d) Note the Borough Council’s five year housing land supply position as described in 
paragraphs 3.14 - 3.19.

e) Authorise the Head of Planning to publish a five year supply housing summary and 
update it as necessary.

f) Delegate authority to the Head of Planning, in consultation with the Cabinet Lead 
for Economy, Planning, Development and Prosperity Havant, to make any 
necessary amendments to the documents listed above. These shall be limited to 
grammatical, typographical, formatting and graphic design changes and shall not 
change the meaning of the material.

3.0 Summary 

This report feeds back to Cabinet the results of the recent consultation on the Havant 
Borough Local Plan 2036 and the Draft Local Plan Housing Statement. It also highlights 
the issues that were raised and the proposed solutions to the Housing Statement that 
should be taken forward.



NON EXEMPT

4.0 Subject of Report 

National context: the requirement for an up-to-date Local Plan

3.1 The Local Plan remains one of the most important functions of the Council. Whilst there 
have been extensive changes to the planning system in recent years, this has only 
pushed further towards a plan-led development approach in the UK and has increased 
the necessity of having an up-to-date Local Plan.

3.2 Government have made clear, both in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
as well as in legislation, that significantly boosting the supply of housing is a key national 
priority. If the Council submits a plan to Government that falls short of the requirements 
of the NPPF, the Inspector who examines the plan is able to make changes to that plan. 
It also remains the case that any applicant who is refused planning permission by the 
Council can appeal to the Secretary of State (in practice the Planning Inspectorate). The 
requirements of the NPPF, including the need for housing, is a significant material factor 
in the decision making process (see below).

3.3 It is essential that the Council continues to positively plan for the future of the borough 
through a Local Plan set within this reality. This is ultimately the best way of achieving 
sustainable development and creating successful places for future generations. The 
borough has a strong history in producing Local Plans for the area and is determined to 
keep positively planning for the future of the borough. This approach has been praised 
by Government. When asked by Alan Mak, Member of Parliament for Havant, whether 
he would congratulate Havant Borough Council on their work regarding the update to the 
Local Plan, Gavin Barlow, Minister of State for Housing, Planning and Minister for 
London, set out “I am happy to do that. It was a pleasure to visit my hon. Friend’s 
constituency recently and to meet Councillor David Guest, who is leading this work on 
behalf of Havant Council1”. 

3.4 Following the recent McCarthy & Stone appeal in Purbrook the Adopted Local Plan2 
cannot now be considered up-to-date (see below for more detail) and as a result, any 
policies regarding housing supply cannot now be given the same weight as they were 
before. However the action that the Council takes to manage this situation will then help 
to determine the weight which can be given to the policies in the Adopted Local Plan3.

3.5 This changed national/local context has significant implications for the borough both in 
the short and potentially the longer term. The lessening of the weight of the large 
number of policies in the Havant Borough Local Plan (Core Strategy and Allocations) 
which address housing supply will lead to a substantial reduction in the level of influence 
which the Council and the borough’s communities have over future development 
decisions. The likelihood of losing further appeals is significantly increased and will feel 
for the Council and our communities that development is being done to us.

1 https://hansard.parliament.uk/Commons/2016-10-24/debates/755E26B6-847A-4623-B694-
450E45E85961/HouseBuilding#contribution-71C7ED25-73E9-4A9B-B20C-A2672449620A 
2 The Adopted Local Plan is made up of the Havant Borough Local Plan (Core Strategy) (http://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-
environment/planning-policy/local-plan-core-strategy) and Havant Borough Local Plan (Allocations) 
(http://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/local-plan-allocations).
3 This has been confirmed through a recent Court of Appeal determination, which is available at 
http://www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/assets/Planning/Suffolk-Coastal-Local-Plan/Core-Strategy-and-DMP/NANT-v-SCDC-Council.pdf

https://hansard.parliament.uk/Commons/2016-10-24/debates/755E26B6-847A-4623-B694-450E45E85961/HouseBuilding#contribution-71C7ED25-73E9-4A9B-B20C-A2672449620A
https://hansard.parliament.uk/Commons/2016-10-24/debates/755E26B6-847A-4623-B694-450E45E85961/HouseBuilding#contribution-71C7ED25-73E9-4A9B-B20C-A2672449620A
http://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/local-plan-core-strategy
http://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/local-plan-core-strategy
http://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/local-plan-allocations
http://www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/assets/Planning/Suffolk-Coastal-Local-Plan/Core-Strategy-and-DMP/NANT-v-SCDC-Council.pdf


NON EXEMPT
3.6 As a result, it is vital to keep positively planning for the future of the borough and for local 

communities and the Council to collaborate on the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036 in 
order to manage the new reality we are entering. This new Local Plan will bring 
significant benefits for everyone who lives, works or visits the borough of Havant and is 
essential in raising prosperity and providing a high quality of life. 

The Adopted Local Plan and the PUSH Spatial Position Statement

3.7 The Adopted Local Plan uses the former South East Plan housing target for the borough 
(315 per year from 2006 up to 2026). This figure pre-dates the NPPF and is not based 
on an objective assessment of housing need.

3.8 Under the NPPF, housing targets must be based on an objective assessment of housing 
need across a housing market area and there is also a ‘duty to cooperate’ with 
neighbouring authorities on such matters.

3.9 The Council fulfils the duty to cooperate principally through the Partnership for Urban 
South Hampshire. This is an effective partnership of all of the district and borough 
councils in South Hampshire along with Hampshire County Council. Ongoing discussion 
and cooperation also takes place with Chichester District Council as well. Such 
discussions are a useful way for the Council to discuss and collaborate with 
neighbouring authorities on those issues, such as the need for housing, which cross 
administrative boundaries. 

3.10 Through PUSH, an objective assessment of housing need across South Hampshire’s 
three housing market areas4 was commissioned. These ‘Strategic Housing Market 
Assessments’, which were published in 2014 and 2016 show a marked increase in the 
number of new homes which are needed across the housing market area and in Havant 
Borough. The Objectively Assessed Housing Need Update in 2016 confirms the need for 
121,500 new homes across the three HMAs in South Hampshire from 2011 to 2036. Of 
these, 11,250 need to be provided in Havant Borough5.

3.11 Paragraph 47 of the NPPF sets out that “to boost significantly the supply of housing, 
local planning authorities should…use their evidence base to ensure that their Local 
Plan meets the full, objectively assessed need for market and affordable housing in the 
housing market area, as far as is consistent with the policies set out in (the NPPF), 
including identifying key sites which are critical for the delivery of the housing strategy 
over the plan period”.

3.12 In light of the firm requirement of the NPPF to address housing need and the available 
evidence, the Local Planning Authorities which make up PUSH progressed a review of 
the South Hampshire Strategy. The resultant PUSH Spatial Position Statement was 
published on 7th June 20166. This shows how the Council have cooperated with our 
neighbouring authorities, under the Duty to Cooperate, to put in place a high level 
framework to address housing need over the housing market area.

4 Havant Borough is part of a wider ‘PUSH East’ housing market area focussed on the city of Portsmouth. This includes all of the 
local authorities of Havant, Portsmouth and Gosport and sections of Fareham, Winchester and East Hampshire. 
5 These reports are available on the PUSH website at http://www.push.gov.uk/strategic_housing_market_assessment.htm. 
6 This is available on the PUSH website at http://www.push.gov.uk/work/planning-and-
infrastructure/push_spatial_position_statement_to_2034-2.htm. 

http://www.push.gov.uk/strategic_housing_market_assessment.htm
http://www.push.gov.uk/work/planning-and-infrastructure/push_spatial_position_statement_to_2034-2.htm
http://www.push.gov.uk/work/planning-and-infrastructure/push_spatial_position_statement_to_2034-2.htm


NON EXEMPT
3.13 Nonetheless, the Spatial Position Statement stresses that the suggested targets should 

be treated as minima. The Council consequently undertook further, more detailed 
analysis  to actively seek opportunities to identify how the shortfall against objectively 
assessed need can be met through the Local Plan process.

Housing Supply

3.14 As set out above, paragraph 47 of the NPPF requires that to significantly boost the 
supply of housing. As well as addressing housing need, Local Planning authorities 
should also “identify and update annually a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient 
to provide five years worth of housing against their housing requirements with an 
additional buffer of 5% (moved forward from later in the plan period) to ensure choice 
and competition in the market for land.”

3.15 On 11th December 2015, the Council refused planning permission for a development of 
42 retirement apartments for older persons at 38 London Road, Purbrook. This was 
subsequently appealed by the applicant and a decision issued on 25th August. The 
appeal was upheld and planning permission granted.

3.16 One of the key considerations of the appeal was whether the borough had a five year 
supply of deliverable sites for housing. The Council refused planning permission on the 
basis of having a five year supply based on the target in the Adopted Local Plan. 
However it was determined that whilst the housing target in the Adopted Local Plan was 
examined in 2013, it is not based on objectively assessed housing need as required by 
the NPPF.

3.17 As such, the borough does not have a five year supply of deliverable housing sites.  In 
the absence of a tested housing target in an up-to-date Local Plan, it is necessary to 
measure supply against the objectively assessed housing need, which is 450 homes per 
year (the 11,250 need divided by 25 years).

3.18 A five year supply position would have been published with the Annual Monitoring 
Report. It is proposed that this is also updated periodically as the five year supply 
position evolves. This would be published at www.havant.gov.uk/localplan.

3.19 This appeal decision and the implications under the NPPF will have a significant impact 
on the level of influence which the Council and communities have over the location of 
new development in the borough. The only way to ensure that decisions can be taken 
within a robust framework is to progress a new Local Plan for the borough.

The Draft Local Plan Housing Statement

4.1 The Council has considered the evidence regarding the need for new housing, the 
national requirements of the NPPF and the lack of a five year housing land supply. This 
results in an urgent need for a new Local Plan to be developed and adopted for the 
borough.

4.2 In the short term however, until the adoption of the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036, the 
Local Plan Housing Statement should be developed and adopted as a means of 
managing development pressure as much as possible. The Local Plan Housing 
Statement would:

http://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan


NON EXEMPT
 Be the vital first stage in the development of the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036
 Identify how the high housing need for the borough would be addressed and 
 Identify small and medium sized greenfield urban extension sites which could be 

released in advance of the completion of the Local Plan in order to provide a 
healthy housing land supply.

4.3 On 20th July 2016, Cabinet approved:

a. A review of the Havant Borough Local Plan (Core Strategy and Allocations)
b. The consultation of the Draft Local Plan Housing Statement
c. The Local Development Scheme 2016

4.4 Consultation on the Draft Local Plan Housing Statement took place from 25th July to 9th 
September. A number of methods were used to promote the consultation:

 An extensive range of printed material. The Why Build? Leaflet, highlighting the 
importance of a Local Plan and the Where Next for Housing in Havant Borough? 
booklet giving more detail 

 Seven public exhibitions at:
o Emsworth – Emsworth Community Centre – 10th August (4pm-7pm)
o Hayling Island – United Reformed Church – 15th August (4pm-7pm)
o Havant & Bedhampton – Bedhampton Social Hall – 18th August (4pm-7pm)
o Waterlooville – Phoenix Centre – 22nd August (4pm-7pm)
o Leigh Park – Leigh Park Community Centre – 25th August (4pm-7pm)
o Havant Public Service Plaza – 31st August (12pm-7pm)
o Stride Centre – 2nd September (4pm-7pm)

N.B: The exhibition banners were also up permanently in the atrium of the Plaza
 85 site notices across the proposed strategic sites and urban extension sites 

highlighting their inclusion in the Draft Local Plan Housing Statement
 Two specific meetings for residents who own and lease property inside the 

strategic site between Denvilles and Emsworth
 A specific webpage (www.havant.gov.uk/localplan) with all of the consultation 

documents and evidence base together with details of the exhibitions and how to 
respond to the consultation. A button was also included on the homepage to help 
people get to the Local Plan page more easily

 Extensive social media engagement through the Council’s own Facebook and 
Twitter accounts, including updating the Facebook landing page with the Local 
Plan 2036 branding

 Specific Facebook adverts promoted on the feed of everyone in the borough 
promoting the Local Plan consultation, reaching those who do not specifically 
follow the Borough Council’s account

 Email newsletter to those who specifically asked to be updated about planning 
policy consultations

 2094 letters and 1590 emails sent out to statutory consultees together with 
organisations and residents who have asked to be kept updated about planning 
policy and the Local Plan

4.5 The exhibitions (Figure 1) were very well attended, showing the enthusiasm and interest 
of the borough’s residents in the Local Plan.

https://www.havant.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Why%20build.pdf
https://www.havant.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Local%20Plan%20document%20%28low%20res%29.pdf
http://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan


NON EXEMPT

Figure 1: The Denvilles exhibition on 2nd September

4.6 The webpage for the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036 (www.havant.gov.uk/localplan) 
was set up on 12th July. From that date until 9th September, it was the third most viewed 
webpage on the Borough Council’s website behind only the homepage and the ‘contact 
us’ page. In all, during that time, there were 8,132 page views by 5,860 different people.

4.7 The general posting on the Borough Council’s Facebook page was displayed on 6,025 
Facebook accounts and generated 253 clicks through to the Local Plan webpage. The 
posts also generated 335 reactions, comments and shares. These can be viewed at 
https://www.facebook.com/232177686880758/posts/999736343458218.

4.8 Facebook promotion also took place to reach those who don’t specifically follow the 
Council. These adverts were displayed on 50,768 Facebook accounts and generated 
2,071 website clicks. This represented the most successful social media promotion that 
the Council has undertaken and successfully engaged with a high number of residents; 
previous campaigns have achieved around 1,000 clicks.

Consultation responses received

4.9 A total of 825 individual responses were received to the consultation. This is higher than 
the level of responses which were received to the equivalent consultation for the 
Allocations Plan. 

4.10 The high level of response to the consultation shows that the consultation strategy which 
the Council chose worked successfully. Thanks should also be extended to all of those 

http://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan
https://www.facebook.com/232177686880758/posts/999736343458218


NON EXEMPT
groups and organisations who have worked with the Council to help promote the 
consultation in their communities through events, newsletters, posters, surveys and 
social media.

4.11 A petition of 1,087 signatures was submitted by the West Bedhampton Residents 
Association. This sets out that (emphasis in original) “We the undersigned oppose the 
draft local plan 2036 & the local plan housing statement. Policies AL2 (which restricts 
development between the green gaps between existing built up areas) and CS17 (aimed 
at concentrating on existing urban areas) should not be cancelled. A full traffic impact 
study should be carried out. We oppose losing prime agriculture land and request that a 
full ecological study is undertaken considering how near we are to the site of special 
scientific interest.” 

4.12 The Emsworth Neighbourhood Planning Forum also conducted a survey regarding the 
proposals. The results of this are highlighted in Appendix 1 of this report under Guiding 
Principle 1.

4.13 All of the consultation responses which were received are available on the Council’s 
website at www.havant.gov.uk/localplan.

Issues that were raised through the consultation

4.14 A detailed breakdown of the comments that were received and how it is proposed that 
those comments be taken forward is at Appendix 1 of this report.

4.15 There were a number of comments that were raised more extensively and in relation to 
the plan in general or across most or all of the sites. These are:

 Concern over the capacity of the highway network to accommodate further 
development

 Concern over the capacity of supporting physical and social infrastructure, 
particularly GP surgeries and schools (both primary and secondary)

 Other community services and facilities (leisure, shops and other facilities) are 
already strained 

 Concern over the loss of gaps between settlements, urbanisation and the 
proliferation of urban sprawl

 Concern over the evidence regarding objectively assessed need and the role of 
the Partnership for Urban South Hampshire (PUSH)

 Impact on ecology
 Concerns over loss of trees and open spaces for their quality of life, health, leisure 

and recreation benefits.

Suggested changes to the Housing Statement

4.16 A large number of representations have been received which raise concerns regarding 
the way forward with the Local Plan Housing Statement. The consultation highlighted 
specific concerns regarding infrastructure on Hayling Island which will require further 
investigation before development can be considered sustainable under the NPPF. In 
particular, stakeholders highlighted issues relating to flooding, highway capacity, the 
single access to the island, healthcare, education and the provision of utilities. These are 
strategic issues which relate to the island as a whole and not necessarily within the 

http://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan


NON EXEMPT
ability of a single development proposal to overcome in the absence of a comprehensive 
framework, which can only be provided through the new Local Plan.

4.17 Further evidence is needed to fully resolve these issues. As such, the Council considers 
that it cannot be guaranteed that the sites are suitable for development. The Council will, 
however, continue to explore the sustainability of future development on Hayling Island 
through the production of the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036 and the evidence base 
which supports it.  It will continue to explore the evidence regarding the suitability of 
development on these sites, actively working with our partners at the Eastern Solent 
Coastal Partnership, Hampshire County Council (as Highways Authority and Local 
Education Authority), and the South East Hampshire Clinical Commissioning Group and 
utility operators. This will inform the approach towards these sites in the Pre-Submission 
draft of the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036.

In the Draft Local Plan Housing Statement

Early Release sites
Highlighted in Table 2 of the Draft Housing 
Statement:
North of Hollybank Lane and Long Copse 
Lane
North of Long Copse Lane
Rear of Redlands House
North and west of Selangor Avenue
Littlepark House
South of Lower Road
Adjacent 47 Portsdown Hill Road
East of Castle Avenue
Southleigh Park House
Forty Acres
South of Rook Farm
North of Rook Farm
West of Rook Farm
Station Road

Strategic Sites
Highlighted on page 11 of the Draft Housing 
Statement:
Campdown
Denvilles-Emsworth



NON EXEMPT
As proposed now

4.18 Through the consultation, a number of new sites were also submitted to the Council for 
consideration for inclusion in the Housing Statement. The suitability of these sites for 
development will be explored further through evidence base for the Havant Borough 
Local Plan 2036. Site plans are provided at appendix 3 for illustrative purposes only.

4.19 The approach towards sites on Hayling Island as well as those submitted through the 
consultation is specifically highlighted within the proposed changes to the Housing 
Statement.

4.20 Following the consultation comments that have been received and the five year supply 
position, the following changes are also proposed for the Housing Statement:

 Extensive re-working of Section 2 (The Adopted Local Plan) to reflect the five year 
supply situation.

 Changes to Sections 1 (Introduction) and 2 to ‘tell the story’ more effectively, setting 
out the context for the housing statement more effectively and how the Housing 
Statement is the first stage in developing the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036.

 Removal of the site ‘Adjacent to 47 Portsdown Hill Road’ due to concerns that it is 
not possible to achieve a development of five homes on the site without causing 
harm to the adjacent listed building.

 Change ‘prioritise’ brownfield sites to ‘promote’ the development of brownfield sites.
 Merge the individual sites in the Draft Housing Statement to a comprehensive 

development site at Long Copse Lane (Emsworth).
 Re-categorisation of Campdown from a Strategic Site to two urban extension sites 

(Land North of Fort Purbrook and Land East of College Road).
 Include commitments to the Council pursuing further evidence base relating to the 

review of the Solent Waders and Brent Goose Strategy, a commitment to 
implementing the full Solent Recreation Mitigation Strategy and regarding the impact 
on European nature conservation sites from air quality.

 Further emphasise that the Housing Statement only considers that the housing need 
is sufficient to deviate from Policies CS17 and AL2 (which delineate the urban areas 
of the borough) on certain specific sites and that the remainder of the Adopted Local 
Plan must be complied with.

 Further emphasis on the comprehensive nature of the development of the Denvilles-
Emsworth Strategic Site, which includes the delivery of the essential infrastructure 

Early Release sites
Long Copse Lane
Rear of Redlands House
Selangor Avenue
Littlepark House
South of Lower Road
East of Castle Avenue
Southleigh Park House
Forty Acres
North of Fort Purbrook
East of College Road

Strategic site
Area between Denvilles and Emsworth



NON EXEMPT
including the new school and A27 junction. An outline planning application covering 
the entirety of the strategic site is considered necessary.

4.21 Further detail of all changes proposed following the consultation is set out in Appendix 1. 
The proposed Local Plan Housing Statement, with those changes made, is at Appendix 
2.

Conclusions and next steps

4.22 The consultation which took place from July to September represents the first step in 
reviewing the Adopted Local Plan and producing the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036. 
However further extensive engagement with the community regarding the Strategic Site 
through a Design Charrette7. This will enable all stakeholders in the site to come 
together and become a mutual author of a masterplan for the site. Pre-submission 
consultation will also take place on the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036 when 
stakeholders will be able to look at the detailed proposals in the plan and comment on 
whether they are sound and legally compliant. There will also be an Examination of the 
Plan by a Government Inspector, who will examine whether the plan is sound, taking 
account of the NPPF, the available evidence and the views of stakeholders.

4.23 The approach and content of the Local Plan Housing Statement and the approach which 
is proposed for reviewing the Local Plan are bold and forward thinking. The proposals by 
their nature have been controversial. However it is considered that the proposed way 
forward remains the best one for the borough: boosting prosperity, providing homes 
which are needed and ensuring that the Council and local communities remain in the 
driving seat of the Local Plan process - directing where, when and how development 
takes place as much as is possible in the context of national policy and regulation.

4.24 It is proposed that the Local Plan Housing Statement will be a pragmatic interim step in 
reviewing the Local Plan and will be proposed for adoption supported by an extensive 
evidence base. It remains imperative that the borough has an up-to-date Local Plan and 
so work will continue to prepare the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036 Pre-Submission 
Draft.

5.0 Implications 

5.1 Resources: The proposed approach to developing the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036 
was incorporated into the 2016/17 budget. Specific budget codes relating to consultancy 
and travel in particular were sized to match the increase in cost associated with the 
Local Plan and PUSH Spatial Position Statement preparation work in this financial year.

5.2 However the Local Plan’s preparation will span two financial years and so the Local 
Plan’s project plan will also need to inform the forthcoming budget setting for the 
2017/18 year. This will specifically require an increase in certain budget codes due to the 
need to pay for the Examination and Program Officer together with future evidence base 
work. It is anticipated that the cost of the Examination and a Programme Officer (most 
likely resourced through the use of an external consultant) will be in the range of 
£70,000 - £90,000. However there will be a decrease in consultancy spend during the 

7 More detail regarding this is available in the consultation documents, which are on the Council’s website at 
www.havant.gov.uk/localplan and in the Local Plan Housing Statement. 

http://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan


NON EXEMPT
2017/18 year compared to 2016/17 of a comparable level to the Examination costs. 
Current staffing resource within the Planning Policy Team is considered generally 
sufficient (subject to the provisions of para 5.5 below) to meet the milestones in the 
Local Development Scheme which was published on 20th July 2016. The full detail of 
this will be established through the 2017/18 budget setting process. There are no 
additional costs anticipated for this financial year 2016-17.

5.3 Given the uncertain situation which the Council now faces without a five year housing 
land supply, it is envisaged that there will be a significant amount of development 
pressure, particularly with the ‘early release’ sites. This will lead to an increase in major8 
pre-application meetings and planning applications. Resourcing the determination of 
these would take place within existing Development Management budgets wherever 
possible.

5.4 It is likely that there will be proposals for sites which were rejected through the Strategic 
Housing Land Availability Assessment or even sites which were not submitted to the 
Council but are nonetheless pursued through a speculative planning application. This 
would result in an increase in planning appeals in the 2017/18 year. This will feed into 
the 2017/18 budget setting process.

5.5 However it is ultimately not possible to predict the precise resource requirements with 
any degree of certainty. This will depend on the number and nature of applications and 
appeals, the sites that they are on and the issues to be discussed. This would determine 
the length of the appeal and whether it is likely to be an informal hearing or a public 
inquiry. Again, resourcing of this would be sought within existing Development 
Management and Planning Policy budgets wherever possible.

5.6 External legal costs would also be incurred to support planning appeals. A barrister to 
support a 1-2 day public inquiry would cost a minimum of £3,000 and for a longer one 
proportionately more. If there is an important case and a QC is required, this would cost 
a minimum £10,000. In any instance in an appeal where costs are awarded against the 
Council due to a decision being made unreasonably, it would be necessary to cover 
costs incurred by the Council as well as the appellant. A risk weighted approach has 
been used to estimate the impact of the planning appeals. The estimated costs for this 
will be included within the 2017-18 budget setting process.

5.7 The Design Charrette will be specifically funded through the £60,000 grant from the 
Department of Communities and Local Government’s Neighbourhood Planning & Local 
Planning Service Redesign & Capacity Building Fund. This was awarded on 4 February 
2016. The bid which the Borough Council submitted was specifically to put in place a 
Design Charrette for this site. There are no specific conditions to this grant. Work 
regarding this project will be kept separate from the Local Plan from a budgeting 
perspective as the grant funding will be ringfenced for this work. It is considered that 
£60,000 was sufficient funding to cover the cost of the Design Charrette.

5.8 Legal: In order to progress development of the Area Between Denvilles and Emsworth 
Strategic Site, it will be necessary for the Council and the landowner to vary a legal 

8 Defined as schemes of 10+ new homes



NON EXEMPT
agreement which exists on the land. There is past precedent as this has already been 
done for the crematorium’s development as well as for the Adopted Local Plan.

5.9 It is noteworthy that the Local Plan Housing Statement would fall outside of the 
regulatory process for preparing a local plan (see section on risks below). Otherwise, 
preparation of the Local Plan would follow the appropriate regulations.

5.10 Strategy: The Council has a number of policy approaches and strategies such as the 
approach towards its own estate, the role in managing town centres and economic 
development and environmental health. These collectively interact and the Corporate 
Strategy distils them together into a comprehensive statement of the objectives of the 
Borough Council.

5.11 The Local Plan to a certain extent then follows on from the Corporate Strategy, turning 
its focus to delivery and putting in place the framework that is needed to physically 
deliver the Council’s objectives. 

5.12 It does this by setting out what development happens when, where and how. It also 
crucially sets out what infrastructure needs to be provided alongside that development.

5.13 Risks: The proposed approach is based on the production of a non-statutory planning 
document. It must ultimately be adopted by Full Council before planning weight can be 
given to it. The Housing Statement isl also  subject to Sustainability Appraisal, Habitats 
Regulations Assessment and an Integrated Impact Assessment in the same way as any 
statutory Local Plan. However the weight which will ultimately be afforded to it by 
Inspectors is not certain.

5.14 Communications: Please see the main body of the report.

5.15 For the Community: Please see the main body of the report.

5.16 The Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) has been completed and shows that the 
adoption of the Local Plan Housing Statement will not lead to a disproportionate impact 
on any specific element of the community.

5.17 Consultation: Please see the main body of the report. 

Appendices

Appendix 1: Local Plan Housing Statement and Havant Borough Local Plan 2036 Consultation 
Responses
Appendix 2: Local Plan Housing Statement
Appendix 3: Sites with uncertain potential at this stage - site maps

Background Papers:

 PUSH Spatial Position Statement (http://www.push.gov.uk/work/planning-and-
infrastructure/push_spatial_position_statement_to_2034-2.htm) 

http://www.push.gov.uk/work/planning-and-infrastructure/push_spatial_position_statement_to_2034-2.htm
http://www.push.gov.uk/work/planning-and-infrastructure/push_spatial_position_statement_to_2034-2.htm


NON EXEMPT
 PUSH Strategic Housing Market Assessments (2014 and 2016 objectively assessed 

need update) (http://www.push.gov.uk/work/planning-and-
infrastructure/strategic_housing_market_assessment.htm) 

 National Planning Policy Framework 
(https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6077/211
6950.pdf) 

Agreed and signed off by:

Head of Legal Services: Abe Ezekiel - 1st November 2016
Head of Finance: Craig Richards - 8th November 2016
Head of Planning: Andrew Biltcliffe - 3rd November 2016
Director of Operations: James Hassett – 8th November 2016
Cabinet Lead for Economy, Planning, Development and Prosperity Havant: Cllr David Guest - 
2nd November 2016

Contact Officer: David Hayward
Job Title: Planning Policy Team Leader
Telephone: 023 9244 6174
E-Mail: david.hayward@havant.gov.uk

http://www.push.gov.uk/work/planning-and-infrastructure/strategic_housing_market_assessment.htm
http://www.push.gov.uk/work/planning-and-infrastructure/strategic_housing_market_assessment.htm
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6077/2116950.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6077/2116950.pdf




 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Appendix 1 
Local Plan Housing Statement and Havant 
Borough Local Plan 2036 Consultation 
Responses 

 



 

Contents  
  Page 

ACRONYMS & GLOSSARY………………………………………………………………………………..i 

GP1: REVIEW OF THE LOCAL PLAN TO ADDRESS HOUSING NEED AND GENERAL 
COMMENTS ABOUT PLANNING FOR FUTURE DEVELOPMENT .............................................. 1 

GP2: UP-TO-DATE STATUS OF THE LOCAL PLAN .................................................................. 20 

GP3: HBC WILL CONTINUE TO PRIORITISE THE DEVELOPMENT OF BROWNFIELD LAND
 ....................................................................................................................................................... 22 

GP4: PRINCIPLE OF RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT ON THOSE SITES IDENTIFIED IN 
TABLE 2 AND EXCEPTION TO POLICIES CS17 AND AL27 ...................................................... 26 

GP5: STRATEGIC SITE - CAMPDOWN  ...................................................................................... 29 

GP5: STRATEGIC SITE - AREA BETWEEN DENVILLES AND EMSWORTH  ........................... 36 

GP6: DUTY TO COOPERATE  ..................................................................................................... 52 

SITES AT LONG COPSE LANE (UE39, UE50 AND UE67)  ........................................................ 54 

UE02B: LAND NORTH AND WEST OF SELANGOR AVENUE .................................................. 66 

UE28: LITTLEPARK HOUSE ........................................................................................................ 74 

UE30: LAND SOUTH OF LOWER ROAD BEDHAMPTON .......................................................... 76 

UE52: LAND ADJOINING 47 PORTSDOWN HILL ROAD ........................................................... 88 

UE53: LAND EAST OF CASTLE AVENUE .................................................................................. 90 

UE55: SOUTHLEIGH PARK HOUSE ........................................................................................... 96 

UE68: FORTY ACRES ................................................................................................................ 100 

HAYLING ISLAND DEVELOPMENT IN GENERAL ................................................................... 114 

ROOK FARM GENERAL ............................................................................................................ 131 

UE17: SOUTH OF ROOK FARM ................................................................................................ 137 

UE35: NORTH OF ROOK FARM ................................................................................................ 140 



 

UE63: WEST OF ROOK FARM .................................................................................................. 143 

UE18: STATION ROAD............................................................................................................... 146 

SITES NOT IN THE PLAN........................................................................................................... 153 

WHAT PARTS OF THE ADOPTED LOCAL PLAN DO YOU CONSIDER WORK 
PARTICULARLY WELL .............................................................................................................. 163 

WHAT PARTS OF THE ADOPTED LOCAL PLAN COULD BE IMPROVED ............................. 168 

ARE THERE ANY AREAS WHICH ARE NOT COVERED IN THE ADOPTED LOCAL PLAN 
WHICH THE HAVANT BOROUGH LOCAL PLAN 2036 SHOULD ADDRESS? ....................... 178 

OTHER COMMENTS .................................................................................................................. 183 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 



i 
 

Acronyms & Glossary 

CDC  Chichester District Council 

EA  Environment Agency  

GP  Guiding Principle 

HBC  Havant Borough Council 

HE  Highways England  

HE  Historic England  

HCC  Hampshire County Council 

NE  Natural England  

PCC  Portsmouth City Council 

SDNP  South Downs National Park  

RSPB  Royal Society for the Protection of Birds 

 

AF  Affordable housing  

Social rented, affordable rented and intermediate housing, provided to eligible households 
whose needs are not met by the market. Eligibility is determined with regard to local incomes 
and local house prices. Affordable housing should include provisions to remain at an 
affordable price for future eligible households or for the subsidy to be recycled for alternative 
affordable housing provision. 

AMR  Annual Monitoring Report  

The purpose of the Annual Monitoring Report is to annually assess and report on the 

progress being made in respect of the preparation of Local Plan documents and to assess 

the extent to which development plan policies are being implemented in terms of the 

decisions made through the development management process.  

CIL  Community Infrastructure Levy 

The Community Infrastructure Levy is a levy that local authorities can charge on 

developments in their area. CIL income can be used to fund additional infrastructure 

required to support new development including roads, schools, green spaces and 

community facilities.  

HMA  Housing Market Area 

A housing market area is a geographical area defined by household demand and 

preferences for all types of housing, reflecting the key functional linkages between where 

people live and work. Generally speaking, they are a functional economic area within which 

the majority of people both live and work. Housing market areas generally cut across various 

planning authority boundaries. Havant Borough is part of the wider Portsmouth Housing 

Market Area. 



ii 

 

HRA  Habitats Regulation Assessment 

The Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) examines the likely significant effects of policy 

proposals in the plan on the integrity of European Sites of nature conservation importance 

within, close to or connected to the plan area. European Sites are areas of international 

nature conservation importance that are protected for the benefit of the habitats and species 

they support.  

IDP  Infrastructure Delivery Plan  

The Infrastructure Delivery Plan will support the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036.  It will set 

out the level of development to be delivered and how, where and when infrastructure will be 

provided as far as possible. It will consider health, education, social, and community 

infrastructure, water supply, waste water, telecommunications, coastal defences and flood 

alleviation, green infrastructure and transport. 

LEP  Local Enterprise Partnership 

Local Enterprise Partnerships are voluntary partnerships between businesses and local 

authorities whose geography reflects the natural economic areas which seek to drive 

sustainable private sector-led growth and job creation in their area. Havant Borough is in the 

Solent LEP area. 

NPPF  National Planning Policy Framework 

The National Planning Policy Framework sets out the Government’s planning policies for 
England and how these are expected to be applied. 

 
NPPG  National Planning Practice Guidance 

Together with the NPPF, the National Planning Practice Guidance sets out guidance on key 

topics including what should be included in Local Plans and how to prepare them. 

 

PDL  Previously Developed Land (as defined by the NPPF) 

Land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure, including the curtilage of the 
developed land (although it should not be assumed that the whole of the curtilage should be 
developed) and any associated fixed surface infrastructure.  

PUSH  Partnership for Urban South Hampshire  

PUSH is a partnership of Hampshire County Council; the unitary authorities of Portsmouth, 

Southampton, and the Isle of Wight; and district authorities of Eastleigh, East Hampshire, 

Fareham, Gosport, Havant, New Forest, Test Valley and Winchester. PUSH authorities 

recognise the benefits of working together to support the sustainable economic growth of the 

sub region and to facilitate the strategic planning functions necessary to support that growth.  

OAN  Objectively Assessed Need 

The starting point in planning for housing is that objectively assessed need for the housing 
market area should be met within it.  
 

SINC  Site of Importance for Nature Conservation  



iii 

 

Sites within Hampshire that are of particular importance for nature conservation at a county 

level, containing habitats or features that are effectively irreplaceable (excluding statutory 

designated sites).  

SHMA  Strategic Housing Market Assessment  

The SHMA is a key component of the evidence base that will help to inform the production of 

the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036. It considers the overall need for housing, the need for 

different types of homes, and the housing needs of different groups in accordance with the 

requirements of the NPPF.  

  http://www.push.gov.uk/strategic_housing_market_assessment.htm 

SHLAA Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment  

The SHLAA is a key component of the evidence base that will help to inform the production 

of the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036. It considers whether there is sufficient land for 

housing delivery.  

http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-shlaa-8th-edition-pdf-616-kb  

SPZ  Source Protection Zone 

The Environment Agency defines SPZs for all groundwater sources such as wells, boreholes 

and springs used for public drinking water supply. These zones show the risk of 

contamination from any activities that might cause pollution in the area. The closer the 

activity, the greater the risk.   

Further details can be found at: http://apps.environment-agency.gov.uk/wiyby/37833.aspx  

SUDS  Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems  

SUDS are a range of management practices and control mechanisms that drain surface 

water in a way that mimics natural drainage and reduces the adverse impacts on river 

regimes and the risk of erosion, flooding and ecological damage.  

TA  Transport Assessment  

The TA is a key component of the evidence base that will help to inform the production of 

the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036. It will consider the likely traffic impacts of the 

proposed new housing and employment development identified through the Local Plan and 

the impacts on the strategic road network.   

http://www.push.gov.uk/strategic_housing_market_assessment.htm
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-shlaa-8th-edition-pdf-616-kb
http://apps.environment-agency.gov.uk/wiyby/37833.aspx


1 

GP1: Review of the Local Plan to address housing need and general comments about planning for future 

development 

131 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Support the Council's proactive decision in Guiding Principle 1 to 

undertake a review of the Local Plan (Core Strategy) and Local 

Plan (Allocations Plan) in order to meet objectively assessed needs 

(OAN) and plan for development. 

Support noted. 

Support for ambitious and proactive approach taken in Housing 

Statement. 

Support noted. 

Commend Council for efforts made in identifying sites. Support noted. 

No objection to any of the areas suggested for new housing. Support noted. 

Accept need for homes - no particular issues with the allocation 

document. Building will happen where the market needs it. 

Support noted. 

Particularly welcome paragraphs 1.16 and 1.17 of Housing 

Statement. 

Support noted. 

A petition of 1,087 signatures which oppose the Draft Local Plan 

2036 and the Local Plan Housing Statement. 

Opposition noted. 

The Council is too readily accepting further development in the 

Borough; should listen to residents concerns and demonstrate that 

OAN (objectively assessed need) figures cannot be 

accommodated. 

Addressing housing need is not something which can be ignored. If the Council does not continue 

positively planning for the future, the Government will take that role out of the Council’s hands and 

their overarching aim is to get more homes built.  The Council therefore considers the best way 

forward is to accept what cannot be changed:  there is a high housing need and the NPPF requires 

local authorities to seek to meet that need. From this starting point, the Council can then focus on 

the detailed aspects to make sure that the development that does take place is sustainable and 

well-integrated into local communities and provides the infrastructure that is needed to support it. 



2 

 

GP1: Review of the Local Plan to address housing need and general comments about planning for future 

development 

131 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Do not accept the need for further homes - questions over need to 

address the OAN locally. 

Housebuilding is one of the Government’s top priorities, and the NPPF makes clear that local plans 

should meet the full OAN for their area unless doing so would be contrary to other policies in the 

NPPF. Even with all the sites put forward in the housing statement, the full OAN will not be met. 

Do not accept the need for further homes – questions raised over 

the assumptions made in the Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

(SHMA)/ the OAN work. 

The OAN is based on the best available evidence and was undertaken by an independent 

consultant following a nationally prescribed methodology in the National Planning Practice 

Guidance. 

The OAN figures were established before Brexit, and should be 

now be reviewed. 

The OAN is based on the best evidence available at this moment in time. It is too early to anticipate 

future migration patterns, as the exact conditions of Britain’s exit from the EU remain uncertain, and 

it is not feasible to delay the production of the Local Plan until further details emerge.  In any case, it 

should be noted that the housing sites put forward for inclusion in the new Local Plan do not meet 

the full OAN, so any reduction in international migration is unlikely to mean the site allocations put 

forward are not needed. 

Concern that the potential of some areas has not been fully 

explored. 

 

HBC considers that it has comprehensively assessed the development potential for housing sites in 

the Borough. Background evidence has been published at 

https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base.  Particularly relevant are the Strategic Housing 

Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA)
1
 and the Housing Constraints and Supply Analysis

2
. 

The Council has provided no rationale for why it has decided to 

prepare a Local Plan Housing Statement rather than proceeding 

Paragraphs 1.6 and 1.7 explain that the Housing Statement forms the first formal step in the Local 

Plan preparation process.   

                                                
 
 
 
1
 http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-shlaa-8th-edition-pdf-616-kb  

2
 http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb  

https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-shlaa-8th-edition-pdf-616-kb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb


3 

 

GP1: Review of the Local Plan to address housing need and general comments about planning for future 

development 

131 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

immediately to a review of the Local Plan. Interim Statements have 

no weight and are inappropriate.  

Weight given to Housing Statement should be limited given lack of 

adequate evidence to support proposals/full process required for 

Local Plans. 

It is acknowledged that the Housing Statement will have less weight than a Local Plan, but it sets 

out a direction of travel and forms the starting point for the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036 which 

will be fully evidenced and formally examined before adoption.  

Housing Statement has provided no reasonable alternatives or 

options and cannot therefore be shown to the most appropriate 

strategy, as such may not meet tests of soundness – need to ‘show 

workings’. 

There is no obligation to present options at the Regulation 18 stage. The Council is confident that it 

has explored and comprehensively assessed all the reasonable alternatives for development in the 

Borough. Background evidence has been published at 

https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base .  Particularly relevant are the Strategic Housing 

Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA)
3
 and the Housing Constraints and Supply Analysis

4
. These 

will form part of the evidence to demonstrate the soundness of the plan at examination. 

Housing Statement does not provide robust approach to three 

dimensions of sustainability as set out in NPPF; it is in conflict with 

both social and environmental tenets. Core land use principles in 

para 17 have not been achieved. More effort needed to ensure 

vitality of existing urban areas.  

Local Plan Housing Statement approach risks prejudicing the 

Council's ability to make wider decisions in relation to other needs 

of the district - holistic approach needed.  Concern that no 

consideration has been given to non-residential uses and other 

The Housing Statement focuses on housing sites by its nature. There are strong social elements to 

this (see NPPF para 7 which sets out the three dimensions of sustainable development). 

The Local Plan (Core Strategy) and Local Plan (Allocations) documents remain in place and 

address the full range of planning principles set out at NPPF para 17. The review process of the 

Local Plan, for which the Housing Statement is the starting point, will also address all the core 

planning principles. 

                                                
 
 
 
3
 http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-shlaa-8th-edition-pdf-616-kb  

4
 http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb  

https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-shlaa-8th-edition-pdf-616-kb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb


4 

 

GP1: Review of the Local Plan to address housing need and general comments about planning for future 

development 

131 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

uses. 

Emphasis in plan is on numbers and higher densities but there is no 

mention of quality of life. 

Must deliver high density, but achieve good quality. 

Few developments in the Borough improve HBC's record in 

sustainable development or the NPPF's core planning principles. 

Lack of high expectations from developers results in poor design, 

landscape and visual impact of many developments. 

The Local Plan (Core Strategy) and Local Plan (Allocations) documents remain in place and 

address the full range of planning principles, including quality of development. The Havant Borough 

Local Plan 2036 will also address these wider issues. 

 

 

HBC have not considered policy or environmental constraints. The Council’s review of constraints is published in its Housing Constraints and Supply Analysis
5
 

paper. 

The PUSH Spatial Position Statement allocates Havant 9,170 net 

additional homes between 2011 and 2034. However the Housing 

Statement refers to the 11,250 need from 2011 to 2036. Difficult to 

understand why HBC chosen to use raw number and ignore the 

allocation reached after deliberations between 12 neighbouring 

authorities under Duty to Cooperate. 

The NPPF makes clear that Local Plans should meet OAN, with sufficient flexibility to adapt to rapid 

change. 

The PUSH work is a Position Statement only and is not adopted policy. While it will be taken into 

account, it is against the OAN that the Local Plan will be judged at Examination.  It is for this reason 

that HBC is preparing a plan to 2036, which seeks to address OAN of 11,250 homes from 2011 to 

2036, rather than the 9,170 set out in the PUSH Spatial Position Statement
6
 that runs from 2011 to 

2034. Nevertheless it should be noted that the proposed allocations do not meet housing need and 

would form a housing target which would be similar to that in the Spatial Position Statement. 

                                                
 
 
 
5
 http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb  

6
 http://www.push.gov.uk/work/planning-and-infrastructure/push_spatial_position_statement_to_2034-2.htm  

http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb
http://www.push.gov.uk/work/planning-and-infrastructure/push_spatial_position_statement_to_2034-2.htm


5 

 

GP1: Review of the Local Plan to address housing need and general comments about planning for future 

development 

131 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

PUSH Position Statement identifies significant unmet need in wider 

housing market area.  Question whether Havant's unmet need 

would be able to be met by other authorities in the HMA.  

The Council should re-examine the potential of land within Havant 

Borough to meet future needs.  

HBC considers that it has comprehensively assessed the development potential for housing of sites 

in the Borough. Background evidence has been published at 

https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base .  Particularly relevant are the Strategic Housing 

Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) and the Housing Constraints and Supply Analysis
1. Guiding 

Principle 6 in the Housing Statement also makes clear that the Council will continue to work with its 

neighbours and other relevant organisations to continue to seek to meet the unmet need. 

11,250 dwellings should be treated as a minimum as it is not clear 

at this stage whether other authorities will look to Havant to meet 

their unmet need. 

Guiding Principle 6 in the Housing Statement makes clear the Council will continue to work with its 

neighbours and other relevant organisations to continue to seek to meet the unmet need (both in 

Havant and of other authorities). 

Unable to find figure of 11,250 dwellings on PUSH Position 

Statement. 

The figure is shown in Table 1 on p.14 of the PUSH Spatial Position Statement
7
. 

Given the constraints placed on the Borough, any alternatives that 

might exist are unlikely to be any more acceptable. 

Noted. 

Other areas should be developed – South Hampshire/the South is 

under too much pressure. 

There is no overarching national or regional plan. Authorities must work with their neighbours to 

meet the objectively assessed need in their Housing Market Area (HMA).  In Havant’s case, this is 

the wider Portsmouth HMA.  

HBC should resist further development and work collaboratively The Council works collaboratively with its neighbouring authorities through the Partnership for Urban 

South Hampshire (PUSH)
8
. The partner authorities are committed to working together to address 

                                                
 
 
 
7
 http://www.push.gov.uk/work/planning-and-infrastructure/push_spatial_position_statement_to_2034-2.htm  

https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-shlaa-8th-edition-pdf-616-kb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-shlaa-8th-edition-pdf-616-kb
http://www.push.gov.uk/work/planning-and-infrastructure/push_spatial_position_statement_to_2034-2.htm


6 

 

GP1: Review of the Local Plan to address housing need and general comments about planning for future 

development 

131 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

along the south coast. housing and other needs across the area (see also Guiding Principle 6 in the Housing Statement).  

The Council also works with its neighbouring authorities that are not in PUSH under the Duty to 

Cooperate, particularly Chichester District Council. 

Regeneration of urban areas, in particular Havant Town Centre, 

and brownfield sites should be considered before greenfield sites. 

Urban areas, including Havant Town Centres have been considered. Background evidence has 

been published at https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base .  Particularly relevant are the 

Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA)
9
 and the Housing Constraints and Supply 

Analysis
10

. The Local Plan (Core Strategy) and Local Plan (Allocations) documents remain in place 

and identify brownfield sites for development. Guiding Principle 3 confirms that previously 

developed sites will be considered positively. It is not possible, however, to meet the Borough’s 

housing need on brownfield sites alone.  

There are a number of areas with planning permission which have 

not started. Need to ensure they are delivered before allocating 

new land. 

The Council works proactively with landowners and developers to try to bring forward 

unimplemented permissions. Table 1 of the Housing Statement shows that outstanding planning 

permissions have been taken into account in assessing how many further sites need to be 

allocated, and that bringing forward these permissions would not eliminate the need to make 

allocations.  

Empty homes should be used before planning new ones. Local authorities have limited power to intervene in relation to private land; that is, the Council 

cannot force private owners to sell their homes. The total amount of empty homes in the Borough 

(at 05/10/2015) is 948, of which only 248 are long term (6 months+) vacant, the rest being vacant 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        
 
 
 
8
 http://www.push.gov.uk/  

9
 http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-shlaa-8th-edition-pdf-616-kb  

10
 http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb  

https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base
http://www.push.gov.uk/
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-shlaa-8th-edition-pdf-616-kb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb


7 

 

GP1: Review of the Local Plan to address housing need and general comments about planning for future 

development 

131 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

due largely to market churn. The proportion of homes that are vacant is less than the south east and 

national average (as set out on p. 92 of the 2014 SHMA
11

).  

Areas designated as Green Belt should remain protected. There are no Green Belt designations in Havant Borough. 

Accept need for homes in principle. Support noted. 

Area is already overcrowded/has already seen a lot of additional 

development in recent years. Please stop building. 

The Council accepts that a high level of development has taken place in the Borough in the last two 

years, although previously housebuilding was below the Core Strategy target.  Housing need 

remains high. The Council is committed both to delivering further housing, as well as ensuring that 

quality of life remains high. 

Would like to see phasing of development in 5 year periods. The housing trajectory in 5 year periods is set out each year in the Annual Monitoring Report 

(AMR)
12

.  This lists sites and their estimated completion dates.  The Council will continue to publish 

these 5 year estimates in the AMR, rather than include information in the Housing Statement, so as 

to keep them up to date. 

Suspect financial motivation behind the plan/corruption in Council.  These claims are unsubstantiated.  If wrong doing by the Council or individual officers is suspected, 

a formal complaint should be made and backed up with evidence. See 

https://www.havant.gov.uk/complaints. 

Plan only serves to profit developers/land owners. It is accepted that developers and landowners will make a profit from development.  If this was not 

                                                
 
 
 
11

 http://www.push.gov.uk/south_hampshire_shma_final_report__16.1.14_.pdf  
12

 http://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/local-plan-core-strategy/annual-monitoring-reports  

https://www.havant.gov.uk/complaints
http://www.push.gov.uk/south_hampshire_shma_final_report__16.1.14_.pdf
http://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/local-plan-core-strategy/annual-monitoring-reports


8 

 

GP1: Review of the Local Plan to address housing need and general comments about planning for future 

development 

131 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

the case, they would not develop. However, this is not what motivates the plan. 

Concern over loss of agricultural land. The NPPF expects local planning authorities to seek to use areas of poorer quality land in 

preference to that of a higher quality, where significant development of agricultural land is 

demonstrated to be necessary. However a balance must be struck with the requirement to meet 

identified housing needs in the Borough, particularly given that housing need cannot be met. Some 

loss of higher quality land cannot therefore be avoided. 

Level of development will have a negative effect on the character of 

the area and the quality of life for residents. 

The Council acknowledges that further development will affect the character of the area. However, 

the Council is committed both to delivering further housing, as well as to ensuring that quality of life 

remains high. 

Planning for the area should be done in such a way that protects 

the separation between, and the identities of, the individual 

settlements.  

Development requirements on site layout will be included in the site allocation in the Local Plan to 

ensure that the development does not result in the loss of settlement identity. 

Do not accept the need for further homes – Government does not 

require the proposed level of development or development of the 

sites proposed. 

The Government have made housing a key national priority with the aim of a million new homes 

being built by 2020. It is a key priority of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) that we 

need to ‘significantly boost the supply of housing’. 

Plans should be delayed – current Local Plan is still fit for purpose. 

Early review raises questions over purpose/weight of any Local 

Plan. 

It is acknowledged that the Local Plan is being reviewed sooner than might have been anticipated.  

This has become necessary because new evidence has emerged on the housing need for the area, 

and the Council has lost an appeal against its refusal to permit a housing development, which calls 

into question whether the Local Plan can be considered up to date. There is therefore an urgent 

need to review the plan in order to retain some measure of control over local decision making. 

It appears the Council is guessing future requirements. The NPPF requires Councils to draw up plans over a long time horizon of 15 years or more, so as to 

consider future requirements. The future requirements used as the basis for the plan are 



9 

 

GP1: Review of the Local Plan to address housing need and general comments about planning for future 

development 

131 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

professionally conducted assessments of need using published statistics. 

Concerns over loss of trees and open spaces per se and for their 

quality of life/health/leisure and recreation benefits. 

In order to address the Borough’s housing need it is inevitable that all undeveloped areas, that are 

free from significant constraints, need to be considered for development. However, the Council is 

keen to ensure that, where possible, trees are retained within new development and high quality, 

new open space is incorporated within the design and the layout. 

Development could have significant impact on wildlife/ecology - rich 

flora and fauna will be lost. 

It is acknowledged that development of greenfield sites will have some impact on wildlife on the 

sites affected. The Council participates in ongoing discussions with bodies such as Natural England, 

the RSPB and the Hampshire and Isle of Wight Wildlife Trust to identify any key issues and ways in 

which impacts can be mitigated. More detail on these matters will also be required to support any 

planning application on the sites, so that impacts and proposed mitigation measures can be 

considered in detail. 

Development plan should establish creation and maintenance of 

functioning ecological network – suggest ecological network 

mapping approach. 

The Council with PUSH has established a Green Infrastructure Strategy
13

 and a Mitigation 

programme through the Solent Recreation Mitigation Partnership (SRMP)
14

, and supports and uses 

the results of the Solent Waders and Brent Goose Strategy
15

, all of which include a consideration of 

networks. 

Seriously concerned that the further proposed sites will lead to a 

direct loss of habitat functionally linked to the Special Protection 

Area (SPA). Due to scale of individual housing developments or 

The Council is committed to continuing engagement in the SRMP and the definitive mitigation 

strategy and to implement that strategy once it’s approved. The Housing Statement will be updated 

to highlight where development is proposed on sites which have any likelihood of Brent 

                                                
 
 
 
13

 http://www.push.gov.uk/work/sustainability-and-social-infrastructure.htm  
14

 https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/community-and-environment/environment/solent-recreation-mitigation-strategy.aspx  
15

 http://www.solentforum.org/forum/sub_groups/Natural_Environment_Group/Waders%20and%20Brent%20Goose%20Strategy/  

http://www.push.gov.uk/work/sustainability-and-social-infrastructure.htm
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/community-and-environment/environment/solent-recreation-mitigation-strategy.aspx
http://www.solentforum.org/forum/sub_groups/Natural_Environment_Group/Waders%20and%20Brent%20Goose%20Strategy/


10 

 

GP1: Review of the Local Plan to address housing need and general comments about planning for future 

development 

131 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

proximity to SPA further mitigation measures may be required in 

addition to the SRMP. 

Urgent need for better understanding of the network of sites 

supporting Brent Geese and waders and protect accordingly. 

Further work is required before the housing sites can be considered 

further.  

Goose/wader use. The Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) should highlight menu of options 

and explore whether there is a mitigation option that can be accommodated within the site without 

harming site deliverability. 

Natural environment should sit at heart of place making. It is agreed that consideration of the natural environment is part of place-making. However the 

needs of the natural environment must be balanced with social and economic needs. 

People should be protected as well as wildlife. Planning must balance the needs of people and wildlife. 

Development will have significant effect on the already busy 

highway network in the area (strategic and local roads)/roads can’t 

cope. 

The Council has commissioned a full plan Transport Assessment to assess the impacts of the 

proposed development on the highway network, and establish what mitigation measures are 

needed. The Council will continue to work with Hampshire County Council, as Highway Authority, 

Highways England and providers of public transport to assess and provide solutions to any capacity 

issues in the network. 

Concern over cost of infrastructure, which may not have effect of 

relieving capacity issues. 

Investment in infrastructure will be based on an assessment of need and what provides the best 

solution. 

Smaller items of infrastructure, which are needed to make a development work, will be funded by 

developers through legal agreements with the Council.  The Local Plan gives the Council more 

leverage to require such infrastructure if it is included in the plan and/or the allocation for that 

specific site. These are generally delivered alongside the development, so they are operational 

when the development is occupied. 

Having a plan in place will allow the Council to bid for funds for strategic infrastructure. 



11 

 

GP1: Review of the Local Plan to address housing need and general comments about planning for future 

development 

131 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Concerns over air quality/pollution/noise from increased traffic. The Council will explore the issue for the new Local Plan and work with Natural England on the 

results of modelling and any necessary avoidance and mitigation measures. A commitment to this 

will be included in the Housing Statement. 

Concerns over road safety. Road safety will form an integral part of the assessment of possible solutions to highways issues. 

Will need new and improved cycle provision. New development is expected to make provision for infrastructure through CIL and site specific 

S106 obligations. If it is considered that there is a need for improvements to pavements/cycle routes 

associated with the development, these will be considered as part of the planning process. The 

Local Plan gives the Council more leverage to require such infrastructure if it is included in the plan 

and/or the allocation for that specific site. 

Public transport is inadequate – improvements to bus service, train 

service and train stations needed. 

With regard to public transport; the Council is aware of the concerns residents have raised 

regarding the provision of public transport.  The Council does not itself provide public transport 

services, but liaises with rails and bus service providers to ensure they are aware of proposed levels 

of development, and to seek to improve services and facilities. 

Doctors, health centres, hospitals and other health services are 

already strained. Development can only be supported with 

infrastructure improvements. 

The Council is aware of residents’ concerns regarding health care provision. The Council is working 

closely with the Clinical Commissioning Group and the NHS to determine how these concerns can 

be addressed through the planning process. If appropriate, developer contributions will be sought 

for the provision of new/improved facilities. 

Local schools are already strained. Development can only be 

supported with infrastructure improvements. 

The Council is aware of residents’ concerns regarding education provision. The Council is working 

closely with Hampshire County Council as the Local Education Authority to determine how these 

concerns can be addressed through the planning process. If appropriate, developer contributions 

will be sought for the provision of new/improved facilities. The County Council has assured HBC that 

it has already taken into account urban extension sites in terms of school place planning. 



12 

 

GP1: Review of the Local Plan to address housing need and general comments about planning for future 

development 

131 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Other community services and facilities (including social care, 

leisure, open space, dog park, waste services, places of worship, 

police and emergency services etc.) are already strained. 

Development can only be supported with infrastructure 

improvements. 

The Council will seek to ensure that high quality, new open spaces are provided as part of new 

developments. The Council also charges developers under the Community Infrastructure Levy, and 

uses funds to provide community infrastructure.  

Through local plan policies, the Council seeks to protect community facilities wherever possible. It 

should be noted, however, that publicly run facilities are under severe budgetary pressures and all 

Councils are reviewing the viability of these services.  In addition, many leisure facilities are private 

businesses, and the Council cannot force these to be set up or remain open. However, if 

opportunities do arise and the Council is able to help enable the provision of facilities the Council 

will assist where appropriate. 

Concern over impact on utilities infrastructure. The Council is aware of the residents’ concerns regarding utility provision. Utility providers (water, 

gas, electricity) have a statutory obligation to provide services to new development. The Council 

works with these providers to ensure they are aware of proposed levels of development so that they 

can plan accordingly. 

Infrastructure should be delivered before development takes place. A key part of the drafting of the Local Plan is to identify the infrastructure needed to make the 

development of sites sustainable. 

Smaller items of infrastructure, which are needed to make a development work, will be funded by 

developers through legal agreements with the Council.  These are generally delivered alongside the 

development, so they are operational when the development is occupied. 

In terms of strategic infrastructure, in a climate of extremely limited resources, forward funding of 

infrastructure is not always possible.  However, having a plan in place will allow the Council to bid 

for funds for strategic infrastructure in order to bring these forward at the earliest opportunity.  

Throughout the local plan preparation process, the Council is also in continuous dialogue with the 

providers of infrastructure, such as utility companies, Hampshire County Council for highways and 

schools, and the NHS. It should be noted, however, that it is the responsibility of these bodies to 



13 

 

GP1: Review of the Local Plan to address housing need and general comments about planning for future 

development 

131 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

bring forward the infrastructure they deem necessary to meet the needs of the existing population. 

Developers should provide or pay for infrastructure. Developers provide or pay for infrastructure through S106 Legal Agreements and/or the Community 

Infrastructure Levy. 

Support for affordable housing. Support noted. 

HBC should consider their affordable housing strategies to ensure 

development of truly sustainable in urban centres through a 

regeneration agenda. This will promote high levels of accessibility 

required to services. 

The Council continues to support and promote the delivery of affordable housing and the 

regeneration of urban areas.  This does not, however, preclude the need for affordable housing in 

new developments on greenfield sites. 

Questions over whether homes will actually be affordable. The Council is not in a position to control the prices developers demand for homes. The Council 

can, however, try to improve the supply of new homes by identifying sites suitable for development.  

It can also seek a proportion of affordable homes
16

 (Social rented, affordable rented and 

intermediate housing) in developments. 

Need to consider affordable rental properties as well as for sale. Agreed. Affordable housing in new developments currently includes social rented, affordable rented 

and intermediate housing
9
. In future, the Council may have to accept Starter Homes

17
 as affordable 

housing due to proposed changes in national policy.   

                                                
 
 
 
16

 As defined by Annex 2: Glossary of the National Planning Policy Framework 
 http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/policy/achieving-sustainable-development/annex-2-glossary/ 
9 
As defined by Annex 2: Glossary of the National Planning Policy Framework 

 http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/policy/achieving-sustainable-development/annex-2-glossary/ 
17

 http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/starter-homes/starter-homes-guidance/  

http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/policy/achieving-sustainable-development/annex-2-glossary/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/policy/achieving-sustainable-development/annex-2-glossary/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/starter-homes/starter-homes-guidance/


14 

 

GP1: Review of the Local Plan to address housing need and general comments about planning for future 

development 

131 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Object to affordable housing – residents will not benefit the area. There is a very high need for affordable housing in the Borough, and the Council should seek to 

address this need wherever possible to ensure mixed and balanced communities. 

Suspect that housing will not be for children of residents, but will be 

bought by people from outside the area. 

The Strategic Housing Market Assessment
18

 takes into account a number of factors in determining 

housing need, including household formation, economic growth and population change. In terms of 

population change, both migration (within the UK and international) and natural change (births 

minus deaths) are considered, and the figures do show a high level of past trends in population 

change due to migration into the housing market area.  The objectively assessed need that Councils 

are required to address is informed by both types of population change, and it is not possible to plan 

only for the needs of the population of the Borough. It should be noted that the Council cannot 

control who buys property in the area.  It is likely that on any development, it will be a mixture of 

people from within and from outside the Borough. 

Concerns over employment opportunities - need jobs and 

apprenticeships; need to attract employers. 

The Council is working hard to attract new business and bring forward employment sites, for 

example at developments such as Dunsbury Hill Farm. Through the Local Plan, we are able to 

ensure that larger developments include an Employment and Skills Plan which provides apprentices 

for local young people on that site. 

Need for housing for the elderly. The Local Plan (Core Strategy) supports a mix of housing types, and specifically acknowledges the 

need to provide accommodation for the ageing population. This need will also be considered as part 

of the new Local Plan. 

By what process will types of properties needed be determined The mix of housing that is developed is determined largely by market forces. However, the Local 

                                                
 
 
 
18

 http://www.push.gov.uk/strategic_housing_market_assessment.htm  

http://www.push.gov.uk/strategic_housing_market_assessment.htm


15 

 

GP1: Review of the Local Plan to address housing need and general comments about planning for future 

development 

131 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

(family, retirement, affordable, singles, housing association)? Plan (Core Strategy) supports a mix of housing types, and specifically acknowledges the housing 

needs of the ageing population, and sets out what requirements will be made from developers to 

supply affordable housing.  

Plan needs to say more about the impacts of development and how 

they will be addressed. 

The Housing Statement focussed on setting out potential sites for development.  While it 

acknowledged that this would bring with it the need to improve infrastructure this was perhaps not 

drawn out sufficiently.  As well as amending the Housing Statement, it is in any case the Council’s 

intention to focus further on these matters as the Local Plan progresses. 

There is insufficient information in the consultation document on the 

location and use class of sites that could be developed.  

The Housing Statement is clear that the sites proposed are for housing, and in the case of the 

strategic sites other proposed uses area listed. Each of the sites has a plan showing its location, 

extent and proposed number of dwellings. 

Planning Authorities are advised to use the Health & Safety 

Executive's Planning Advice Web App. 

Advice noted. 

Plan needs to ensure adequate parking standards. The Core Strategy includes a policy on parking standards in new development (Policy DM14). A 

Parking Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) was adopted on 27th July 2016
19

. This policy 

requirement will be reviewed through the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036. 

Plan will exacerbate the North/South divide, concentrating  

industries and population in the over-developed south. 

There is no National Plan to change the location of homes and industry.  Each local authority must 

look to meet the needs of its area, working with its neighbours. 

                                                
 
 
 
19

 http://www.havant.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Final%20Parking%20SPD.pdf  

http://www.havant.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Final%20Parking%20SPD.pdf


16 

 

GP1: Review of the Local Plan to address housing need and general comments about planning for future 

development 

131 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Work needs to be done on raising the profile and developing the 

identity of Havant and each of its communities and features. 

The Council is working hard to raise the profile of Havant and attract investment into the area. 

https://www.havant.gov.uk/prosperity-havant  

 

Key issues raised by statutory consultees HBC response 

Emsworth Neighbourhood Forum: 

Survey conducted - 109 responses:  

68% object, 10% support, 9% neutral, 13% did not say 

Summary of comments from survey: 

 Process - need for new local plan and consultation period over 

summer 

 Impact on/provision of community facilities - schools, GPs 

 Concerns over infrastructure 

 Concerns over the capacity of the highway network 

 Scale of development 

 Concerns over impact on ecology/nature conservation 

 Loss of green space 

 Concerns over pollution 

 Affordability for local young people 

 Quality and design of properties 

 Accept need for homes in principle 

 Opportunities for new infrastructure and support for retailers 

  

Comments are addressed individually above, or in other tables. 

https://www.havant.gov.uk/prosperity-havant


17 

 

Key issues raised by statutory consultees HBC response 

South Eastern Hampshire Clinical Commissioning Group:  

High proposed housing numbers will impact ability to deliver 

healthcare services; GP practices already stretched; Private 

funding required is - CIL/S106 needed to support health needs of 

new population; 

Developing detailed estate plan for Havant Area - to understand 

and model health care for existing and new population. 

The Council notes that health facilities are stretched and supports the preparation of an estate plan 

for the Borough to adapt services for the changing needs of the population.  HBC confirms that the 

sites and numbers in the draft Housing Statement have been fed into that process, and the Council 

will continue to work with the CCG to enable them to make plans for health care provision going 

forward. The Council has a bidding process for CIL funds, and the CCG are free to make bids to 

draw on these funds.  Bids are assessed against a number of criteria, one of which being whether 

the proposal supports the Local Plan.    

 

Southern Gas Networks: 

No changes to earlier representation or additional commentary on 

plan. SGN review contents of plans to ensure optimum 

development of gas supply. 

Noted. 

Hampshire County Council: 

Note that HBC have not yet undertaken a supporting Transport 

Statement/Evidence Base, but understand that one is programmed.  

HCC as Highways Authority therefore unable to support or object to 

the allocations and reserve the right to comment further when 

evidence becomes available.  

Evidence base should focus on key areas of concern regarding the 

capacity of the highway network: 

 A3023, Hayling Island 

 Park Road Corridor including Solent Road 

 Campdown development 

 Denvilles Development 

 Deliverability/Financing of major infrastructure proposals 

The Council have commissioned a full plan Transport Assessment to assess the impacts of the 

proposed development on the highways network, and establish what mitigation measures are 

needed. The Council will continue to work with the County Council as Highway Authority, as well 

as Highways England and providers of public transport, to provide solutions to any capacity issues 

in the network. 



18 

 

Key issues raised by statutory consultees HBC response 

Education Authority has already taken into account urban extension 

sites in terms of school place planning. 

Noted. 

Southern Water: 

Would look for policies that support the timely provisions, on a site 

by site basis, of any local sewerage infrastructure required to 

service individual allocated sites.  The principle is that new 

development needs to connect to the sewerage system at the 

nearest point of adequate capacity.  This may require off-site 

infrastructure if the nearest point is not located within the immediate 

vicinity of the site. 

Comments regarding sewer capacity/connection requirements for 

each site provided. 

Inclusion of a general policy and/or development requirements for each site will be considered for 

inclusion in the Local Plan. 

Highways England: 

Would welcome opportunity for continued engagement. The Council is committed to continuing engagement with partners. 

Chichester District Council: 

Welcomes approach in responding to evidence on housing need. Support noted. 

Environment Agency: 

Pleased that flood risk has been considered in assessing sites for 

development. 

Support noted. 

No concerns which would prevent strategic sites coming forward. Support noted. 

Havant and Bedhampton - sensitive in terms of groundwater 

(source protection zone 1). 

This will be noted in the Local Plan development requirements. 



19 

 

Key issues raised by statutory consultees HBC response 

More specific comments could be included in any site specific 

development criteria. 

The Council intends to include site specific commentary on any development constraints in any 

allocations that are made in the Local Plan, which is the next step following on from the Housing 

Statement. 

Natural England: 

Concerned at this stage with the lack of evidence underpinning the 

HRA and SA. Need to understand when these issues will be fully 

assessed, and HBC need to demonstrate that there are workable 

and deliverable mitigation options available for these housing 

allocations. 

HRA and SA will need to demonstrate that there are workable and deliverable mitigation options 

available for the housing allocations put forward in the Local Plan. HBC will continue to work with 

Natural England to ensure that the Local Plan contains a fully evidenced base HRA and SA. 

 

Proposed Modifications to the Housing Statement 

Section/Paragraph Proposed Change Reason for Change 

Local Plan  Appropriate commentary on development and policy requirements will be 

considered further in the production of the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036.  

See above. 

 
 
  



20 

 

 
 

GP2: Up-to-date status of the Local Plan 
4 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Publication of the Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 

with a higher objectively assessed need (OAN) and a lack of five 

year housing supply indicate the policies relating to the supply of 

housing within the Local Plan should not be considered up to date 

and should have limited weight in planning decisions.  National 

Planning Policy Framework Paragraph 14 - the presumption in 

favour of sustainable development therefore applies. 

The Council recognises the SHMA indication of housing need (11,250 houses in the Borough 

between 2011 and 2036) remains to be tested through examination by an independent Inspector. 

However, the Council has recently lost an appeal (PINS ref. APP/X1735/W/16/3145929) against 

its refusal to permit a housing development in which a key consideration was whether the Council 

was able to demonstrate an up-to-date supply of housing when measured against the higher OAN.  

The Inspector concluded the Council could not demonstrate a five year supply of housing, and its 

housing policies could not be considered up-to-date at that particular point in time. However, it 

does not follow that the Adopted Local Plan is automatically out-of-date or that no weight should 

be applied to its policies. Permission will only be granted for housing proposals where 

development can be shown to constitute ‘sustainable development’ in accordance with 

Paragraphs 14, 47 and 49 of the NPPF.  

It is proposed to amend the wording of Guiding Principle 2 and its supporting text accordingly.  

There is a five year housing supply. 

Why so many homes? The OAN is based on the best available evidence and was undertaken by an independent 

consultant following a nationally prescribed methodology. Housebuilding is one of the 

Government’s top priorities, and the NPPF makes clear that local plans should meet the full OAN 

for their area unless it would be contrary to the NPPF to do so. The population is naturally rising 

and we have an increasing elderly population. Together, these create a large need for new 

housing. 

Why plan so far into the future? National planning policy (NPPF para 157) expects local plans to cover a period of at least fifteen 

years from the date of adoption. Where strategic sites are concerned these generally take much 

longer to plan to ensure that all the necessary infrastructure can be provided in a timely manner so 

a longer term view is often required to finance and coordinate the infrastructure.  

Has ‘Brexit’ been taken into account? Brexit will likely affect the economy. Even if this causes a slowdown in the rate of house building 



21 

 

GP2: Up-to-date status of the Local Plan 
4 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

nationally this will only increase the pressure of housing need. The Government has stated as a 

national priority a significant boost in the supply of new housing which will not change as a result 

of Brexit. It should be noted that the housing sites put forward in the Housing Statement do not 

meet the full OAN, so any reduction in international migration is unlikely to mean the site 

allocations put forward are not needed. 

 

Proposed Modifications to the Housing Statement 

Section/Paragraph Proposed Change Reason for Change 

Section 2 Redrafting of Section 2 to reflect the necessary changed approach following 

the Purbrook Appeal decision. 

Update in circumstances following the Purbrook appeal 

decision. 

Guiding Principle 2 Redrafting of Section 2 to reflect the necessary changed approach following 

the Purbrook Appeal decision. 

In a recent appeal case, the Inspector concluded the 

Council does not have a five year supply and so the 

policies for the supply of housing (and two policies 

relating to employment, CS2 and DM3) are out of date. 

However he acknowledged that these policies still exist 

and are capable of attracting weight. Other parts of the 

plan therefore remain unaffected by this decision. 

 

  



22 

 

GP3: HBC will continue to prioritise the development of brownfield land 

27 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

A number of sites in Table 2 are contrary to Guiding Principle 3. 

 

Urban areas, including the Borough’s town centres, have been considered. Background evidence 

has been published at https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base .  Particularly relevant 

are the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) and the Housing Constraints 

and Supply Analysis. The Local Plan (Core Strategy) and Local Plan (Allocations) documents 

remain in place and identify brownfield sites for development, including large allocations in the 

town centres. Guiding Principle 3 confirms that previously developed sites will be considered 

positively. It is not possible, however, to meet the Borough’s housing need on brownfield sites 

alone. 

As stated by Guiding Principle 3, the Council will continue to consider previously developed land 

(PDL) positively.  This was demonstrated in the 2015 annual monitoring year, where 26% of the 

513 gross housing completions were built on PDL. 

Brownfield sites have been dismissed for cost reasons. 

 

More focus should be placed on the regeneration of Havant Town 

Centre i.e. East Street. 

 

Policy CS6 (Regeneration of the Borough) in the Local Plan (Core Strategy) (2011) outlines the 

need for developments which positively contribute to the social, economic and/or physical 

regeneration of the whole Borough.  The Policy specifically outlines focus on five areas of the 

Borough, including Havant Town Centre.  Upon adoption of the Housing Statement, this policy will 

remain and will be reviewed through the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036. 

Government figures, from 2015, show that Havant has almost 

1000 vacant dwellings; why are these properties not being used 

rather than building new ones? 

 

The recent Government figures outlined 985 vacant dwellings in Havant Borough in 2015.  

Nevertheless, of these 985, only 248 dwellings are considered as ‘long-term vacant’’; i.e. 6 

months+ vacant, the rest being vacant due largely to market churn. The proportion of homes that 

are vacant is less than the south east and national average (as set out on p. 92 of the 2014 

SHMA
20

). 

                                                
 
 
 
20

 http://www.push.gov.uk/south_hampshire_shma_final_report__16.1.14_.pdf  

https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-shlaa-8th-edition-pdf-616-kb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb
http://www.push.gov.uk/south_hampshire_shma_final_report__16.1.14_.pdf


23 

 

GP3: HBC will continue to prioritise the development of brownfield land 

27 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Please see table 615 in the following link: https://www.gov.uk/Government/statistical-data-

sets/live-tables-on-dwelling-stock-including-vacants 

The current proposals for new homes should not be considered 

until the empty properties in Havant Town Centre are used for 

housing and other brownfield sites too. 

 

Urban areas, including Havant Town Centre have been considered. Background evidence has 

been published at https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base. 

Particularly relevant are the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA)and the 

Housing Constraints and Supply Analysis. The Local Plan (Core Strategy) and Local Plan 

(Allocations) documents remain in place and identify brownfield sites for development, and 

Guiding Principle 3 confirms that previously developed sites will be considered positively. It is not 

possible, however, to meet the Borough’s housing need on brownfield sites alone. 

With regard to empty industrial units, Local Authorities have limited power to intervene in relation 

to private land. The Council can only consider sites for development that are put forward willingly 

by the landowner and are confirmed to be available for development.  From this, the Council must 

strike a balance between meeting the housing need and the need of employment space. 

It is not possible under national planning policy to prevent development coming forward on 

greenfield sites until empty properties and all brownfield sites have been exhausted. 

Has there been a survey undertaken on the number of empty 

properties and industrial units before building on greenfield sites? 

 

The Council should take an aggressive stance to identify derelict 

or non-performing industrial sites for the purpose of new housing. 

Support for Guiding Principle 3 in order to reduce the loss of 

agricultural land and green space, and reduce impacts on ecology 

and nature conservation. 

The Local Plan (Core Strategy) and Local Plan (Allocations) documents remain in place and 

identify brownfield sites for development. Guiding Principle 3 confirms that previously developed 

sites will be considered positively. 

The NPPF encourages the effective use of land by re-using land 

that has been previously developed (PDL), i.e. Brownfield land.  

The Council should intensify their efforts to identify and promote 

the development on windfall sites.    

 

As outlined in Guiding Principle 3, Havant Borough Council (HBC) will continue to promote the 

development of brownfield land.  The amount of housing completions of previously developed land 

(PDL) can be found in Chapter 5 of the Council’s Annual Monitoring Reports: 

http://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/local-plan-core-

strategy/annual-monitoring-reports 

The 2015 monitoring year reported that 26% of the 513 housing completions were built on PDL. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-dwelling-stock-including-vacants
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-dwelling-stock-including-vacants
https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-shlaa-8th-edition-pdf-616-kb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/local-plan-core-strategy/annual-monitoring-reports
http://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/local-plan-core-strategy/annual-monitoring-reports


24 

 

GP3: HBC will continue to prioritise the development of brownfield land 

27 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Whilst Paragraph 111 of the NPPF identifies that the development 

of brownfield sites should be ‘encouraged’, it does not say they 

should be prioritised.  Wording of Guiding Principle 3 should be 

amended to reflect this. 

 

Paragraph 111 of the NPPF states: 

‘’ Planning policies and decisions should encourage the effective use of land by re-using land that 

has been previously developed (brownfield land), provided that it is not of high environmental 

value. Local Planning authorities may continue to consider the case for setting a locally 

appropriate target for the use of brownfield land’’. 

It is proposed to reword Guiding Principle 3 accordingly. 

Supportive of the principle of re-using previously developed land. 

However, this should not be at the expense of developing 

otherwise sustainable and acceptable greenfield sites, in 

accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development. 

As stated previously, the Council is aware the Borough’s housing need can not be met through the 

development of brownfield sites alone.  The Housing Statement therefore identifies sustainable 

and acceptable greenfield sites/urban extensions. 

Densities should be maximised on greenfield as well as brownfield 

sites. 

 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that Local Planning Authorities should set 

out their own approach to housing density to reflect local circumstances.    

As highlighted on page 61 of the Local Plan (Core Strategy); the density of new housing will 

depend on design and appropriateness to its location.  As a guide, the following minimum density 

thresholds have been developed using the Havant Borough Townscape Landscape and 

Seascape Character Assessment and the levels of accessibility to a range of facilities: 

 High density – minimum of 60 dwellings per hectare. 

 Medium density – minimum of 45 dwellings per hectare. 

 Low density – up to 45 dwellings per hectare. 

Where the quality of design justifies it, much higher densities could be achievable.  It is not 

intended that density requirements should be too prescriptive as it is often a difficult balance 

between maximising the use of the land and reflecting surrounding built character and the amenity 

of neighbouring residents.  Therefore, this is best assessed through individual planning proposals 



25 

 

GP3: HBC will continue to prioritise the development of brownfield land 

27 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

through the application process. 

Key issues raised by statutory consultees HBC response 

Highways England:  

Highways England supports the maximising of brownfield sites 

with good transport links and hubs.  

Noted. 

 

Proposed Modifications to the Housing Statement 

Section/Paragraph Proposed Change Reason for Change 

Guiding Principle 3 Change ‘prioritise’ to ‘promote’.  Should also state at the beginning that the 

principle is ‘in line with the NPPF’’. 

Paragraph 111 of the NPPF states that brownfield sites should 

be ‘encouraged’’. 

 

  



26 

 

GP4: Principle of residential development on those sites identified in Table 2 and exception to Policies CS17 

and AL2 

21 responses were received regarding this topic 

 Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Object to cancellation of Policies AL2 and CS17 
(includes petition with 1,087 signatures).  

 

 

It is not proposed that Policies AL2 and CS17 be deleted.  Rather it is proposed, through 
General Principle 4 in the Housing Statement, that the material consideration of housing 
need be sufficient to warrant a deviation from these policies on specific sites as they are 
considered suitable and able to deliver sustainable development to meet that high housing 
need and ensure a continuous supply of housing. 

Paragraph S38 of The Local Plan Expert Group Report states that ‘The simplification of 
housing issues means that Local Plans should also engage with those matters of greatest 
concern to local communities including biodiversity, heritage, place making and quality of 
life’. 

Addressing housing need is not something which can be ignored. If the Council does not 
continue positively planning for the future, the Government will take that role out of the 
Council’s hands as their overarching aim is to get more homes built.  The Council therefore 
considers the best way forward is to accept what cannot be changed: that there is a high 
housing need and that the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires local 
authorities to seek to meet that need. From this starting point, the Council can then focus on 
the detailed aspects, such as biodiversity, heritage, place making and quality of life, to make 
sure that the development that does take place is sustainable and well-integrated into local 
communities and provides the infrastructure that is needed to support it. 

Havant Borough Council (HBC) have ’whitewashed’ any justification 
for retaining these policies through their statement and risk an ‘open 
book’ for development in unsustainable countryside locations. 

 

The cancellation/exception of Policies AL2 and CS17 are contrary to 
paragraph S38 of the Local Plan Expert Group Report (March 2016). 

 

It is premature to suspend these policies based on projected 
population growth. 

 

Housebuilding is one of the Government’s top priorities, and the NPPF makes clear that 
Local Plans should meet the full Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) for their area. Even with 
all the sites put forward in the housing statement, the full OAN will not be met.  The OAN is 
based on the best available evidence and was undertaken by an independent consultant. 

GP4 should be put on hold until the outcomes of Brexit are known. 

 

The OAN is based on the best evidence available at this moment in time. It is too early to 
anticipate future migration patterns, as the exact conditions of Britain’s exit from the EU 
remain uncertain, and it is not feasible to delay the production of the Local Plan until further 
details emerge.  In any case, it should be noted that the housing sites put forward for 
inclusion in the new Local Plan do not meet the full OAN, so any reduction in international 
migration is unlikely to mean the site allocations put forward are not needed.  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-plans-expert-group-report-to-the-secretary-of-state


27 

 

GP4: Principle of residential development on those sites identified in Table 2 and exception to Policies CS17 

and AL2 

21 responses were received regarding this topic 

 Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Havant Town Centre is in need of revitalisation and needs affordable 
housing at the centre.  A revamped shopping centre and a better 
transport interchange are also needed. 

 

Policy CS6 (Regeneration of the Borough) in the Local Plan (Core Strategy) (2011) outlines 
the need for developments which positively contribute to the social, economic and/or 
physical regeneration of the whole Borough.  The Policy specifically outlines focus on five 
areas of the Borough, including Havant Town Centre.  Upon adoption of the Housing 
Statement, this policy will remain and will be reviewed through the Havant Borough Local 
Plan 2036. 

Support to the Council’s approach to ensuring a five year housing 
land supply. 

 

Support noted.  The Local Plan is being reviewed sooner than might have been anticipated 
because new evidence has emerged on the housing need for the area. The Council has lost 
an appeal against its refusal to permit a housing development. A key consideration as part of 
this appeal was whether the Council could demonstrate an up to date five year supply of 
deliverable sites against the requirement arising from the Borough’s housing need.  

The Housing Statement forms an important initial stage in the Local Plan review as it 
identifies sites considered to be capable of delivering sustainable development to ensure the 
Council is taking a proactive approach to identifying deliverable sites sufficient to deliver five 
years’ worth of housing. There does however remain an urgent need to review the Local 
Plan to retain some measure of control over local decision making. 

Greenfield urban extensions should be removed from Table 2 of the 
Housing Statement. 

 

Urban areas have been considered. Background evidence has been published at 
https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base.  Particularly relevant are the Strategic 
Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) and the Housing Constraints and Supply 
Analysis. The Core Strategy and Sites Allocations documents remain in place and identify 
brownfield sites for development, and Guiding Principle 3 confirms that previously developed 
sites will be considered positively. It is not possible, however, to meet the Borough’s housing 
need on brownfield sites alone.  Therefore, greenfield sites/urban extensions will be required 
to meet the housing need of the Borough. 

https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-shlaa-8th-edition-pdf-616-kb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-shlaa-8th-edition-pdf-616-kb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb


28 

 

GP4: Principle of residential development on those sites identified in Table 2 and exception to Policies CS17 

and AL2 

21 responses were received regarding this topic 

 Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

It is pointless to produce a new Local Plan if it can be easily amended 
each time (i.e. removal of Policies AL2 and CS17). 

 

It is acknowledged that the Local Plan is being reviewed sooner than might have been 
anticipated.  This has become necessary because new evidence has emerged on the 
housing need for the area. The Council has recently lost an appeal against its refusal to 
permit a housing development, which calls into question whether the Local Plan can be 
considered up to date. There is therefore an urgent need to review the Plan in order to retain 
some measure of control over local decision making. 

The SHLAA is not a mechanism for determining what sites should be 
allocated. 

 

The Council agrees with this statement.  The SHLAA is the starting point in assembling 
information on available sites.  Other evidence is required to determine which sites should 
be allocated.  The full list of the evidence-base conducted at present can be found at 
www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base. 

 

Proposed Modifications to the Housing Statement 

Section/Paragraph Proposed Change Reason for Change 

Paragraph 3.2 

(As it is the introductory 

paragraph to the SHLAA). 

A mention that the SHLAA is the starting point in assembling information on 

available sites.  Other evidence is required to determine which sites should 

be allocated. 

The SHLAA is not a mechanism for determining what 

sites should be allocated. 

 

  

http://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base


29 

 

GP5: Strategic Site - Campdown  
29 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Support for identification of strategic sites generally. Support noted. 

Support for the identification of the site. Support noted. 

Comprehensive approach to site welcomed. Support noted. 

Large sites have complex land ownership issues – there should be no 
‘in principle’ restriction on individual planning applications; parcels 
could be considered as separate allocations; development at 
Campdown could come forward earlier. 

Agree there are two distinct areas within the current site boundary.  GP5 to be removed as 
a strategic site and divided into two separate allocations: 

 Land east of College Road (UE70) 

 Land north of Fort Purbrook (UE72) 

The boundaries as drawn mean there are two development areas in 
the strategic site that are not physically linked (the feasibility does 
show them connected for access). 

Development in the short term should be supported at Campdown, as 
it is for the sites identified under Guiding Principle 4: Table 2. 

Strategic sites are slow to come forward.  The Council should 
continue to promote development on a wide range of sites continuous 
supply of housing land. 

This is the aim of the Housing Statement. 

Clarity is needed on the non-residential development requirements on 
the site. 

Agree. The Housing Statement has a focus on residential capacity of sites.  The Local Plan 
will contain further detail of other land uses. 

Will set precedent for further development on the golf course; 
allocation should clarify protection of the golf course. 

Green spaces are protected through Policies CS13 and DM1 of the Local Plan (Core 
Strategy). The Council’s approach to the protection of the Borough’s green spaces will be 
considered further through the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036. Through the split of the 
two development areas, the golf course will no longer be part of the wider proposed 
allocation. 



30 

 

GP5: Strategic Site - Campdown  
29 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Objection to the identification of the site; development of large 
greenfield sites is not suitable or sustainable. 

In order to address the Borough’s housing need it is inevitable that all undeveloped areas 
that are free from significant constraints need to be considered for development.  Any site 
specific issues and constraints that can be mitigated will be set out in the development 
requirements for each site allocation in the Local Plan, and developers will be expected to 
demonstrate how these can be addressed. 

Gaps between settlements should be protected to maintain their 
distinctiveness. 

The Council does not have a policy to protect gaps. However, development requirements 
on site layout will be included in the site allocation in the Local Plan to ensure that the 
development does not result in the coalescence of distinct settlements. 

Support proposal for new sports facility. Support noted. 

Site has potential to meet needs of Havant Hockey Club and other 
sports. 

Noted.  

Concerns over drainage issues/flood risk on the site or affecting 
neighbouring properties. 

Flooding and drainage will be considered as proposals develop and it is expected that 
appropriate mitigation will be proposed in accordance with national and local flood risk 
policies. These require that development should not increase flood risk elsewhere. 

With regard to wider flood risk issues, the Planning Policy Team is working closely with the 
Eastern Solent Coastal Partnership and the Environment Agency to determine how future 
development will be affected by flood risk and what protection and mitigation measures 
can be put into place. 

Concerns over loss of trees, (ancient) woodland and/or green 
spaces/golf course per se and for their tourism/leisure/ recreation and 
health benefits. 

In order to address the Borough’s housing need it is inevitable that all undeveloped areas 
that are free from significant constraints need to be considered for development. However, 
the Council is keen to ensure that where possible, trees are retained within new 
development, and high quality, new open space is incorporated within the design and the 
layout of new developments. 

Access for walkers: impact on Wayfarer’s long distance walk/ path on 
southern side of golf course; Access to properties from path on 
southern side of golf course should be retained. 

The Council has specifically indicated the developable area of the site.  This is some way 
from the Wayfarer’s path on the southern side of the golf course. 



31 

 

GP5: Strategic Site - Campdown  
29 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Understand that Mr Gauntlett left land for all to enjoy. The George Gauntlett Trust supports the allocation. 

Development could have significant impact on wildlife/ecology; wildlife 
corridor should be maintained. 

It is acknowledged that development of the site will have an impact on wildlife. The Council 
is in ongoing discussions with bodies such as Natural England, the RSPB and the 
Hampshire and Isle of Wight Wildlife Trust to identify any key issues and ways in which 
impacts can be mitigated. More detail on these matters will also be required to support any 
planning application on the site, so that impacts and proposed mitigation measures can be 
considered in detail. 

Development could have a negative effect on the largely rural 
character of the area, in particular special character of Portsdown Hill. 
This should be avoided. 

The Council acknowledges that development will affect the character of the area. However, 
the Council is committed both to delivering further housing, as well as to ensuring that 
quality of life remains high.  

Development could have significant effect on heritage assets, 
including Fort Purbrook; Neolithic Barrow and site Anglo-Saxon 
Cemetery north of Portsdown Hill Road. This should be avoided. 

Impact on historic structures and their setting will be noted as a development constraint in 
the Local Plan allocation. The Council is liaising with its archaeological advisers to 
determine what archaeological investigations are needed prior to development. 

Development will have significant effect on the already busy highway 
network in the area (strategic and local roads). 

The Council has commissioned a full plan Transport Assessment to assess the impacts of 
the proposed development on the highways network, and establish what mitigation 
measures are needed. The Council will continue to work with the County Council as 
Highway Authority, as well as Highways England and providers of public transport, to 
assess and provide solutions to any capacity issues in the network. 

Walking and cycling should be encouraged. Agree. Information on how the Council encourages active travel can be found at 
www.havant.gov.uk/cycling/active-travel-study.  

Questions over likely/best access to the site, including considerations 
of road safety. 

Access points to the site have not yet been determined.  This will emerge as details of the 
layout are developed. 

Development could lead to loss of privacy; buffer needed between 
existing and new development. 

The Council acknowledges that development will affect the character of the area and could 
have an impact on existing residents. However, the Council is committed both to delivering 
further housing, as well as to ensuring that quality of life remains high. The design and 
layout of future development will be required to consider the privacy of existing residents. 

http://www.havant.gov.uk/cycling/active-travel-study


32 

 

GP5: Strategic Site - Campdown  
29 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Development likely to cause light pollution. Policy DM18 (Protecting New Development from Pollution) of the Local Plan (Allocations) 
seeks to minimise all kinds of pollution. This policy requirement will be reviewed through 
the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036. The Council, does however, acknowledge that 
development in undeveloped areas will always lead to additional light in the area at night 
time.  However, modern street lighting is designed to minimise light pollution. 

Development could affect property prices. This is not a matter that the Local Plan can consider. 

Doctors, health centres, hospitals and other health services are 
already strained. Development can only be supported with 
infrastructure improvements. 

The Council is aware of residents’ concerns regarding health care provision. The Council is 
working closely with the Clinical Commissioning Group and the NHS to determine how 
these concerns can be addressed through the planning process. If appropriate, developer 
contributions will be sought for the provision of new/improved facilities. 

Local schools are already strained. Development can only be 
supported with infrastructure improvements. 

The Council is aware of residents’ concerns regarding education provision. The Council is 
working closely with Hampshire County Council as the Local Education Authority to 
determine how these concerns can be addressed through the planning process. If 
appropriate, developer contributions will be sought for the provision of new/improved 
facilities. The County Council has assured HBC that it has already taken into account 
urban extension sites in terms of school place planning.  

Other community services and facilities (leisure etc.) are already 
strained. Development can only be supported with infrastructure 
improvements. 

An Infrastructure Delivery Plan will accompany the Local Plan and will review what 
infrastructure is needed to support the plan. 

The Council will seek to ensure that high quality, new open spaces are provided as part of 
new developments. The Council also charges developers under the Community 
Infrastructure Levy, and uses funds to provide community infrastructure.  

Through Local Plan policies, the Council seeks to protect community facilities wherever 
possible. It should be noted, however, that publicly run facilities are under severe 
budgetary pressures and all Councils are reviewing the viability of these services and 
facilities.  In addition, many leisure facilities are private businesses, and the Council cannot 
force these to be set up or remain open. However, if opportunities do arise and the Council 
is able to help enable the provision of facilities the Council will assist where appropriate. 

Infrastructure should be delivered before development takes place. A key part of the drafting of the Local Plan is to identify the infrastructure needed to make 



33 

 

GP5: Strategic Site - Campdown  
29 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

the development of sites sustainable. 

Smaller items of infrastructure, which are needed to make a development work, will be 
funded by developers through legal agreements with the Council.  These are generally 
delivered alongside the development, so they are operational when the development is 
occupied. 

In terms of strategic infrastructure, in a climate of extremely limited resources, forward 
funding of infrastructure is not always possible.  However, having a plan in place will allow 
the Council to bid for funds for strategic infrastructure in order to bring these forward at the 
earliest opportunity.  

Throughout the Local Plan preparation process, the Council is also in continuous dialogue 
with the providers of infrastructure, such as utility companies, Hampshire County Council 
for highways and schools, and the NHS. It should be noted, however, that it is the 
responsibility of these bodies to bring forward the infrastructure they deem necessary to 
meet the needs of the population. 

Social housing should not all be in one development area. The Housing Statement does not imply that this is being suggested, and the Council 
agrees that a mixture of affordable and market housing evenly distributed throughout each 
site is preferable. 

Questions employment prospects for new residents As well as planning for housing, the Council, the Partnership for South Hampshire and the 
Solent Local Economic Partnership are working to attract employers to the sub-region and 
ensure land is available for employment floorspace.  Some residents in new developments 
will work in the Borough and some in the wider sub region; some may be retired. 

Site suitable for smaller homes than suggested in Gerald Eve report The Gerald Eve Report, the Strategic Sites Financial Feasibility Study, does not seek to 
predetermine the mix of properties on the site.  Rather it makes reasonable assumptions 
on likely mix of properties to test the viability of development. 

Seriously concerned that the further proposed sites will lead to a 
direct loss of habitat functionally linked to the Special Protection Area 
(SPA). Due to scale of individual housing developments or proximity 
to SPA further mitigation measures may be required in addition to a 
per-dwelling contribution through the Solent Recreation Mitigation 

The Council is committed to continuing engagement in the Solent Recreation Mitigation 
Project and the definitive mitigation strategy and to implement that strategy once it is 
approved. The Council is also committed to the Solent Waders and Brent Goose Strategy 
and is actively engaged in its review to ensure that decisions regarding habitat functionally 
linked to the SPA are made in the light of the most robust and up to date data. 



34 

 

GP5: Strategic Site - Campdown  
29 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Partnership Strategy. It is acknowledged that the potential impact of development on wildlife needs to be 
considered. The Council is in ongoing discussions with bodies such as Natural England, 
the RSPB and the Hampshire and Isle of Wight Wildlife Trust to identify any key issues and 
ways in which impacts can be mitigated. More detail on these matters will also be required 
to support any planning application on the site, so that impacts and proposed mitigation 
measures can be considered in detail. The HRA and SA will need to demonstrate that 
there are workable and deliverable mitigation options available for the housing allocations 
put forward in the local plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

Urgent need for better understanding of the network of sites 
supporting Brent Geese and waders and protect accordingly. Further 
work is required before the housing sites can be considered further. 

Southern part of Campdown site has recorded use by Brent Geese. 
Clarity is needed but its proposal for housing is inappropriate. 

The Housing Statement will be updated to highlight where development is proposed on 
sites which have any likelihood of Brent Goose/wader use. The Habitats Regulations 
Assessment (HRA) should highlight menu of options and explore whether there is a 
mitigation option that can be accommodated within the site without harming site 
deliverability. 

  



35 

 

 

Proposed Modifications to the Housing Statement 

Section/Paragraph Proposed Change Reason for Change 

Para 3.15, 3.16, Page 11, 
Page 12, Page 13 
(including diagram), Page 
14 and Guiding Principle 5 

Remove reference to Campdown as a strategic site; leaving the Area 
Between Denvilles and Emsworth being known as the only strategic site. 

To recognise that there are two distinct areas within 
the current site boundary.  GP5 to be removed as a 
strategic site and divided into two separate 
allocations: 

 Land east of College Road (UE70) 

 Land north of Fort Purbrook (UE72) 

Annex A Section 2 site 
maps 

To reference Sites UE70 and UE72 within the Waterlooville Section.  See above. 

Local Plan Highlight need for school places as development requirement. To ensure school places are delivered. 

Local Plan Highlight in development requirements likely presence of clay and need to 
explore prior extraction within the developable area.  

To ensure that minerals resources are not 
needlessly sterilised. 

Local Plan  Highlight in development requirements presence of safeguarded waste site. To ensure that mitigation can be included and 
development does not prejudice the safeguarded 
site. 

Local Plan Note in development requirements that site is situated within Groundwater 
Source Protection Zone 1Cs (SPZ 1Cs), located at depth beneath the 
Lambeth Group.  Need to be aware of pollution pathway in the Havant & 
Bedhampton Springs and that SUDS schemes, foundation design and ground 
investigation information will need to be approved. 

To ensure groundwater pollution is prevented. 

 
  



36 

 

GP5: Strategic Site – Area between Denvilles and Emsworth 

117 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Objection to the identification of the site; development of large 

greenfield sites is not suitable or sustainable. 

In order to address the Borough’s housing need it is inevitable that all undeveloped areas 

that are free from significant constraints need to be considered for development. Any site 

specific issues and constraints that can be mitigated will be set out in the development 

requirements in the site allocations in the Local Plan, and developers will be expected to 

demonstrate how these can be addressed. 

Other sites/areas should be fully considered before this site is 

developed e.g. Regeneration of urban areas and brownfield sites; 

sites in other Boroughs with a greater choice of land. 

There is no overarching National or Regional Housing Plan. The Council works 

collaboratively with its neighbouring authorities through the Partnership for Urban South 

Hampshire (PUSH). The partners are committed to working together to address housing 

and other needs across the area (see also Guiding Principle 6 in the Housing Statement).  

The Council also works with its neighbouring authorities that are not in PUSH under the 

Duty to Cooperate. 

In terms of sites in Havant, background evidence has been published which shows that all 

areas in the Borough have been comprehensively assessed: 

https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base .  Particularly relevant are the Strategic 

Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) and the Housing Constraints and Supply 

Analysis
21

.  

The Core Strategy and Allocations documents remain in place and identify brownfield sites 

for development, and Guiding Principle 3 confirms that previously developed sites will be 

considered positively. It is not possible, however, to meet the Borough’s housing need on 

brownfield sites alone. 

Support for identification of strategic sites generally. Support noted. 

                                                
 
 
 
21

 http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb  

https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-shlaa-8th-edition-pdf-616-kb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-shlaa-8th-edition-pdf-616-kb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb


37 

 

GP5: Strategic Site – Area between Denvilles and Emsworth 

117 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Support principle of proper planning of the area. Support noted. 

Support Charrette/masterplanning approach. Support noted. 

Support identification of strategic site. Support noted. 

Plans need more impact studies/evidence. The Housing Statement is an interim statement, which sets out a direction of travel and 

forms the starting point for the Local Plan Review.  This will be fully evidenced and formally 

examined before adoption. 

Statement should acknowledge that there could be an opportunity 

for short term development sites to come forward within the 

proposed strategic sites (those not required to deliver infrastructure 

for wider site). 

Do not agree. The Council is of the opinion that the site and its infrastructure needs must 

be tackled comprehensively to ensure the best outcomes.  A Charrette-led masterplanning 

approach is planned which will allow residents and other stakeholders to have an input into 

the way the site might develop. 

The number of dwellings proposed for the area/the site is too high 

(especially when considered with recent developments); unfair for 

one area to take such a huge amount of development. 

The Council must assess housing needs and development sites across the Borough.  

Given the high level of need and the limited supply of available land, it is not possible to 

apportion development evenly between different parts of the Borough. 

The capacity of the Denvilles - Emsworth Site has been professionally assessed through 

the Havant Strategic Developments Areas; Financial Feasibility Study. 

Accept need for homes in principle. Support noted. 

Area is already overcrowded. It is acknowledged that South Hampshire is heavily populated. However, significant 

housing need remains.  Provided development it well planned and supported by 

infrastructure, it is considered that there is further capacity for development. 

Do not accept the need for further homes – questions over The OAN is based on the best available evidence and was undertaken by an independent 

http://www.havant.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/09.08.2016%20FINAL%20HAVANT%20REPORT%20with%20appendices.pdf


38 

 

GP5: Strategic Site – Area between Denvilles and Emsworth 

117 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) work and Government Policy on 

house building. 

consultant. Housebuilding is one of the Government’s top priorities, and the NPPF makes 

clear that Local Plans should meet the full OAN for their area. Even with all the sites put 

forward in the Housing Statement, the full OAN will not be met. 

The OAN figures were established before the EU referendum, and 

should be now be reviewed. 

The OAN is based on the best evidence available at this moment in time. It is too early to 

anticipate future migration patterns, as the exact conditions of Britain’s exit from the EU 

remain uncertain, and it is not feasible to delay the production of the Local Plan until further 

details emerge.  In any case, it should be noted that the housing sites put forward for 

inclusion in the new Local Plan do not meet the full OAN, so any reduction in international 

migration is unlikely to mean the site allocations put forward are not needed. 

The Council is too readily accepting further development in the 

Borough. 

Addressing housing need is not something which can be ignored. If the Council does not 

continue positively planning for the future, the Government will take that role out of the 

Council’s hands and their overarching aim is to get more homes built.  The Council 

therefore considers the best way forward is to accept what cannot be changed:  there is a 

high housing need and that the NPPF requires local authorities to seek to meet that need. 

From this starting point, the Council can then focus on the detailed aspects to make sure 

that the development that does take place is sustainable and well-integrated into local 

communities and provides the infrastructure that is needed to support it. 

Plans should be delayed – Current Local plan is still fit for purpose, 

and HBC appear to be guessing future requirements. 

New evidence has emerged on the housing need for the area, so there is a need to review 

the plan. The NPPF requires the Council to draw up plans over a long time horizon of 15 

years or more, so as to consider future requirements 

Gaps between settlements (Denvilles & Emsworth) should be 

protected to maintain their distinctiveness. 

The Council does not have a policy to protect gaps. However, development requirements 

on site layout will be included in the site allocation in the Local Plan to ensure that the 

development does not result in the coalescence of distinct settlements. 

PUSH Position Statement states importance of Gaps. PUSH Position Statement S1 states that strategic countryside gaps between settlements 



39 

 

GP5: Strategic Site – Area between Denvilles and Emsworth 

117 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

are important in maintaining the sense of place, settlement identity and countryside setting 

for the sub region and local communities.  This principle deals with gaps so significant that 

they are of sub-regional importance. The only gap specifically listed is the Meon Valley 

(Fareham Borough). The Council does not consider the site represents a gap of sub-

regional importance.  Development requirements on site layout will be included in the site 

allocation in the Local Plan to ensure that the development does not result in the 

coalescence of distinct settlements. 

Allocation is contrary to Policy AL2/current/previous policy on 

development outside urban areas. 

The identification of this site forms part of a review of the Local Plan, which will include a 

full review of all current policies. 

This land should be designated as Green Belt. National Planning Guidance on the Green Belt
22

  is clear the extent of Green Belt across 

the country is already established, and that new designations should only be made in 

exceptional circumstances. It is extremely unlikely that the land in question would qualify. 

Land is good quality agricultural land that should be protected. The NPPF expects local planning authorities to seek to use areas of poorer quality land in 

preference to that if a higher quality, where significant development of agricultural land is 

demonstrated to be necessary. However a balance must be struck with the requirement to 

meet identified housing needs in the Borough. Some loss of higher quality land cannot 

therefore be avoided. 

Area should be kept for sports provision. It is unrealistic to expect all of the land in the strategic site to be allocated for sports 

provision.  The Council, does, however, have an expectation that green infrastructure will 

be provided on the site and the extent and nature of this is one of the aspects to be 

                                                
 
 
 
22

 http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/policy/achieving-sustainable-development/delivering-sustainable-development/9-protecting-green-belt-land/  

http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/policy/achieving-sustainable-development/delivering-sustainable-development/9-protecting-green-belt-land/


40 

 

GP5: Strategic Site – Area between Denvilles and Emsworth 

117 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

explored further through the proposed Charrette/masterplanning work. 

Development is contrary to the Emsworth Design Statement, 

adopted by HBC. 

Since no details of the development are yet available, it is too early to say whether or not it 

is contrary to the Emsworth Design Statement. A Neighbourhood Plan is being prepared 

for Emsworth which may or may not take forward or amend the contents of the design 

statement.  It will be possible to take account of the principles in the Design Statement in 

the Charrette/masterplanning work.  It should be noted, however, that the area covered by 

the Design Statement only covers part of the strategic site. 

If site is to be developed and large gap is lost, there should be a 

substantial buffer/gap/planting between development and existing 

properties. 

The Housing Statement acknowledges that ‘the development will need to be laid out in 

such a way that there remains clear distinction between the settlements of Emsworth, 

Denvilles and Warblington after completion of the development’. 

Concerns over loss of trees and open spaces per se and for quality 

of life/health/ leisure, recreation and tourism benefits. 

In order to address the Borough’s housing need it is inevitable that all undeveloped areas 

that are free from significant constraints need to be considered for development. However, 

the Council is keen to ensure that where possible, trees are retained within new 

development, and high quality, new open space is incorporated within the design and the 

layout of new developments. 

Development could have significant impact on wildlife/ecology - rich 

flora and fauna will be lost. 

It is acknowledged that development of the site will have an impact on wildlife. The Council 

is in ongoing discussions with bodies such as Natural England, the RSPB and the 

Hampshire and Isle of Wight Wildlife Trust to identify any key issues and ways in which 

impacts can be mitigated. More detail on these matters will also be required to support any 

planning application on the site, so that impacts and proposed mitigation measures can be 

considered in detail.  

The HRA and SA will need to demonstrate that there are workable and deliverable 

mitigation options available for the housing allocations put forward in the Local Plan. 

Corridor to Chichester Harbour and the South Downs should be 

maintained. 

Proximity to and Impact on Warblington Meadows SSSI and the 

AONB appears to be disregarded. 

Development could have a negative effect on the rural/semi-rural It is acknowledged that the character of the area will change, given the proposed scale of 



41 

 

GP5: Strategic Site – Area between Denvilles and Emsworth 

117 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

character of the area. Loss of semi-rural landscape cannot be 

replaced by open space in a development. 

development.  

High density development is not in keeping with the area. The assessment of site capacity has assumed 35 dwellings per hectare on the site.  This is 

not considered ‘high density’ development and is comparable to the density at the Copseys 

Nursery Fields site in Denvilles, and the development at Hampshire Farm. 

Proposal will destroy local communities/erode village life and cause 

people to move away from the area. 

The Council acknowledges that further development will affect the character of the area. 

However, the Council is committed both to delivering further housing, as well as to 

ensuring that quality of life remains high. 

There should be requirements for sustainable design. The Government has abolished the Code for Sustainable Homes and has severely limited 

Councils’ ability to seek ambitious levels of sustainable construction. However, sustainable 

construction requirements have largely been subsumed under Part L of the Building 

Regulations. 

Questions over likely/best access to the site, including 

considerations of road safety and increase in traffic on local roads 

and junctions. 

Access points to the site have not yet been determined.  This will emerge as details of the 

layout are developed.  

Suggestions for specific improvements to the highway network (for 

safety and/or capacity). 

Comments made regarding specific roads and junctions have been noted and will be 

considered further as the Local Plan is progressed.  Any improvements deemed necessary 

will be set out in the development requirements for each site or considered as non-

development related improvements. 

Development could lead to a loss of privacy for existing residents. The Council acknowledges that development will affect the character of the area and could 

have an impact on existing residents. However, the Council is committed both to delivering 

further housing, as well as to ensuring that quality of life remains high. The design and 

layout of future development will be required to consider the privacy of existing residents. 
Development could lead to poorer quality of life for existing 

residents/prevent quiet enjoyment of property. 



42 

 

GP5: Strategic Site – Area between Denvilles and Emsworth 

117 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Concerns over increase in crime and anti-social behaviour. If new developments are well designed an well integrated with existing communities there 

is no reason that crime and anti-social behaviour should increase. 

People should be protected as well as wildlife. Planning must balance the needs of people and wildlife. 

Warblington Level Crossing is particularly affected by congestion 

and delays – improvements are urgently needed. Full bridge or 

pedestrian bridge suggested. 

There is currently a funding shortfall for the Warblington Level Crossing. Other funding 

options are being explored; this includes a CIL bid, the outcome of which will be 

determined in February 2017. 

Development will have significant effect on the already busy 

highway network in the area (strategic and local roads).  

The Council has commissioned a full plan Transport Assessment to assess the impacts of 

the proposed development on the highways network, and establish what mitigation 

measures are needed. The Council will continue to work with the County Council as 

Highway Authority, as well as Highways England and providers of public transport to 

assess and provide solutions to any capacity issues in the network. 
Concerns over emergency access. 

Proposed junction on the A27 will not solve congestions problems. 

Proposed junction on the A27 may relieve congestion in the area. 

Object to junction on the A27 on the basis of impact on the 

character of the area/increased traffic in the area. 

Proposed junction on the A27 could make the A27 dangerous and 

/or more congested. 

Suggestions for location of A27 Junction and/or route of link road. 

Public transport is inadequate – improvements to bus service, train 

service and train stations needed. 

The Council is aware of the residents’ concerns regarding public transport provision.  The 

Council does not itself provide public transport services, but liaises with rail and bus 



43 

 

GP5: Strategic Site – Area between Denvilles and Emsworth 

117 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

service providers to ensure they are aware of proposed levels of development, and to seek 

to improve services and facilities. 

Concerns over air quality/pollution/noise from increased traffic. The Council will explore the issue for the Local Plan and work with Natural England on the 

results of modelling and any necessary avoidance and mitigation measures. 

Doctors, health centres, hospitals and other health services are 

already strained. Development can only be supported with 

infrastructure improvements. 

The Council is aware of residents’ concerns regarding health care provision. The Council is 

working closely with the Clinical Commissioning Group and the NHS to determine how 

these concerns can be addressed through the planning process. If appropriate, developer 

contributions will be sought for the provision of new/improved facilities. 

Local schools are already strained. Development can only be 

supported with infrastructure improvements. 

The Council is aware of residents’ concerns regarding education provision. The Council is 

working closely with Hampshire County Council as the Local Education Authority to 

determine how these concerns can be addressed through the planning process. If 

appropriate, developer contributions will be sought for the provision of new/improved 

facilities. The County Council has assured HBC that it has already taken into account 

urban extension sites in terms of school place planning.  

Other community services and facilities (leisure etc.) are already 

strained. Development can only be supported with infrastructure 

improvements. 

The Council will seek to ensure that high quality, new open spaces are provided as part of 

new developments. The Council also charges developers under the Community 

Infrastructure Levy, and uses funds to provide community infrastructure.  

Through Local Plan policies, the Council seeks to protect community facilities wherever 

possible. It should be noted, however, that publicly run facilities are under severe 

budgetary pressures and all Councils are reviewing the viability of these services.  In 

addition, many leisure facilities are private businesses, and the Council cannot force these 

to be set up or remain open. However, if opportunities do arise and the Council is able to 

help enable the provision of facilities the Council will assist where appropriate. 

Important the development should include local shops, a pub etc. The Housing Statement acknowledges that as well as housing, the development should 



44 

 

GP5: Strategic Site – Area between Denvilles and Emsworth 

117 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

include a local centre. 

Disagree with development requirement for local centre. The Council considers it important that in large scale development, local facilities are 

provided, both as a focus for the community, and to avoid unnecessary trips by car. 

Developers should pay for/provide the infrastructure needed. Developers provide or pay for infrastructure through S106 Legal Agreements and/or the 

Community Infrastructure Levy.  

Welcome mention of open space. Support noted. 

Infrastructure should be delivered before development takes place. A key part of the drafting of the Local Plan is to identify the infrastructure needed to make 

the development of sites sustainable. 

Smaller items of infrastructure, which are needed to make a development work, will be 

funded by developers through legal agreements with the Council.  These are generally 

delivered alongside the development, so they are operational when the development is 

occupied. 

In terms of strategic infrastructure, in a climate of extremely limited resources, forward 

funding of infrastructure is not always possible.  However, having a plan in place will allow 

the Council to bid for funds for strategic infrastructure in order to bring these forward at the 

earliest opportunity.  

Throughout the Local Plan preparation process, the Council is also in continuous dialogue 

with the providers of infrastructure, such as utility companies, Hampshire County Council 

for highways and schools, and the NHS. It should be noted, however, that it is the 

responsibility of these bodies to bring forward the infrastructure they deem necessary to 

meet the needs of the population. 

Development could affect water quality in Ems tributary and 

harbours. 

The Environment Agency (EA) has raised no concerns which would prevent the strategic 

sites coming forward. Nevertheless, the Council will continue to consult the EA as plans 



45 

 

GP5: Strategic Site – Area between Denvilles and Emsworth 

117 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

progress, to ensure that water quality is fully considered. 

Concerns over issues/flood risk on the site or affecting 

neighbouring properties/capacity of the sewerage network. 

It is not expected that any part of the site which lies within Flood Zones 2 or 3 will be 

developed. Flooding and drainage will be considered as proposals develop and it is 

expected that appropriate mitigation will be proposed in accordance with national and local 

flood risk policies. These require that development should not increase flood risk 

elsewhere. 

With regard to wider flood risk issues, the Planning Policy Team is working closely with the 

Eastern Solent Coastal Partnership and the Environment Agency to determine how future 

development will be affected by flood risk. 

Provision/upgrade of utilities. The Council is aware of the residents’ concerns regarding utilities provision. Utility 

providers (water, gas, electricity) have a statutory obligation to provide services to new 

development. The Council works with these providers to ensure they are aware of 

proposed levels of development so that they can plan accordingly for new development. 

Concerns over noise/dirt/traffic during construction phase. It is accepted that there will be some disturbance during the construction phase. Details of 

measures to mitigate such impacts are generally secured by means of condition at the 

planning application stage. As such it is not considered a valid reason to prevent 

development from coming forward. 

Unlikely that development will address affordability issues. The Council is not in a position to control the prices developers demand for homes. The 



46 

 

GP5: Strategic Site – Area between Denvilles and Emsworth 

117 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Council can, however, try to improve the supply of new homes by identifying sites suitable 

for development.  It can also seek a proportion of affordable homes
23

 (Social rented, 

affordable rented and intermediate housing) in developments. 

Affordable housing should be provided elsewhere. There is a significant need for affordable homes in the Borough and they must therefore be 

considered in all new developments. 

Development could affect property values. This is not a matter which can be considered or addressed through the planning process. 

Need for archaeological investigations – may be Roman or Bronze 

Age artefacts. 

The Council is liaising with its archaeological advisers to determine what archaeological 

investigations are needed prior to development.  

Development could affect heritage assets. Impact on historic structures and their setting will be noted as a development constraint 

both during the masterplanning process and as part of the Local Plan allocation which will 

include identified development requirements. Parkland setting of Southleigh Park House should be protected – 

landscape and historical assessments needed. 

40% of houses should meet needs of young families. Given the nature of the sites and the characteristics of the Borough, most of the homes 

built are likely to be family sized homes.  In recent years there has been a shift from 

smaller dwellings to family sized ones – see information contained within Annual 

Monitoring Report 2015
24

.   

                                                
 
 
 
23

 As defined by Annex 2: Glossary of the National Planning Policy Framework 
 http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/policy/achieving-sustainable-development/annex-2-glossary/ 
24

 http://www.havant.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/AMR%202015%20Final.pdf  

http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/policy/achieving-sustainable-development/annex-2-glossary/
http://www.havant.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/AMR%202015%20Final.pdf


47 

 

GP5: Strategic Site – Area between Denvilles and Emsworth 

117 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Where will occupiers of new properties work? As well as planning for housing, the Council, the Partnership for South Hampshire and the 

Solent Local Economic Partnership are working to attract employers to the sub-region and 

ensure land is available for employment floorspace.  Some residents in new developments 

will work in the Borough and some in the wider sub-region; some may be retired. 

Development of this area not expected when bought property. Planning must respond to changing circumstances.  There is now a requirement from the 

Government to plan for OAN of an area.  This is necessitating a review of the current Local 

Plan, and a need to consider all sites again for their development potential. 

New properties and site in general must have adequate parking. The Core Strategy includes a policy on parking standards in new development (Policy 

DM14). A Parking Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) was adopted on 27th July 

2016. This policy requirement will be considered through the Havant Borough Local Plan 

2036. 

Increased/improved provision for cyclists. New development is expected to make provision for infrastructure through CIL and site 

specific S106 obligations. If it is considered that there is a need for improvements to 

pavements/cycle routes associated with the development, these will be considered as part 

of the planning process. 

Strategic sites are slow to come forward.  The Council should 

continue to promote development on a wide range of sites to 

ensure a continuous supply of housing land. 

The timescales of strategic sites are acknowledged. It is for this reason that a number of 

smaller urban extension sites have been identified for early release. 

There should be a vote on including the site or not.  HBC elected Members will make the decision whether to include the site in the Local Plan 

or not, taking into account the background evidence and information, and the 

representations made by the local community and other stakeholders 

Need confirmation that no Compulsory Purchase Orders will be The Council considers that the site must be planned and developed comprehensively. 

While it is not anticipated that it will be necessary, the Council is willing to using CPO 

http://www.havant.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Final%20Parking%20SPD.pdf


48 

 

GP5: Strategic Site – Area between Denvilles and Emsworth 

117 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

needed. powers if necessary to bring about the comprehensive delivery of the site. 

Will site be delivered in phases? This is a large site, and it is therefore likely that it will be developed in phases.  However, 

what is vital is that it is planned comprehensively, so that a coherent development emerges 

and infrastructure needs can be addressed. 

Should include bungalows to meet needs of elderly and free up 

family homes. 

The mix of housing that is developed is determined largely by market forces. However, the 

Core Strategy supports a mix of housing types, and specifically acknowledges the housing 

needs of the ageing population, and sets out what requirements will be made from 

developers to supply affordable housing. Housing mix will be considered as part of the 

development requirements for the allocation through the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036. 

Key issues raised by statutory consultees HBC response 

Highways England: 

Support comprehensive approach to development.  Support noted. 

Before principle of new junction can be agreed, should be early 

engagement to understand impact on A27 and wider SRN. Design 

Manual for Roads and Bridges (DMRB) standards required. 

The Council has commissioned a Transport Assessment to assess further possible 

strategic highways infrastructure requirements, and will work with the Highway Authority 

and Highways England to consider which proposals offer the best solutions to traffic 

alleviation around the Borough. 

Historic England: 

Site includes Grade II Listed 1 and 2 Eastleigh Road and setting of 

other listed buildings - should be respected in masterplan/brief. 

Consideration of listed Southleigh Park House/clock tower building. 

Impact on historic structures will be noted as a development constraint both during the 

masterplanning process and in development requirements noted in the Local Plan 

allocation. 



49 

 

GP5: Strategic Site – Area between Denvilles and Emsworth 

117 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Hampshire County Council: 

Concerns over the capacity of the highway network. There is no 

evidence or supporting detail of how the development will link to the 

existing highway network and if the highway network can cope. 

The Council has commissioned a Transport Assessment to assess further possible 

strategic highways infrastructure requirements, and will work with the Highway Authority 

and Highways England to consider which proposals offer the best solutions to traffic 

alleviation around the Borough. 

Impact on/provision of community facilities & services. The site will 

require new primary school; site could generate around 500 primary 

children, so a school for up to 630 pupils will be sought (3ha of land 

of a regular size, free from encumbrances and flat). 

It is noted that a school will be needed for this site.  This has been taken into account in 

considering the viability of developing this site, and will be taken into consideration during 

masterplanning work. 

Minerals Safeguarding: Site likely to be underlain by sand and 

gravel. Prospective developers should undertake a mineral 

assessment and explore opportunities to use the minerals.  This 

should be highlighted in the plan. 

Havant Borough Council will continue to work with Hampshire County Council and will 

continue to incorporate the policies of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013). The 

likely presence of sand and gravel, and the need for further investigation into whether prior 

extraction is feasible will be written into the development requirements for this site. 

Chichester District Council: 

Welcome comprehensive approach Support noted.  

Recognise cross boundary issues: highway/transport issues, and 

request that Chichester District Council (CDC) are kept informed, 

particularly in respect of transport studies and assessments. 

The Council will continue to share information and work with CDC as plans progress. 

 

 

 

 

Wastewater issues - capacity at Thornham should be monitored 

and Chichester District Council would like to be kept informed of 

future work on wastewater. 



50 

 

GP5: Strategic Site – Area between Denvilles and Emsworth 

117 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Portsmouth Water PLC: 

Situated within Groundwater Source Protection Zone 1Cs (SPZ 

1Cs), located at depth beneath the Lambeth Group. If this is 

breached, this would open up a pollution pathway to the Havant & 

Bedhampton Springs. 

Portsmouth Water has no objection in principle to development at 

site.  However given the risk to abstraction from the Havant and 

Bedhampton Springs, request to be consulted at the outset of any 

associated planning application in the future.  In particular, this 

concerns; 

 Appropriate use of SUDS (no deep borehole infiltration; 

surface water drainage strategy to be submitted); 

 Piling foundations (must not breach Lambeth Group 

formation; foundation design to be submitted); 

 Contaminated land (ground investigation to be submitted). 

To be noted in development requirements. Portsmouth Water and Environment Agency will 

be consulted on any planning application on the site. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



51 

 

Proposed Modifications to the Housing Statement 

Section/Paragraph Proposed Change Reason for Change 

Local Plan Note consideration of impact on historic structures and their setting as a 
development requirement.  

To ensure historic structures are not adversely 
affected by development. 

Local Plan Write likely presence of sand & gravel, and the need for further investigation 
into whether prior extraction is feasible into development requirements. 

To ensure that minerals resources are not 
needlessly sterilised. 

Local Plan Note in development requirements that site is situated within Groundwater 
Source Protection Zone 1Cs (SPZ 1Cs), located at depth beneath the 
Lambeth Group.  Need to be aware of pollution pathway in the Havant & 
Bedhampton Springs and that SUDS schemes, foundation design and ground 
investigation information will need to be approved. 

To ensure groundwater pollution is prevented. 

  



52 

 

GP6: Duty to Cooperate 
9 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

The suggestion that the shortfall of 1,322 homes will need to be 
addressed by other authorities is optimistic and unachievable. The 
shortfall should be found within the Borough. 

Havant Borough Council has been thorough in its search for sites to meet the objectively 
assessed need. It has left “no stone unturned” in identifying suitable housing sites. This is 
set out in more detail in the Housing Constraints and Supply Analysis. Therefore, it will not 
be possible to meet the shortfall within the Borough. In accordance with paragraph 178 of 
the NPPF, the Council will be working with other local authorities to help meet the shortfall. 

In accordance with the NPPF, more dependence should be directed 
to the re-use of brownfield land in urban centres and windfall sites. 

Urban areas, including Havant Town Centres have been considered. Background evidence 
has been published at https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base .  Particularly 
relevant are the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) and the Housing 
Constraints and Supply Analysis. The Local Plan (Core Strategy) and Local Plan 
(Allocations) documents remain in place and identify brownfield sites for development, and 
Guiding Principle 3 confirms that previously developed sites will be considered positively. It 
is not possible, however, to meet the Borough’s housing need on brownfield sites alone. 

Havant Borough Council is pushing sites in unsustainable locations. 
The sites will promote out commuting, high levels of car ownership, 
contrary to the NPPF and current local plan policies. 

There is a high housing need in Havant Borough and the NPPF requires local authorities to 
seek to meet that need. From this starting point, the Council has considered sites for 
residential development across the Borough. The sites identified in the Housing Statement 
are those which the Council considers can help meet this high housing need, through 
sustainable development. Having established the principle in the Housing Statement, the 
Council can then focus on the detailed aspects to make sure that the development which 
does take place is sustainable and well-integrated into local communities and provides the 
infrastructure that is needed to support it. 

Concerns over ecology. Brent Geese will be displaced, contrary to 
the NPPF and damage to bat habitats would contravene EU 
directives. 

Adopted local plan policy DM23 is in place to ensure that sites which are used by Brent 
Geese are protected from development, or that appropriate mitigation measures are put in 
place. Where species or habitats are protected through legislation, appropriate measures 
will be taken throughout the local plan and development management process, in 
accordance with that legislation. 

There should be a more joined up approach with neighbouring 
Councils, particularly in respect of infrastructure. 

The Council is proactively working with neighbouring authorities and within PUSH to 
ensure a joined up approach. Havant Borough Council continues to work with Hampshire 
County Council and the Solent LEP in respect of infrastructure delivery and remains 
committed to the objectives set out in the Infrastructure Memorandum of Understanding 

https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-shlaa-8th-edition-pdf-616-kb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb


53 

 

(June 2013) which was agreed by the local authorities in Hampshire. 

The Council will need to work with neighbouring authorities to meet 
full OAN, particularly to address cross boundary strategic issues 
and unmet housing need. 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states in paragraph 159 that authorities 
must seek to meet the full objectively assessed need (OAN) for housing in their area and in 
paragraph 178, that ‘’public bodies have a duty to cooperate on planning issues that cross 
administrative boundaries’’. Housing markets cross local authority boundaries and Havant 
Borough Council (HBC) falls under the wider Portsmouth HMA. HBC’s membership of and 
work with PUSH contributes to discharging the duties in the NPPF. The Council also works 
closely with neighbouring authorities to the east, to address cross boundary issues such as 
transport and education, in Chichester District and West Sussex. 

Key issues raised by statutory consultees HBC response 

Portsmouth City Council: 

The process of dealing with the identified shortfall of 1,322 
dwellings is unclear given that no option for meeting with level of 
need within Havant Borough are put forward for consideration as 
part of this consultation. 

Guiding Principle 6 makes clear that the Council is committed to working through the 
Partnership for Urban South Hampshire to address housing need across the housing 
market area, including in Portsmouth. This will continue as the plan is developed. 

Hampshire County Council: 

Impact on/provision of community facilities & services - If sites 
cannot be found in neighbouring authorities and HBC has to find 
further sites to meet its need, another 420 primary places (2FE 
primary school) will be needed.  HBC should engage with HCC at 
the earliest opportunity. 

It is considered that all sites which are deliverable or developable under the definitions in 
the NPPF have been considered. However as the plan develops, HBC are committed to 
working closely with HCC to further investigate the likely educational requirements arising 
from the proposed new development. 

Chichester District Council: 

Chichester District Local Plan Review will assess capacity for 
meeting any unmet housing needs from Havant Borough. 

Noted. As well as working with PUSH, HBC are committed to working positively with 
Chichester District Council to assess the capacity to meet housing need. 

 
 
 
 
 
 



54 

 

Sites at Long Copse Lane (UE39, UE50 and UE67)  
119 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Concerns that Long Copse Lane and Hollybank Lane cannot take 

additional traffic (capacity and safety concerns).  Access is narrow 

(single track), there are no footpaths, there are blind bends, poor 

street lighting, and are used as a walking route by school children, 

cyclists, dog walkers and equestrians.  

The Council has commissioned a full plan Transport Assessment to assess the impacts of 

the proposed development on the highways network, and establish what mitigation 

measures are needed. The Council will continue to work with the County Council as 

Highway Authority, as well as Highways England and providers of public transport to 

assess and provide solutions to any capacity issues in the network.  

The Council will continue to work with HCC as Highway Authority to consider local issues 

regarding access and road safety to inform the most appropriate means of access for the 

site.  Any planning applications would also have to demonstrate that the site can be 

accessed satisfactorily and safely. 

Impacts on the landscape, as well as the impact on the amenity of existing residents will be 

considered further as part of that work. Detail will be presented to the Council and 

considered as part of any planning application. 

Concern over capacity of the highway network in wider area (A259; 

A27 etc.). 

It will not be possible to alter the highways layout to accommodate 

the additional traffic. Alterations would further damage landscape. 

Questions over likely/best access to the sites, including 

considerations of road safety and increase in traffic on local roads 

and junctions. 

Suggest access to Long Copse sites from Emsworth Common 

Road would be preferable; and/or opening up Redlands Lane. 

Suggest that Redland House Site should be accessed via Long 

Copse Lane and not via Redlands Lane (unmade footpath); 

Footpath section of Redlands Lane should be protected from 

encroachment by cars - seeking confirmation that the concrete 

bollards at the entrance to the footpath are to remain. 

Concern over road safety at already dangerous junctions at both 

ends of the lane. 

Construction of site would be impossible as large vehicles would 

not be able to negotiate the sharp bend. 

Access arrangements during site construction will be considered as part of a Construction 

Management Plan as part of any planning application. 



55 

 

Sites at Long Copse Lane (UE39, UE50 and UE67)  
119 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Concerns over disruption during construction phase. It is accepted that there is likely to be some disturbance during the construction phase. 

However, this is not considered a valid reason to prevent the principle of development 

coming forward. Access arrangements, time restrictions and other mitigation measures will 

be considered as part of a Construction Management Plan at the application stage. 

Proposed quantum of development/densities too high for location. 

 

 

Further assessments will have to be submitted as part of any planning application(s), 

including traffic and ecology, to determine the site’s viability and the suitability for the 

number of homes.  

As highlighted on page 61 of the Local Plan (Core Strategy) the density of new housing will 

depend on its design and appropriateness to its location. It is not intended that density 

requirements should be too prescriptive as it is often a difficult balance between 

maximising the use of the land and reflecting surrounding built character and the amenity 

of neighbouring residents.  Therefore, this is best assessed for individual planning 

proposals through the application stage. 

Number of dwellings proposed for the Redland House site (5) is too 

high for the site. 

Site is outside the urban areas identified in Adopted Local Plan and 

therefore contrary to current Policies CS17 and AL2. 

In order to address the Borough’s high housing need it is inevitable that all undeveloped 

areas that are free from significant constraints are considered for development.  It is 

acknowledged that the site lies outside the urban area. Guiding Principle 4 in the Housing 

Statement proposes that existing policies regarding the urban area should not apply to the 

sites listed in Table 2 as these sites are considered to be capable of delivering sustainable 

development. As part of the review of the Local Plan, the urban boundary will have to be 

redrawn to include new allocation sites. 

Sites are contrary to Guiding Principle 3 in the Housing Statement 

(which states that brownfield land will be prioritised). 

Urban areas, including Havant Town Centres have been considered. Background evidence 

has been published at https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base .  Particularly 

relevant are the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) and the Housing 

Constraints and Supply Analysis. The Local Plan (Core Strategy) and Local Plan 

(Allocations) documents remain in place and identify brownfield sites for development. 

Guiding Principle 3 confirms that previously developed sites will be considered positively. It 

https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-shlaa-8th-edition-pdf-616-kb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb


56 

 

Sites at Long Copse Lane (UE39, UE50 and UE67)  
119 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

is not possible, however, to meet the Borough’s housing need on brownfield sites alone. 

Contrary to current Local Plan – plan should not yet be reviewed. It is acknowledged that the Local Plan is being reviewed sooner than might have been 

anticipated. This has become necessary because new evidence has emerged on the 

housing need for the area. The Council has recently lost an appeal against its refusal to 

permit a housing development, which calls into question whether the Local Plan can be 

considered up to date. There is therefore an urgent need to review the Plan in order to 

retain some measure of control over local decision making. 

Support for identification of Redlands House Site – there are no 

constraints to delivery. 

Support noted. 

Development only acceptable up to Wraysbury Park Drive (accept 

UE39, but not UE50). 

In order to address the Borough’s housing need it is inevitable that all undeveloped areas 

that are free from significant constraints are considered for development. Developers will 

still have to demonstrate how each site can deliver an acceptable scheme in terms of 

design, layout, density, impact on the surrounding area, impact on ecology, transport and 

access and other material planning considerations. 

Long Copse is one of two roads in the Borough that have been 

designated as roads of special rural character. 

Long Copse Lane was designated as having special character in the Havant Borough 

District-Wide Local Plan 1996-2011.  This plan has been superseded by the Local Plan 

(Core Strategy) and Local Plan (Allocations) documents where the designation was not 

carried forward. 

Redlands Lane is part of the ‘Ancient Sussex Border Path’. Development would not remove the route. 

Development of the site would set a precedent for more 

development along Long Copse Lane. 

The Local Plan must be shown to be deliverable when examined by the Independent 

Planning Inspector. As a result, only land which the owners have indicated is available for 

development has been included. A great deal of Long Copse Lane is also in Chichester 

District. 



57 

 

Sites at Long Copse Lane (UE39, UE50 and UE67)  
119 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Negative impact on the (semi) rural character of the area - would be 

out of character with existing surroundings; impact on beautiful 

landscape. 

 

It is acknowledged that the Havant Landscape Capacity Study finds that these sites are 

located within areas assessed as having low or medium low capacity to accept change. 

Encroachment of urban character into adjacent rural areas is identified within as a key 

issue, but it is important to acknowledge this analysis does not preclude development and 

is one consideration in the balance as to whether development should be supported, along 

with other considerations including housing need. Development may be deemed 

acceptable where mitigation could be provided for associated impacts on landscape 

character and ecology.  These issues will be identified in the development requirements for 

the sites. 

Objection to the site is supported by the Landscape Sensitivity and 

Capacity Study. 

Loss of semi-rural landscape cannot be replaced by open space in 

a development. 

The Council accepts that formal open spaces provide a different experience from semi-

rural landscape although developments on the urban fringe, such as at West of 

Waterlooville, include semi-rural open spaces such as meadows to provide a link to the 

rural areas beyond.  

Object to loss of buffer between urban area and South Downs 

National Park. 

These sites are within reasonable proximity of the South Downs National Park Boundary, 

but are not immediately adjacent to, nor considered visible from within the National Park. 

Object to encroachment onto/impact on Hollybank Woods/ 

Southleigh Forest and Forest of Bere. 

The sites do not encroach onto these areas. It is acknowledged that they are close to, but 

not within the boundary of, the designated Site of Importance to Nature Conservation 

(SINC) of Hollybank Woods. 

Gaps between settlements should be protected to maintain their 

distinctiveness. 

The Adopted Local Plan does not contain a specific gaps policy. However, development 

requirements on site layout will be included in the site allocation in the Local Plan to ensure 

that the development does not result in the coalescence of distinct settlements. 

Concerns over loss of trees, woodland and green space per se and 

for their health and leisure/recreation benefits for people. 

In order to address the Borough’s housing need it is inevitable that all undeveloped areas 

that are free from significant constraints need to be considered for development. However, 

the Council is keen to ensure that where possible, trees are retained within new 



58 

 

Sites at Long Copse Lane (UE39, UE50 and UE67)  
119 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

development and high quality, new open space is incorporated within the design and the 

layout of new developments. 

Doctors, health centres, hospitals and other health services are 

already strained. Development can only be supported with 

infrastructure improvements. 

The Council is aware of residents’ concerns regarding health care provision. The Council is 

working closely with the Clinical Commissioning Group and the NHS to determine how 

these concerns can be addressed through the planning process. If appropriate, developer 

contributions will be sought for the provision of new/improved facilities. 

Local schools are already strained. Development can only be 

supported with infrastructure improvements. 

The Council is aware of residents’ concerns regarding education provision. The Council is 

working closely with Hampshire County Council as the Local Education Authority to 

determine how these concerns can be addressed through the planning process. If 

appropriate, developer contributions will be sought for the provision of new/improved 

facilities. The County Council has assured HBC that it has already taken into account 

urban extension sites in terms of school place planning.  

Other community services and facilities (leisure, shops etc.) are 

already strained. Development can only be supported with 

infrastructure improvements. 

The Council will seek to ensure that high quality, new open spaces are provided as part of 

new developments. The Council also charges developers under the Community 

Infrastructure Levy, and uses funds to provide community infrastructure.  

Through local plan policies, the Council seeks to protect community facilities wherever 

possible. It should be noted, however, that publicly run facilities are under severe 

budgetary pressures and all Councils are reviewing the viability of these services.  In 

addition, many leisure facilities are private businesses, and the Council cannot force these 

to be set up or remain open. However, if opportunities do arise and the Council is able to 

help enable the provision of facilities the Council will assist where appropriate. 

Development could have significant impact on wildlife/ecology - rich 

flora and fauna will be lost. 

It is acknowledged that development of greenfield sites will have some impact on wildlife 

on the sites affected. The Council is having ongoing discussions with bodies such as 

Natural England, the RSPB and the Hampshire and Isle of Wight Wildlife Trust to identify 

any key issues and ways in which impacts can be mitigated. More detail on these matters 



59 

 

Sites at Long Copse Lane (UE39, UE50 and UE67)  
119 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

will also be required to support any planning application on the sites, so that impacts and 

proposed mitigation measures can be considered in detail. 

Hedgerows and mature trees should be retained if site is 

developed. 

The impact of development on hedgerows and trees will be considered at the application 

stage. A number of Tree Preservation Orders have been made in the area, and there is 

detailed legislation regarding the protection of hedgerows
25

.  

Other sites should be developed – sites with less impact. Urban areas, including Havant Town Centres have been considered. Background evidence 

has been published at https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base .  Particularly 

relevant are the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) and the Housing 

Constraints and Supply Analysis. The Local Plan (Core Strategy) and Local Plan 

(Allocations) documents remain in place and identify brownfield sites for development. 

Guiding Principle 3 confirms that previously developed sites will be considered positively.  

It is not possible, however, to meet the Borough’s housing need on brownfield sites alone. 

A large amount of greenfield sites have also been considered. The NPPF is clear that 

housing need must be met unless it would be contrary to the NPPF to do so. It is not 

considered that there is justification under the NPPF for resisting the principle of 

development at Long Copse Lane. 

Concerns over air quality/pollution/noise from increased traffic. The Council will continue to explore this issue for the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036 and 

ensure any necessary avoidance and mitigation measures are included in the developer 

requirements. 

Development will lead to poorer quality of life for existing The Council acknowledges that further development will likely affect the character of the 

                                                
 
 
 
25

 Hedgerow Regulations 1997  
https://www.gov.uk/Government/publications/hedgerows-retention-and-replacement-notices-the-appeal-procedures  

https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-shlaa-8th-edition-pdf-616-kb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hedgerows-retention-and-replacement-notices-the-appeal-procedures


60 

 

Sites at Long Copse Lane (UE39, UE50 and UE67)  
119 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

residents/prevent quiet enjoyment of property. area. However, the Council is committed both to delivering further housing, as well as to 

ensuring that quality of life remains high. 

Impact on Westbourne. 

Any new open space created would only benefit residents in the 

new development. 

This assertion is not substantiated, since details of the nature or location of the open space 

are not yet available.  It is true that developers are only required to make provision for 

infrastructure to serve their development, but generally this would not prevent other 

residents using the facility and the open space must be provided as public open space, not 

restricted to the residents of the development. 

Need to consider Bechstein Bats. HBC is collaborating in the development of a Bechstein’s Bat Planning Protocol which will 

be published in 2017. This document will provide further information on the expected 

survey and mitigation requirements for developments where impacts are likely. This will be 

included in the development requirements in the Havant Borough Local Plan. 

Need for homes should be balanced against NPPF para 109 ‘the 

planning system should contribute to and enhance the natural and 

local environment’.  

Agreed - planning must balance the needs of people and wildlife. The accompanying 

Sustainability Appraisal
26

 shows how sustainability considerations have been weighed up 

against each other. 

There is poor public transport service in the area – residents in new 

development would have to drive 

Half-hourly bus services are available from New Brighton Road, whilst Emsworth Railway 

Station, linking to Havant, Portsmouth and London is 1.5km to the south. Providing new 

development at a suitable density enables a market to form for public transport provision. 

This will continue to be explored through the full plan Transport Assessment and liaison 

with public transport providers. If appropriate, provision of public transport infrastructure, 

                                                
 
 
 
26

 https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/regulatory-requirements  

https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/regulatory-requirements


61 

 

Sites at Long Copse Lane (UE39, UE50 and UE67)  
119 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

such as bus stops, will be included in the developer requirements for the site. 

HBC's statement is that these sites are ‘deliverable, developable, 

free from constraints and that sustainable development can be 

achieved’. However, the remoteness from meaningful services and 

inadequate highway infrastructure makes sustainability 

questionable. 

It is acknowledged that town centre locations are more sustainable than greenfield sites, 

and the Council will continue to encourage and promote development in built up areas 

which are close to facilities.  However, it is not possible to meet the Borough’s housing 

need in urban areas alone, and the sites put forward through the housing statement are 

considered to meet the requirements of sustainable development under the NPPF. 

Concerns over the impact on property values. This is not a matter which can be considered or addressed through the planning process. 

Emsworth has already seen a lot of development in recent times. The Council accepts that a high level of development had taken place in the Borough in 

recent years.  However, housing need remains high. The Council is committed both to 

delivering further housing, as well as to ensuring that quality of life remains high. 

Complaints that Hampshire Farm Development has not delivered 

the community benefits that were promised. 

The Hampshire Farm development has provided a great deal of onsite infrastructure 

including extensive open space and allotments as well as over £1 million in contributions 

towards offsite infrastructure. Discussions are continuing regarding the community 

provision element of the promised benefits to ensure its delivery. 

Concerns over drainage issues/flood risk on site, on access to site 

and affecting neighbouring properties/capacity of the sewerage 

network. 

Flooding and drainage will be considered as proposals develop and it is expected that 

appropriate mitigation will be proposed in accordance with national and local flood risk 

policies. These require that development should not increase flood risk elsewhere. The 

Council will continue to consult the Environment Agency regarding flood risk on the site. 

Accept need for new homes on principle. Noted.  

Plan alleviates requirements of future migrants at expense of 

existing residents and natural beauty and attractions of local areas. 

The Strategic Housing Market Assessment takes into account a number of factors in 

determining housing need, including household formation, economic growth and 

population change. In terms of population change, both migration (within the UK and 



62 

 

Sites at Long Copse Lane (UE39, UE50 and UE67)  
119 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

international) and natural change (births minus deaths) are considered, and the figures do 

show a high level of past trends in population change due to migration into the area.  The 

objectively assessed need that Councils are required to address is informed by both types 

of population change, and it is not possible to plan only for the needs of the population of 

the Borough. It should be noted that the Council cannot control who buys property in the 

area.  It is likely that on any development, it will be a mixture of people from within and 

from outside the Borough. 

The area is at the top of a hill and is thus not suitable for those with 

limited mobility. 

It is up to individual potential occupiers to assess whether the area is suitable for them. 

At the other end of Long Copse Lane, West Sussex has been 

recently subject to a planning decision which found in favour of a 

much reduced housing density.  It would seem inappropriate to 

polarise the West Sussex and Hampshire ends of the same lane 

through a disjointed and insular approach. 

While Councils do co-operate on cross boundary issues, it is up to each individual authority 

to determine the appropriateness of development in their area, through the plan making 

and decision making processes.   

Support identification of site, and general approach taken to 

Housing Statement. 

Support noted. 

Site UE39 is available, deliverable and developable with no legal 

constraints to development. 

Support noted. 

UE50 and adjoining land can deliver housing relatively quickly - 

SHLAA states developable but not deliverable - not the case as 

there are no major obstacles. 

Support noted. 

Objection to omission of additional land from UE50. Inclusion of 

land between UE50 and UE39 would remove gap, provide 

The area to the north of Long Copse Lane was identified in the sieving process that is 

described in the Housing Constraints and Supply Analysis (July 2016) as an area with 



63 

 

Sites at Long Copse Lane (UE39, UE50 and UE67)  
119 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

comprehensive site and be Green Infrastructure led. potential for development being without significant environmental constraints. During the 

‘Call for Sites’ land was put forward in separate parcels so that a comprehensive approach 

to site identification was not possible in the Draft Local Plan Housing Statement. That 

additional land has since been put forward in responses to the publication of the Draft 

Local Plan Housing Statement which extend and fill gaps between the sites. This would 

enable a comprehensive approach and assist with resolving such as access issues to the 

overall area. 

Questions over validity of PUSH OAN work. The OAN is based on the best available evidence and was undertaken by an independent 

consultant using a nationally prescribed methodology. 

Selection process has not been subject to rigorous testing and 

would fail the tests of soundness at examination. 

HBC considers that it has comprehensively assessed the development potential for 

housing of sites in the Borough. Background evidence has been published at 

https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base. Particularly relevant are the Strategic 

Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) and the Housing Constraints and Supply 

Analysis 

Paragraphs 1.6 and 1.7 explain that the Housing Statement forms the first formal step in 

the Local Plan preparation process.  The Housing Statement sets out a direction of travel 

and forms the starting point for the Local Plan review, which will be fully evidenced and 

formally examined before adoption. 

Hollybank House is important listed building - development here 

would severely compromise its setting. 

It will be noted in the development requirements for the site.  Applicant will have to 

demonstrate how the setting of the listed building has been considered, and that 

development does not cause substantial harm. 

Loss of agricultural land - high quality. The NPPF expects local planning authorities to seek to use areas of poorer quality land in 

preference to that if a higher quality, where significant development of agricultural land is 

demonstrated to be necessary. However a balance must be struck with the requirement to 

meet identified housing needs in the Borough. Some loss of higher quality land cannot 

https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-shlaa-8th-edition-pdf-616-kb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-shlaa-8th-edition-pdf-616-kb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb


64 

 

Sites at Long Copse Lane (UE39, UE50 and UE67)  
119 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

therefore be avoided. 

 Key issues raised by statutory consultees HBC response 

Chichester District Council: 

SHLAA contains no visual assessment. Background evidence has been published on site constraints in a combination of the 

Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA), the Housing Constraints and 

Supply Analysis and the Landscape Capacity Study. 

Should be aware of ancient woodland in Chichester District. The presence of ancient woodland near the site will be noted in the development 

requirements for the site. 

Historic England: 

Should consider setting of Grade II Listed Hollybank House. It will be noted in the development requirements for the site.  The applicant will have to 

demonstrate how the setting of the listed building has been considered, and impact 

minimised in line with regulatory requirements and the NPPF. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-shlaa-8th-edition-pdf-616-kb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base


65 

 

Proposed Modifications to the Housing Statement 

Section/Paragraph Proposed Change Reason for Change 

Local Plan Note Grade II Listed Building Hollybank House near UE50 and UE39 in 

development requirements. 

To ensure that the setting of the listed building is 

fully considered and to ensure that development 

does not cause substantial harm. 

Local Plan Note presence of ancient woodland near the site in the development 

requirements for the site. 

To ensure impacts on woodland can be properly 

considered. 

Local Plan Note that landscape character and ecology impacts must be mitigated. To ensure development does not cause significant 

adverse visual or ecological impact on the 

landscape. 

 

  



66 

 

UE02b: Land north and west of Selangor Avenue 
Planning Application – APP/16/00774 

17 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

The site formed part of the strategic gap in 2007 and was outlined 

in the Havant Gaps Review 2012 as not suitable for development.  

The proposed site was dismissed previously at a Public Inquiry due 

to the adverse effects on the strategic gap. 

 

Havant Borough Council (HBC) is aware that UE02b Selangor Avenue was ‘’not 

recommended for development’  in the Havant Gaps Review (2012).  The 2012 Review 

was informed by previous Landscape Character Assessment work.  The high landscape 

value was based on the locally important landscape features and particularly for the 

contribution to physical separation between the adjacent urban areas of Havant and 

Emsworth.  Nevertheless, there has been a change in central Government policy towards 

housing; this is driving the development of sites not previously considered appropriate, as 

there is now a higher housing target with limited sites available for development. 

With this, decisions for development in greenfield/urban extension sites will now be 

considered in accordance with Guiding Principle 4. 

Development of this site goes against Policies AL2 and CS17. 

 

Guiding Principle 4 in the Housing Statement proposes that Policies CS17 and AL2 should 

not apply to this site, as this site is considered to be capable of delivering sustainable 

development. 

Concern is raised over the proximity of the development to the high 

pressure gas main and the 24 hour access requirement for it.  

Barratt’s plan will not be adequate as the gas main cannot run 

underneath properties and to move the gas main would not be 

economically viable.  

 

The Council is aware of the concerns residents have raised regarding the provision of 

utilities.  Utility providers (water, gas, electricity) have a statutory obligation to provide 

services to new development. The Council works with these providers to ensure they are 

aware of proposed levels of development so that they can plan for new development 

accordingly.  

Discussions are ongoing between the developer and the relevant authorities regarding the 

gas main. 

Existing sewage utilities are working at full stretch; heavy rainfall 

exacerbates the problem and causes sewage to be pumped into 

Chichester Harbour several times a year. 

Southern Water has been consulted on all the proposals in the Housing Statement. No 

objections have been raised. A development requirement for connection to the sewerage 

system at the nearest point of adequate capacity may be required. 

Congestion will increase further on the A259, Selangor Avenue, The comments made regarding specific roads and junctions have been noted.  As an 



67 

 

UE02b: Land north and west of Selangor Avenue 
Planning Application – APP/16/00774 

17 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Victoria Road and increase the tailback from the Southleigh Road 

level crossing.  

application has been submitted to the Council for this site, consultation with the County 

Council as Highway Authority and Highways England has commenced. This will inform 

whether any changes are required to the scheme which has been submitted. 

The additional traffic feeding onto Havant Road and limited vision 

from parked vehicles will cause danger to cyclists and vehicles. 

The site acts as a noise buffer between the A27 and Selangor 

Avenue. 

A noise report has been submitted with the planning application and the Council’s 

Environmental Health Team have been consulted. 

The proposed A27 Junction will not alleviate congestion. The Council will continue to support a new junction from the A27, unless evidence arises 

that this is not feasible.  It is considered that the proposed junction is essential in unlocking 

the development potential of the wider strategic site to the north of the A27 but is likely to 

have benefit to those living close by as well. The Council has commissioned a full plan 

Transport Assessment to assess further possible strategic highways infrastructure 

requirements, and will work with the Highway Authority and Highways England to consider 

which proposals offer the best solutions to traffic alleviation around the Borough. 

The proposed A27 junction should be in place before development 

takes place. 

 

The Council has commissioned a Transport Assessment to assess further possible 

strategic highways infrastructure requirements, and will work with the Highway Authority 

and Highways England to consider which proposals offer the best solutions to traffic 

alleviation around the Borough. 

In terms of strategic infrastructure, in a climate of extremely limited resources, forward 

funding of infrastructure is not always possible.  However, having a Plan in place will allow 

the Council to bid for funds for strategic infrastructure in order to bring these forward at the 

earliest opportunity. 

The proposed A27 Junction will be situated in the ‘Area between the Denvilles and 

Emsworth’ Strategic Site and is therefore subject to the development of that site.  Due to 

the size of this proposed allocation, it is likely that the housing proposed on the site will 



68 

 

UE02b: Land north and west of Selangor Avenue 
Planning Application – APP/16/00774 

17 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

come forward in phases.  

Accept need for homes in principle. Comment noted.  

Support affordable housing. 

 

New development is expected to provide between 30% and 40% affordable housing. This 

can be in a variety of formats and will usually be determined in accordance with the 

Council’s Housing Service and with affordable housing providers. 

The Council is not in a position to control the prices developers demand for homes. The 

Council can, however, try to improve the supply of new homes by identifying sites suitable 

for development.  It can also seek a proportion of affordable homes (Social rented, 

affordable rented and intermediate housing) in developments. 

Oppose affordable housing. 

 

The proposed development will put a strain on school places. 

 

The Council is aware of residents’ concerns regarding education provision. The Council is 

working closely with Hampshire County Council as the Local Education Authority to 

determine how these concerns can be addressed through the planning process. If 

appropriate, developer contributions will be sought for the provision of new/improved 

facilities. The County Council has assured HBC that it has already taken into account 

urban extension sites in terms of school place planning.  

The proposed development will put a strain on the capacity of GP 

surgeries, hospitals and the ability of emergency services. 

 

The Council is aware of residents’ concerns regarding health care provision. The Council is 

working closely with the South East Hampshire Clinical Commissioning Group to 

determine how these concerns can be addressed through the planning process. If 

appropriate, developer contributions will be sought for the provision of new/improved 

facilities. 

The current infrastructure is inadequate for the current population 

due to past developments.  

A key part of the drafting of the Local Plan is to identify the infrastructure 

improvements/additions required to make proposed sites sustainable. 



69 

 

UE02b: Land north and west of Selangor Avenue 
Planning Application – APP/16/00774 

17 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

 

 

 

 

In terms of strategic infrastructure, in a climate of extremely limited resources, forward 

funding of infrastructure is not always possible.  However, having a plan in place will allow 

the Council to bid for funds for strategic infrastructure in order to bring these forward at the 

earliest opportunity.  

Smaller items of infrastructure, which are needed to make a development work, will be 

funded by developers through legal agreements with the Council.  These are generally 

delivered alongside the development, so they are operational when the development is 

occupied. 

Throughout the Local Plan preparation process, the Council is also in continuous dialogue 

with the providers of infrastructure, such as utility companies and public transport 

providers, HCC for highways and schools, and the NHS. It should be noted, however, that 

it is the responsibility of these bodies to bring forward the infrastructure they deem 

necessary to meet the needs of the population. 

With regard to public transport; the Council is aware of the concerns residents have raised 

regarding the provision of public transport.  The Council does not itself provide public 

transport services, but liaises with rails and bus service providers to ensure they are aware 

of proposed levels of development, and to seek to improve services and facilities. 

Infrastructure must be delivered before development. 

This will help secure adequate public transport and ensure 

employment from local industries and job providers.  

 

Loss of greenspace 

 

In order to address the Borough’s housing need it is inevitable that all undeveloped areas 

that are free from significant constraints need to be considered for development. However, 

the Council is keen to ensure that where possible, high quality, new open space is 

incorporated within the design and the layout of new developments. 

The area has an abundance of wildlife and is apart of a nature 

conservation area and green corridor, which connects Chichester 

Harbour with Southleigh, Stansted Forest and the South Down 

National Park; it is thus essential to green infrastructure. 

No overriding issues have been identified that would prevent allocation from coming 

forward.  

It is acknowledged that development of greenfield sites will have some impact on wildlife 

on the sites affected. The Council is having ongoing discussions with bodies such as 



70 

 

UE02b: Land north and west of Selangor Avenue 
Planning Application – APP/16/00774 

17 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

 Natural England, the RSPB and the Hampshire and Isle of Wight Wildlife Trust to identify 

any key issues and ways in which impacts can be mitigated.   

More detail on these matters will also be required to support any planning application on 

the sites, so that impacts and proposed mitigation measures can be considered in detail. 

Impact on AONB. 

 

The design and layout of future development will be required to consider the visual impact 

on the AONB and will need to be assessed as part of the developer’s considerations. 

Loss of agricultural land. 

 

The NPPF expects Local Planning authorities to seek to use areas of poorer quality land in 

preference to that of a higher quality, where significant development of agricultural land is 

demonstrated to be necessary. However, a balance must be struck with the requirement to 

meet identified housing needs in the Borough. Some loss of higher quality land cannot 

therefore be avoided. 

Selangor Avenue is situated on a floodplain and is built upon clay 

soil.  There is a need for flood alleviation infrastructure, otherwise 

the situation will worsen or be passed on to other areas. 

 

The Environment Agency (EA) has no objection to the proposed development as it is not 

located within Flood Zones 2 or 3, and does not affect the designated main river.  

Nevertheless, the EA welcome the change in the proposed surface water drainage system 

which no longer includes the diversion of the designated main river through the proposed 

development site.  With this, further information/clarification on proposed infiltration 

techniques and allowances for climate change, in regard to surface water drainage, are 

required and ongoing discussions are taking place. 

The development of the site should be suspended until a ‘bigger 

picture’ is made clear.  

 

New evidence has emerged on the housing need for the area, so there is a need to review 

the plan. The NPPF requires the Council to draw up plans over a long time horizon of 15 

years or more, so as to consider future requirements. 

Development will destroy the Emsworth identity and community, as The Council acknowledges that further development will likely affect the character of the 



71 

 

UE02b: Land north and west of Selangor Avenue 
Planning Application – APP/16/00774 

17 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

the village will become a suburb/sprawl of Havant. 

 

area. However, the Council is committed both to delivering further housing, as well as to 

ensuring that quality of life remains high and that community identity remains. 

Development should be in keeping with the area; new 

developments of 2-3 storey housing are out of character in an area 

of bungalows. 

 

Policy CS9 of the Core Strategy (2011) refers to housing developments and the need to be 

in keeping with the character of the area.  This policy will remain upon the adoption of the 

Housing Statement.   

Number of dwellings for the area is too high. 

 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that Local Planning Authorities 

should set out their own approach to housing density to reflect local circumstances.    

As highlighted on page 61 of the Core Strategy (2011); the density of new housing will 

depend on design and appropriateness to its location.  As a guide, the following minimum 

density thresholds have been developed using the Havant Borough Townscape 

Landscape and Seascape Character Assessment and the levels of accessibility to a range 

of facilities: 

 High density – minimum of 60 dwellings per hectare. 

 Medium density – minimum of 45 dwellings per hectare. 

 Low density – up to 45 dwellings per hectare. 

Where the quality of design justifies it, much higher densities could be achievable.  It is not 

intended that density requirements should be too prescriptive as it is often a difficult 

balance between maximising the use of the land and reflecting surrounding built character 

and the amenity of neighbouring residents.  Therefore, this is best assessed through 

individual planning proposals through the application process. 

Light, privacy and outlook of current residents will be lost. 

 

The planning process is not able to protect views, however, the design and layout of future 

development will be required to consider the amenity of existing residents.   



72 

 

UE02b: Land north and west of Selangor Avenue 
Planning Application – APP/16/00774 

17 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Current residents are concerned about employment opportunities 

for new residents. 

 

The Council recognises that a balance between housing provision and employment need 

must be retained.   

The current development at Dunsbury Hill hopes to create around 3,000 jobs for the 

Borough. 

Concerns over impact on property prices. This is not a matter which can be considered or addressed through the planning process. 

Strategic Site 2 ‘Area between Denvilles and Emsworth’ should be 

developed in preference to this site. 

In order to address the Borough’s housing need it is inevitable that all undeveloped areas 

that are free from significant constraints need to be considered for development. 

The developer has supported the site as a higher number of 

dwellings will go further to meet the OAN and address the 

Borough’s shortfall.  They have supplied a plan for vehicle, 

pedestrian and cycle route/access.  Please see planning application 

APP/16/00774. 

The Council received the planning application on Wednesday 27
th
 July 2016 and the 

application was validated on 1
st
 August.  The application is currently going through the 

standard development management process. 

Key issues raised by statutory consultees HBC response 

Hampshire County Council: 

In regard to mineral safeguarding, HCC believe the site is likely to 

be overlain by sand, gravel and clay.  Therefore, prospective 

developers should undertake a mineral assessment and explore 

opportunities to use the minerals. 

HBC will continue to work with Hampshire County Council and will continue to incorporate 

the policies underlain in the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013). 

Prior extraction of minerals to avoid sterilisation by development is not always feasible or 

practicable and it is acknowledged that investigation may be required at individual site level 

before development proceeds to determine whether it is appropriate for prior extraction or 

if the merits of development outweigh the safeguarding. 

 



73 

 

Proposed Modifications to the Housing Statement 

Section/Paragraph Proposed Change Reason for Change 

Local Plan Highlight in development requirements likely presence of sand, gravel and 
clay and need to explore prior extraction within the developable area. 

To ensure that minerals resources are not 
needlessly sterilised. 

 
 

  



74 

 

UE28: Littlepark House  
9 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

The allocation for 47 houses is not economically viable. The 

Council should consider a wider area for development. 

There has not been sufficient evidence submitted that residential development is suitable 

across the wider area of the site. The remaining area is covered by Tree Preservation 

Orders (TPOs) and designated as a Site of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC). 

The number of dwellings is based on a density of 35 dwellings per hectare, which is 

considered appropriate for this location. The full extent of the site will be further considered 

as part of the preparation of the new Local Plan. 

Concerns over the access to the site via narrow roads (e.g. 

Oakwood Avenue). The site should be extended to Scratchface 

Lane to allow for better access. 

The Council has commissioned a full plan Transport Assessment to assess the impacts of 

the proposed development on the highways network, and establish what mitigation 

measures are needed. The Council will continue to work with the County Council as 

Highway Authority, as well as Highways England and providers of public transport, to 

assess and provide solutions to any capacity issues in the network. 

At this stage, it has not been demonstrated that the site can be extended south to allow 

access onto Scratchface Lane, given TPO and SINC constraints. 

Concerns over the impact on trees (TPOs) and wildlife. The Council recognises TPO and SINC designations in the vicinity of the site and as such, 

does not propose to extend the developable site into the surrounding woodland at this 

time. 

Residents in the area experience flooding to their properties and 

are concerned that this will increase following development. 

The site lies within Flood Zone 1. Any site specific issues will be addressed through the 

planning application process. 

A decision was made to not allocate the site in the previous Havant 

Borough Local Plan (Allocations). 

The change in national policy following the adoption of the NPPF means that the Council is 

required to identify more sites for housing. This has initiated a review of the Adopted Local 

Plan and those which are now proposed for residential development are considered to be 

in accordance with the NPPF.  

 



75 

 

Proposed Modifications to the Housing Statement 

Section/Paragraph Proposed Change Reason for Change 

N/A None. It is not proposed to extend the site at this stage as 
there is insufficient evidence to show that this can be 
achieved given the constraints on the site. 

 

  



76 

 

UE30: Land south of Lower Road Bedhampton 
126 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Support for Council’s approach to ensuring a five year supply of 

housing land and inclusion of site for 50 dwellings.  

Support of developer noted.  

Need called into question by Brexit: likely to reduce immigration; 

housing needs and permissions should be put on hold until Brexit 

effects considered. 

The OAN is based on the best evidence available at this moment in time. It is too early to 

anticipate future migration patterns, as the exact conditions of Britain’s exit from the EU 

remain uncertain, and it is not feasible to delay the production of the Local Plan until further 

details emerge.  In any case, the housing sites put forward in the Housing Statement do not 

meet the full OAN, so any reduction in international migration is unlikely to mean the site 

allocations put forward are not needed. 

Reference to previous proposals for 250 dwellings, reduced to 50 

dwellings. Site was previously considered suitable by HBC for no 

more than 15 dwellings. Not demonstrated, apart from Government 

directive to build more houses, how situation has changed. 

Previous editions of the SHLAA included the land south of Lower Road (a larger area) as 

‘developable’ with a capacity for 250 dwellings but indicated that access through the 

conservation area could limit large scale residential development. The Local Plan 

(Allocations) included the site as an allocation but as a frontage development for only 15 

dwellings to the east of Manor Farm. The omission from the final Plan was supported by the 

Inspector’s Report following examination. 

That situation has changed as the Council is now planning for the next period up to 2036 

and following the adoption of the NPPF, it is necessary to meet the full need for housing. 

The current plan has a time horizon to 2026 with housing targets that were set in 2010; 

however, national planning policy expects local plans to have a 15-year time horizon.   The 

Council has a duty to keep the policies of the Local Plan, and the evidence upon which they 

are based, under review and up to date. This includes those that make provision for 

housing to meet future needs. Regardless of the time horizon of the plan, failure to identify 

and maintain a continuous five year supply of housing land will make the Borough 

vulnerable to planning applications and decisions to grant permission being taken out of the 

hands of the Council. 

Site previously rejected as unfeasible for housing development. 

Residents unhappy as ‘they have fought these proposals before’. 

Site was previously discounted as unsuitable and residents 

promised recently would not be developed. 

Accept need for new homes in principle but this area is not suitable While some of the other locations being considered for future development may be more 

suitable they can not cater for the level of housing need that is expected to arise within the 



77 

 

UE30: Land south of Lower Road Bedhampton 
126 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

for the proposed development.  

There are other more suitable, less sensitive, locations.  

Borough over the period to 2036. 

Why was the decision made not to build houses where Wickes and 

Aldi are located, but instead to allow a retail park? 

The Wickes and Aldi developments lie within the area of the defined Havant Town Centre. 

While residential development can take place in town centres, often in mixed use schemes 

on upper floors, national planning policy expects local planning authorities to promote 

competitive town centres that provide customer choice and a diverse retail offer.  

Recently there was an application for 8 houses in Lower Road 

which was rejected by the Council and the decision upheld at 

appeal. 

The Council does not have a record of such an appeal decision in the Bedhampton area. 

The respondent may be referring to the previous Local Plan examination and Inspector’s 

report following the examination of the plan and consideration of the land south of Lower 

Road as an omission from that edition of the plan. 

Concerns over quality of life and residential amenity for reasons 

below. How will we be compensated? 

The Council acknowledges that further development will affect the character of the area. 

However, the Council is committed both to delivering further housing, as well as ensuring 

that quality of life remains high. The views from some properties on Lower Road will be 

affected by the development of this site. The planning process is not able to protect views. 

However, the design and layout of future development will be required to consider the 

amenity of existing residents. By taking a proactive approach to planning future 

development there is a much greater chance that measures to ameliorate the effects of 

development can be negotiated to the benefit of both existing and future residents. 

Alternative brownfield sites not identified. Other areas should be 

developed e.g. Regeneration opportunities in Leigh Park. 

Opportunities within the urban areas have already been considered and significant 

brownfield development is being planned for. The Core Strategy and Allocation documents 

remain in place and identify brownfield sites for development including at Leigh Park.  



78 

 

UE30: Land south of Lower Road Bedhampton 
126 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Background evidence has been published at https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-

base.  Particularly relevant is the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) 

and the Housing Constraints and Supply Analysis
27

 however new opportunities for 

brownfield sites are very limited. Guiding Principle 3 of the LPHS confirms that previously 

developed sites will be considered positively. It is not possible, however, to meet the 

Borough’s housing need on brownfield sites alone.  

Development is contrary to Local Plan Policy AL2. Due to the significant scale of future housing needs within the Borough these cannot be 

accommodated within the existing settlement boundaries therefore it will be necessary to 

review and redraw the boundaries of Policy AL2 to include additional site allocations.  

Concerns over capacity of highway network and the cumulative 

effect of recent developments in Bedhampton (Hawthorne Mews & 

One Eight Zero) and the proposed development at Forty Acres. In 

particular the Rusty Cutter Roundabout, Bedhampton Hill, B2177 

and Belmont Roundabout at top of Brookside Road; and further 

away the (A3(M), M27, A27 feeds and Harts Farm Way, are already 

congested particularly in rush hour.  

The NPPF states that: ‘Development should only be prevented or refused on transport 

grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe.’ 

The Council has commissioned a full plan Transport Assessment to assess the impacts of 

the proposed development on the highways network, including the cumulative effects of 

other development proposals, and establish what mitigation measures are needed. The 

Council will continue to work with the County Council as Highway Authority, as well as 

Highways England and providers of public transport to assess and provide solutions to any 

capacity issues in the network. The Council continues to promote travel by modes other 

than the private car and through developments is seeking the means to improve cycling 

facilities and the network. 

Extra 100 vehicles will increase difficulties turning into/out of 

Brookside Road. Brookside Road is used by visitors to Bidbury 

Mead Recreation Ground. Would need to reconfigure Belmont 

Comments made regarding specific roads and junctions have been noted, solutions are 

being investigated and will be considered further as the Local Plan is progressed. 

                                                
 
 
 
27

 http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb  

https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base
https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-shlaa-8th-edition-pdf-616-kb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb


79 

 

UE30: Land south of Lower Road Bedhampton 
126 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Roundabout. No proposals put forward to address this impact. 

Lower Road is a Category D road. Kings Croft Lane is a single track 

road. 

Consider access onto Rusty Cutter Roundabout. Lower Road 

should be blocked to the east of the junction with Lodge Road and 

opened onto the Rusty Cutter Roundabout. Development needs a 

new primary access (same way as for Nursery Road development). 

The Rusty Cutter Roundabout was altered in conjunction with developments at Harts Farm 

Way. Due to the number of existing arms into the roundabout, the distances between them 

and the need for traffic to cross lanes to enter and exit the roundabout it is not possible to 

add an arm to connect Lower Road to the roundabout.  

Traffic planning laws do not permit opening the cul-de-sac end of 

Lower Road onto the motorway feeder route and roundabout at the 

Rusty Cutter. 

Highways Report should be challenged. Will survey data used to 

support proposal be made public? 

Survey data is collected by Hampshire County Council as Highway Authority for input into 

traffic model. Havant Borough Council has commissioned a full plan Transport Assessment 

to assess the impacts of the proposed development on the highways network, including the 

cumulative effects of other development proposals, and establish what mitigation measures 

are needed. The report of this will be published alongside other studies as part of the 

evidence base for the new Local Plan. 

Concern over road safety; additional traffic will increase risk of 

accidents. Road narrow and no possibility to widen without 

compulsory purchase. No continuous pavement in particularly on 

bend, blind bends, parked cars, area used by elderly people from 

residential home, wheelchair users and cyclists (Lower Road is part 

of cycle network linking coastal route to Portsmouth), not safe for 

children to walk or cycle to school or park. No prospect for 

improvement to cycle route. Asked for speed humps in past but 

refused. Dangerous corner at Brookside Road/Lower Road 

New development is expected to make provision for infrastructure through CIL and site 

specific planning obligations and highways agreements. If it is deemed that there is a need 

for improvements to (pavements/cycle routes) associated with the development, these will 

be considered as part of the planning process. Any improvements deemed necessary will 

be set out in the development requirements for each site. 

Lower Road does present challenges due to the bends, lack of pavement along part, 

constraints on road widening and the need to minimise the impact of traffic management 

measures on the conservation area. 



80 

 

UE30: Land south of Lower Road Bedhampton 
126 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

junction.   

Concerns over access to site, including by emergency vehicles. 

Road not wide enough for two way traffic due to parking. Our 

property has no off-road parking. Bottom end of Brookside Road is 

used as a car park. Limited off-road parking along Lower Road so 

cars parked on road. 

Large vehicles e.g. Refuse lorries already use Lower Road to access existing properties. 

Parking restrictions may be necessary to aid traffic flow and safety. Solutions to additional 

off-road parking could be sought through development. 

New build developments often have very limited parking and don’t 

allow commercial vehicle parking which will impact on surrounding 

roads that are already constrained for parking. 

Havant Borough Council will continue to apply the evidence-base standards set out in the 

Parking SPD (July 2016): 

http://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/supplementary-

planning-documents/parking-supplementary 

This policy requirement will be considered further through the Havant Borough Local Plan 

2036. 

Concerns over infrastructure – general. Improvements will be 

necessary. Infrastructure must be delivered before development. 

Throughout the Local Plan preparation process, the Council is in continuous dialogue with 

the providers of infrastructure, such as utilities companies, Hampshire County Council for 

highways and schools, and the NHS. It should be noted, however, that it is the 

responsibility of these bodies to bring forward the infrastructure they deem necessary to 

meet the needs of the population. Improvements will be necessary and these are being 

planned in advance of development. However funding streams and development phasing 

can mean infrastructure being delivered alongside, rather than in advance of development, 

to be operational by the time the development is occupied. 

Concerns over utilities, particularly sewage facilities. The Council is aware of the residents’ concerns regarding utilities provision. Utility providers 

(water, gas, electricity) have a statutory obligation to provide services to new development. 

The Council works with these providers to ensure they are aware of proposed levels of 

development so that they can plan accordingly for new development. 

http://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/parking-supplementary
http://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/parking-supplementary


81 

 

UE30: Land south of Lower Road Bedhampton 
126 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

With regard to waste water infrastructure – see comments from Southern Water later.   

Impact on/provision of community facilities and services – schools, 

GPs, hospital capacity. 

The Council is aware of residents’ concerns regarding health care provision. The Council is 

working closely with the South East Hampshire Clinical Commissioning Group to determine 

how these concerns can be addressed through the planning process. If appropriate, 

developer contributions will be sought for the provision of new/improved facilities. 

The Council is aware of residents’ concerns regarding education provision. The Council is 

working closely with Hampshire County Council as the Local Education Authority to 

determine how these concerns can be addressed through the planning process. If 

appropriate, developer contributions will be sought for the provision of new/improved 

facilities. The County Council has assured HBC that it has already taken into account urban 

extension sites in terms of school place planning.  

No plans published for increasing school places at Bidbury Infant 

and Junior Schools. 

HBC’s Havant Strategic Infrastructure Delivery Statement (May 2014) identifies a need for 

an additional classroom at Bidbury Infant School and two additional classrooms at Bidbury 

Junior Schools by 2020, to be provided through a combination of developer and HCC 

funding. 

Negative impact on character of the area of Old Bedhampton rural 

feel of area, peaceful, tranquil, quietness, and pleasant village. Old 

Bedhampton is oldest settlement in the Borough. 

Development is not proposed within the conservation area itself although to access the site 

vehicular traffic generated by the development would pass through.  

Development is contrary to Local Plan Policy CS11. Various aspects of Policy CS11, concerned with protecting and enhancing the special 

environment and heritage of the Borough, are dealt with alongside more detailed comments 

below. This matter will also be considered further through the Havant Borough Local Plan 

2036. 

Building houses so close would destroy the essence of the special 

‘charming’ character of the Old Bedhampton Conservation 

The NPPF in its core planning principles states that, ‘planning should … take account of the 

different roles and character of different areas …’ 



82 

 

UE30: Land south of Lower Road Bedhampton 
126 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Area/historic buildings and church. Highway improvements would 

destroy the nature of the conservation area. The proposal goes 

against the primary principles of planning which should ensure 

development is ‘in keeping with the character of the surrounding 

area and should conserve or enhance the setting of the adjacent 

conservation area’.  

Paragraph 72 of the Local Plan (Allocations) Inspector’s Report 

(July 2014) recognised that the conservation area ‘is a strong factor 

weighing against development’. 

Core Strategy Policy CS11.4 states that ‘Planning permission will be granted for 

development that, Protects and where appropriate enhances the Borough’s statutory and 

non-statutory heritage designations by appropriately managing development in or adjacent 

to conservation areas …’. This policy requirement will be considered through the Havant 

Borough Local Plan 2036. 

The Local Plan (Allocations) Inspector’s Report July 2014 stated that ‘the sites proximity to 

Old Bedhampton Conservation Area through which it would be accessed is a strong factor 

weighing against development.’ At that time other more suitable sites were proposed for 

allocation to meet the local housing needs such that the impacts of the development 

outweighed the need for this particular site. However, that situation has now changed. 

Damage to trees in conservation area caused by large lorries. There are a limited number of trees within the Conservation Area that are protected and 

these are situated within the curtilage of properties rather than being within the boundary of 

the highway although their canopy may hang over the road in places. 

Concerns over impact on ecology and nature conservation, 

including Brent Geese (fields are a known feeding ground) and 

other wildlife: Deer, foxes, Old Manor Farm Bats; buzzard and Red 

Kite; newts and slow worms seen in Lower Road; wildlife will be 

disturbed and their habitat destroyed. 

The Local Plan (Allocations) Inspector’s Report July 2014 stated that ‘uncertainty of impact 

on biodiversity’ (and other factors: Conservation area and agricultural land) ‘justify the non-

allocation of this site’. 

Development of greenfield sites will likely have some impact on wildlife on the sites 

affected. The Council is having ongoing discussions with bodies such as Natural England, 

the RSPB and the Hampshire and Isle of Wight Wildlife Trust to identify any key issues and 

ways in which impacts can be mitigated. 

Environmental impact assessment of proposals will identify any specific populations and 

further studies required as necessary at the planning application stage. This will be ensured 

where species are protected by other legislation requiring developers to survey and 

propose detailed mitigation measures which can include such as the installation of bat 

boxes on dwellings and translocation of protected species. 

The site is designated uncertain for Brent Geese and waders and Policy DM23 of the Local 



83 

 

UE30: Land south of Lower Road Bedhampton 
126 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Plan (Allocations) applies. This policy requirement will be considered through the Havant 

Borough Local Plan 2036. 3 years worth of survey data is required to determine the 

importance of the site, to the satisfaction of Natural England. 

Development of Lower Road could prejudice development of 

employment site BD11. Employment allocation BD11 to south is an 

‘Important site for Brent Geese and/or waders’. UE30 could provide 

mitigation for this loss of habitat on BD11 and elsewhere. 

The Havant Winter Bird Survey 2012-2015 indicates that despite site UE30 having high 

suitability for grazing and roosting, due to it being a large arable field (bare or stubble in 

winter) with good visibility and low disturbance, there are no recorded sightings of either 

Brent Geese or waders during the 3 survey winters. 

Concern over loss of open fields, greenspace, last accessible rural 

area. Should take opportunity to use area as ‘Dedicated Open 

Space Area’ and make Old Bedhampton Village place to enjoy. 

Bidbury Mead is vital outdoor space. Lower Road Field falls within 

Local Plan provision for dedicated open space for residential 

enjoyment or as a community allotment. Children play in stream. 

In order to address the Borough’s housing need it is inevitable that all undeveloped areas 

that are free from significant constraints need to be considered for development. However, 

the Council is keen to ensure that where possible, high quality, new open space is 

incorporated within the design and the layout of new developments. 

The area to the south of Lower Road, both north and south of the railway line is not of high 

landscape value being assessed by the Landscape Capacity Study as having medium 

capacity for change. 

The field is not part of the current open space provision or allocated as such in the Local 

Plan. In fact there is no public right of way or access to this land at present. The nearest 

public footpath is part of the network that runs from Bedhampton Road, past Bidbury Mead 

(protected Local Green Space) and across the railway and A27 to Broadmarsh Coastal 

Park via Mill Lane. 

Previous proposals by the developer/landowner included a much larger area with a capacity 

for 250 dwellings however it has since been acknowledged that development should be 

restricted to a lower number due to the impact of traffic on the conservation area. While the 

intentions of the landowner for the remaining area of the field are unknown there is potential 

to explore the use of remaining undeveloped areas for green infrastructure, for public open 

space and/or nature conservation. 

Proposal leaves half of field unused and likely future target for 

further development. Development will not stop at 50 dwellings. 

Site is in an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). The site lies outside of the Chichester Harbour AONB. 



84 

 

UE30: Land south of Lower Road Bedhampton 
126 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Concerns over loss of prime agricultural land where still grow crops 

annually. Remaining fields will become inaccessible to farm 

machinery and commercially unviable. 

The NPPF expects local planning authorities to seek to use areas of poorer quality land in 

preference to that of a higher quality, where significant development of agricultural land is 

demonstrated to be necessary. However a balance must be struck with the requirement to 

meet identified housing needs in the Borough. Some loss of higher quality land cannot 

therefore be avoided. 

Object to urban sprawl and loss of Portsmouth/Havant Green 

Buffer/picturesque buffer between built up areas. Won’t tell where 

boundaries begin and end. Overdevelopment in area. 

The Council no longer has a policy to protect gaps. However, development requirements on 

site layout will be included in the site allocation in the Local Plan to ensure that the 

development does not result in the coalescence of distinct settlements. 

Concerns over air quality/pollution/noise. The Council will explore the issue of air quality for the new Local Plan and work with 

partners on the results of modelling and any necessary avoidance and mitigation measures. 

Concerns over noise, dirt and traffic during construction phase. 

Vibration could affect listed buildings along the route. 

There will be some disturbance during the construction phase. However, this is not 

considered a valid reason to prevent development from coming forward. Details would be 

required to be submitted at the planning application stage regarding proposed mitigation 

measures, for consideration by the Council’s Environmental Health Team.  Conditions can 

be attached to planning permission for such as requirements for wheel washing to prevent 

mud on roads and to limit hours of operation of construction sites. 

Concerns over flooding – addition of hard paved areas and housing 

will reduce soakage and increase risk of flooding.  Fields at bottom 

of Brookside are on the edge of a designated Flood Zone. Fields 

south of Lower Road have flooded in the past in periods of heavy 

rain. Lower Road between last two corners regularly floods during 

heavy rainfall. Also flows down slope at end of Lower Road and 

collects in front of Manor Farm properties. Drainage can’t cope 

now. 

Flooding and drainage will be considered as proposals develop and it is expected that 

appropriate mitigation will be proposed in accordance with national and local flood risk 

policies.  These require that development should not increase flood risk elsewhere. 



85 

 

UE30: Land south of Lower Road Bedhampton 
126 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Site is in Aquifer Protection Zone/concerns over water quality: no 

assessment of how this resource will be protected, including during 

excavation and building works. 

HBC will continue to consult with Portsmouth Water regarding planning applications which 

are made in any of the Source Protection Zones (SPZs). 

See comments from Portsmouth Water later. 

Site is very close to railway line. The railway line adjoins the southern boundary of the site so detailed design and layout will 

need to take account of this e.g. Noise attenuation. 

What kind of houses would be built? 

 

Policy CS9 expects development to provide a mix of dwellings types, sizes and tenures 

which help to meet identified local housing need. These policy considerations will be 

reviewed through the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036. 

Support affordable housing but these houses won’t be affordable. 

Properties would be expensive and do nothing to help those in 

need of low-cost accommodation. 

Policy CS9 also expects sites of this size to deliver on average 30-40% affordable housing 

on site unless a lesser requirement is justified on viability grounds. These policy 

requirements will be reviewed through the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036. 

Detriment caused will be disproportionate to benefit gained from 

this development. 

Planning for new development involves balancing the need for the development with the 

impacts of the development, ensuring that the impacts can be mitigated or are not so 

severe as to justify refusal of planning consent. 

Concerns over impact on property prices. Development would 

devalue existing properties. 

The Government’s objective in encouraging new house building is to make property more 

affordable for the majority. While residents may raise objections to development in their 

neighbourhood for fear that it will adversely affect house prices in the vicinity, this is not a 

matter that planning law and policy requires the local planning authority to take into account 

when planning for new residential development or determining planning applications. 

Landowner trying to get rich quick. In identifying a supply of sites it is necessary to ascertain from landowners that the land is 

either available now or there is a reasonable prospect that it will be available for 

development within the plan period.  The landowner’s motives for making the land available 



86 

 

UE30: Land south of Lower Road Bedhampton 
126 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

are not a planning matter. 

 

Key issues raised by statutory consultees HBC response 

Southern Water: 

With regard to waste water infrastructure there is none crossing the 

site. The developer would need to make a connection at the 

nearest point of adequate capacity. This is not a constraint to 

development providing there is Planning Policy support for the 

provision of the necessary local infrastructure. We would therefore 

seek inclusion of the following policy wording for this site: 

‘Development proposals must provide a connection to the nearest 

point of adequate capacity in the sewerage network, as advised by 

the service provider.’ 

Noted. Wording would be incorporated in the list of developer requirements. 

Portsmouth Water: 

Land south of Lower Road, Bedhampton is in very close proximity 

to SPZ 1. Portsmouth Water has no objection in principle to 

development at this site however given the risk/link to abstraction 

from the Havant and Bedhampton Springs we request that we are 

consulted at the outset of any associated planning application in the 

future to ensure the safeguarding of public water supply. 

The existence of Groundwater Special Protection Zone 1 is acknowledged. The Council will 

continue to consult and work with Portsmouth Water regarding planning applications which 

are made in any of the SPZs. 

Environment Agency: 

Some locations around Havant and Bedhampton are particularly To be noted in development requirements. Portsmouth Water and Environment Agency will 



87 

 

UE30: Land south of Lower Road Bedhampton 
126 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

sensitive in terms of groundwater (SPZ 1) as they are a significant 

drinking water resource. It is essential that development is 

undertaken in a way that does not impact on this either during 

construction or in perpetuity when completed. 

be consulted on any planning application on the site. 

RSPB: 

The proposed housing site is identified in the ‘Solent Waders and 

Brent Goose Strategy’ (SWBGS) (2010) as ‘uncertain’. Erosion of 

this network of sites due to insufficient information is not 

acceptable. Further work is required to address the issues raised in 

the ‘Status of SWBGS Sites in Havant Borough’ (July 2016) before 

the proposed housing sites can be considered further. 

Where sites are designated ‘uncertain’ for Brent Geese and waders, Policy DM23 of the 

HBLP (Allocations) applies. This policy requirement will be considered through the Havant 

Borough Local Plan 2036. Three years worth of survey data is required to determine the 

importance of the site, to the satisfaction of Natural England. 

 

Proposed Modifications to the Housing Statement 

Section/Paragraph Proposed Change Reason for Change 

None. 

  



88 

 

 

UE52: Land adjoining 47 Portsdown Hill Road  
5 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Impact on nature conservation: site is part of a Site of Importance 

for Nature Conservation (SINC) where Policy CS11.3 applies. The 

Policy states that planning permission will be granted for 

development that has particular regard to the hierarchy of nature 

conservation designations in the Borough.  Field is home to family 

of Roe Deer and part of wildlife passage through to shoreline. 

Part of the SINC has already been built on through development of Local Plan allocation 

UE5. The area was designated a SINC in 2005 due to it being an important site for Brent 

Geese however the Havant Winter Bird Survey 2012-2015 only recorded waders as seen 

on this land in January 2013. The S106 agreement associated with the planning consent
28

 

for the adjoining triangle of land to the east requires that the southern irregularly shaped 

field is retained as arable land with rotational farming over a four year period for mitigation 

for Brent Geese (even though they were not seen when surveyed during winter 2013/14 - 

they were observed in significant numbers between 1995 and 1998) and Lapwings (albeit 

infrequent use during the survey period). 

Impact on setting of adjacent listed building which would be harmed 

and not outweighed by development of 5 dwellings. ‘Sunspan’ 

concept design to take advantage of sun and views. 

See Historic England response below. 

Impact on gap: development would diminish character of local 

landscape and separation of settlements. 

Development would reduce the size of the gap along Portsdown Hill Road by part filling in 

where frontage development extends along the road from Bedhampton westwards. 

Loss of high grade agricultural land. The NPPF expects local planning authorities to seek to use areas of poorer quality land in 

preference to that if a higher quality, where significant development of agricultural land is 

demonstrated to be necessary. However a balance must be struck with the requirement to 

meet identified housing needs in the Borough. Some loss of higher quality land cannot 

therefore be avoided. 

                                                
 
 
 
28

 Reference APP/14/00232 permitted 5
th

 November 2014. 



89 

 

UE52: Land adjoining 47 Portsdown Hill Road  
5 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Access to site from Portsdown Hill Road previously refused due to 

weight of traffic. 

Consideration must be given to physical access to the site such that new access can be 

created with suitable levels and visibility splays, and off-site traffic management measures 

if necessary, to ensure highway safety for all road users. 

Noise pollution from traffic. Any development close to a road can be affected by traffic noise and can be addressed 

through design at the planning application stage. 

Key issues raised by statutory consultees HBC response 

Historic England: 

Object to allocation. Site adjacent to Grade II Listed Sunspan 

House skewed to maximise views over Portsmouth. Development 

of the site will be in its setting and allocation might block view. 

Position, type and detailed design of dwellings will be critical to addressing concerns over 

impact on the adjoining listed building. It is considered that five dwellings would be 

challenging to achieve without significant harm to the setting of the Grade II Listed 

Sunspan House. Whilst a yield of less than five on the site will likely be achievable, this 

would mean that the site should not be specifically identified in the SHLAA or Local Plan 

Housing Statement, as such the site will be removed.   

 

Proposed Modifications to the Housing Statement 

Section/Paragraph Proposed Change Reason for Change 

Table 2 Remove from Housing Statement. Undetermined whether indicated 5 dwellings can be 

accommodated without significant effect on the 

setting of the adjacent listed building. 

 

 



90 

 

 

UE53: Land east of Castle Avenue 
15 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

The land is unstable. The developer will be required to demonstrate that the land is stable for development 

through appropriate geotechnical analysis in support of a planning application.  

The proposed new housing will downgrade the 

quiet/suburban/semi-rural character of the area.  

The Council acknowledges that further development will likely affect the character of the 

area. However, the Council is committed both to delivering further housing, as well as to 

ensuring that quality of life remains high. 

The proposed site is contrary to Policy CS9.4 which states planning 

permission will be granted for housing proposals that will: ‘Achieve 

a suitable density of development for the location, taking into 

account accessibility to public transport and proximity to 

employment, shops and services in addition to respecting the 

surrounding landscape, character and built form.’ 

Upon the adoption of the Housing Statement, this policy will remain.  Policy CS9 is best 

assessed through individual planning proposals, through the development management 

process, when a proposed plan and layout has been put forward for review. 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that Local Planning Authorities 

should set out their own approach to housing density to reflect local circumstances.    

As highlighted on page 61 of the Local Plan (Core Strategy); the density of new housing 

will depend on design and appropriateness to its location.  As a guide, the following 

minimum density thresholds have been developed using the Havant Borough Townscape 

Landscape and Seascape Character Assessment and the levels of accessibility to a range 

of facilities: 

 High density – minimum of 60 dwellings per hectare. 

 Medium density – minimum of 45 dwellings per hectare. 

 Low density – up to 45 dwellings per hectare. 

Where the quality of design justifies it, much higher densities could be achievable.  It is not 

intended that density requirements should be too prescriptive as it is often a difficult 

balance between maximising the use of the land and reflecting surrounding built character 

and the amenity of neighbouring residents.  Therefore, this is best assessed through 

individual planning proposals through the application process. 

The number of homes for the area of the site is too high and will be 

double the density of Castle Avenue. 

 



91 

 

UE53: Land east of Castle Avenue 
15 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

The proposed site goes against the Local Plan (Core Strategy) to 

protect undeveloped gaps between Emsworth and Havant. 

The Council does not have a policy to protect gaps. However, development requirements 

on site layout will be included in the site allocation in the Local Plan to ensure that the 

development does not result in the coalescence of distinct settlements. 

To compensate for loss of green space, an open space corridor 

between the old and new developments should be designated as a 

safe haven for wildlife. 

 

In order to address the Borough’s housing need it is inevitable that all undeveloped areas 

that are free from significant constraints need to be considered for development. However, 

the Council is keen to ensure that where possible, high quality, new open space is 

incorporated within the design and the layout of new developments. 

There is a variety of wildlife and birdlife seen on the site; their 

habitat should be protected. 

 

No overriding issues have been identified that would prevent allocation from coming 

forward.  

It is acknowledged that development of greenfield sites will be likely to have some impact 

on wildlife on the sites affected. The Council is having ongoing discussions with bodies 

such as Natural England, the RSPB and the Hampshire and Isle of Wight Wildlife Trust to 

identify any key issues and ways in which impacts can be mitigated.   

More detail on these matters will also be required to support any planning application on 

the sites, so that impacts and proposed mitigation measures can be considered in detail. 

The back gardens of Castle Avenue properties and the proposed 

site regularly flood due to a spring in the field and a high water 

table.  The drainage problem will get worse as a result of new 

housing, as shown by the ground remaining waterlogged for longer 

since the Manor Farm/Nursery Fields development.  Therefore, 

drainage must be addressed as part of development. 

 

Flooding and drainage will be considered as proposals develop and it is expected that 

appropriate mitigation will be proposed in accordance with national and local flood risk 

policies.  These require that development should not increase flood risk elsewhere. 

With regard to wider flood risk issues, the Planning Policy Team is working closely with the 

Environment Agency and Hampshire County Council to determine how future development 

will be affected by surface water flood risk and what protection and mitigation measures 

can be put into place. 

Traffic will increase in residential areas as commuters will travel to The comments made regarding specific roads and junctions have been noted and will be 

considered further as the Local Plan is progressed.  Any improvements deemed necessary 



92 

 

UE53: Land east of Castle Avenue 
15 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Havant Road and the A27.  will be set out in the development requirements for each site. The Council has also 

commissioned a full plan Transport Assessment to assess the impacts of the proposed 

development on the highways network, and establish what mitigation measures are 

needed. The Council will continue to work with the County Council as Highway Authority, 

as well as Highways England and providers of public transport to assess and provide 

solutions to any capacity issues in the network. 

New developments must have adequate parking as to not spill into 

surrounding streets. 

 

Havant Borough Council (HBC) will continue to consult the evidence-base standards set 

out in the Parking SPD (July 2016): 

http://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/supplementary-

planning-documents/parking-supplementary 

Access to site should be to the north and not in Castle or St 

George’s Avenue. 

HBC is unable to comment on access points at present as there are no firm plans.  

Nevertheless, comments made regarding potential access points to new developments 

have been noted and will be considered further as the Local Plan is progressed. 

The long-overdue footbridge at the Warblington Crossing is needed 

for safety and to reduce pedestrian and cyclist congestion. 

There is a shortfall in funding for the Warblington Level Crossing and other funding options 

are being explored; this includes a CIL bid, the outcome of which will be determined in 

February 2017. 

The Castle Avenue/Emsworth Road junction is already dangerous 

for pedestrians and cyclists.  Increased congestion along Emsworth 

Road will affect the busy cycle network along an already narrow 

road where vision is limited by parked cars. 

The comments made regarding specific roads and junctions have been noted and will be 

considered further as the Local Plan is progressed.  Any improvements deemed necessary 

will bet set out in the development requirements for each site. 

Noise cancelling techniques are needed to combat the likely 

increase in noise levels, especially if homes built near to the A27. 

 

Any site specific issues and constraints that can be mitigated will be set out in the 

development requirements in the Local Plan and developers will be expected to 

demonstrate how these can be addressed. 

http://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/parking-supplementary
http://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/parking-supplementary


93 

 

UE53: Land east of Castle Avenue 
15 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

The privacy of Castle Avenue and St George’s Avenue residents 

will be lost. 

 

The privacy of properties on Castle Avenue and those on the end of St George’s Avenue 

will be affected by the development of this site. The design and layout of future 

development will be required to consider the privacy of existing residents. 

There has been no provision for GP surgeries. The Council is aware of residents’ concerns regarding health care provision. The Council is 

working closely with the South East Hampshire Clinical Commissioning Group to 

determine how these concerns can be addressed through the planning process. If 

appropriate, developer contributions will be sought for the provision of new/improved 

facilities. 

There has been no provision for schools, especially a secondary 

school.   

The Council is aware of residents’ concerns regarding education provision. The Council is 

working closely with Hampshire County Council (HCC) as the Local Education Authority to 

determine how these concerns can be addressed through the planning process. If 

appropriate, developer contributions will be sought for the provision of new/improved 

facilities. The County Council has assured HBC that it has already taken into account 

urban extension sites in terms of school place planning.  

There should be an improved local outside space for children 

behind UE53. 

 

In order to address the Borough’s housing need it is inevitable that all undeveloped areas 

that are free from significant constraints need to be considered for development. However, 

the Council is keen to ensure that where possible, high quality, new open space is 

incorporated within the design and the layout of new developments. 

The landowner supports the site and confirms the land is available. Support noted. 

Concerns over noise/dirt/traffic during the construction phase. It is accepted that there will be some disturbance during the construction phase. Details of 

measures to mitigate such impacts are generally secured by means of condition at the 

planning application stage. As such it is not considered a valid reason to prevent 

development from coming forward. 



94 

 

UE53: Land east of Castle Avenue 
15 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

There is the potential to increase house prices if development is to 

a high standard. 

This is not a matter which can be considered or addressed through the planning process. 

There is support for affordable housing; however, these are often 

still too expensive for first time buyers. 

 

New development is expected to provide between 30% and 40% affordable housing. This 

can be in a variety of formats and will usually be determined in accordance with the 

Council’s Housing Service and with affordable housing providers. 

The Council is not in a position to control the prices developers demand for homes. The 

Council can, however, try to improve the supply of new homes by identifying sites suitable 

for development.  It can also seek a proportion of affordable homes (Social rented, 

affordable rented and intermediate housing) in developments. 

Accept need for homes in principle, but this site is unsuitable. In order to address the Borough’s housing need it is inevitable that all undeveloped areas 

that are free from significant constraints need to be considered for development. 

Why is the whole area east of Castle Avenue (UE53) not being 

developed? 

The site in question is UE02a.  See separate table titled ‘Sites not in the Plan’. 

 

Key issues raised by statutory consultees HBC response 

Hampshire County Council: 

In regard to mineral safeguarding, Hampshire County Council 

(HCC) believes the site is likely to be underlain by sand and gravel.  

Therefore, prospective developers should undertake a mineral 

assessment and explore opportunities to use these minerals. 

HBC will continue to work with HCC and will continue to incorporate the policies underlain 

in the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013). 

Prior extraction of minerals to avoid sterilisation by development is not always feasible or 

practicable and it is acknowledged that investigation may be required at individual site level 

before development proceeds to determine whether it is appropriate for prior extraction or 

if the merits of development outweigh the safeguarding. 



95 

 

UE53: Land east of Castle Avenue 
15 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Portsmouth Water: 

Portsmouth Water has stated that the site is located in Groundwater 

Special Protection Zone (SPZ) 1C and has no objection in principle 

to development on this site.  

However, given the risk/link to abstraction from the Havant and 

Bedhampton Springs, they request that they are consulted at the 

outset of any associated planning application in the future, to 

ensure the safeguarding of public water supply. 

HBC will continue to consult with Portsmouth Water regarding planning applications which 

are made in any of the SPZs. 

 

Proposed Modifications to the Housing Statement 

Section/Paragraph Proposed Change Reason for Change 

Local Plan 
Highlight in development requirements likely presence of sand and gravel 

and need to explore prior extraction within the developable area 

To ensure that minerals resources are not 
needlessly sterilised. 

 

Local Plan 

Note in development requirements that site is situated within Groundwater 
Source Protection Zone 1Cs (SPZ 1Cs), located at depth beneath the 
Lambeth Group.  Need to be aware of pollution pathway in the Havant & 
Bedhampton Springs and that SUDS schemes, foundation design and ground 
investigation information will need to be approved. 

 

To ensure groundwater pollution is prevented. 

 

 

 

  



96 

 

UE55: Southleigh Park House 

7 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Welcome positive approach of Housing Statement and for 

landholding to be included. Owner confirms UE55 is available for 

early release. Redevelopment would enhance setting of listed 

building and deliver new homes.  

Support and availability of site for early release is acknowledged. 

Site should not be listed as greenfield but previously developed. The NPPF definition of previously developed land includes, ‘Land which is or was occupied 

by a permanent structure, including the curtilage of the developed land (although it should 

not be assumed that the whole of the curtilage should be developed) and any associated 

fixed infrastructure.’ 

Amend Table 2 and supporting text to acknowledge ‘previously developed land’. 

Nonetheless, the site remains outside of the settlement boundary as defined by Policies 

CS17 and AL2. 

Site capacity significantly exceeds indicative 35 dwellings. Further work will be needed to confirm whether the indicative number of dwellings is 

achievable within the setting of the listed buildings (main house, Coach House, Clock 

Tower Building and Lodge – all Grade II - and Dairy) to avoid substantial harm to Listed 

Buildings and the TPO trees. Additional assessment will be required to ensure the 

retention of the listed buildings is viable. The indicative yield of 35 dwellings is an initial 

precautionary assessment pending more detailed information and studies. 

Under current proposal for up to 95 dwellings with the house 

converted into flats and the remainder (about 85 dwellings) in the 

grounds to the north will result in an undesirable density of housing. 

See above. The proposal for a considerably larger number of dwellings than the 35 

included in Table 2 of the Housing Statement is currently under consideration. Some 

information is already in the public domain through a Development Consultation Forum 

held on 1 September 2016 and on the Council’s Website. 

Concerns over road capacity and safety should be resolved before 

any further development permitted in the area. Eastleigh Road is 

used as a ‘rat run’ between the A27 and A3M. Respondent 

suggests cutting Eastleigh Road at a point south of Southleigh Park 

An assessment of traffic impact on the local road network is required which will take 

account of the amount and nature of the traffic already generated by the current occupier 

of the site. 



97 

 

UE55: Southleigh Park House 

7 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

House so that the two ends form cul-de-sacs but retain a link for 

pedestrian and cyclists, or discouragement measures are needed. 

The cumulative impact of traffic will be considered through a full plan Transport 

Assessment.  Part of the updated evidence base. 

Parkland area to south of Southleigh House should be protected 

from development that would erode the strategic view from 

Southleigh Park House and affect development viability. 

The ‘Denvilles-Emsworth’ Strategic Site will require green infrastructure and public open 

space to be part of the overall development proposals. The disposition of land uses would 

be determined through a masterplan so that the layout of development and open areas 

within the area would take account at that stage of features such as the Grade II listed 

Southleigh Park House at that stage. 

Development north of Southleigh Road could cause flooding 

problems in lower lying areas to the south. 

HBC is continuing to work closely with the Environment Agency and HCC as Lead Local 

Flood Authority to understand the cumulative flood risk of developments and deliver 

solutions to mitigate risks. Those agencies are also consulted on individual planning 

applications. 

Key issues raised by statutory consultees HBC response 

Historic England: 

Southleigh Park House and Clock Tower Building are Grade II 

Listed buildings. These should be retained and their setting 

respected in any masterplan/development brief, allocation policy or 

development proposals for this site. 

The importance of protecting, and where appropriate enhancing, the Borough’s listed 

buildings is recognised through Local Plan (Core Strategy) Policy CS11.4. This policy will 

be reviewed through the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036.  

As stated above, further work will also be needed to confirm whether the indicative number 

of dwellings is appropriate within the setting of the listed buildings (main house, Coach 

House, Clock Tower Building and Lodge – all Grade II - and Dairy)and the TPO trees. 

Additional assessment will be required to ensure the retention of the listed buildings is 

viable.   

Hampshire County Council: 

Minerals Safeguarding: Site likely to be underlain by sand & gravel. 

Prospective developers should undertake a mineral assessment 

Prior extraction of minerals to avoid sterilisation by development is not always feasible or 

practicable and it is acknowledged that investigation may be required at individual site level 



98 

 

UE55: Southleigh Park House 

7 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

and explore opportunities to use the minerals.  before development proceeds to determine whether it is appropriate for prior extraction or 

if the merits of development outweigh the safeguarding. 

Portsmouth Water PLC: 

SPZ 1C - Groundwater Special Protection Zone 1C 

Portsmouth Water has no objection in principle to development at 

this site.  However given the risk/link to abstraction from the Havant 

and Bedhampton Springs, we request that we are consulted at the 

outset of any associated planning application in the future to ensure 

the safeguarding of public water supply. 

The existence of Groundwater Special Protection Zone 1C is acknowledged. The Council 

will continue to consult and work with Portsmouth Water regarding planning applications 

which are made in any of the SPZs. 

 

Proposed Modifications to the Housing Statement 

Section/Paragraph Proposed Change Reason for Change 

3.10 Insert ‘and previously developed’ after ‘greenfield’. The curtilage of Southleigh Park House falls within 

the definition of previously developed land as set out 

in the NPPF. 

Table 2 Insert ‘and previously developed’ after ‘greenfield’. As above. 

 

  



99 

 

UE68: Forty Acres 

161 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

The site is vital to maintain the identities of Havant and Portsmouth, 

or in particular Bedhampton and Farlington, and prevent urban 

sprawl. 

The Council no longer has a policy to protect gaps. However, development requirements 

on site layout will be included in the site allocation in the Local Plan to ensure that the 

development does not result in the coalescence of distinct settlements. 

The Partnership for Urban South Hampshire (PUSH) Spatial 

Position Statement (June 2016) seeks to protect gaps. 

 

PUSH Position Statement S1 states that strategic countryside gaps between settlements 

are important in maintaining the sense of place, settlement identity and countryside setting 

for the sub region and local communities This principle only deals with gaps so significant 

that they are of sub-regional importance. The only gap specifically listed in that statement 

in this respect is the Meon Valley (Fareham Borough). However, the Council does not 

consider the site represents a gap of sub-regional importance.  Development requirements 

on site layout will be included in the site allocation in the Local Plan to ensure that the 

development does not result in the coalescence of distinct settlements. 

PUSH is a non-statutory body. 

 

The Council acknowledges that PUSH is a non-statutory body. However, the NPPF states 

in paragraph 159 that authorities must seek to meet the full OAN for housing in their area, 

and, in paragraph 178, that “public bodies have a duty to cooperate on planning issues that 

cross administrative boundaries’’. Housing markets cross local authority boundaries, and 

HBC falls under the wider Portsmouth HMA. HBC’s membership of and work with PUSH 

contributes to discharging the duties in the NPPF. 

Questions over Objectively Assessed Need (OAN). 

  

House building is one of the Government’s top priorities, and the NPPF makes clear that 

Local Plans should meet the full OAN for their area. Even with all the sites put forward in 

the Housing Statement, the full OAN will not be met. 

The Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) is based on pre-Brexit 

projections. 

The OAN is based on the best evidence available at this moment in time. It is too early to 

anticipate future migration patterns, as the exact conditions of Britain’s exit from the EU 

remain uncertain, and it is not feasible to delay the production of the Local Plan until further 

details emerge.  In any case, it should be noted that the housing sites put forward for 

inclusion in the new Local Plan do not meet the full OAN, so any reduction in international 



100 

 

UE68: Forty Acres 

161 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

migration is unlikely to mean the site allocations put forward are not needed.  

The proposal goes against the Havant Gaps Review 2012. 

 

The Havant Gaps Review (2012) was informed by previous Landscape Character 

Assessment work.  Nevertheless, due to a higher housing target, along with limited sites 

for development in the Borough, the Council has had to review its stance.  With this, 

decisions for development in greenfield/urban extension sites will now be considered in 

accordance with Guiding Principle 4. 

The Havant Landscape Capacity Study
29

 identifies Forty Acres as lying within the ‘Open 

Lower Harbour Plain’ and the ‘South Moor and Broadmarsh Coastal Park’.  The report 

places a particular emphasis on the restoration of landscape character for this area, with 

specific reference to the visual impact associated with major transport corridors. The 

guidance recommends restriction of development adjacent to the harbour edge to maintain 

the natural development free character of Langstone Harbour, but does not make similar 

provision for other parts of the character area. 

Is it possible to buy the land, in order to stop it being developed and 

turn it into open space/playing fields? 

It would be for the individual or group to approach the landowner. 

Policies AL2 and CS17 should be upheld. It is not proposed that policies AL2 and CS17 be deleted.  Rather it is proposed through 

General Principle 4 in the Housing Statement that these policies should not apply to the 

sites listed in Table 2, as these sites are considered to be capable of delivering sustainable 

development. 

The loss of green space in the area will affect health and In order to address the Borough’s housing need it is inevitable that all undeveloped areas 

                                                
 
 
 
29

 https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base  

https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base


101 

 

UE68: Forty Acres 

161 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

community activities. 

 

that are free from significant constraints need to be considered for development. However, 

the Council is keen to ensure that where possible, high quality, new open space is 

incorporated within the design and the layout of new developments.  

The capacity of gas, electricity and water supply utilities are over-

stretched. 

 

The Council is aware of the residents’ concerns regarding utilities provision. Utility 

providers (water, gas, electricity) have a statutory obligation to provide services to new 

development. The Council works with these providers to ensure they are aware of 

proposed levels of development so that they can plan accordingly for new development.  

Telephone and broadband provision in the area is poor. 

 

Broadband provision will continue to be provided under Part R of the Building Regulations, 

see link below: 

https://www.gov.uk/Government/consultations/new-part-r-of-the-building-regulations 

The capacity of Budds Farm Wastewater Treatment Works is being 

over-stretched. As a result, heavy rainfall leads to foul water 

drainage and sewage discharges into Langstone Harbour. 

The Council is aware of the concerns residents have raised regarding the provision of 

waste-water provision and the concerns over the capacity of Budds Farm.  Utility providers 

have a statutory obligation to provide services to new development.  The Council will 

continue to consult and work with Southern Water to ensure that new development is 

incorporated into their future business planning. 

The new properties should have solar power. 

 

The Government has abolished the Code for Sustainable Homes and has severely limited 

Councils’ ability to seek ambitious levels of sustainable construction. However, sustainable 

construction requirements have largely been subsumed under Part L of the Building 

Regulations. 

The current infrastructure is not good enough to cope with the 

current population. 

 

 

A key part of the drafting of the Local Plan is to identify the infrastructure 

improvements/additions required to make proposed sites sustainable. 

In terms of strategic infrastructure, in a climate of extremely limited resources, forward 

funding of infrastructure is not always possible.  However, having a plan in place will allow 

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/new-part-r-of-the-building-regulations


102 

 

UE68: Forty Acres 

161 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Infrastructure improvements should be delivered before 

development takes place. 

 

the Council to bid for funds for strategic infrastructure in order to bring these forward at the 

earliest opportunity.  

Throughout the Local Plan preparation process, the Council is also in continuous dialogue 

with the providers of infrastructure, such as utilities companies and public transport 

providers, HCC for highways and schools, and the NHS. It should be noted, however, that 

it is the responsibility of these bodies to bring forward the infrastructure they deem 

necessary to meet the needs of the population. 

The money obtained through Section 106 agreements should be 

used towards infrastructure improvements necessary for the local 

area. 

The money obtained through section 106 contributions can only be spent in accordance 

with the relevant section 106 legal agreement. 

Congestion has increased due to recent developments; one 

accident can lead to gridlock. 

The comments made regarding specific roads, junctions and pedestrian routes have been 

noted and will be considered further as the Local Plan is progressed.  Any improvements 

deemed necessary will be set out in the development requirements for each site. 

 

 

 

 

 

Traffic lights at the approach to the Rusty Cutter roundabout from 

Forty Acres, as well as a yellow junction box are required. 

There should be traffic lights at the entrance to Forty Acres. 

Motorists travelling to Portsmouth, via the Rusty Cutter roundabout, 

use the inside lane and then cut across at the last minute. 



103 

 

UE68: Forty Acres 

161 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

The Rusty Cutter roundabout has inadequate pedestrian and cycle 

crossing/routes over the A3 and A27 slip roads. 

 

HBC will continue to support HCC’s initiative on School Travel Planning
30

. 

 
It is not safe for school children to cross the Rusty Cutter 

roundabout in order to get to school. 

The Residents Committee conducted an independent assessment 

of the Rusty Cutter Roundabout a few years ago and found it not fit 

for purpose.  Therefore, traffic surveys must be conducted. 

 

The Housing Statement represents the first part of the Local Plan process. The NPPF 

states that evidence to support the plan should be proportionate to the stage of the plan 

process. It would not be reasonable at this stage to expect a full (traffic) assessment.  

However, appropriate levels of assessment will be required to support the site allocation as 

it progresses through the Local Plan process. 

The Council has commissioned a full plan Transport Assessment to assess the impacts of 

the proposed development on the highways network, and establish what mitigation 

measures are needed. The Council will continue to work with the County Council as 

Highway Authority, as well as Highways England and providers of public transport to 

assess and provide solutions to any capacity issues in the network. 

An increase in traffic will lead to a rise in air pollution which will 

affect residents’ health and quality of life.  

The Council will explore the issue for the Local Plan and work with its partners on the 

results of modelling and any necessary avoidance and mitigation measures. 

An increase in traffic will lead to a rise in noise pollution which will 

affect residents’ quality of life. 

Any site specific issues and constraints that can be mitigated will be set out in the 

development requirements in the Local Plan and developers will be expected to 

                                                
 
 
 
30

 http://www3.hants.gov.uk/servicesforschools/school-travel-planning.htm  

 

http://www3.hants.gov.uk/servicesforschools/school-travel-planning.htm


104 

 

UE68: Forty Acres 

161 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

demonstrate how these can be addressed through a planning application. 

The Rusty Cutter Roundabout requires more than one pedestrian 

crossing in order to access public transport facilities and reduce 

further congestion from reliance on cars. 

The comments made about specific roads, layout, junctions and pedestrian routes have 

been noted and will be considered further as the Local Plan is progressed.  Any 

additions/improvements necessary will be set out in the development requirements for 

each site. 

The new development must come with adequate parking to prevent 

vehicles from being parked outside the properties of current 

residents. 

 

Havant Borough Council (HBC) will continue to consult the evidence-base standards set 

out in the Parking SPD (July 2016): 

http://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/supplementary-

planning-documents/parking-supplementary 

This policy requirement will be considered through the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036. 

The proposed A27 junction will not ease the burden of a huge 

development. 

 

The Council will continue to support a new junction from the A27, unless evidence arises 

that this is not feasible.  The Council has commissioned a Transport Assessment to assess 

further possible strategic highways infrastructure requirements and will work with the 

Highway Authority and Highways England to consider which proposals offer the best 

solutions to traffic alleviation around the Borough. 

There is a lack of public transport in the area.   

 

The Council is aware of the concerns residents have raised regarding the provision of 

public transport.  The Council does not itself provide public transport services, but liaises 

with rails and bus service providers to ensure they are aware of proposed levels of 

development, and to seek to improve services and facilities. 

Westways and East Lodge Park would be unsuitable access points 

to the new development. 

 

HBC is unable to comment on access points at present as there are no plans to consult.  

Nevertheless, comments made regarding suggestions/objections to potential access points 

to new developments have been noted and will be considered further as the Local Plan is 

http://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/parking-supplementary
http://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/parking-supplementary


105 

 

UE68: Forty Acres 

161 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

An access from Havant Road would be dangerous. 

 

progressed. 

An access from Havant Road would be less disruptive; the existing 

farm shop access has been suggested. 

 

Portsmouth City Council (PCC) should be consulted on the impact 

of local services. 

HBC will continue to work with Portsmouth City Council (PCC) and will consult with them 

through every stage of the process. 

Police and Fire Services are over stretched. The Council consults with the emergency services on major development proposals.  As 

the Local Plan progresses, the Council will continue to work with these services to help 

identify need.  However, the provision and location of fire, ambulance and police stations is 

the responsibility of the emergency services and not the Council. 

Waste facilities are over stretched. Household Waste Recycling Centres are operated in the Borough by Veolia on behalf of 

HCC.  In early 2016, HCC carried out consultation with all stakeholders including local 

authorities and residents.  As part of this consultation, HCC have not raised any concerns 

regarding the capacity of waste facilities. 

For further information, please see: 

http://www3.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/infrastructure.htm 

Leisure facilities are over stretched. The Council will seek to ensure that high quality, new open spaces are provided as part of 

new developments. The Council also charges developers under the Community 

Infrastructure Levy, and uses funds to provide community infrastructure.  

Through Local Plan policies, the Council seeks to protect community facilities wherever 

possible. It should be noted, however, that publicly run facilities are under severe 

http://www3.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/infrastructure.htm


106 

 

UE68: Forty Acres 

161 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

budgetary pressures and all Councils have to review the viability of these services.  In 

addition, many leisure facilities are private businesses, and the Council cannot force these 

to be set up or remain open. However, if opportunities do arise and the Council is able to 

help enable the provision of facilities the Council will assist where appropriate. 

There has been no plan made for additional services for doctors 

surgeries, hospitals and dentists. 

 

The Council is aware of residents’ concerns regarding health care provision. The Council is 

working closely with the South East Hampshire Clinical Commissioning Group to 

determine how these concerns can be addressed through the planning process. If 

appropriate, developer contributions will be sought for the provision of new/improved 

facilities. 

The current schools are at capacity. The Council is aware of residents’ concerns regarding education provision. The Council is 

working closely with HCC as the Local Education Authority to determine how these 

concerns can be addressed through the planning process. If appropriate, developer 

contributions will be sought for the provision of new/improved facilities. The County Council 

has assured HBC that it has already taken into account urban extension sites in terms of 

school place planning.  

A new school is necessary for the area. 

A school catchment area review is necessary as children are forced 

to attend Havant Schools that are not within walking distance 

instead of schools in the Portsmouth catchment area which are 

nearer. 

The footpaths around the Rusty Cutter Roundabout are in disrepair. 

 

New development is expected to make provision for infrastructure through CIL and site 

specific S106. If it is considered that there is a need for improvements to pavements or the 

road surface or if crossings are needed, which are associated with the development, these 

will be considered as part of the planning process. 
The road surface around the Rusty Cutter Roundabout is 

inadequate and liable to subsidence and cracking. 

Pedestrians could gain safe access to the proposed site and 

current bus stop if Havant Road had a pelican crossing and a 



107 

 

UE68: Forty Acres 

161 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

pavement on its south side. 

Community safety is a ‘key priority’ for HBC, however, it has not 

been ‘embedded from the beginning of the development process’ 

as promised by the Core Strategy in 2011. 

 

Community safety remains a priority of HBC.  The consultation of the Housing Statement is 

only the first stage of the Local Plan review. Safety considerations will be reviewed as 

planning applications are received.  HBC will continue to consult with the Crime Prevention 

Design Advisor where appropriate. 

Concerns over increased traffic during the construction phase; a 

30mph speed limit has been suggested. 

It is accepted that there will likely be some disturbance during the construction phase. 

However, this is not considered a valid reason to prevent development from coming 

forward.  A Construction Management Plan will be developed and agreed with the 

developer to provide mitigation measures to minimise disruption during the construction 

phase. 

The construction phase will contribute to health problems, 

especially coughing from the dust produced. 

 

As with all planning applications, if development was to take place, then the developer 

would be requested by Havant Borough Council (HBC) to advise the Environmental Health 

Pollution Team of HBC as to what measures would be put in place for the control of any 

dust that might emanate from the development site.  This is in order to protect the 

occupants of nearby residential properties from dust pollution. 

The south section of the site is in Flood Zones 2 and 3 (CS15).  Any 

development near the site will increase water runoff and exacerbate 

the existing problem and lead to flooding in adjacent areas, i.e. The 

Farlington Marshes SSSI and East Lodge Farm.   

It is not expected that any part of the site which lies within Flood Zones 2 or 3 will be 

developed. Flooding and drainage will be considered as proposals develop and it is 

expected that appropriate mitigation will be proposed in accordance with national and local 

flood risk policies. 

With regard to wider flood risk issues, the Planning Policy Team is working closely with the 

Eastern Solent Coastal Partnership and the Environment Agency to determine how future 

development will be affected by flood risk and what protection and mitigation measures 

can be put into place. 

Climate change and sea-level rise may exacerbate the flooding 

problem as the site is low-lying. 

 



108 

 

UE68: Forty Acres 

161 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

A full flood investigation must be carried out. 

 

The Housing Statement represents the first part of the Local Plan process. The NPPF 

states that evidence to support the plan should be proportionate to the stage of the plan 

process. It would not be reasonable at this stage to expect a full flood assessment. 

However, appropriate levels of survey and assessment will be required to support the site 

allocation as it progresses through the Local Plan process.  HBC will continue to consult 

with the Environment Agency (EA) and all relevant organisations as appropriate. 

Development within a Flood Zone will affect home insurance of new 

and current residents. 

 

Insurance is not a matter which can be considered or addressed through the planning 

process.  

Nevertheless, flood risk is a planning matter.  As in line with the NPPF, development will 

be avoided on Flood Zones 2 and 3. 

Policies Map 7 (of Allocations Plan) shows UE68 within the area of 

’development in the coastal zone’.  In order for development 

proposals to be accepted within the coastal zone, 7 tests of Policy 

DM9 are required. 

Planning applications that are received by Havant Borough Council (HBC) will only be 

granted permission for development in the coastal zone providing they address all 7 

criteria set out in DM9 (Please see page 135 of the Local Plan (Core Strategy). This policy 

requirement will be considered for inclusion in the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036. 

The site acts as a green corridor for wildlife which links the Forest 

of Bere, Portsdown Hill, Langstone Harbour (SPA & SAC) and the 

Farlington Marshes (SSSI).  Development would lead to habitat 

damage in the surrounding area via wildlife displacement and the 

removal of established flora and fauna. 

 

No overriding issues have been identified that would prevent allocation from coming 

forward. 

It is acknowledged that development of greenfield sites could have some impact on wildlife 

on the sites affected. The Council is having on-going discussions with bodies such as 

Natural England, the RSPB and the Hampshire and Isle of Wight Wildlife Trust to identify 

any key issues and ways in which impacts can be mitigated. The Council will continue to 

follow all applicable national policy and regulatory requirements regarding protected 

species. 

More detail on these matters will also be required to support any planning application on 

the sites, so that impacts and proposed mitigation measures can be considered in detail. 



109 

 

UE68: Forty Acres 

161 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

An environmental/biodiversity impact study must be carried out. 

 

The Housing Statement represents the first part of the Local Plan process. The NPPF 

states that evidence to support the plan should be proportionate to the stage of the plan 

process. It would not be reasonable at this stage to expect a full assessment. However, 

appropriate levels of survey and assessment will be required to support the site allocation 

as it progresses through the Local Plan process. 

Policy CS11 (Protecting and Enhancing the Special Environment 

and Heritage of Havant Borough) sets out 11 requirements that 

need to be satisfied for development proposals.  One of these 

requirements states particular regard must be given to Sites of 

Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC). 

The site is not designated as a SINC; please refer to the Proposals Map associated with 

the Local Plan (Allocations).  The presence of notable and protected species however 

would be a material planning consideration in its own right. Policy CS11 will continue to be 

upheld and any planning application received will continue to be examined against the 11 

requirements as set out in the Local Plan (Core Strategy) policy (2011). 

Sections of the site should be set aside as a nature reserve. 

 

There are sections of the site which either have a gas main running underneath or are 

situated in Flood Zones 2 and 3.  These parts of the site cannot be used for housing 

development and may provide an opportunity to deliver biodiversity improvements. 

Hedgerows should be constructed to act as transport corridors for 

current wildlife. 

It is acknowledged that development of greenfield sites will likely have some impact on 

wildlife on the sites affected. The Council is having on-going discussions with bodies such 

as Natural England, the RSPB and the Hampshire and Isle of Wight Wildlife Trust to 

identify any key issues and ways in which impacts can be mitigated.   

More detail on these matters will also be required to support any planning application on 

the sites, so that impacts and proposed mitigation measures can be considered in detail. 

Protected and endangered species are found on this site. 

 

The legal requirements regarding protected and endangered species, along with the 

guidelines set out in the Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) will continue to be upheld.  

HBC will continue to consult with Natural England (NE) on the matter. 

In Policies Map 7, the northern half of the site is marked as The site is designated uncertain for Brent Geese and waders and Policy DM23 of the 

HBLP (Allocations) applies. This policy requirement will be considered through the Havant 



110 

 

UE68: Forty Acres 

161 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

‘uncertain’ for Brent Geese and waders; this relates to Policy DM23. Borough Local Plan 2036. Three years worth of survey data is required to determine the 

importance of the site, to the satisfaction of Natural England. 

The ‘Agricultural Land Classification Map for London and the South 

East (ALC007)’ (published by Natural England, August 2010) 

shows a proportion of the site to be classified as Grade 1 

Agricultural Land.  Statement 112 of the NPPF states that LPAs 

‘should seek to use areas of poorer quality land in preference to 

that of higher quality’. 

The NPPF expects local planning authorities to seek to use areas of poorer quality land in 

preference to that of a higher quality, where significant development of agricultural land is 

demonstrated to be necessary. However a balance must be struck with the requirement to 

meet identified housing needs in the Borough.  In addition, all poorer quality agricultural 

land has either already been developed upon or being proposed for development; 

therefore, loss of higher quality land cannot be avoided in order to meet the objectively 

assessed need. 

Moreover, as the eastern and southern sections of the site cannot be developed upon due 

to the gas main and Flood Zone designation; it is an ideal opportunity to use part of the site 

for open space, as well as allotments due to the high grading of the soil. 

 

The site is still used to grow crops and will be needed to feed our 

growing population. 

The One Eight Zero development offers 46 plots but only utilises 

less than 50% of the available land.  Are more homes are planned 

for this site (i.e. between Fortunes Way and One Eight Zero) or can 

it be used as alternative to Forty Acres? 

Development on the site between One Eight Zero and Fortunes Way is not being 

considered as part of this Housing Statement. The land in question contains a high 

pressure gas main and is secured as part of the One Eight Zero. As a result, it is not 

available for, nor suitable for development. 

There have already been a high number of dwellings built in this 

area (i.e. One Eight Zero); the residents were tolerant to this site, 

but oppose development on Forty Acres. 

In order to address the Borough’s housing need it is inevitable that all undeveloped areas 

that are free from significant constraints need to be considered for development. 

The appropriate traffic assessments and ecological surveys will be required to be carried 

out to determine the site’s viability and suitability for 300 homes. 

 
Accept need for homes in principle, but the site is unsuitable for 300 

homes. 

Forty Acres should be the last resort for development once all other 



111 

 

UE68: Forty Acres 

161 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

available, more suitable areas are used. 

 

The constraints to this development are vital considerations and 

more important than meeting Government housing targets. 

 

The flat space of the site would be suitable for an air ambulance to 

land. 

This would be a matter for the commissioning body – no response has been received 

suggesting this item from the relevant stakeholder 

Crime rates increase in areas when social housing is built. 

 

If new developments are well designed, well laid out and well integrated with existing 

communities there is no reason that crime and anti-social behaviour should increase. 

The proposed development will produce an overcrowded 

environment and thus destroy the rural, peaceful and sought after 

location.   

The Council acknowledges that further development will affect the character of the area. 

However, the Council is committed both to delivering further housing, as well as to 

ensuring that quality of life remains high. 

The community events currently operating on the site will be forced 

to stop. 

The Council acknowledges that alternative sites will need to be found.  Nevertheless, the 

site is private property and its use for community events is at the discretion of the 

landowner. 

The development must not exceed two storeys. It is not possible for HBC to comment specifically as no planning applications have been 

received for review.  Nevertheless, any new development must be in keeping with the 

character of the area; this includes built form. 

Support for affordable housing. 

 

New development is expected to provide between 30% and 40% affordable housing. This 

can be in a variety of formats and will usually be determined in accordance with the 



112 

 

UE68: Forty Acres 

161 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Social housing should not all be in one development. 

 

Council’s Housing Service and with affordable housing providers. 

The Council is not in a position to control the prices developers demand for homes. The 

Council can, however, try to improve the supply of new homes by identifying sites suitable 

for development.  It can also seek a proportion of affordable homes (Social rented, 

affordable rented and intermediate housing) in developments. 

Policy CS9.3 Housing aims to ensure mixed communities. 

Residents are not convinced that the homes will genuinely be 

affordable; examples of One Eight Zero providing premium 

accommodation. 

The Council is not in a position to control the prices developers demand for homes. The 

Council can, however, try to improve the supply of new homes by identifying sites suitable 

for development.  It can also seek a proportion of affordable homes (Social rented, 

affordable rented and intermediate housing) in developments. The One Eight Zero 

Development included affordable housing. 

The proposed development will devalue current property prices and 

raises questions over changes to Council Tax banding. 

This is not a matter which can be considered or addressed through the planning process. 

The views, which residents paid a premium for, will be lost. The views of properties surrounding the site will be affected by the development. The 

planning process is not able to protect views; however, the design and layout of future 

development will be required to consider the amenity of existing residents. 

The new housing should be built nearer to the motorway to 

maintain a gap between Westways and the new builds. 

Havant Borough Council (HBC) is unable to comment on specific points regarding the site 

as there are no planning applications currently submitted.  Nevertheless, the comments 

made have been noted and will be considered further as the Local Plan is progressed. 

The developer states that the land is available, achievable and 

deliverable.  The Masterplan shows that constraints can be 

overcome. 

Noted. 



113 

 

UE68: Forty Acres 

161 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

There has been a lack of input in the Masterplan/concern for the 

community of West Bedhampton. 

 

The masterplan being referred to was created by a developer and not the Council.  A 

masterplan is not a planning application.  Any application received for the site will be 

subject to the development management process, whereby residents will be able to 

comment on the specific details of the plan. Pre-application consultation and a 

Development Consultation Forum will also be encouraged by the Council. 

Support site. Support noted. 

The proposed site goes against Policies CS1, CS11, CS15, CS20, 

DM8, DM9 and DM11. 

Upon the adoption of the Housing Statement, these policies will remain.  Therefore, any 

planning application received would need to demonstrate how these policies will be 

upheld. 

The Portsdown Hill Project means that Forty Acres is a ’no go’ area.  

Therefore, there should be no building in the 

Bedhampton/Farlington Border. 

The Portsdown Hill Countryside Management Project aims to conserve and enhance the 

natural beauty, wildlife and amenity of the countryside area.  Nevertheless, this does not 

refer to the site UE68 Forty Acres. 

 

Proposed Modifications to the Housing Statement 

Section/Paragraph Proposed Change Reason for Change 

Local Plan Mention in the development requirements that the site is partially within Flood 

Zones 2 and 3.  

To ensure that flood risk is minimised.  

 

  



114 

 

Hayling Island development in general 
265 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents 

and other stakeholders 
HBC response 

Accept need for new homes but 

Hayling Island is a unique situation – 

recognised at Core Strategy by 

Inspector. 

The Council recognises the unique characteristics of Hayling Island, which have been emphasised through the public 

consultation on the housing statement. The Inspector noted the access issues at the Core Strategy Examination. Having 

regard to the comments received, the Council is proposing to amend the proposed sites to exclude them from early 

release in the Housing Statement. This is so that further work can take place regarding the single access route onto 

Hayling Island and any necessary mitigation measures can be included in the allocations for those sites. 

Flooding  

Site specific flooding due to removal 

of trees and hedgerows as well as the 

clay soil. 

Concerns over flooding on Hayling 

Island generally and the condition of 

flood defences. 

Concerns over the impact of flooding 

on access points either side of Hayling 

Bridge. 

There is localised flooding in St Marys 

Road. 

Concerns over poor drainage, which is 

inadequate and leads to flooding in 

winter. Development will make 

drainage worse as developing fields 

removes natural soakaway defence. 

 

It is not expected that any part of the site which lies within Flood Zones 2 or 3 will be developed. Flooding and drainage 

will be considered as proposals develop and it is expected that appropriate mitigation will be provided in accordance 

with national and local flood risk policies. Where specific drainage issues are identified, the developer will be expected 

to address these to ensure that on-site drainage provision is appropriate. 

With regard to wider flood risk issues, the Planning Policy Team is working closely with the Eastern Solent Coastal 

Partnership and the Environment Agency to determine how future development will be affected by flood risk and to 

ensure that appropriate safeguards are in place to prevent any increase in flood risk to existing properties. 



115 

 

Hayling Island development in general 
265 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Flood defences are in a poor state of 

repair. This increases coastal erosion 

and impacts on the Hayling Billy Trail. 

The Planning Policy Team is working closely with the Eastern Solent Coastal Partnership and the Environment Agency 

to determine which, if any, flood defences need to be improved to make future development and access to and from the 

Island, safe. 

Impact on tourism 

Congestion on the roads puts visitors 

off visiting the island. Visitors are 

attracted by the rural character found 

on Hayling Island. 

The Council acknowledges that further development will affect the character of the area. However, the Council is 

committed both to delivering further housing, as well as to ensuring that the quality of the environment remains as high 

as possible, for both residents and visitors. Congestion is recognised as a key issue and the Council proposes further 

work on this before allocating any more greenfield sites for development. 

Concerns over the capacity of the 

highway network, particularly in 

respect of the single access via the 

bridge and road. A second bridge is 

needed. 

The proposals will have a negative 

impact on the character of area.   

Proposals to consider should include: 

 A one way system 

 Widen West Lane, Northney 

 Fund Hayling Ferry 

 Reduce fares on public 

transport at peak times 

 Mini roundabout needed at 

top of West Lane   

 Hedges along West Lane 

should be cut back 

 

The Council has commissioned a full plan Transport Assessment to assess the impacts of the proposed development 

on the highways network, and establish what mitigation measures are needed. The Council will continue to work with 

the County Council as Highway Authority, as well as Highways England and providers of public transport, to assess and 

provide solutions to any capacity issues in the network.  

Comments made regarding specific roads and junctions will be considered further as the Local Plan is progressed.  Any 

improvements deemed necessary will be set out in the development requirements for each site. 

The Council acknowledges that there is only a single point of access onto and off Hayling Island. Although there is a 

great deal of data regarding this single access, further assessment is required to understand traffic movements on and 

off the Island. Following consultation on the Housing Statement, it is evident that this is one of the key issues for 

residents on the Island.  

Comments made regarding specific roads or junctions will be considered further as the Local Plan is progressed.  Any 

improvements deemed necessary will be set out in the development requirements for each site. 



116 

 

Hayling Island development in general 
265 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Concerns over the impact of 

congestion, especially when a vehicle 

breaks down or there are horses, 

bikes or refuse vehicles using the 

road.  

30mph speed limits have the effect of 

reducing the traffic flow. 

Little can be done to improve highway 

capacity. 

West Lane is over used and 

dangerous. 

The proposed junction on the A27 will 

not provide a solution to the 

overloaded single road on Hayling, 

particularly in light of proposals for 

further development on Hayling 

Island. 

The Council will continue to support a new junction from the A27, unless evidence arises that this is not feasible.  The 

Council has commissioned a Transport Assessment to assess further possible strategic highways infrastructure 

requirements, and will work with the Highway Authority and Highways England to consider which proposals offer the 

best solutions to traffic alleviation around the Borough, including Hayling Island. 

Utilities (gas, electricity, water supply) 

cannot cope with extra demand 

A key part of the drafting of the Local Plan is to identify the infrastructure needed to make the development of sites 

sustainable. Smaller items of infrastructure, which are needed to make a development work, will be funded by 

developers through legal agreements with the Council.  These are generally delivered alongside the development, so 

they are operational when the development is occupied. 

In terms of strategic infrastructure, in a climate of extremely limited resources, forward funding of infrastructure is not 

always possible.  However, having a plan in place will allow the Council to bid for funds for strategic infrastructure in 

order to bring these forward at the earliest opportunity.  

Throughout the Local Plan preparation process, the Council is also in continuous dialogue with the providers of 



117 

 

Hayling Island development in general 
265 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

infrastructure, such as utility companies, Hampshire County Council for highways and schools, and the NHS. It should 

be noted, however, that it is the responsibility of these bodies to bring forward the infrastructure they deem necessary to 

meet the needs of the population. 

The health centre and GP facilities 

need improving. Facilities are full and 

it is very difficult to get an 

appointment. 

The Council is aware of residents’ concerns regarding health care provision. The Council is working closely with the 

Clinical Commissioning Group and the NHS to determine how these concerns can be addressed through the planning 

process. If appropriate, developer contributions will be sought for the provision of new/improved facilities. 

Better facilities are needed for young 

people. 

While the planning system can allocate land for certain types of development, the extent to which a particular use takes 

place on a site, is largely market led. A number of discussions have taken place over the years regarding the provision 

of a cinema and other leisure uses in the Borough. However, given the proximity to facilities in neighbouring cities such 

as Portsmouth and Chichester, providers have determined that there is not the market for a cinema in the Borough. 

However, if opportunities do arise and the Council is able to help enable the provision of facilities for young people, 

particularly on Hayling Island, the Council will assist where appropriate. 

Concerns over the impact on ecology.  

Brent Geese, Slow Worms, Stag 

Beetles and Crested Newts have all 

been seen on various greenfield sites 

on the island. 

No overriding issues have been identified that would prevent allocation from coming forward. However, it is 

acknowledged that development of greenfield sites could have some impact on wildlife on the sites affected. 

Nonetheless, the Council will continue to follow national policy and the appropriate regulations regarding the protection 

of species. The Council is having ongoing discussions with bodies such as Natural England, the RSPB and the 

Hampshire and Isle of Wight Wildlife Trust to identify any key issues and ways in which impacts can be mitigated.   

More detail on these matters will also be required to support any planning application on the sites, so that impacts and 

proposed mitigation measures can be considered in detail. 

The site is designated uncertain for Brent Geese and waders and Policy DM23 of the HBLP (Allocations) applies. This 

policy requirement will be considered through the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036. Three years worth of survey data is 

required to determine the importance of the site, to the satisfaction of Natural England. 

Concerns over the loss of agricultural 

land, including Grade 1 Farmland at 

The NPPF expects local planning authorities to seek to use areas of poorer quality land in preference to that of a higher 

quality, where significant development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary. However a balance must be 

struck with the requirement to meet identified housing needs in the Borough. Some loss of higher quality land cannot 



118 

 

Hayling Island development in general 
265 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Station Road. therefore be avoided in Havant Borough. 

Negative impact on the character of 

the area and the loss of natural beauty 

and rural character. 

The Council acknowledges that further development will affect the character of the area. However, the Council is 

committed both to delivering further housing, as well as to ensuring that quality of life remains high. The Council will 

continue to have regard to the findings of the Landscape Character Assessment and seek to locate development where 

there is the greatest capacity for landscape change. 

400 homes at Rook Farm is 

unsustainable. 

Figures provided at this stage are indicative. The Council will continue to work with developers, statutory undertakers 

and the community as proposals progress, to enable sustainable schemes to come forward. 

Concerns over the impact of new out 

of the town shopping centre in Havant, 

on travel on and off the island. 

Attractive retail provision in Havant will undoubtedly act as a draw to residents across the Borough and forms an 

important part of the offer available to residents and visitors.  

The Council has commissioned a full plan Transport Assessment to assess the impacts of the proposed development 

on the highways network, and establish what mitigation measures are needed. This may include exploring opportunities 

for better retail provision on the island. The Council will continue to work with the County Council as Highway Authority, 

as well as Highways England and providers of public transport to assess and provide solutions to any capacity issues in 

the network.  

Lack of employment and alternative 

modes of transport mean that people 

drive on and off the island. 

The Council is committed to retaining and where possible, creating employment sites throughout the Borough. 

Appropriate sites will continue to be allocated in the new local plan. However, the Council also recognises the residents’ 

concerns regarding employment on Hayling Island and will continue to explore opportunities for greater provision, such 

as that currently being developed on Station Road. In addition, patterns of travel will be assessed as part of the full plan 

Transport Assessment to ascertain whether there are any mitigation measures which can be incorporated into the plan. 

Concerns over road safety due to the 

quality and quantity/lack of 

pavements. 

As proposals progress, the Planning Policy Team will continue to work with the Council’s Development Engineer and the 

Highway Authority, to identify and mitigate the effects of development which impact on road safety. 

Reference to comments made at 

Goldring Appeal. 

While comments made during the Goldring Close Appeal remain valid, addressing housing need is not something which 

can be ignored. If the Council does not continue positively planning for the future, the Government will take that role out 

of the Council’s hands and their overarching aim is to get more homes built.  The Council therefore considers that the 



119 

 

Hayling Island development in general 
265 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

best way forward is to accept what cannot be changed: that there is a high housing need and that the NPPF requires 

local authorities to seek to meet that need. From this starting point, the Council can then focus on the detailed aspects 

to make sure that the development that does take place is sustainable and well-integrated into local communities and 

provides the infrastructure that is needed to support it. 

A greater proportion of development is 

being allocated to Hayling Island than 

elsewhere in Borough. 

In order to address the Borough’s housing need it is inevitable that all undeveloped areas that are free from significant 

constraints need to be considered for development. The Housing Constraints and Supply Analysis identified sites 

suitable for development. The Council has an obligation to meet housing need for the Borough and this need should be 

met by sites which are suitable, not by proportioning development between the five areas. 

The Hayling Billy Trail needs 

upgrading. 

The Council recognises that improvements can be made to the Hayling Billy Trail, which would help improve its 

attractiveness not only as a leisure route, but also for active travel and commuting. The Council will continue to explore 

opportunities for funding to help make these improvements, through developer contributions and grant funding. 

The closure of the waste facility on 

Hayling Island means that residents 

need to travel off the island for waste 

recycling facilities. 

Household Waste Recycling Centres are operated in the Borough by Veolia on behalf of Hampshire County Council. In 

early 2016, HCC carried out consultation with all stakeholders including local authorities and residents. Hayling 

residents raised concerns that sites may shut down. However this was not the case and the site at Fishery Lane 

remains open, although there are new operating procedures. 

More development will increase 

parking on roads. 

Havant Borough Council (HBC) will continue to consult the evidence-base standards set out in the Parking SPD (July 

2016): 

http://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/parking-

supplementary 

This policy requirement will be considered further through the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036. 

Better facilities are required for 

cyclists to encourage use.  Cyclists 

currently use the roads which adds to 

congestion.  

There are no cycle facilities in the 

The Council recognises that improvements can be made to the Hayling Billy Trail, which would help improve its 

attractiveness not only as a leisure route, but also as a cycle commuting route. The Council will continue to explore 

opportunities for funding to help make these improvements, through developer contributions and grant funding.  

The Council has commissioned a full plan Transport Assessment to assess the impacts of the proposed development 

on the highways network, and establish what mitigation measures are needed, including cycle provision. The Council 

http://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base
http://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/parking-supplementary
http://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/parking-supplementary


120 

 

Hayling Island development in general 
265 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

north of the island. will continue to work with the County Council as highway authority, as well as Highways England and providers of public 

transport, to assess and provide solutions to any capacity issues in the network.  

Concerns over the impact of 

demographics. A high proportion of 

older people on the island increases 

pressure on the health centre. Post 

hospital care not sufficiently funded 

The Council is working closely with the South East Hampshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) to determine how 

these concerns can be addressed through the planning process. If appropriate, developer contributions will be sought 

for the provision of new/improved facilities. 

No thought to decreasing emissions to 

tackle climate change. 

The operational carbon emissions and energy requirements of new homes are not aspects that the planning system can 

influence anymore; this is the remit of the Building Regulations. 

In terms of emissions from extra traffic from new development, the Council has commissioned a full plan Transport 

Assessment to assess the impacts of the proposed development on the highways network, and establish what 

mitigation measures are needed. The Council will continue to work with the County Council as highway authority, as well 

as Highways England and providers of public transport to assess and provide solutions to any capacity issues in the 

network. This work will also highlight any opportunities to reduce emissions and help tackle climate change, through 

new or improved alternative modes of transport. 

Consideration should be given to 

developing other areas e.g. unused 

industrial areas and brownfield sites 

such as New Lane, Havant. 

Urban areas, including New Lane, Havant,  have been considered. Background evidence has been published at 

https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base .  Particularly relevant are the Strategic Housing Land Availability 

Assessment (SHLAA) and the Housing Constraints and Supply Analysis. The Core Strategy and Allocations documents 

remain in place and identify brownfield sites for development, and Guiding Principle 3 confirms that previously 

developed sites will be considered positively. It is not possible, however, to meet the Borough’s housing need on 

brownfield sites alone. 

Open space is needed.  In order to address the Borough’s housing need it is inevitable that all undeveloped areas that are free from significant 

constraints need to be considered for development. However, the Council is keen to ensure that where possible, high 

quality, new open space is incorporated within the design and the layout of new developments. 

New homes should be for those in New development is expected to provide between 30% and 40% affordable housing. This can be in a variety of formats 

https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-shlaa-8th-edition-pdf-616-kb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-shlaa-8th-edition-pdf-616-kb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb


121 

 

Hayling Island development in general 
265 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

genuine housing need. and will usually be determined in accordance with the Council’s Housing Service and with affordable housing providers. 

The Council is not in a position to control the prices developers demand for homes. The Council can, however, try to 

improve the supply of new homes by identifying sites suitable for development.  It can also seek a proportion of 

affordable homes (Social rented, affordable rented and intermediate housing) in developments. 

Concerns over emergency access and 

provision, given that the fire and police 

station have closed. 

The Council consult with the emergency services on major development proposals. As the Local Plan progresses, the 

Council will continue to work with these services to help identify need. However, the provision and location of fire, 

ambulance and police stations is the responsibility of the emergency services and not the Council. 

How will emergency access be 

achieved if the bridge is closed? 

The Council has liaised closely with the South Coast Ambulance Service to understand provision of services in the 

event that the bridge is closed. Hayling Island has a number of first responders, who are able to attend in emergency 

situations. In addition, both air and sea rescue facilities exist, which can be used if a road vehicle is unable to get to the 

island. 

Concerns over the impact on schools. The Council is aware of residents’ concerns regarding education provision. The Council is working closely with 

Hampshire County Council as the Local Education Authority to determine how these concerns can be addressed 

through the planning process. If appropriate, developer contributions will be sought for the provision of new/improved 

facilities. The County Council has assured HBC that it has already taken into account urban extension sites in terms of 

school place planning.  

Can the Council stop homes being 

bought as second/holiday homes? 

The planning system is unable to influence who purchases a property. 

The plan should consider specialist 

accommodation for the over 60s. 

The Council seeks to offer a range of house types, to cater for all demographics, through the allocation of a range of 

development sites. However, the provision of specialist housing is largely market led. Notwithstanding this, in recent 

years Hayling Island has seen a number of retirement developments, broadening the offer available. 

Concerns over the impact on 

Chichester and Langstone Harbour. 

The Council is working closely with Natural England, the Langstone Harbour Board and Chichester Harbour 

Conservancy to assess and where appropriate, mitigate the effects of development on these areas. However, both 

harbours are subject to a number of environmental designations, which afford a high level of protection, notwithstanding 

http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/policy/achieving-sustainable-development/annex-2-glossary/


122 

 

Hayling Island development in general 
265 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

future development. 

Havant Borough Council has not 

estimated future car use on and off 

the island correctly. 

The Council has commissioned a full plan Transport Assessment to assess the impacts of the proposed development 

on the highways network, and establish what mitigation measures are needed. The Council will continue to work with 

the County Council as highway authority, as well as Highways England and providers of public transport, to assess and 

provide solutions to any capacity issues in the network. 

There are sewerage issues in 

Selsmore Road. 

No greenfield development is proposed within the vicinity of Selsmore Road and therefore, issues cannot be addressed 

as part of the consultation on the Housing Statement. Any existing issues should be addressed through Southern Water 

in the first instance. 

Concerns over the impact of noise, 

dirt and pollution during the 

construction phase. 

As with all planning applications, if development was to take place, the developer would be requested by Havant 

Borough Council (HBC) to advise the Environmental Health Pollution Team of HBC as to what measures would be put in 

place for the control of any dust that might emanate from the development site.  This is in order to protect the occupants 

of nearby residential properties from dust pollution. 

Public transport is unable to cope. 

There is an unreliable and infrequent 

bus service. Even the 15 minute 

service is struggling to cope. 

The Council has commissioned a full plan Transport Assessment to assess the impacts of the proposed development 

on the highways network, and establish what mitigation measures are needed. The Council will continue to work with 

the County Council as Highway Authority, as well as Highways England and providers of public transport to assess and 

provide solutions to any capacity issues in the network. 

Sites allocated in the plan now will be 

built in next 5 years, generating even 

more demand by 2036. 

The Council has an obligation to address its OAN up to 2036. It is not yet known what the housing requirements will be 

beyond this period. 

The population increases significantly 

over the summer months, leading to 

increased congestion. 

The Council has commissioned a full plan Transport Assessment to assess the impacts of the proposed development 

on the highways network, and establish what mitigation measures are needed. The Council will continue to work with 

the County Council as Highway Authority, as well as Highways England and providers of public transport to assess and 

provide solutions to any capacity issues in the network. It is expected that the impact of summer traffic will be 

considered as part of this assessment. 



123 

 

Hayling Island development in general 
265 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Concerns over bridge safety, 

particularly as the bridge carries the 

weight of utilities (pipes, cables) as 

well as cars. 

HCC statistics show that 25-27,000 

vehicles are now crossing the bridge 

per day, whereas it was only built for 

9000 crossings per day. 

Hayling Bridge is the responsibility of Hampshire County Council as Highway Authority and is subject to appropriate 

maintenance. 

New housing alone does not create 

communities. 

The Housing Statement is the first step in producing a new Local Plan and focuses specifically on housing. However, as 

the plan develops, other aspects such as open space, green infrastructure, employment, retail and community provision 

will be incorporated to help enable sustainable communities develop.  

The character of the rural/urban fringe 

is changing. 

The Council acknowledges that further development will affect the character of the area and that previously rural areas 

will become more urbanised. However, the Council is committed both to delivering further housing, as well as to 

ensuring that quality of life remains high. The Council will continue to have regard to the findings of the Landscape 

Character Assessment and seek to locate development where there is the greatest capacity for landscape change. 

Have marine plans been taken into 

account? 

Many of the objectives set out in the South Marine Plan Areas Options Report correspond with Council Objectives, for 

example Objectives 14 and 15: Promotion of activities which improve socio-economic conditions and support for 

opportunities for employment, investment, regeneration. It is expected that as both plans progress, greater alignment 

and cross reference will occur. Officers from Havant Borough Council, through the Solent Forum, will continue to play 

an active role in the development and implementation of the South Central Inshore and Offshore Marine Plans. 

Are Hampshire County Council 

content with the proposals? 

Hampshire County Council have been consulted on the proposals, particularly in respect of education and transport. 

Where appropriate, HCC have commented on the proposals and HBC will consider these comments as proposals 

develop. Havant Borough Council will continue to work closely with HCC as the plan progresses. 

Has Southern Water agreed that there 

is capacity within the sewerage 

The Council has worked closely with Southern Water, whom has not raised any objections to the proposals. As with the 

adopted Allocations Plan, where appropriate, development requirements will be included to ensure connection at the 



124 

 

Hayling Island development in general 
265 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

system? nearest point of capacity. 

The Council should consider a 30mph 

speed limit in Northney to stop the 

area being used as a ‘rat run’. 

Comments made regarding specific roads and junctions will be considered further as the Local Plan is progressed.  Any 

improvements deemed necessary will be set out in the development requirements for each site. 

The plan should consider car ferry to 

Eastney. 

The introduction of a car ferry to Eastney is not practical. High costs are a significant factor in the development of a ferry 

as well as significant shore infrastructure and changes to the nearby highway network. In addition, a car ferry departing 

from the Sinah Area would attract a large number of vehicles to one of the most sensitive parts of the island, where 

there are a large number of environmental and nature conservation designations. 

Have the emergency services been 

consulted over the plans? 

To confirm, the Emergency Services have been consulted.   

Why not use vacant dwellings to meet 

housing need? 

Housebuilding is one of the Government’s top priorities, and the NPPF makes clear that local plans should meet the full 

OAN for their area. Even with the use of all vacant buildings in the Borough, the full OAN will not be met by a large 

distance.  

The recent Government figures outlined 985 vacant dwellings in Havant Borough in 2015.  Nevertheless, of these 985, 

only 248 dwellings are considered as ‘long-term vacants’; i.e. vacant for longer than 6 months.  Local Authorities have 

limited power to intervene in relation to private land.  The remaining 737 vacant dwellings are the result of the natural 

housing market flow (i.e. people moving home, individuals passing away etc.). 

Concerns over quality of life, views, 

amenity and privacy. 

The views of some properties will be affected by the development of sites allocated in the Housing Statement. The 

planning process is not able to protect views. However, the design and layout of future development will be required to 

consider the amenity (including privacy) of existing residents. 

Developers should sell land to those 

offering community services, not 

housing. 

Landowners will usually only offer land for development if sufficient profit can be achieved. The highest profit will usually 

be obtained through residential development. The NPPF requires that the Borough Council assume reasonable profit for 

developers and landowners when assessing the deliverability of sites. The Council cannot insist that land is sold for 

community purposes, but where appropriate, can seek to achieve community facilities in association with residential 



125 

 

Hayling Island development in general 
265 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

development through developer contributions (S106 and CIL). 

Hayling Island is capable of meeting 

future housing need together with 

associated infrastructure. There are, 

benefits associated with this location, 

due to its proximity with Portsmouth. 

Noted. However, at this point, the Council believes that further work is required regarding highway capacity and 

infrastructure provision before greenfield sites are allocated for residential development on Hayling Island. 

The Council should consider shared 

pedestrian/cycle routes as in 

Germany. 

The design and layout of developments will be considered further as proposals progress. However, the Council is 

committed to maximising opportunities for walking and cycling throughout the Borough. 

The presence of Brent Geese has not 

been adequately assessed. 

Where a site is designated uncertain for Brent Geese and waders, Policy DM23 of the HBLP (Allocations) applies. Three 

years of survey data is required to determine the importance of the site, to the satisfaction of Natural England. 

Infrastructure is needed before 

development can take place. The role 

of S106 should be fully explored. 

The Council promised a full 

infrastructure review as part of the 

Goldring application/appeal, but this 

has not happened. 

A key part of the drafting of the local plan is to identify the infrastructure needed to make the development of sites 

sustainable. 

Smaller items of infrastructure, which are needed to make a development work, will be funded by developers through 

legal agreements with the Council.  These are generally delivered alongside the development, so they are operational 

when the development is occupied. 

In terms of strategic infrastructure, in a climate of extremely limited resources, forward funding of infrastructure is not 

always possible.  However, having a plan in place will allow the Council to bid for funds for strategic infrastructure in 

order to bring these forward at the earliest opportunity.  

Throughout the local plan preparation process, the Council is also in continuous dialogue with the providers of 

infrastructure, such as utilities companies, Hampshire County Council for highways and schools, and the NHS. It should 

be noted, however, that it is the responsibility of these bodies to bring forward the infrastructure they deem necessary to 

meet the needs of the population. Moving forward, a Borough-wide Infrastructure Delivery Plan will be developed to 

assess infrastructure needs. 

Caravan parks should be used for The characteristics of caravan parks are often such that they are not suitable for permanent accommodation – building 



126 

 

Hayling Island development in general 
265 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

permanent housing. structure, room sizes, washing facilities. In addition, caravan parks on Hayling Island are an important attraction for 

visitors, boosting the local economy; their loss should be resisted. 

Concerns over the impact on nearby 

hospitals. 

The Council is aware of residents’ concerns regarding health care provision. The Council is working closely with the 

Clinical Commissioning Group and the NHS to determine how these concerns can be addressed through the planning 

process. If appropriate, developer contributions will be sought for the provision of new/improved facilities.  

Concerns over the closure of 

community facilities including pubs, 

night clubs, hotels and leisure 

facilities. 

Through Local Plan policies, the Council seeks to protect community facilities wherever possible. Where land or a 

building is no longer required for its original purpose, policies exist to ensure opportunities for other uses are considered 

before it is permitted for a non-community use. However, the Council cannot insist a community use remains in business 

where it is no longer profitable or viable. 

Concerns over the Oysters 

development in West Town due to 

disruption during construction and site 

specific flooding issues. 

It is acknowledged that there will be some disturbance during the construction phase. However, this is not considered a 

valid reason to prevent development from coming forward. Any concerns regarding a specific site should be raised with 

the developers or the Council’s Development Management Team, as should site specific flooding issues. 

The community needs time to create a 

Neighbourhood Plan. 

The progress of the Local Plan cannot be delayed as it is likely that planning applications will be submitted for the 

proposed developments without an appropriate, positive framework in which to assess them and secure the required 

supporting infrastructure. However, the Council does support the production of Neighbourhood Plans and where 

appropriate, will work with communities to progress these. 

No Sustainability Appraisal (SA) has 

been produced. 

A full SA has been produced to support the Housing Statement: http://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/regulatory-

requirements 

 

A single access at Station Road and 

Rook Farm is not acceptable. 

Comments made regarding specific roads and junctions have been noted and will be considered further as the Local 

Plan is progressed.  Any improvements deemed necessary will be set out in the development requirements for each 

site. 

http://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/regulatory-requirements
http://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/regulatory-requirements


127 

 

Hayling Island development in general 
265 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

There were no comprehensive plans 

at the public exhibitions. 

The Housing Statement is the first stage in the preparation of the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036. At this stage, site 

allocations are intended to show where new development can go. The purpose of the exhibitions was to consult on 

these proposed allocations, not detailed proposals. There will be further opportunities to comment on proposals as the 

plan progresses, during which, further detail may become available. However, it is not expected that detailed proposals 

will be available until a planning application is submitted. 

Houses sell to people outside Hayling 

Island. 

The planning system cannot influence who buys houses. 

There are sink holes in Rails Lane, 

Hayling Island. 

This is outside the scope of the Housing Statement Consultation. 

The value of existing homes will 

decrease. 

This is not a planning consideration. 

Houses should be provided which 

tempt people to downsize and free up 

housing space elsewhere. 

The Council seeks to offer a range of house types, to cater for all demographics, through the allocation of a range of 

development sites. However, the provision of a particular type of housing is largely market led. Notwithstanding this, in 

recent years Hayling Island has seen a number of retirement developments, broadening the offer available and making 

downsizing a realistic option. 

The propensity for retirement homes 

does not achieve balance. 

The Council seeks to offer a range of house types, to cater for all demographics, through the allocation of a range of 

development sites. However, the provision of a particular type of housing is largely market led. Notwithstanding this, in 

recent years Hayling Island has seen a number of retirement developments but this has been balanced against an 

increase in non-retirement housing as well. 

Concerns regarding dangerous 

parking around Mill Rythe School. 

The Council acknowledges the difficulties arising from parking close to schools. Work is ongoing to try and improve the 

situation by raising awareness of the dangers involved and by providing alternative methods of transport to schools. 

Concerns over the design of new 

development, particularly regarding 

Any plans associated with a particular development are at this stage, indicative unless a full planning application is 

submitted. As proposals progress, the Council will work with developers to ensure appropriate densities and high 



128 

 

Hayling Island development in general 
265 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

density and the lack of open space quality, useable open spaces are provided. Given the high housing need in the Borough, the Council is required to 

ensure the efficient use of all new development sites, while creating sustainable communities with appropriate open 

space and amenities. 

Why are houses being built for young 

people if they have to leave the island 

for employment? 

The Council is committed to retaining and where possible, creating employment sites throughout the Borough. 

Appropriate sites will continue to be allocated in the new local plan. However, the Council also recognises the concerns 

of residents regarding employment on Hayling Island and will continue to explore opportunities for greater provision. In 

addition, patterns of travel will be assessed as part of the full plan Transport Assessment to ascertain whether there are 

any mitigation measures which can be incorporated into the plan. 

The current situation is particularly 

bad for pedestrians in the Stoke Area 

on Hayling Island. 

Infrastructure improvements can be required to support new development, but new development cannot be expected to 

correct existing deficiencies. As no new development is planned in the Stoke Area, it will not be possible to improve the 

footpaths through contributions raised by development in the Housing Statement. 

There are very few useful shops on 

Hayling Island (clothing, shoes, 

furniture) 

The planning system cannot determine the type of occupier in a retail unit. 

Why wasn’t the Hayling Island 

constraints paper published? 

The findings of the Hayling Island constraints paper have been incorporated into the Havant Borough Housing 

Constraints and Analysis Paper: 

https://www.havant.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Housing%20Constraints%20and%20Supply%20Analysis%20-

%20FINAL.pdf 

 

There is a bottleneck at Langstone 

(The Langbrook and industrial 

estates) 

The Council has commissioned a full plan Transport Assessment to assess the impacts of the proposed development 

on the highways network, and establish what mitigation measures are needed. The Council will continue to work with 

the County Council as Highway Authority, as well as Highways England and providers of public transport, to assess and 

provide solutions to any capacity issues in the network.  

The proposals will result in an 

increase in crime and anti-social 

It is not clear why an increase in housing on Hayling Island would have a direct impact on levels of crime and anti-social 

https://www.havant.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Housing%20Constraints%20and%20Supply%20Analysis%20-%20FINAL.pdf
https://www.havant.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Housing%20Constraints%20and%20Supply%20Analysis%20-%20FINAL.pdf


129 

 

Hayling Island development in general 
265 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

behaviour behaviour.  

Has there been/will there be a survey 

to assess the drainage of surface 

water? 

The Housing Statement represents the first stage in the preparation of the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036. The NPPF 

states that evidence to support the plan should be proportionate to the stage of the plan process. It would not be 

reasonable at this stage to expect a full assessment of site conditions. However, appropriate levels of survey and 

assessment will be required to support the site allocation as it progresses through the local plan process and as part of 

any planning application submitted. 

 

Key issues raised by statutory 

consultees 
HBC response 

Environment Agency:  

Concerns over flooding - 

access/egress Hayling Island and 

impact given lack of services on 

Hayling Island.  

 

Havant Borough Council has worked with the Environment Agency to consider the impact of flood risk on future 

development, specifically around the access points either end of Langstone Bridge. Future predictions show that 

flooding at either end of the bridge is likely to increase over time unless new flood defences are put in place. 

The Council considers that it is appropriate to consider this issue further and work with the Environment Agency and the 

Eastern Solent Coastal Partnership, before allocating any greenfield sites for development on Hayling Island. For this 

reason, it is proposed to remove all Hayling sites from Table 2 in the Housing Statement (see below) and not earmark 

them for early release. 

  



130 

 

  

Proposed Modifications to the Housing Statement 

Section/Paragraph Proposed Change Reason for Change 

Guiding Principle 4: Table 

2. 

Delete sites from Table 2. Consultation on the Housing Statement has demonstrated that key issues 

regarding new development on Hayling Island remain unresolved. These 

include flooding, highway capacity, the single access over the bridge, health, 

education and the provision of utilities.  

Further work is required to determine the full extent of these issues and 

whether they can be resolved, facilitating further development on Hayling 

Island. Until the Council has a further understanding of these issues, 

reference to all the Hayling Island sites in Table 2 will be deleted and they 

should not be earmarked for early release. 



131 

 

 

Rook Farm General 
36 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

The junction of St Marys Road/Church Road and Tournerbury Lane 
is already busy, leading to concerns over road safety, particularly 
for school children.  

 

The Council will continue to support a new junction from the A27, unless evidence arises 
that this is not feasible.  The Council has commissioned a full plan Transport Assessment 
to assess further possible strategic highways infrastructure requirements, and will work 
with the Highway Authority and Highways England to consider which proposals offer the 
best solutions to traffic alleviation around the Borough. 

Comments made regarding specific roads and junctions will be considered further as the 
Local Plan is progressed.  Any improvements deemed necessary will be set out in the 
development requirements for each site. 

The Council acknowledges that there is only a single point of access onto and off Hayling 
Island. Further work is required to understand traffic movements in this respect. Following 
consultation on the Housing Statement, it is clear that this is one of the key issues for 
residents on the island. It is considered appropriate given the strategic nature of the A3023 
link that the Hayling Island Sites not be earmarked for early release. 

Concern that the A3023 and the Hayling Bridge are the only access 
routes onto/off the island. Congestion will get worse with the 
proposed development. 

Resident suggests that a bridge is constructed from the west of the 
island to Portsmouth. 

Langstone Harbour is subject to a number of environmental designations. These 
constraints, together with the high cost of a new bridge linking the island to Portsmouth, 
mean that this is unlikely to be a realistic option in terms of feasibility and viability. It should 
also be noted that any access on/ off the island in the Sinah area will undoubtedly increase 
traffic pressures in this area. 

The Rook Farm sites are used by Brent Geese. Part of the site is designated uncertain for Brent Geese and Waders and Policy DM23 of 
the Local Plan (Allocations) applies. This policy will be considered further through the 
Havant Borough Local Plan 2036. Three years worth of survey data is required to 
determine the importance of the site, to the satisfaction of Natural England.  

Concerns over flooding as fields have drainage ditches and water 
courses for excess rainfall to filter out of area. Development will 
lead to localised flooding if these ditches and courses are removed 
or altered. 

It is not expected that any part of the site which lies within Flood Zones 2 or 3 will be 
developed. Flooding and drainage will be considered as proposals develop and it is 
expected that appropriate mitigation will be proposed in accordance with national and local 
flood risk policies. 



132 

 

Rook Farm General 
36 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Concerns over the capacity of the sewage system. Southern Water has been consulted on all the proposals in the Housing Statement. No 
objections have been raised. A development requirement for connection to the sewerage 
system at the nearest point of adequate capacity may be required. 

Concerns over utilities, particularly water pressure, which is too low 
on Hayling Island. 

 

The Council is currently consulting with Portsmouth Water regarding water pressure on 
Hayling Island. However, at this stage, it is not considered that this is a valid reason to 
delay/avoid the allocation of sites on Hayling Island. 

Concerns over gas and electricity supply to the island. 

 

The Council is aware of the residents’ concerns regarding utilities provision. Utility 
providers (water, gas, electricity) have a statutory obligation to provide services to new 
development. The Council works with these providers to ensure they are aware of 
proposed levels of development so that they can plan accordingly.  

In addition, concerns have been raised regarding highway, flood defence, education and 
health infrastructure. Again, the Council is working with infrastructure providers to address 
these concerns. Given that the provision of infrastructure is one of the key concerns raised 
as part of the Housing Statement consultation, it is proposed to delay the allocation of sites 
on Hayling Island, in order that the Council can carry out further work on infrastructure 
provision. 

There is insufficient infrastructure on Hayling Island.  

More trips are being made to Havant to dispose of rubbish. Household Waste Recycling Centres are operated in the Borough by Veolia on behalf of 
Hampshire County Council. In early 2016, HCC carried out consultation with all 
stakeholders including local authorities and residents. Hayling residents raised concerns 
that sites may shut down, however this was not the case and the site at Fishery Lane 
remains open, although there are new operating procedures. 

Concerns over the loss of agricultural land. The NPPF expects local planning authorities to seek to use areas of poorer quality land in 
preference to that if a higher quality, where significant development of agricultural land is 
demonstrated to be necessary. However a balance must be struck with the requirement to 
meet identified housing needs in the Borough. Some loss of higher quality land cannot 
therefore be avoided. 

Concerns over the loss of green space. In order to address the Borough’s housing need, it is inevitable that all undeveloped areas 
that are free from significant constraints need to be considered for development. However, 
the Council is keen to ensure that where possible, high quality, new open space is 



133 

 

Rook Farm General 
36 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

incorporated within the design and the layout of new developments. 

Concerns over the impact on ecology. The presence of foxes, bats, 
deer, voles, shrews, field mice and wild birds is noted. 

No overriding issues have been identified that would prevent allocation from coming 
forward.  Whilst some of the species are afforded legal protection, there are generally 
mitigation measures available which mean that development can be accommodated 
without an adverse effect on the species in question. More detail on these matters will be 
required to support a planning application. 

Concerns over emergency access. The Council will continue to work with relevant services (Building Control, Highway 
Authority and where appropriate, the Emergency Services) to ensure new development 
meets the required standards. However, as the design and layout of the proposals is yet to 
be determined, it is not possible at this stage to provide any more detail in respect of this. 

Residents on Hayling Island already have long waiting times for GP 
appointments. 

The Council is aware of residents’ concerns regarding health care provision. The Council is 
working closely with the Clinical Commissioning Group and the NHS to determine how 
these concerns can be addressed through the planning process. If appropriate, developer 
contributions will be sought for the provision of new/improved facilities. 

Concerns over the impact on schools and nurseries. The Council is aware of residents’ concerns regarding education provision. The Council is 
working closely with Hampshire County Council as the Local Education Authority to 
determine how these concerns can be addressed through the planning process. If 
appropriate, developer contributions will be sought for the provision of new/improved 
facilities. The County Council has assured HBC that it has already taken into account 
urban extension sites in terms of school place planning.  

Concerns over the provision of fire, ambulance and police services. The Council has liaised closely with the South Coast Ambulance Service in respect of the 
proposals on Hayling Island, particularly surrounding any flood risk issues. No objections 
have been raised. As proposals progress, the Council will continue to consult with the 
emergency services. 

Green field sites should not be built on. Brownfield sites should be 
considered instead. 

Urban areas, including Havant Town Centre and sites on Hayling Island have been 
considered and brown field sites are included as allocations in the Adopted Local Plan. 
Background evidence has been published at 
https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base .  Particularly relevant are the Strategic 
Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) and the Housing Constraints and Supply 

https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-shlaa-8th-edition-pdf-616-kb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-shlaa-8th-edition-pdf-616-kb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb


134 

 

Rook Farm General 
36 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Analysis. The Core Strategy and Allocation Plan documents remain in place and identify 
brownfield sites for development.  Guiding Principle 3 confirms that previously developed 
sites will be considered positively. It is not possible, however, to meet the Borough’s 
housing need on brownfield sites alone. 

Concerns over the erosion of the green belt between Elm 
Grove/Mengham and West Town and the encouragement of further 
development stretching to Sandy Point. 

The Council does not have a policy to protect gaps. However, development requirements 
on site layout will be included in the site allocation in the Local Plan to ensure that the 
development does not result in the coalescence of distinct settlements.. There is no 
designated greenbelt in Havant Borough. 

Concerns over fumes and pollution from traffic near schools. The Council promotes alternative means of transport wherever possible. The capacity of 
the road network on Hayling Island has been a key concern of residents during the 
consultation on the Housing Statement (please see responses above for more detail). 

New cycle routes are needed. The old bridge could be used and 
Government grants should be considered. 

The Council is keen to promote cycling on Hayling Island and throughout the Borough. A 
comprehensive cycle network already exists but the Council recognises that there are 
ways in which this can be improved. The Council’s Civil Engineering and Landscape Team 
has been successful in securing grants to implement the provision and enhancement of 
cycle routes and will continue this work as the plan progresses.  

The provision of a second bridge to accommodate cyclists is likely to be a costly proposal, 
which would also be subject to numerous environmental constraints. However, the 
transport issues affecting Hayling Island are well known and the Council need to consider 
the best way in which to address this. Proposals to alleviate this issue will be considered 
as work on the plan progresses. 

There are other more suitable sites on Hayling Island. It seems that 
Brent Geese take preference over people. 

In order to address the Borough’s housing need it is inevitable that all undeveloped areas 
that are free from significant constraints need to be considered for development. 

Brent Geese do have a high level of legal protection, which the Council cannot ignore. A 
large part of north Hayling is functionally linked to the Chichester and Langstone Harbour 
Special Protection Area. This, coupled with the extent to which sites have been promoted 
for development, is why large parts of north Hayling remain free from proposals for new 
housing. 

WW2 Ordnance was dropped at Rook Farm. Surveys will be Survey work, where appropriate, will be carried out before development commences. 

http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb


135 

 

Rook Farm General 
36 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

required. However, this is the responsibility of the developer and not something which the Council 
would carry out. However this will be highlighted in the development requirements. 

Welcome support of allocation. Noted. 

The closure of services/shops on the island mean that people need 
to travel off Island. 

It can be difficult for the planning system to influence the type and size of retail units in a 
particular location. However, an increased population is likely to provide increased demand 
for a better range of retail outlets. The Council will work with retail providers to explore 
opportunities for better retail provision. 

The number of dwellings on the site is too high. Any plans which have been submitted at this stage are indicative. As the local plan 
progresses, discussions with developers will continue to ensure an appropriate density. 
However, the high housing need in the Borough means that the Council will be working to 
ensure the efficient use of development sites. 

Concerns over the impact on the grade 2 listed St Marys Church. Any plans which have been submitted at this stage are indicative. However, it will be a 
development requirement the layout and design of any future development has regard to 
the listed building itself and it’s setting. Consultation with the Council’s Conservation 
Officer will be essential. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



136 

 

Proposed Modifications to the Housing Statement 

Section/Paragraph Proposed Change Reason for Change 

Guiding Principle 4: Table 

2 

Delete allocation from Table 2. Consultation on the Housing Statement has 

demonstrated that key issues regarding new 

development on Hayling Island remain unresolved. 

These include flooding, highway capacity, the 

single access over the bridge, health, education 

and the provision of utilities.  

Further work is required to determine the full 

extent of these issues and whether they can be 

resolved, facilitating further development on 

Hayling Island. Until the Council has a further 

understanding of these issues, reference to all the 

Hayling Island sites in Table 2 will be deleted and 

they should not be earmarked for early release. 

Local Plan Development requirements to include the need to ensure that site is free 

from WWII Ordnance. 

Potential for WWII Ordnance highlighted through 

the consultation. 

N/A No change – however concerns regarding specific junctions close to the 

development to be raised with the Highway Authority. 

 

N/A. 

  



137 

 

UE17: South of Rook Farm 
3 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

The area is already used as ‘rat run' for West Town, Beach Road, 
Elm Grove and Church Road. The developments will generate 
additional traffic. 

The Council has commissioned a full plan Transport Assessment to assess the impacts of 
the proposed development on the highways network, and establish what mitigation 
measures are needed. The Council will continue to work with the County Council as 
Highway Authority, as well as Highways England and providers of public transport, to 
assess and provide solutions to any capacity issues in the network.  

Comments made regarding specific roads and junctions have been noted and will be 
considered further as the new Local Plan is progressed.  Any improvements deemed 
necessary will be set out in the development requirements for each site. 

Parking on Cherrywood Gardens and St Mary's Road makes it 
dangerous to exit driveways. 

The area suffers from surface water flooding which will only be 
exacerbated with new dwellings. There is localised flooding in 
existing gardens. Where will the water drain to?  

Flooding and drainage will be considered as proposals develop and it is expected that 
appropriate mitigation will be proposed in accordance with national and local flood risk 
policies. 

Concerns over the impact on ecology/nature conservation. There is 
evidence of Brent Geese, deer, wild birds and bats in the area. The 
consultee would expect a bat survey to be carried out before any 
development is planned. 

No overriding issues have been identified that would prevent the allocation from coming 
forward.  More detail on these matters will be required as the proposal progresses, 
including any appropriate surveys. The Council will continue to follow the applicable 
regulations and national policy regarding protected species. 

Where a site is designated uncertain for Brent Geese and waders, Policy DM23 of the 
Local Plan (Allocations) applies. 3 years worth of survey data is required to determine the 
importance of the site, to the satisfaction of Natural England. 

Concerns over the negative impact on the character of the area, 
which would affect the residents in the immediate vicinity and 
across Hayling Island.  An increase in traffic would deter day 
trippers and holidaymakers. 

It is inevitable that the character of the area will be altered by the proposed allocations. 
However, by planning in a comprehensive and co-ordinated manner, it is expected that key 
features including landscaping and open space can be incorporated into new proposals, 
resulting in better developments 

There are not sufficient employment opportunities on the Island to 
cope with the volume of proposed new homes. 

The Council is committed to retaining and where possible, creating employment sites 
throughout the Borough. Appropriate sites will continue to be allocated in the new Local 
Plan. However, the Council also recognises the concerns of residents regarding 
employment on Hayling Island and will continue to explore opportunities for greater 
provision. 



138 

 

UE17: South of Rook Farm 
3 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Concern over the impact on/provision of community facilities & 
services. Doctors surgeries and schools are already 
oversubscribed. 

 

 

 

The Council is aware of residents’ concerns regarding health care provision. The Council is 
working closely with the South East Hampshire Clinical Commissioning Group to 
determine how these concerns can be addressed through the planning process. If 
appropriate, developer contributions will be sought for the provision of new/improved 
facilities. 

The Council is aware of residents’ concerns regarding education provision. The Council is 
working closely with Hampshire County Council as the Local Education Authority to 
determine how these concerns can be addressed through the planning process. If 
appropriate, developer contributions will be sought for the provision of new/improved 
facilities. The County Council has assured HBC that it has already taken into account 
urban extension sites in terms of school place planning.  

It can be difficult for the planning system to influence the type and size of retail units in a 
particular location. However, an increased population is likely to provide increased demand 
for a larger supermarket on the Island. The Council will work with retail providers to explore 
opportunities for better retail provision. 

There are Insufficient supermarkets/shops on the island resulting in 
shopping being carried out elsewhere. This is generating more 
traffic. 

Concerns over the loss of Grade 2 Agricultural Land.  Land should 
be maintained in farming use to meet the needs of an increasing 
population. 

This is fertile land used for growing crops.  This year the field was 
ploughed and not planted until March/April and so far, there has 
been no flooding. 

The NPPF expects local planning authorities to seek to use areas of poorer quality land in 
preference to that of a higher quality, where significant development of agricultural land is 
demonstrated to be necessary. However a balance must be struck with the requirement to 
meet identified housing needs in the Borough. Some loss of higher quality land cannot 
therefore be avoided. 

 

 

  



139 

 

 

Proposed Modifications to the Housing Statement 

Section/Paragraph Proposed Change Reason for Change 

Guiding Principle 4:  Table 

2. 

Delete allocation from Table 2. Consultation on the Housing Statement has 

demonstrated that key issues regarding new 

development on Hayling Island remain unresolved. 

These include flooding, highway capacity, the single 

access over the bridge, health, education and the 

provision of utilities.  

Further work is required to determine the full extent 

of these issues and whether they can be resolved, 

facilitating further development on Hayling Island. 

Until the Council has a further understanding of 

these issues, reference to all the Hayling Island sites 

in Table 2 will be deleted. 

 

  



140 

 

UE35: North of Rook Farm 
2 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

The land was rejected for development in the last local plan. The 
reasons for rejection must still be valid? 

Housebuilding is one of the Government’s top priorities, and the NPPF makes clear that 
local plans should meet the full Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) for their area. Since the 
adoption of the Local Plan (Core Strategy) (2011), the OAN for Havant Borough has 
increased. In order to address the Borough’s housing need it is inevitable that all 
undeveloped areas that are free from significant constraints need to be considered for 
development. 

Concerns over the impact on ecology and nature conservation.  
Brent Geese use the site and there is evidence of deer, wild birds 
and bats in the area. 

No overriding issues have been identified that would prevent the allocation from coming 
forward.  More detail on these matters will be required as the proposal progresses, 
including any appropriate surveys. 

Where a site is designated uncertain for Brent Geese and waders, Policy DM23 of the 
Local Plan (Allocations) applies. This policy requirement will be considered through the 
Havant Borough Local Plan 2036. Three years worth of survey data is required to 
determine the importance of the site, to the satisfaction of Natural England. 

Consultee would expect a bat survey to be carried out before any 
development is planned. 

Concerns over the loss of Grade 2 Agricultural Land. This land 
should be maintained in farming use to meet the needs of an 
increasing population. 

The NPPF expects local planning authorities to seek to use areas of poorer quality land in 
preference to that of a higher quality, where significant development of agricultural land is 
demonstrated to be necessary. However, a balance must be struck with the requirement to 
meet identified housing needs in the Borough. Some loss of higher quality land cannot 
therefore be avoided. 

Concerns over the capacity of the highway network and the 
creation of extra traffic. 

The Council has commissioned a full plan Transport Assessment to assess the impacts of 
the proposed development on the highways network, and establish what mitigation 
measures are needed. The Council will continue to work with the County Council as 
Highway Authority, as well as Highways England and providers of public transport to 
assess and provide solutions to any capacity issues in the network. 



141 

 

UE35: North of Rook Farm 
2 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Concerns over flooding. This area suffers from surface water 
flooding, which will only be exacerbated with new dwellings. 

Where will the water drain to? Will existing properties be 
dramatically affected? 

Flooding and drainage will be considered as proposals develop and it is expected that 
appropriate mitigation will be proposed in accordance with national and local flood risk 
policies. 

Concerns over the impact on/provision of community facilities & 
services. Doctors surgeries and schools are already 
oversubscribed. 

 

 

 

 

The Council is aware of residents’ concerns regarding health care provision. The Council is 
working closely with the South East Hampshire Clinical Commissioning Group to 
determine how these concerns can be addressed through the planning process. If 
appropriate, developer contributions will be sought for the provision of new/improved 
facilities. 

The Council is aware of residents’ concerns regarding education provision. The Council is 
working closely with Hampshire County Council as the Local Education Authority to 
determine how these concerns can be addressed through the planning process. If 
appropriate, developer contributions will be sought for the provision of new/improved 
facilities. The County Council has assured HBC that it has already taken into account 
urban extension sites in terms of school place planning.  

It can be difficult for the planning system to influence the type and size of retail units in a 
particular location. However, an increased population is likely to provide increased demand 
for a larger supermarket on the Island. The Council will work with retail providers to explore 
opportunities for better retail provision. 

There are insufficient supermarkets and shops on the island, 
resulting in shopping being carried out elsewhere. This is 
generating more traffic. 

Concerns over the negative impact on the character of the area. 
This will affect the residents in the immediate vicinity and across 
Hayling Island. 

It is inevitable that the character of the area will be altered by the proposed allocations. 
However, by planning in a comprehensive and co-ordinated manner, it is expected that key 
features including landscaping and open space will be incorporated into new proposals, 
resulting in better developments. 

An increase in traffic would deter day trippers and holidaymakers. 



142 

 

UE35: North of Rook Farm 
2 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

There are not sufficient employment opportunities on the Island to 
cope with volume of proposed new homes. 

The Council is committed to retaining and where possible, creating employment sites 
throughout the Borough. Appropriate sites will continue to be allocated in the new Local 
Plan. However, the Council also recognises residents’ concerns regarding employment on 
Hayling Island and will continue to explore opportunities for greater provision. 

 

Proposed Modifications to the Housing Statement 

Section/Paragraph Proposed Change Reason for Change 

Guiding Principle 4:  Table 

2. 

Delete allocation from Table 2. Consultation on the Housing Statement has 

demonstrated that key issues regarding new 

development on Hayling Island remain unresolved. 

These include flooding, highway capacity, the single 

access over the bridge, health, education and the 

provision of utilities.  

Further work is required to determine the full extent 

of these issues and whether they can be resolved, 

facilitating further development on Hayling Island. 

Until the Council has a further understanding of 

these issues, reference to all the Hayling Island sites 

in Table 2 will be deleted. 

 

 

  



143 

 

UE63: West of Rook Farm 
1 response was received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Concerns over the capacity of the highway network and the 

creation of extra traffic. 

The Council has commissioned a full plan Transport Assessment to assess the impacts of 

the proposed development on the highways network, and establish what mitigation 

measures are needed. The Council will continue to work with the County Council as 

Highway Authority, as well as Highways England and providers of public transport, to 

assess and provide solutions to any capacity issues in the network. 

Concerns over flooding. The area suffers from surface water 

flooding which will only be exacerbated with new dwellings. Where 

will the water drain to and will existing properties be dramatically 

affected? 

 

Flooding and drainage will be considered as proposals develop and it is expected that 

appropriate mitigation will be proposed in accordance with national and local flood risk 

policies.  These require that development should not increase flood risk elsewhere. 

Concerns over Brent Geese. There is evidence of Brent Geese, 

deer, wild birds and bats in the area. The consultee would expect a 

bat survey to be carried out before any building is planned. 

No overriding issues have been identified that would prevent allocation from coming 

forward and it is considered possible that avoidance and mitigation measures can be 

provided within the development.  More detail on these matters will be required as the 

proposal progresses however. 

Where a site is designated uncertain for Brent Geese and waders, Policy DM23 of the 

HBLP (Allocations) applies. This policy requirement will be considered through the Havant 

Borough Local Plan 2036. Three years worth of survey data is required to determine the 

importance of the site, to the satisfaction of Natural England. 

Concerns over the negative impact on the character of the area. 

This will affect the residents of the immediate vicinity and across 

Hayling Island. An increase in traffic would deter day trippers and 

holidaymakers. 

It is inevitable that the character of the area will be altered by the proposed allocation. 

However, by planning in a comprehensive and co-ordinated manner, it is expected that key 

features including landscaping and open space will be incorporated into new proposals, 

resulting in better developments.  

There are not sufficient employment opportunities on the Island to 

cope with the volume of proposed new homes. 
The Council is committed to retaining and where possible, creating employment sites 

throughout the Borough. Appropriate sites will continue to be allocated in the new Local 



144 

 

UE63: West of Rook Farm 
1 response was received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Plan. However, the Council also recognises the concerns of residents regarding 

employment on Hayling Island and will continue to explore opportunities for greater 

provision.  

Concerns over the impact on/provision of community facilities and 

services. Doctors surgeries and schools are oversubscribed. 

 

 

The Council is aware of residents’ concerns regarding health care provision. The Council is 

working closely with the South East Hampshire Clinical Commissioning Group to 

determine how these concerns can be addressed through the planning process. If 

appropriate, developer contributions will be sought for the provision of new/improved 

facilities. 

The Council is aware of residents’ concerns regarding education provision. The Council is 

working closely with Hampshire County Council as the Local Education Authority to 

determine how these concerns can be addressed through the planning process. If 

appropriate, developer contributions will be sought for the provision of new/improved 

facilities. The County Council has assured HBC that it has already taken into account 

urban extension sites in terms of school place planning.  

It can be difficult for the planning system to influence the type and size of retail units in a 

particular location. However, an increased population is likely to provide increased demand 

for a larger supermarket on the Island. The Council will work with retail providers to explore 

opportunities for better retail provision. 

There are insufficient supermarkets/shops on the island resulting in 

shopping being carried out elsewhere. This generates more traffic. 

 

 

 

 

 



145 

 

Proposed Modifications to the Housing Statement 

Section/Paragraph Proposed Change Reason for Change 

Guiding Principle 4: Table 

2. 

Delete site from Table 2 Consultation on the Housing Statement has 

demonstrated that key issues regarding new 

development on Hayling Island remain unresolved. 

These include flooding, highway capacity, the single 

access over the bridge, health, education and the 

provision of utilities.  

Further work is required to determine the full extent 

of these issues and whether they can be resolved, 

facilitating further development on Hayling Island. 

Until the Council has a further understanding of 

these issues, reference to all the Hayling Island sites 

in Table 2 will be deleted. 

 

 

  



146 

 

UE18: Station Road 

38 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Flooding – close to Flood Zones 2 and 3 – high water table due to 

clay. 

 

The site lies within Flood Zone 1, although a number of consultees have noted regular 

winter flooding on the site, possibly  due to the high water table and clay soils. Any site 

specific issues and constraints that can be mitigated will be set out in the development 

requirements in the new Local Plan and developers will be expected to demonstrate how 

these can be addressed. 

Concerns over coastal erosion. The site is located within proximity of the coast adjoining Langstone Harbour. However, 

properties along North Shore Road are situated between the site and the coastline, making 

it unclear how the development would have an impact on coastal erosion at this point. 

Capacity of waste water network – question capacity and integrity 

with extra material from site 

Southern Water has been consulted on all the proposals in the Housing Statement. No 

objections have been raised. A development requirement for connection to the sewerage 

system at the nearest point of adequate capacity may be required. 

Impact on ecology including Brent Geese, impact on Hayling Billy 

Trail as a habitat and ecology of Langstone Harbour. 

Local habitation would be affected by ground works if these 

developments were to take place.  One resident has submitted a 

table of all the different wildlife seen, it is divided into categories of 

birds, butterflies/moths, insects and other. 

The site is designated uncertain for Brent Geese and waders and Policy DM23 of the Local 

Plan (Allocations) applies which will be reviewed through the Havant Borough Local Plan 

2036. Three years worth of survey data is required to determine the importance of the site, 

to the satisfaction of Natural England.  

Prior to development, a full ecological survey would be required to establish the extent of 

wildlife on the site. The assessment would be expected to inform proposals and mitigation 

in respect of any species which are protected and would be affected by the proposals. 

Busy junction onto Sinah Lane.  Cars parked on Sinah Lane have 

the effect of making it a single carriageway. 

 

The Housing Statement represents the first part of the local plan process. The NPPF 

states that evidence to support the plan should be proportionate to the stage of the plan 

process.  

The Council has commissioned a full plan Transport Assessment to assess the impacts of 

the proposed development on the highways network, and establish what mitigation Has a traffic assessment taken place? 



147 

 

UE18: Station Road 

38 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

 

 

measures are needed. The Council will continue to work with the County Council as 

Highway Authority, as well as Highways England and providers of public transport, to 

assess and provide solutions to any capacity issues in the network. 

Comments regarding the suitability of pavements in the vicinity are noted and if 

appropriate, improvements to existing and/or new pavements could be required as part of 

the proposal. 

Concerns over road safety. 

 

Insufficient cycle provision on the island. 

Danger to cyclists and pedestrians where there are no (or narrow 

curb) areas on Station Road 

The site is located within close proximity of the Hayling Billy Trail, which is part of the 

National Cycle Network. Comments have been received suggesting the existing surface 

does not make it suitable as a year round cycle route. New development is expected to 

make provision for infrastructure through CIL and site specific S106. If it is considered that 

there is a need for improvements to cycle routes, these will be considered as part of the 

planning process. 

A single access into the site is proposed. The design should 

accommodate two way traffic and traffic calming. 

Comments made regarding specific roads and junctions have been noted and will be 

considered further as the new Local Plan is progressed.  Any improvements deemed 

necessary will be set out in the development requirements for each site. 

More development on the island will impact the ability to get on/off 

the Island given the single access over the bridge. 

The Council acknowledges that there is only a single point of access onto and off Hayling 

Island. Further work is required to understand traffic movements on and off the island. 

Following consultation on the Housing Statement, it is evident that this is one of the key 

issues for residents. The Council will be considering the best way to address these 

concerns through the new Local Plan. 

Concerns over the quality, quantity and suitability of the pavements, 

particularly between Furniss Way and West Town shops. 

New development is expected to make provision for infrastructure through CIL and site 

specific S106. If it is considered that there is a need for improvements to pavements 

associated with the development, these will be considered as part of the development 

process. 



148 

 

UE18: Station Road 

38 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Concerns over the loss of agricultural land and the/impact of Brexit 

on agriculture. 

It is too early to anticipate the impact on agriculture as a result of Britain’s exit from the EU 

and it is not feasible to delay the production of the new Local Plan until further details 

emerge.  

Notwithstanding this, the NPPF expects local planning authorities to seek to use areas of 

poorer quality land in preference to that if a higher quality, where significant development 

of agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary. However a balance must be struck 

with the requirement to meet identified housing needs in the Borough. Some loss of higher 

quality land cannot therefore be avoided. 

Concerns over the loss of green space on the island as a result of 

the proposed development. 

In order to address the Borough’s housing need it is inevitable that all undeveloped areas 

that are free from significant constraints need to be considered for development. However, 

the Council is keen to ensure that where possible, new, high quality open space is 

incorporated within the design and layout of new developments. 

Concerns over lack of health provision on the island. There are 

limited services and facilities and it can take a long time (several 

weeks) to get a GP appointment. 

The Council is aware of residents’ concerns regarding health care provision. The Council is 

working closely with the South East Hampshire Clinical Commissioning Group to 

determine how these concerns can be addressed through the planning process. If 

appropriate, developer contributions will be sought for the provision of new/improved 

facilities.  

Concerns over education provision. Is there enough capacity and 

adequate provision in existing schools? 

The Council is aware of residents’ concerns regarding education provision on Hayling 

Island. The Council is working closely with Hampshire County Council as the Local 

Education Authority to determine how these concerns can be addressed through the 

planning process. If appropriate, developer contributions will be sought for the provision of 

new/improved facilities. The County Council has assured HBC that it has already taken 

into account urban extension sites in terms of school place planning. 

Concerns over the impact on utilities in general, as a result of The Council is aware of the residents’ concerns regarding utility provision. Utility providers 

(water, gas, electricity) have a statutory obligation to provide services to new development. 



149 

 

UE18: Station Road 

38 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

additional development.  The Council works with these providers to ensure they are aware of proposed levels of 

development so that they can plan accordingly.  

Concerns over the impact on character of area. The development is 

not in keeping with the existing landscape character. 

The southern part of Hayling Island is characterised by a mix of landscape types, including 

developed areas, open space and coastline. Site UE18 (Station Road) is already 

developed on three sides. Although the Landscape Character Assessment (LCA) shows 

that the site is part of a wider area where the capacity for change is low/medium, the LCA 

does go on to say that contained development may be possible. The site itself is shown as 

the least sensitive landscape area within the wider parcel and therefore acceptable to 

change. 

While development of this site will alter the character of the area in this location, this has to 

be balanced against the need to meet housing need in the Borough. 

Concerns over the impact of development on the character of the 

Hayling Billy Trail, given that the route is so close to the proposed 

development.  

The proximity of the site to the Hayling Billy Trail is seen as a positive attribute, contributing 

towards the sustainability of the site and providing an alternative mode of transport for 

future residents. Given that the route is intended for walking and cycling, the impact of 

extra use should not adversely affect the character. 

Concerns over air quality/pollution/noise as a result of the proposed 

development. 

As the site is located in an already developed part of the Island, it is not considered that 

development will have a significant impact.  

Concerns over disturbance and pollution during the construction 

phase. 

It is accepted that there will be some disturbance during the construction phase. However, 

this is not considered a valid reason to prevent development from coming forward. 

Concerns over the impact on the amenity of the area. The views of properties on Sinah Lane and North Shore Road will be affected by the 

development of this site. The planning process is not able to protect views; however, the 

design and layout of future development will be required to consider the amenity of existing 

residents. 



150 

 

UE18: Station Road 

38 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

North Hayling should be developed as well as, or instead, of this 

site. 

In order to address the Borough’s housing need it is inevitable that all undeveloped areas 

that are free from significant constraints need to be considered for development. 

Constraints analysis showed that North Hayling is significantly more constrained than 

southern Hayling, particularly by environmental designations; principally its use by waders 

and Brent Geese associated with the Solent Special Protection Areas. In addition, the 

Council is only able to consider land which has ben promoted for development by the 

landowner. These two factors combined means that no suitable sites in north Hayling were 

identified. 

Other sites should also be considered, for example the land 

adjacent Station Theatre, Pullingers and the Hayling Billy Pub. 

Urban areas have been considered. Background evidence has been published at 

https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base. Particularly relevant are the Strategic 

Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) and the Housing Constraints and Supply 

Analysis.  

The Core Strategy and Sites Allocations documents remain in place and identify brownfield 

sites for development, and Guiding Principle 3 confirms that previously developed sites will 

be considered positively. It is not possible, however, to meet the Borough’s housing need 

on brownfield sites alone. 

Concerns over emergency access, given that there is no police or 

ambulance station on the island. 

The Council recognises the absence of facilities for those emergency services on Hayling 

Island and has been working with the South Coast Ambulance Service (SCAS) to ensure 

they are aware of the proposals outlined in the Housing Statement. Although there is no 

station on Hayling Island, the Island is served by a First Responder Unit. In addition, the 

Ambulance Service is able to respond to calls on the Island within prescribed timescales. 

However, the need for a base on the Island to act as a standby point, has been identified 

by SCAS and should be considered as part of the wider healthcare provision on the island, 

as proposals are taken forward. 

Concerns over water pressure as water pressure on parts of the The Council is currently consulting with Portsmouth Water regarding water pressure on 

Hayling Island. However, at this stage, it is not considered that this is a valid reason to 

https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-shlaa-8th-edition-pdf-616-kb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-shlaa-8th-edition-pdf-616-kb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb


151 

 

UE18: Station Road 

38 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

island is already too low. delay/avoid the allocation of sites on Hayling Island. 

Concerns over the provision of utilities as broadband and phone 

signals are already weak. 

Broadband provision will continue to be provided under Part R of the Building Regulations, 

see links below: 

https://www.gov.uk/Government/consultations/new-part-r-of-the-building-regulations 

The affordability of new dwellings is a concern. New dwellings at 

the Oysters development are not affordable at £245,000+.  

New development is expected to provide between 30% and 40% affordable housing. This 

can be in a variety of formats and will usually be determined in accordance with the 

Council’s Housing Service and with affordable housing providers. 

The Council is not in a position to control the prices developers demand for homes. The 

Council can, however, try to improve the supply of new homes by identifying sites suitable 

for development.  It can also seek a proportion of affordable homes (Social rented, 

affordable rented and intermediate housing) in developments. 

Some homes backing onto the site are affected by a covenant not 

allowing development within 50ft of these dwellings. 

This will need to be investigated further and considered as part of the design and layout of 

the site. 

There is a requirement for an Environmental Impact Assessment 

and full compliance with national and international legislation. 
Full compliance with national and international legislation will be required. 

The site is suitable, available and achievable within next 5 years. The Council accepts that there are certain aspects of this site which make it deliverable in 

the shorter term. However, there are still a number of wider issues affecting development 

on Hayling Island which remain unresolved. Any further development will put additional 

pressure on an already strained highway network, the impacts of flooding and the affect 

this has on the access to and from the Island need to be fully considered and the impact 

on services, infrastructure and utilities requires investigation.  

For these reasons, the Council does not consider that the site should be considered for 

development ahead of the adoption of the new Local Plan and full consideration of these 

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/new-part-r-of-the-building-regulations


152 

 

UE18: Station Road 

38 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

issues. 

 

Proposed Modifications to the Housing Statement 

Section/Paragraph Proposed Change Reason for Change 

Guiding Principle 4:  Table 

2. 

Delete site from Table 2. Consultation on the Housing Statement has 

demonstrated that key issues regarding new 

development on Hayling Island remain unresolved. 

These include flooding, highway capacity, and the 

single access over the bridge, health, education and 

utilities provision.  

Further work is required to determine the full extent 

of these issues and whether they can be resolved, 

facilitating further development on Hayling Island. 

Until the Council has a further understanding of 

these issues, reference to all the Hayling Island sites 

in Table 2 will be deleted.  

 
 



153 

 

Sites not in the plan 
20 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Object to Land North of the A27 (UE02a) being excluded.  

Site of 4.35ha net could be developed for about 200 homes 

separately via the existing agricultural access or comprehensively 

with Land East of Castle Avenue (UE53 to the west). UE02a would 

be able to deliver housing within the first 10 year period, either in 

conjunction with UE53 or following completion of housing on that 

site. Site specific surface water strategy would be devised and 

wintering bird surveys undertaken. 

This site lies to the south of the railway line and the proposed Denvilles-Emsworth 

Strategic Site. The strategic site will require a new access to the A27 which could have an 

impact upon site UE02a.  

This site is currently designated as an ‘Uncertain Site for Brent Geese and/or Waders’. 

Surveys undertaken during the winters of 2012/13 and 2013/14 found no sightings of either 

Brent Geese or waders and so the area was not surveyed during winter 2014/15. 

Substantial areas of bare arable ground and pasture such as this have potential for 

roosting and foraging, depending on the level of disturbance. Further surveys will therefore 

be needed to confirm the status of the site for foraging and roosting habitat and the 

presence or absence of over-wintering birds. No data has been submitted to demonstrate 

that this constraint can be overcome. 

The site lies within the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan ‘Minerals Consultation Area’ 

where the potential for prior extraction before development will need to be investigated. 

The Landscape Capacity Assessment indicates this area (including UE53 to the west) to 

have ‘medium’ capacity for change.  Although the gap between the settlements of Havant 

and Emsworth is narrowest at this point there is clear separation formed by the A27 which 

forms the divide and prevents coalescence. Detailed design and layout including open 

space can also maintain the distinctive character of settlements. 

The suggested scale of development would result in a density of 46 dwellings per hectare 

which is relatively high for an urban extension however areas for public open space and 

green infrastructure have been excluded from the gross area of 7.3ha. 

This site could be included in the pre-submission Havant Borough Local Plan 2036 and 

considered comprehensively with the land to the west (UE53 Land East of Castle Avenue). 

However, this will be subject to satisfactory evidence to demonstrate that the site is not 

used by Brent Geese and/or waders and the extent to which it may be affected by the A27 

link to the Denvilles-Emsworth Strategic Site. Appropriate survey work will need to be 

undertaken therefore this should be considered as having potential for inclusion in the new 



154 

 

Sites not in the plan 
20 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Local Plan rather than for early release through the final Housing Statement.  

Other areas/sites should be developed: 

The resident does not understand why the whole of the area east of 

Castle Avenue (UE53) is not being developed, as well as the area 

south of the A27, north of the railway and east of North Street. 

See above regarding land east of UE53. 

The area to the south of the A27, north of the railway and east of North Street has been 

considered as part of the strategic site between Denvilles and Emsworth. 

Hazleton Woods should be considered for development. It is a site 

on the edge of a built up area (to the north of Padnell Grange) 

within reasonable distance to facilities and amenities in Cowplain; it 

is not in a strategic gap. It was considered suitable in previous draft 

versions of the local plan but not allocated in favour of higher 

ranked sites which have since been developed. Whilst site is a Site 

of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC) (designated by HBIC 

following survey in 2008) it is not considered to be of such 

ecological interest to withhold a housing allocation.  

Site includes areas of poor grassland mixed with scrub and used for 

some time for horse grazing. Landowner is willing to undertake full 

ecological survey. Site is subject to a Tree Protection Order (TPO) 

but scheme could be designed around trees and root protection 

areas. Suitable access can be achieved subject to agreement with 

other landowners. 

The site lies between the rear of housing along Greenfield Crescent and the Borough 

boundary, being separated from Waterlooville Golf Course by the Sheepwash Road 

Bridleway Track. The Landscape Capacity Assessment indicates this area to have 

‘medium/high’ capacity for change but suggests leaving this area undeveloped as a buffer 

to the nature reserve and an open setting to the public right of way. 

A new survey would be required to confirm, or otherwise, the ecological quality of the site 

and the current relevance of the SINC designation and whether any development is 

possible given the Woodland Protection Order. This, together with the access being in third 

party control leads to a low prospect of the site being developable. 

Other areas/sites should be developed - the residents suggest the 

land to the south west of Emsworth on the Havant Road which 

is adjacent to the motorway and so provides direct access.  This 

would provide easy access to Havant, Emsworth and all of their 

amenities.  Developing that land would have limited impact on the 

area.  Easy access to motorway, as well as bus and rail links to 

This area to the south of the A259, from Wade Court in the west to Emsworth in the east 

was considered for its development potential but subsequently discounted. It was 

considered by the Landscape Capacity Assessment to have low capacity to accept 

change. It includes areas of the high risk Flood Zone 3 with potential for inundation via the 

estuary watercourses so also lies within the defined Coastal Zone (Policy DM9). The whole 

area is indicated as having high quality agricultural soils (Grades 1 and 2) and lies within 



155 

 

Sites not in the plan 
20 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

other south coast destinations and London. the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan Consultation Zone due to deposits of sharp sand 

and gravel. There are two Conservation Areas; at Wade Court and at Warblington Hamlet 

including the farmland surrounding the St Thomas a Becket’s Church and remains of 

Warblington Castle (Scheduled Monument). Across the area there are some ‘uncertain’ 

sites and also one ‘important’ site for Brent Geese and waders. 

Immediately to the west of Emsworth and south of the Havant Road A259 is an area which 

is not identified for Brent Geese and waders. While most of UE11 is a SINC and a large 

part lies within the higher risk Flood Zone 2 and some Zone 3, the northern part of 

previously submitted site UE11 was resubmitted in the 2016 Call for Sites and is the 

subject of a representation on the Housing Statement. This northern section, Nore Farm 

Paddock, covers an area of 3.5ha. The owner’s agent suggests a capacity of 120 dwellings 

at 35dph however capacity would be reduced by the presence of Flood Zone 2/3 on the 

eastern part and the need for SUDS. Capacity would therefore be more in the region of 50-

100 dwellings. Importantly however it is within the Chichester Harbour Area of Outstanding 

Natural Beauty (AONB). It was not considered to be suitable for development, and was 

discounted within the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) (July 2016) 

for this reason.  

Paragraph 115 of the NPPF states that ‘great weight should be given to conserving 

landscape and scenic beauty in Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty’.  It goes on to say 

that these designations have the highest status of protection in relation to landscape and 

scenic beauty.  It is considered that development of this area would have a detrimental 

impact on the quality of this important landscape. 

The technical surveys stated to have been undertaken by the developer have not been 

made available to HBC. 

Land West of Emsworth (opposite Brookfield Hotel), Havant Road 

(UE11) is suggested by developer to help to meet needs of ageing 

population and should be considered as part of a comprehensive 

and detailed assessment of appropriate locations for development 

as part of a new Local Plan based on a reviewed spatial strategy.  

Technical surveys and advanced works have been undertaken in 

respect of the site to demonstrate its deliverability in the short term. 

Other areas/sites should be developed: 

- in Emsworth, the horse’s field opposite existing housing would be 

preferable, as it does not close the Havant/Emsworth Gap 

See above. Part of larger UE11 that is not in the SINC. 



156 

 

Sites not in the plan 
20 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

The site at Southmere Field, Langstone Road (UE54) should be 

included as a sustainable residential allocation in the Local Plan 

Housing Statement. Further information on site description, 

designations, flood risk, accessibility, Brent Geese (including 

extract from Havant Winter Bird Survey 2012-2015) and, pipeline 

provided with representation. The 3.7ha site is capable of delivering 

approximately 100-120 dwellings, within 5 years through a 2.5 year 

build programme. 

This site is a meadow on the western side of Langstone Road.  

The Landscape Capacity Assessment indicates this area to have ‘medium/high’ capacity 

for change and suggests that most of the site is considered further for possible future 

growth. 

However it lies within an area that is ‘uncertain’ for Brent Geese and waders. It was 

assessed in the SHLAA (July 2016) with a capacity of 14-50 dwellings on 2.83ha but 

recorded as undevelopable as the Winter Bird Survey 2012-2015 found positive sightings 

of waders on part of the site.  

Highways issues will be considered further as the Local Plan is progressed. The Council 

has commissioned a full plan Transport Assessment to assess the impacts of the proposed 

development on the highways network, and establish what mitigation measures are 

needed.   

Mill Lane Conservation Area adjoins the site to the south. Development will need to be 

designed sensitively, through the position, scale, orientation and density of buildings and 

through planting and open space, to minimise impact on the conservation area. 

The site lies within the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan ‘Minerals Consultation Area’ 

where the potential for prior extraction before development will need to be investigated. 

A gas pipeline crosses the site which does not preclude development but will reduce the 

capacity of the site as it requires an easement – area to be kept free of development. 

Conclusion: This site could be included in the final Local Plan Housing Statement; 

however, this will be subject to satisfactory evidence to demonstrate that the site is not 

used by Brent Geese and/or waders and the extent to which it may be affected by other 

constraints including the conservation area. Appropriate survey work will need to be 

undertaken therefore this should be considered as having potential for inclusion in the in 

the new Local Plan rather than for early release through the final Housing Statement. 

Strongly oppose development at Southmere Field, Langstone 

Road (site UE54 in SHLAA). It is Grade 1 agricultural land (cattle 

grazing) which should be protected as per NPPF. Also concerns 

over the capacity of the highway network (A3023) and impact on 

Mill Lane Conservation Area. 



157 

 

Sites not in the plan 
20 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

154 London Road, Waterlooville (Goodwillies Timber Yard) 

(W63).  

Landowner wishes site to be included in new Local Plan. Site likely 

to be available in next 5-10 years and should be referred to as 154 

London Road and not Goodwillies Timber Yard. 

This site is currently allocated in the Local Plan (Allocations Plan) under Policy WA1, site 

reference W63 (Goodwillies Timber Yard), for 96 dwellings on an area of 3.37ha. It was, 

however, discounted in the SHLAA (July 2016) as ‘unavailable’ due to lack of evidence that 

the existing business intends to relocate or consolidate.  

This allocation can be carried forward into the new Local Plan 2036 and references to it 

amended to read 154 London Road. 

Cowplain Evangelical Church is running out of space to 

accommodate worshippers and wider community activities at 

existing site (Durley Avenue). Church seeking expansion of existing 

site or new site. Suggest land at corner of Grassmere Way and 

Tempest Avenue (approx. 0.52ha). Understand that this is Council 

owned open space but not a high value open space. Land swap 

could facilitate development of part of the Mission Lane Car Park to 

the rear of the church, both physically and because demand/ use 

will decrease if the church moved away. 

The Housing Statement will only identify sites suitable for residential development.  

However, sites for other uses will be considered as part of the update to the Local Plan. If 

the suggested land swap is feasible and viable then redevelopment of the vacated site and 

land to the rear will be looked at as part of the new Local Plan. 

Gas site at Downley Road should be allocated for residential/ 

retail development in the new Local Plan 2036. The site of about 

0.29 ha is located within an established industrial location between 

New Road and Downley Road and has access from both roads. 

There are requirements associated with the previous use of the site 

to remediate the site upon cessation of use. The cost of this, 

including dismantling the disused gas holder, may result in 

significant costs which would require value from future land uses to 

fund this process. Redevelopment for alternative uses would 

remove the Health and Safety Executive Planning Advice for 

Developments near Hazardous Installations (HSE PADHI) Zone 

Policy CS17 concentrates new development within the urban areas and protects existing 

employment sites (Policy DM3). This site (SHLAA site L150) has been considered but 

assessed as unsuitable for residential development due to being located within an 

employment/industrial area and separated from existing residential development. As Policy 

DM3 allows sites to be considered for other purposes where they are financially unviable 

for class B purposes, it will be looked at as part of the update to the Local Plan 2036. 

Brownfield sites within the existing urban area would not be identified in the Local Plan 

Housing Statement in any case.  



158 

 

Sites not in the plan 
20 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

limitations on surrounding development opportunities. 

Emsworth Holder Station, 69 North Street, should be allocated 

for residential/retail development in the new Local Plan 2036. The 

site of about 0.4ha includes the disused gas holder which detracts 

from the amenity value of this part of the town. There are 

requirements to remediate the site the cost of which would require 

value from future land uses to fund these works. . Redevelopment 

for alternative uses would remove the HSE PADHI Zone limitations 

on surrounding development opportunities. 

The site lies to the north of the Emsworth District Centre. It is bounded by a mix of 

industrial and residential properties on Seagull Lane to the north, North Street to the west 

and Palmer’s Road to the south. The River Ems lies to the east and its flood plain overlaps 

the site. This site (SHLAA site EM42) has been considered and assessed as developable 

due to being located within a mixed employment/residential area and adjoining the District 

Centre. As Policy DM3 allows sites to be considered for other purposes where they are 

financially unviable for class B purposes, it will be looked at as part of the new Local Plan 

since brownfield sites within the existing urban area are not identified in the Housing 

Statement. 

 

L145 SSE Site, Bartons Road is allocated for housing (90 

dwellings) in Local Plan (Allocations). However, a mixed use 

scheme has been considered and there is demand for a purely 

employment scheme.  This demand should be taken into account 

when reviewing the Local Plan.  A site specific policy which is 

flexible would be welcomed. 

The Housing Statement deals with potential housing sites outside of the existing settlement 

boundaries. As an existing allocation within the Local Plan under Policy LP1 this can be 

reviewed as part of the new Local Plan. The request is noted for future action. 

Shouldn’t be building on green space - Dunsbury Hill Farm Dunsbury Hill Farm is an existing allocation within the Local Plan (Core Strategy) where 

planning permission has been granted and development is already taking place. The Draft 

Local Plan Housing Statement does not affect this. It is ultimately necessary to ensure that 

jobs as well as new homes are planned for. 

The target of 47 houses at Littlepark House is too low to make a 

meaningful contribution to need and is not viable taking account of 

the costs of relocating existing residence and businesses. Areas of 

woodland previously cleared for development (housing to the east 

While the area occupied by Littlepark House, timber yard and printing factory (SHLAA site 

UE28) has been included in the Draft Local Plan Housing Statement (LPHS) the 

surrounding area of Littlepark Wood including that west of A3(M) SHLAA sites UE29a and 

UE29b are currently designated as protected woodland and SINC. Further investigation 



159 

 

Sites not in the plan 
20 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

and supermarket to the north) and where land drained for 

development lowering of water table has affected quality and 

sustainability of remaining woodland. Area surrounding Littlepark 

House (UE29a) should also be considered. 

Land west of A3(M), Littlepark Wood (UE29b) borders Strategic 

Site 1 (Campdown) and should be included in the Plan for housing 

and development. 

would be needed to review the basis and current merits of these designations and assess 

whether there is any potential for allocation for development through the new Local Plan. 

No such assessment was provided as part of the consultation submission. Further 

assessment will take place to inform the development of the new Local Plan. 

The woodland to the west of the A3(M) adjoins the ‘Land East of College Road’, which is 

no longer being included as a Strategic Site. 

The owners of Funland Amusement Park, which forms part of the 

allocation HY45 Beachlands in the Local Plan (Allocations), wish 

the site to be carried forward into the new Local Plan. 

Comments noted.  This allocation will be reviewed for carrying forward into the new Local 

Plan. 

Leigh Park regeneration should be considered. Some system build 

stock has limited (30 year) life and layouts are outdated with 

incidental open space and garage courts taking up unproductive 

space. 

The opportunity to regenerate and improve Leigh Park Centre is considered in the adopted 

Havant Borough Local Plan (Allocations) but further potential is limited due to the location 

and level of owner occupation within the area. To make best use of the land would require 

large scale clearance, compulsory purchase of owner occupied properties and relocating 

existing residents to enable redevelopment.  The new Local Plan will review existing 

allocations and also seek to maximise potential in these areas. 

Approach to town centres could be applied to other shopping areas 

with affordable housing above large supermarket car parks. 

In reviewing the Local Plan all opportunities will be explored to maximise the use of land 

with willing landowners, and on Council owned land through a review of the use and quality 

of such as car parks and open spaces.  

Helmsley House, Bartons Road, is available for development - 

large detached property (now flats) on 2ha site. No constraints 

other than TPOs. 

Nearby allocations mean Helmsley House will no longer perform 

gap function. Site suitable for range of residential/mixed uses either 

This site is surrounded by on three sides by existing Local Plan allocations and is 

separated from the proposed strategic development by the access road serving the ‘Land 

south of Bartons Road’ site to the south. As such it would not functionally relate to the 

strategic site and is more suited to development in isolation. Although the grounds of this 

large former house, extending to some 2 ha, are well wooded there are only a small 

number of TPO trees on the site.  



160 

 

Sites not in the plan 
20 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

in isolation or in conjunction with the strategic site. A small corner of the site lies within the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan ‘Minerals 

Consultation Area’ but the area is minimal. Therefore the site is virtually unconstrained by 

designations and the Landscape Capacity Assessment indicates this site (new SHLAA site 

UE75) has potential for development. For these reasons the site is considered to be 

suitable for development; however as a newly submitted site it has not been subject to 

consultation and is therefore appropriate for inclusion in the new Local Plan, rather than for 

early release through the Housing Statement. 

Flood issue Investigations are ongoing but part of the land East of 

Westbourne Avenue, Emsworth (site UE27 in SHLAA) is in Flood 

Zone 1. A development of around 30 dwellings could take place on 

this with vehicular access proposed from Westwood Close. 

Footpath 73 through the site could be improved to be used in all 

weather conditions. 

The SHLAA (July 2016) discounted the long swathe of land to the east of Emsworth, up to 

the Borough boundary running north to south between the Westbourne Road and the A27, 

due to potential flood issues, size and shape of the site. Only a very small part of this large 

area is not within the River Ems Flood Plain; most is in Flood Zones 2 or 3. While only 

development of the small area is proposed it is not clear whether the land required for the 

proposed access from Westbourne Close is in the control of the site owner. Further 

investigation of this and the true extent of the Flood Zone is therefore needed. 

Northney Marina (site UE49) has been appraisal incorrectly and 

discounted by the SHLAA which suggested that this site has 

uncertainty over its suitability. This is based on two incorrect 

assertions (flood risk and impact on harbour nature designations). 

Preliminary discussions with statutory consultees demonstrate that 

this is not the case, therefore the robustness of the SHLAA process 

is called into question.  

A proposal for a mixed-use development on a brownfield site has 

been prematurely discounted. Following discussion with the 

The Northney Marina site on Hayling Island is currently in mixed use as a marina. The 

submission to the Call for Sites suggests that the site of some 4ha could be redeveloped 

for mixed uses including 30-40 dwellings. Although the site is within Flood Zone 1 the 

access lies within Flood Zone 3. The site is within the Chichester Harbour AONB which is a 

high level constraint so would be discounted if it was currently undeveloped however the 

site constitutes previously developed land. The submission suggests that redevelopment of 

this site could fund improvements to the sea wall at Sparks Marina. The Solent LEP 

Waterfront Sites Study
31

 considers the Northney Site to be the most important of the boat 

yards/marinas on the Island, to be supported for ongoing marine and maritime uses. This 

                                                
 
 
 
31

 Solent Local Enterprise Partnership – Maritime Futures: Solent Waterfront Sites (September 2015) 



161 

 

Sites not in the plan 
20 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Harbour Conservancy, development has the ability to enhance the 

character and appearance of the site and improve public 

accessibility to the Harbour's edge. 

site is affected by the wider considerations pertaining to Hayling Island so in any case is 

subject to further studies and investigations and not suitable for early release. 

Other areas/sites should be developed: 

 a minor settlement to the west of Clanfield or east of the A3 

roughly opposite to Clanfield would solve many of the 

county's requirements. 

Land west of Clanfield or East of the A3 roughly opposite Clanfield is outside Havant 

Borough. Whilst it may have potential it would not help address Havant’s objectively 

assessed housing need or reduce the need to identify sites within the Borough. 

Land near Hulbert Road is currently unoccupied and has better 

vehicle access. 

The precise area of land, or particular sites, was not identified by this respondent. Sites 

were submitted through the Call for Sites that have been considered in the SHLAA but 

discounted as unsuitable for housing various reasons. These include site L01 Land fronting 

Hulbert Road (SE of Asda roundabout) as mainly wooded with limited potential on 

remainder which has been reduced by the remodelling of the roundabout; and UE69 Land 

East of A3(M) which would be better suited to non-residential uses due to its location and 

isolation. 

New Lane.  The light-industrial units are designed for short life 

span and could be used for affordable housing. 

It is important to protect existing employment sites in order to provide jobs for existing and 

new residents and create sustainable communities.  Such sites would only be considered if 

there is clear evidence that there is no market for such uses and marketing of the site for 

other employment uses had been unsuccessful.  Policies in the Adopted Local Plan (Core 

Strategy) that seek to safeguard employment land will be considered for inclusion in the 

new Local Plan. Also, where individual industrial units are in need of redevelopment it 

wouldn’t be appropriate for environmental and amenity reasons to allow piecemeal 

residential development to be interspersed with and surrounded by industrial/employment 

uses. 

Some of the companies in the Langstone Technology Park are 

leaving the site, so this will free up some brownfield sites to be used 

as an alternative to the proposed greenfield sites. 

There is potential for the South Downs College to merge with 

Havant College which could mean a surplus of college land. 

The colleges are considering their futures and how they may best be organised to meet the 

future demands on their services. If land at either site becomes surplus to requirements it 



162 

 

Sites not in the plan 
20 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

can be considered through the review of the Local Plan. 

 

Proposed Modifications to the Housing Statement 

Section/Paragraph Proposed Change Reason for Change 

Section 3 Land North of A27 (UE02a) to be highlighted as having 
uncertain potential for development. Further assessment 
will be required as to the suitability of the site for 
development through the Local Plan 2036. 

Appropriate survey work will need to be undertaken and the 
proposal subject to consultation. 

Section 3 Southmere Field, Langstone Road (UE54) to be 
highlighted as having uncertain potential for development. 
Further assessment will be required as to the suitability of 
the site for development through the Local Plan 2036. 

Appropriate survey work will need to be undertaken and the 
proposal subject to consultation. 

Section 3 Helmsley House (UE75) to be highlighted as having 
uncertain potential for development. Further assessment 
will be required as to the suitability of the site for 
development through the Local Plan 2036. 

New site identified that is suitable for development but should be 
subject to consultation. 

 

 

 

 

 



163 

 

What parts of the Adopted Local Plan do you consider work particularly well? 
8 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Supports the aims of the Adopted Local Plan, however the Draft 

Local Plan Housing Statement is light in detail. 

Support noted. The Housing Statement is intentionally light in detail as it is an interim 

framework to support decision making while the new Local Plan is being developed. 

Replacement of the old workshops opposite Tesco in Havant Town 

Centre with retail units has provided a great success and moved the 

shopping centre westwards. Good to see new developments in 

central Havant. 

Support noted. The new Local Plan will address the future direction of the Borough’s town 

centres in more detail, supported by a full evidence base.  

Accepting of the need for homes in principle – no particular issue 

with the allocation document, building will happen where the market 

needs it. 

Support noted. 

Policies AL2 and CS17 should be kept - preservation of remaining 

gaps important to Havant’s identity as a semi-rural Borough/ 

important for demarcating settlements and ecology. Otherwise might 

as well be one single urban sprawl. Reducing gaps to a minimum will 

not serve the purpose for which they are intended. 

It is not considered possible to retain the full text of Policies CS17 and AL2 and the same urban 

area boundaries in the new Local Plan. The need for housing is simply too high for this to be 

possible. 

Policies AL2 and CS17 must be retained in any replacement Local 

Plan – Solent City concept implicit without these gaps is not 

acceptable now nor in the future. NPPF makes it clear that it is not 

acceptable to squander large greenfield sites for development.  

Proposed focus on greenfield land unsustainable: does not promote 

Government pledges on a low carbon economy – development must 

be focussed as near as possible to sustainable transport nodes, 

chances for regeneration in urban areas neglected, will not provide 

good affordable housing where people want to live and work – 

affordable housing need very high and greenfield sites will do little to 

meet that need, poor provision of infrastructure – greenfield sites will 

It is not considered possible to retain the full text of Policies CS17 and AL2 and the same urban 

area boundaries in the new Local Plan. The need for housing is simply too high for this to be 

possible. 

It should be noted that the planning of greenfield sites through a Local Plan gives an 

opportunity to make sure that supporting infrastructure is provided with the development and 

sustainable travel principles are incorporated into the scheme. The proposals in the Housing 

Statement (particularly Guiding Principle 3) will be carried forward into the new Local Plan, 

promoting development on brownfield sites wherever possible. Nonetheless, given the high 

development costs associated with brownfield sites, full affordable housing provision is often 

not provided. Development costs are generally lower on greenfield sites and full provision of 



164 

 

What parts of the Adopted Local Plan do you consider work particularly well? 
8 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

not provide solutions to infrastructure deficiencies but will exacerbate 

problem. 

affordable housing is generally provided. 

Will extra houses trigger need for Havant Thicket Reservoir and the 

upheaval this would cause during construction? 

See response to Portsmouth Water’s comment below. 

Following policies should continue unmodified: 

CS4, CS5, CS15, CS17, CS20, AL1 (move to Core Strategy), AL2 

(overall move to Core Strategy with detail in annex or supplementary 

document), AL4 (move to Core Strategy) 

AL5 (move to Core Strategy), AL6 (split - second sentence in Core 

Strategy, first sentence in annex), AL7, AL8, DM1, DM2, DM5, DM6, 

DM7, DM9, DM13, DM14, DM15, DM16, DM17, DM18, DM19, 

DM20, DM21, DM22, DM23, DM24, DM25. 

Noted. The specific policies will be reviewed as part of the development of the new Local Plan 

and the views of the respondent will be specifically considered at that time. 

Key issues raised by statutory consultees HBC response 

Portsmouth Water PLC: 

Supports the inclusion of Havant Thicket Reservoir as a strategic site 

under CS18 and AL6 – request this remain the case in HBLP 2036. 

Text on pages 92-94 of Core Strategy and pages 17-18 of 

Allocations Plan remains remain appropriate and should be retained. 

Acknowledges the inclusion of sites H14 (Portsmouth Water 

Headquarters) and H18 (Portsmouth Water Land) as strategic sites 

under policy HB1. Requests that this remains the case under the new 

Local Plan. 

Support and views regarding specific sections of text noted. Within the Housing Constraints 

and Supply Analysis, the Havant Thicket allocations are specifically earmarked as being 

subject to constraint and so not available for development. Further engagement with the 

Environment Agency will be required regarding the need for Havant Thicket Winter Storage 

Reservoir. Nonetheless, in the interests of the long-term sustainability of the Borough and 

wider southeast region, its reallocation through the new Local Plan is supported at this point. 

Sites H14 and H18 remain allocated sites. 

 



165 

 

What parts of the Adopted Local Plan do you consider work particularly well? 
8 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Hampshire County Council: 

Continues to support Policy CS7 and supporting text of DM1. Support noted. 

 

Proposed Modifications to the Housing Statement 

Section/Paragraph Proposed Change Reason for Change 

Local Plan  The issues raised will be considered further in the production of the Havant 

Borough Local Plan 2036.  

N/A.  

 
  



166 

 

 
 

What parts of the Adopted Local Plan could be improved? 

7 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Would be better to have one Local Plan rather than ‘Core Strategy’ and 

‘Allocations Plan’. It might also be appropriate to have an annex 

containing policies or information that changes more frequently as this 

would be less confusing. 

It is agreed that having two parts of the Local Plan can be potentially confusing. This reflects 

the previous ‘Local Development Framework’ way of producing Local Plans. It is proposed 

the new Local Plan would be a single document.  

Detailed information that can change frequently can be included in ‘Supplementary Planning 

Documents’ and the Council has produced a number of these to support the Adopted Local 

Plan, such as on car parking standards. These will continue to be used, with more produced 

if necessary, to provide detailed information on how specific policies will be implemented. 

Propose modification of policies as follows: 

CS1 - update reference to Public Service Village 

CS2 & CS3 - take account of revised thinking on employment land and 

combine 

CS6 - combine with CS4 and update reference to Public Service 

Village 

CS7 - add reference to providing community facilities (meeting places, 

sports) 

CS8 - include permeability 

CS9 - amend to reflect SHMA 

CS10 - Update reference to DPD 

CS11, CS12 and CS13 - combine 

CS14 - perhaps better as a regional policy? 

CS16 - merge with CS8 

Noted. The specific policies will be reviewed as part of the development of the new Local 

Plan and the views of the respondent will be specifically considered at that time. 



167 

 

What parts of the Adopted Local Plan could be improved? 

7 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

CS18 - update to reflect latest thinking 

CS19 - combine with CS21, update point 8 

AL3 - Review points 3 and 4, move to Core Strategy 

DM3 

DM4 

DM10 - should also discourage development in existing areas of 

pollution 

DM11 - strengthen and combine with DM12 

DM12 - combine with DM11 

DM13 and 14 - combine 

DM17 - suggests amending to include the following wording – 

‘Hazardous installations will be identified in the adopted Proposals 

Map. The Council will take into account the need for incentivise and 

fund decommissioning as part of any redevelopment proposal through 

higher value land uses’. 

East Street (in a Conservation Area) is neglected and in need of 

renovation. Redevelopment for residential (potentially flats on ground 

floor, duplexes above), would bring activity on eastern side of town and 

keep North Street and West Street buoyant. Car parking will need to be 

provided. 

Agreed. The future of East Street will need to be carefully considered in the Havant Borough 

Local Plan 2036 given the noted westward shift of Havant Town Centre. 

Meridian Centre’s north side is dark and uninviting. Can this space be 

devoted to opening up the centre and providing seating? Would former 

car park space be big enough for a cinema? Effect could be 

transformative to the town. 

The owners of the Meridian Centre will be a key stakeholder in the development of the new 

Local Plan and the future of Havant Town Centre. A key consideration of the plan will how to 

boost the town centre and the future of the Meridian Centre is part of that. 



168 

 

What parts of the Adopted Local Plan could be improved? 

7 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Brent Goose and Wader Site H08 is also Site BD11, which is allocated 

for employment. If land is to be developed there will need to be an 

extensive wildlife appraisal. Seems unlikely this could be achieved 

within the site but could be achieved by suitable measures on H05A 

(UE30 Land South of Lower Road). 

Allocation BD11 is part of the Local Plan (Allocations) which itself was subject to a Habitats 

Regulations Assessment (HRA). This assessed the impact of the allocation on the Solent 

Special Protection Areas and the supporting habitat such as that found on site BD11. This will 

be re-examined as part of the HRA of the new Local Plan and, if necessary, suitable 

mitigation measures would be sought to support the proposed development. 

The type of homes should be reconsidered – American style 

condominium complex developments would provide a smaller footprint 

but would provide enough housing. 

A mix of development types and sizes will be needed to provide for the full range of housing 

needs. Denser apartment complexes, potentially using a private rented sector model can be 

particularly suitable on brownfield, town centre locations with good transport links. 

Policy CS16 should become fully inclusive of all groups in the 

community. It should include dwellings which are ‘fully inclusive by 

design’ with measures such as space to turn, adequate sized 

bathrooms, downstairs bedrooms, internal lifts and structural materials 

for overhead hoist tracks fitted. Even if 10% of new homes or at least 

single storey homes were built with this in mind. 

Concepts of equality and full inclusivity should continue to be 

incorporated through the design (section 7.39-7.53).  

This will be investigated further as part of the policy review process. Under the Government’s 

Housing Standards Review, there is a limit on what can be achieved through the planning 

process in this area. This policy requirement will be considered further through the Havant 

Borough Local Plan Review 2036. 

Road and pavement design should be linked to one single guidance 

document, i.e. ‘Manual for Streets’ 

The HBLP 2036 needs to be able to provide consistent advice for developers into the long 

term. Unfortunately as Manual for Streets could be updated, it would not be prudent to simply 

refer to one document, however a more general term such as ‘relevant national guidance’ 

would by its nature refer to Manual for Streets and any potential replacement. 

There is a huge emphasis on exercise and outdoor travel for able-

bodied people, especially cycle paths. This is OK to a point providing 

the rules are correctly followed as to pavement widths and signage 

implemented to BS8300 or RNIB standards. 

 

This will be investigated further as part of the policy review process. When new 

developments are built, highways, footpaths and other access routes are generally not 

adopted by Hampshire County Council and so specific standards used vary more. 



169 

 

What parts of the Adopted Local Plan could be improved? 

7 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

 

 

Key issues raised by statutory consultees HBC response 

Portsmouth Water PLC: 

When the Core Strategy was adopted, the route of associated pipeline 

from Havant and Bedhampton Springs to the south side of reservoir 

was not received. As the route is now approved, there is the 

opportunity to merge the two allocations. 

Noted. 

 

In relation to groundwater quality (CS11, section 7.07), Portsmouth 

Water state that “groundwater protection is crucial in providing a 

reliable water supply for Havant Borough”. This should be specified in 

policy wording.  

 

CS13 (Green Infrastructure) should make reference to the chalk aquifer 

that underlies the whole of Havant Borough as it provides an essential 

ecosystem service. 

 

CS15 (Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk) should make reference to 

infiltration boreholes as an example of inappropriate sustainable 

drainage systems across Havant Borough as they represent potential 

groundwater pollution pathways. Specific wording supplied. 

The review of the Local Plan will include a review of all current policies. 

 

Special Protection Zones (SPZs) are listed under ‘known constraints’ 

for a number of sites in the Allocations Plan. However there are some 

omissions, the following sits are associated with SPZs and should be 

captured in ‘known constraints’ tables: 

 

 HO6, Warblington School Field (off New Lane), SPZ1c 

 UE3a, Land north of Bartons Road, SPZ1c 

 UE3b, Land south of Bartons Road, SPZ1c 

Havant Borough Council will continue to consult with Portsmouth Water regarding planning 

applications which are made in any of the SPZs. The site profiles will be updated with the 

relevant information. 

 



170 

 

What parts of the Adopted Local Plan could be improved? 

7 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

 UE4, Strides (Manor) Farm and Copseys Nursery, SPZ1c 

 UE33, Eastleigh House, Bartons Road, SPZ1c 

 UE43, Havant Garden Centre, Bartons Road, SPZ1c 

 BD14, Solent Road North, SPZ1 

 H10/BD30, Market Parade, SPZ1 

 H22/H72, East Street, SPZ1c 

 H69, former Oak Park School, SPZ1. 

Hampshire County Council: 

For consistency, it would be helpful if the criteria regarding an 

appropriate marketing process in DM3(2) could also be applied to 

Policy DM2. 

This will be investigated further as part of the policy review process, however consistency of 

approach towards marketing across policies would initially appear a pragmatic way forward. 

 

Proposed Modifications to the Housing Statement 

Section/Paragraph Proposed Change Reason for Change 

Local Plan  The issues raised will be considered further in the production of the Havant 

Borough Local Plan 2036.  

N/A.  

 

  



171 

 

 

 

Are there any areas which are not covered in the Adopted Local Plan which the Havant Borough Local Plan 

2036 should address? 
7 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Quality of building is questionable and small. Internal space standards 

should be carried forward. 

The Adopted Local Plan does not contain minimum space standards. The Havant Borough 

Local Plan 2036 will review this, in line with the Housing Standards Review, to ensure the 

issues of addressing housing need and providing high quality, sustainable developments are 

balanced. 

Prevent second home-ownership, especially in new developments near 

the harbour. 

This is not a matter which can be considered or addressed through the planning process. 

Include provision for self-build and co-building. In line with the requirements of Section 1 of the Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Act 

2015, the Council keeps a register, additional details on this process can be found at 

https://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/self-build-and-custom-

housebuilding. The need for any specific policies in the Local Plan 2036 regarding self-build 

and/or custom build will be considered further through the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036.  

Encourage ‘green’ and experimental design. This matter will be considered through the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036. 

Need to ensure adequate large, natural areas  left for recreation, small 

safe areas for children and allotments 

Green infrastructure and open space are required on all larger housing developments under 

the Adopted Local Plan. The open space provision will be considered through the Havant 

Borough Local Plan 2036. 

Need to consider health risks of diesel pollution and stress of road 

noise in development near A27 and other major routes. 

Policy DM18 (Protecting New Development from Pollution) currently manages issues such as 

noise and air pollution. These matters relating to the adopted policy requirements will be 

considered through the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036.  

Need to ensure there is good public transport provision to schools, Policy DM11 (Planning for More Sustainable Travel) addresses sustainable travel through 

https://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/self-build-and-custom-housebuilding
https://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/self-build-and-custom-housebuilding


172 

 

Are there any areas which are not covered in the Adopted Local Plan which the Havant Borough Local Plan 

2036 should address? 
7 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

surgeries, shops, workplaces etc. Should be safe, preferably separate 

pedestrian and cycle paths. 

new developments. These matters relating to the adopted policy requirements will be 

considered through the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036.  

Should consider provision of community facilities and buildings for 

increase in households. Difficult for community uses to grow when set 

against high housing need and residential land values. 

Agree that a thriving, sustainable community needs housing, employment and community 

facilities. The community facility needs of the different parts of the Borough will be addressed 

through the review of the Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

Must take further account of any impact on the South Downs National 

Park (SDNP). Omission would be in breach of National Parks and 

Access to Countryside Act. Light pollution must be considered in areas 

neighbouring or adjoining the SDNP to be in accordance with the 

emerging policies on light pollution and the NPPF. 

It is agreed that the impact on the nearby National Park must be considered. This will be 

explored further as the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036 is progressed. 

The Local Plan should include a policy that requires development not to 

prejudice development of a larger site (Fareham has a similar policy). 

Such a policy would promote comprehensive development and would 

be applicable where sites are in a number of ownerships. The policy 

would encourage landowners to work together to achieve 

comprehensive and sustainable development. 

This issue will be considered further in the preparation of the Havant Borough Local Plan 

2036.  It is agreed that, given the high housing need, it is vital that development sites are 

used efficiently with little or no ‘space left over after planning’. 

The Local Plan (Core Strategy) was written before the Public Sector 

Equality Duty came into force and full implementation of the Equality 

Act. Therefore, without these referenced or considered, the Core 

Strategy comes over as discriminatory. Focuses on 0-18 and 65+ age 

groups with little focus on those in-between. Given emphasis on 

independent living, this group will need somewhere to live; as a result 

there is direct or indirect discrimination. 

Plan fails to take account of the huge changes occurring in the 

disability and adult services sectors where those with disabilities forced 

The new Local Plan will be subject to a full Integrated Impact Assessment in accordance the 

Equality Act. However in line with the Equality Duty, the needs of all equality groups will be 

considered as the plan is put together to ensure that there is neither direct nor indirect 

discrimination in any of the proposals or policies. 

Certainly meeting housing need includes meeting the different kinds of needs for housing – 

this can range from accommodation for older people, care homes and housing for the 

disabled. This matter will be considered through the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036 which 

will include development requirements for site allocations. 



173 

 

Are there any areas which are not covered in the Adopted Local Plan which the Havant Borough Local Plan 

2036 should address? 
7 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

into a regrettably unfriendly community. 

Funding cuts to community-based services in the NHS and Social 

Services are making situation worse. Residential homes being closed 

by Unitary and County Councils with no matching provision created to 

house them. 

The Council has already been and will continue to work with Hampshire County Council’s 

Adult Care Team to ensure that any need for care homes, nursing homes or other specialist 

types of residential development are accommodated within the new Local Plan. 

 

Proposed Modifications to the Housing Statement 

Section/Paragraph Proposed Change Reason for Change 

Local Plan  The issues raised will be considered further in the production of the Havant 

Borough Local Plan 2036.  

N/A.  

 

  



174 

 

 
 

Other comments 

56 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

The new Local Plan did not appear in property searches. 

 

The allocations in a Local Plan only appear on property searches once it has been adopted. 

However, property searches made following the Cabinet decision to consult on the draft 

Local Plan Housing Statement made reference to the review of the Local Plan and directed 

readers to the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036 page on the website. 

The timing and length of the consultation period was inadequate.  

Consulting in the summer period will limit the number of 

representations received.  Organisations were unable to devote as 

much time for a detailed scrutiny and HBC’s intentions were 

questioned. 

Is the rush an attempt to limit stakeholders’ representations? 

 

A Regulation 18 consultation does not have any specific time/length constraints.  The 

timing/length was determined given the objectively assessed need (OAN) and the Council’s 

aim of continuing to positively plan for the future of the Borough. 

The consultation generated 826 individual responses from residents, resident groups and 

statutory bodies, of which 620 (75%) were from people who had not responded to a 

consultation on planning policy or the Local Plan previously.   

In comparison, the equivalent consultation on the Local Plan (Allocations), which took place 

from December 2012 to January 2013, only generated 641 individual responses. As such, 

the recent consultation generated more response than previous, similar ones and the vast 

majority of responses were from people who had not responded to a previous consultation 

on a Local Plan. 

The next stage must not be rushed and be consulted outside of the 

schools holiday period. 

A Regulation 18 consultation does not have any specific time/length constraints.  The 

timing/length was determined given the objectively assessed need (OAN) and the Council’s 

aim of continuing to positively plan for the future of the Borough. 

Suggestion noted however it is difficult to avoid school holidays.  Please view our website 

for details on Public Consultations, both previous and upcoming. 

http://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/planning-policy-consultations-and-latest-news


175 

 

Other comments 

56 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

There was little promotion about the consultation and public exhibitions 

before and during the consultation period. 

A number of residents were unaware of the public consultation and 

exhibitions. 

 

The Council undertook a variety of promotional tools to spread awareness of the public 

consultation period and public exhibitions.  These included: 1) a range of printed material 

available online, at the plaza and every library; 2) 85 site notices; 3) posters in Havant and 

Waterlooville Town Centres; 4) a media briefing prior to the publication of Cabinet papers; 

5) meetings with resident associations prior to the publication of Cabinet papers; 6) 2 

specific meetings for residents who own or lease property inside strategic site 2; 7) a 

specific website page; 8) an extensive social media campaign; 9) Facebook adverts; 10) the 

Local Plan newsletter; and 11) 2094 letters and 1590 emails sent out to statutory 

consultees, organisations and residents who have asked to be kept updated about planning 

policy and the Local Plan. 

From this, the webpage had 8,132 views by 5,860 people.  The posts on Havant Borough 

Council’s (HBC) Facebook page were displayed on 6,025 accounts and generated 253 

clicks and 335 reactions, comments and shares.  The Facebook promotion which also took 

place to those who do not specifically follow the Council displayed adverts about the Local 

Plan on 50,768 accounts and generated 2,071 website clicks.  In comparison, previous 

HBC campaigns have received around 1,000 clicks. 

The 826 individual responses received (see two rows above) demonstrate a high level of 

response and that the consultation strategy chosen by the Council was successful. 

The consultation period should have been moved back so that 

promotion for the consultation could have been included in the next 

edition of ‘Serving You’. 

 

Havant Borough Council (HBC) understands that ‘Serving You’ is a useful tool for promotion 

and outlining new information.  Nevertheless, given the circumstances at present in regard 

to not having a 5-year housing supply; it was not deemed appropriate to push back a 

consultation period for one publication, when a number of other promotional tools were 

available. Given the nature of Serving You, the lead-in times are long and so it was not 

practicable to use this method. 



176 

 

Other comments 

56 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Havant Borough Council (HBC) has consistently produced a poor 

response on matters of local importance.  As a result, residents feel 

excluded from planning policy decisions and instead feel such 

decisions are imposed on them. 

 

Planning policy by nature deals with principle rather than detail.  As such, there are matters, 

such as access and road layout, which cannot be answered directly until a planning 

application is received and reviewed.  As this is the first stage in the Local Plan update, it is 

important to outline the housing need and commence the process of identifying suitable 

sites.  HBC will continue to inform residents as the process develops. 

Questions were not answered at the exhibitions, therefore another one 

should be held. 

 

HBC apologises to any residents who still feel that their questions have not been answered, 

however, all of the exhibitions were well-staffed with officers available to answer questions.  

Our contact details can be found on our website.  We recommend calling or emailing us so 

that we can discuss any questions and queries further. 

We are aware of some of the subject content that we were unable to answer directly; 

examples include access and road layout.  In this instance, we were unable to comment as 

there has been no planning application submitted. The Council are committed to answering 

questions in an open, honest and transparent way. This does sometimes mean that 

questions cannot be answered as the information is not yet available. 

HBC should cease granting permissions for blocks of flats for the 

elderly that carry substantial annual maintenance charges and instead 

promote flats that are sold as freehold. 

 

The mix of housing that is developed is determined largely by market forces. However, the 

Local Plan (Core Strategy) supports a mix of housing types, and specifically acknowledges 

the housing needs of the ageing population.  It sets out what requirements will be made 

from developers to supply affordable housing.  This matter will be considered further 

through the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036. 

The Council does not control annual maintenance charge rates and flats are very rarely 

sold as freehold. 



177 

 

Other comments 

56 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Printed information was only available at the exhibitions. 

 

The documents of ‘Why Build?’, ‘Where next for housing in Havant Borough’, ‘FAQs’’ and 

the Draft Local Plan Housing Statement were also available in physical folder packs at the 

Public Service Plaza and every library in the Borough.  All of the documentation, information 

and exhibition banners that were available in physical format at the exhibitions were also 

available on the Council’s website in PDF format.   

Please view: http://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan 

Every household in the Borough should have been mailed a copy of the 

exhibition material.  The failure of HBC to do this calls for a Judicial 

Review. 

 

The consultation material was available to everyone in the Borough by visiting their local 

library, the Public Service Plaza or by coming to one of the seven exhibitions that were 

held. There is no requirement to send documents to every household in the Borough in the 

regulations that manage the Local Plan preparation process. 

The maps in the documents at the exhibitions were not up-to-date or 

incorrect. 

 

The maps on the exhibition banners had a base date of 1
st
 March 2015 as this was the 

most up-to-date data available at the time of production of the Draft Local Plan Housing 

Statement, although it is acknowledged that this could have led to some confusion at the 

exhibitions as the site status may have moved on. 

A small number of errors in the banners were highlighted to officers at the exhibitions, for 

which the Council apologises. An error in ‘Where Next for Housing in Havant Borough’ was 

also brought to the Council’s attention early in the consultation process where a site was 

missing a label. This was corrected the same day and the printed copies of the material 

included the label.  

http://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan


178 

 

Other comments 

56 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

The underlying need for additional housing is presented in an advisory 

capacity and not as a formal policy document. 

 

The Council acknowledges that PUSH is a non statutory body. However, the National 

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states in paragraph 159 that authorities must seek to 

meet the full objectively assessed need (OAN) for housing in their area, and, in paragraph 

178, that ‘’public bodies have a duty to cooperate on planning issues that cross 

administrative boundaries’’. Housing market areas cross local authority boundaries, and 

Havant Borough Council (HBC) falls under the wider Portsmouth HMA. HBC’s membership 

of and work with PUSH contributes to discharging the duties in the NPPF. 

The information boards and supporting documents were clear, concise, 

detailed and easy to read.  The expertise of the HBC representatives 

was also praised. 

Thank you for your comments.  Havant Borough Council (HBC) aims to deliver information 

in a clear, transparent and open way and welcomes any suggestions for improvement. 

The concept of paragraph 1.3 to either accept the housing proposals or 

have a national body enforce it is not acceptable in a democratic 

society. 

 

If the Council does not continue positively planning for the future, the Government will take 

that role out of the Council’s hands and their overarching aim is to get more homes built.  

The Council therefore considers that the best way forward is to accept what cannot be 

changed: that there is a high housing need and that the NPPF requires local authorities to 

seek to meet that need. From this starting point, the Council can then focus on the detailed 

aspects to make sure that the development that does take place is sustainable and well-

integrated into local communities and provides the infrastructure that is needed to support 

it. To go against the acts and sections specified in paragraph 1.3 would require a change to 

the national approach, which can potentially be enacted by democratically elected Members 

of Parliament. 

The areas of land which landowners have not agreed to sell for 

development should be regularly updated and clearly identified on the 

maps. 

When planning for development, it is standard practice to positively identify potential land 

for development and not vice versa. 



179 

 

Other comments 

56 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Developers will ignore the conditions/criteria raised from this 

consultation, as they are only interested in profits. 

The Council will highlight a number of requirements to developers regarding this 

consultation.  The developer is then required to demonstrate how these issues will be 

addressed when they submit a planning application. 

Site Notices were inadequate. 

 

Site notices were placed in 85 locations close to the proposed urban extensions and 

strategic sites. Nonetheless, they were used as one of many tools to promote the public 

consultation period and exhibitions.  They contained all of the relevant information on one 

‘easy-to-read’ page in colour.  In addition, residents have commented before that too many 

site notices is the equivalent of littering.  Therefore, a balance was required.  

CIL rates should be taken out of the Council’s hands and set on a 

national scale in line with local property prices.  An additional levy 

should be imposed on the seller of the land/developer.  This would 

return much needed infrastructure funds to the Council. 

This comment refers to national regulations on CIL.  Under the current CIL regulations, CIL 

rates are set locally. 

Havant Borough Council will not listen to the comments made. 

 

Havant Borough Council (HBC) will continue to listen to all comments received.  The Draft 

Local Plan Housing Statement has been updated as appropriate from the representations 

made by residents during the pubic consultation period. 

All this will achieve for the Council are new business rates to 

compensate for those lost from the old town. 

 

Business rates are charged on most non-domestic properties (i.e. shops, offices, pubs etc.).  

The local authority in whose area the business property is located collects the business rate 

and pays the total income from all business properties to the Government.  The 

Government then redistributes the national income to individual authorities as appropriate. 

Therefore, the proposed housing developments will not contribute towards the Council’s 

collection of business rates. 



180 

 

Other comments 

56 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

The PUSH Spatial Position Statement was published in June 2016 and 

the Housing Statement in July 2016.  This means there was only four 

weeks of preparation; it is not possible to give just consideration in 

such a short time frame. 

Havant Borough Council’s (HBC) work with PUSH means that HBC was aware of the 

objectively assessed need (OAN) figure before June 2016 – indeed the first PUSH SHMA 

was published in 2014.  Therefore, preparation did occur before June 2016 and also 

informed the PUSH Spatial Position Statement. 

The draft Local Plan Housing Statement only identifies sites approved 

by the Council; the public have been given no other sites to consider 

during the Council’s investigation. 

 

There is no obligation to present options at the Regulation 18 stage. The Council is 

confident that it has explored and comprehensively assessed all the reasonable alternatives 

for development in the Borough. Background evidence has been published at 

https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base . Particularly relevant are the Strategic 

Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) and the Housing Constraints and Supply 

Analysis. These will form part of the evidence to demonstrate the soundness of the plan at 

examination. 

The call-for-sites should have been more widely publicised so that 

residents could have suggested sites and were pre-warned that large 

scale development was being planned. 

The ‘Call-for-Sites’ process allows for landowners to come forward with their own land 

which is available for development.  Resident’s who had requested to be updated on the 

progress of local plan matters were emailed the Local Plan Newsletter including the 

relevant information on the ‘Call for Sites’. Printed copies of the newsletter were also 

available at the Public Service Plaza. 

The evidence base is scheduled for completion in Q1 of 2017; this 

implies the allocations are approved before the evidence-base is 

finalised.  This is dangerous and not logical. 

 

A series of evidence-based documents were published on 25
th
 July 2016 alongside the 

Draft Local Plan Housing Statement.  The proposed allocations have not yet been 

approved.  Please refer to the website for the specific Cabinet and Full Council dates.   

Paragraphs 1.6 and 1.7 explain that the Housing Statement forms the first formal step in the 

Local Plan preparation process and is an interim step between the Adopted Local Plan and 

the Local Plan 2036.  It is acknowledged that the Housing Statement will have less weight 

than a Local Plan, but it sets out a direction of travel and forms the starting point for the 

Local Plan 2036, which will be fully evidenced and formally examined before adoption. 

https://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-shlaa-8th-edition-pdf-616-kb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-shlaa-8th-edition-pdf-616-kb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb
http://www.havant.gov.uk/local-plan-2036-housing-constraints-and-supply-analysis-pdf-127-mb


181 

 

Other comments 

56 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

The adoption of the Housing Statement in Q4 of 2016 is too soon and 

implies that the consultation is not meaningful and will not lead to 

changes. 

 

The consultation period is meaningful as it allows Havant Borough Council to engage with 

residents and find out their views.  The comments raised during the consultation period are 

being used to inform changes to the Local Plan Housing Statement before it is considered 

by Cabinet and Full Council for adoption.  The need to adopt the Housing Statement is to 

ensure that the Council, in collaboration with communities, is continuing to positively plan 

for the future of the Borough and ensure a continuous supply of housing land, in line with 

NPPF requirements.  

If housing is so important, then why was planning permission given for 

a hotel adjacent to the ASDA roundabout? Was it a S106 

arrangement? 

 

The hotel is included in the overall vision for Dunsbury Hill Business Gateway and is 

outlined in the planning permission which has already been granted.  It is considered that 

the hotel will be complementary to the future needs of the Business Park. 

The Council must retain a balance between housing demand and employment/economic 

need. 

Havant Town Centre is characterless and has a lack of cultural 

awareness.  Town centre regeneration is needed throughout the 

Borough. 

 

Policy CS6 (Regeneration of the Borough) in the Core Strategy (2011) outlines the need for 

developments which positively contribute to the social, economic and/or physical 

regeneration of the whole Borough.  The policy specifically outlines focus on five areas of 

the Borough, of which Havant Town Centre is one area.  On the adoption of the Housing 

Statement, this policy will remain. 



182 

 

Other comments 

56 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Infrastructure improvements should come before development. 

 

A key part of the drafting of the Local Plan is to identify the infrastructure needed to make 

the development of sites sustainable. 

Smaller items of infrastructure, which are needed to make a development work, will be 

funded by developers through legal agreements with the Council.  These are generally 

delivered alongside the development, so they are operational when the development is 

occupied. 

In terms of strategic infrastructure, in a climate of extremely limited resources, forward 

funding of infrastructure is not always possible.  However, having a plan in place will allow 

the Council to bid for funds for strategic infrastructure in order to bring these forward at the 

earliest opportunity.  

Throughout the Local Plan preparation process, the Council is also in continuous dialogue 

with the providers of infrastructure, such as utility companies, Hampshire County Council for 

highways and schools, and the NHS. It should be noted, however, that it is the responsibility 

of these bodies to bring forward the infrastructure they deem necessary to meet the needs 

of the population. 

Infrastructure improvements are required opposite to the new site at 

Berewood in Waterlooville. 

The development around Berewood is not yet complete.  Additional infrastructure will be 

included as the development continues its phasing approach. 

All of the retirement homes being built in Havant and Waterlooville will 

mean many homes will be released and can be used as alternatives to 

new builds. 

The Council agrees with the statement, nevertheless, the housing need is so great that 

additional sites are required for development. 



183 

 

Other comments 

56 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

In recent years, planning permissions have been granted to 

characterless buildings and ‘cheap eyesores’. 

  

The Council deals with applications individually as they are received and seeks to 

negotiate, where possible, with the developer regarding design.  Policy CS16 regarding 

high quality design from the Core Strategy (2011) will remain following the adoption of the 

Housing Statement. By accepting the principle, that these development sites are needed, it 

enables the Council and communities to have more influence over matters such as design. 

The Local Plan Housing Statement is not accompanied by a detailed 

evidence base and Sustainability Appraisal. 

 

The draft Local Plan Housing Statement has been accompanied by a number of evidence-

based reports, including a Sustainability Appraisal.  These documents were published on 

25
th
 July 2016 and can be found at: http://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base 

The Sustainability Appraisal can be found at: http://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/regulatory-

requirements 

The wording of the consultation was confusing as the Council referred 

to the Allocations Plan and also the ’adopted Local Plan’ which is 

known as the Core Strategy. 

 

Havant Borough Council apologises for any confusion.  The adopted Local Plan is both the 

Core Strategy (2011) and the Allocations Plan (2014). However there are occasions when it 

is necessary to refer to either one or other of those plans. Moving forward, there will only be 

one plan: The Havant Borough Local Plan 2036, which will reduce confusion. 

The haste is justified from the perceived threat of speculative 

applications as a result of McCarthy & Stone Appeal. 

 

The Council has recently lost an appeal against its refusal to permit a housing development 

as HBC does not have a 5 year housing supply due to the new OAN figure.  This has called 

into question whether the Local Plan can be considered up to date. There is therefore an 

urgent need to review the plan in order to retain local decision-making. 

The term affordable housing is misleading, as the recent cheapest new 

homes built require more than the average income in the Borough. 

 

The Council is not in a position to control the prices developers demand for homes. The 

Council can, however, try to improve the supply of new homes by identifying sites suitable 

for development.  It can also seek a proportion of affordable homes (Social rented, 

affordable rented and intermediate housing) in developments. 

http://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/evidence-base
http://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/regulatory-requirements
http://www.havant.gov.uk/localplan/regulatory-requirements
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/policy/achieving-sustainable-development/annex-2-glossary/


184 

 

Other comments 

56 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Hampshire is being robbed of its greenfield sites to produce homes for 

people who work 80 miles away (i.e. in London).  Homes should be 

built for people who need them in Havant, for Havant families. 

 

The Strategic Housing Market Assessment takes into account a number of factors in 

determining housing need, including household formation, economic growth and population 

change. In terms of population change, both migration (within the UK and international) and 

natural change (births minus deaths) are considered, and the figures do show a high level 

of past trends in population change due to migration into the area.  The objectively 

assessed need that Councils are required to address is informed by both types of 

population change, and it is not possible to plan only for the needs of the population of the 

Borough. It should be noted that the Council cannot control who buys property in the area.  

It is likely that on any development, it will be a mixture of people from within and from 

outside the Borough. 

A number of the proposed sites are in Green Belt areas. There is no Green Belt designation in Havant Borough. 

 

In the Local Plan, groups with one of the nine protected characteristics 

are not mentioned, yet Gypsies, Travellers and Showpeople are 

mentioned even though they do not have one of the nine 

characteristics. 

As highlighted in paragraph 6.31 on page 63 of the Core Strategy (2011); Local Authorities 

are required under the Housing Act 2004 to include Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling 

Showpeople in their accommodation assessments.  Therefore, as the Local Plan outlines 

allocated sites for housing, it is appropriate to make reference to Gypsies, Travellers and 

Travelling Showpeople. 

This is highlighted in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2012) and the 

Government’s ‘Planning Policy for Traveller Sites’ document (August 2015). 

Havant Borough Council (HBC) will continue to plan for and meet the needs of all residents, 

including those groups who possess one of the nine protected characteristics.  



185 

 

Other comments 

56 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

Libraries are quoted as community assets, however, even after 

refurbishment; they still fail to be fully accessible; i.e. the primary 

disabled toilet in Waterlooville Library is on the top floor and is 

impossible to access by wheelchair due to the positioning of the 

doorway. 

Libraries are a function of the County Council. 

The example used is a matter regarding building regulations and cannot be influenced 

through planning. 

The emphasis on spending money in the Borough on ‘’problem areas’ 

is short-sighted.  The money has been spent on community facilities, 

such as; playgrounds, older children activities, training opportunities, 

community safety opportunity etc. This is because these areas, by their 

virtue of their slow increase in home ownership are improving 

themselves; it is leaving the other less deprived areas to ‘wither on the 

vine' and these will become additional trouble spots in the future.  It 

leads to a breakdown in community spirit when people, who feel they 

are ‘paying for everything' through their unsubscribing Council Tax and 

other levies, are getting nothing back. 

i.e. play equipment and fencing in one area of Purbrook are run down, 

compared to more deprived areas which have had new equipment 

installed.     

It is unclear which projects are being referred to, therefore, an overview of all funding 

options is documented below: 

Infrastructure provision through S106 will usually be related to the development from which 

the contribution was derived and will therefore generally be spent in the immediate vicinity.  

The Council has adopted a CIL Spending Protocol which sets out how the Council will 

decide where CIL income should be spent.  As yet, only a very small proportion of CIL 

income has been allocated to projects. 

Regarding other forms of spending; in times of ever decreasing resources, it is important for 

the Council to maximise opportunities for grant funding from all sources. The Council has 

been active in securing funding for infrastructure projects throughout the Borough. 

However, grant funding is often more readily available to tackle issues in more deprived 

areas and this may be why it appears that there is more investment in these parts of the 

Borough. 

Notwithstanding this, the Council is working with stakeholders to encourage investment 

across the Borough, which may be through developer contributions, grant/public funding or 

through private investment. 



186 

 

Other comments 

56 responses were received regarding this topic 

Consultation Responses 

Key issues raised by residents and other stakeholders HBC response 

The creation of the Borough Design Guide for accessibility, as already 

discussed and published by Manchester City Council in partnership 

with the City’s Access Group, should also be referenced in the Local 

Plan. 

An innovative move forward would be the establishment of a 

‘’community design and pre-planning approval panel’.  The panel would 

inform the content of the design guide on a regular basis and also form 

a single point of contact for the entire list of SCI groups.  The Panel can 

be formed by an annual election process, along with minimal 

requirements for specific representative skill types.  This could be a 

major resource to developers, who could be encouraged to contribute 

towards the cost of running the panel.  This approach is in harmony 

with the Localism Bill and could also replace advisory roles that have 

been lost through mandatory budgeting savings, i.e. Equalities and 

Access Officer. 

Havant Borough Council (HBC) cannot reference the Design Guide for Manchester City 

Council as this would have been created in relation to that specific area.  The Council has 

its own Borough Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document. This includes the 

concept of Design Panels. 

Additionally there is already the Development Consultation Forum process for individual 

developments.  These meetings are public and anyone is welcome to attend.  Please view 

our website for the times and locations of upcoming Development Consultation Forums: 

http://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-services/view-planning-

applications-and-planning-decisions/development-consultation-forums. Pre-application 

consultation with the community is also strongly promoted to potential applicants. 

In addition, comments regarding specific applications can be submitted through the 

standard application process.  Comments must be made in writing either via letter or 

through the public access webpage on the Council’s website: 

https://planningpublicaccess.havant.gov.uk/online-applications/ 

 
 

Proposed Modifications to the Housing Statement 

Section/Paragraph Proposed Change Reason for Change 

Initial explanation at beginning of 

the document, and then consistent 

use throughout. 

It should be specified that the current adopted Local Plan is both the 

Core Strategy (2011) and the Allocations Plan (2014). 

Residents site that they found the wording confusing 

with regard to what the adopted Local Plan was. 

http://www.havant.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/SPD%20Borough%20Design%20Guide.pdf
http://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-services/view-planning-applications-and-planning-decisions/development-consultation-forums
http://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-services/view-planning-applications-and-planning-decisions/development-consultation-forums
https://planningpublicaccess.havant.gov.uk/online-applications/


 



 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Havant Borough Local Plan 2036 

 
 

Appendix 2:Local Plan 
Housing Statement 
December 2016 



Local Plan Housing Statement | December 2016 

 



Local Plan Housing Statement | December 2016 

 

Contents  
  Page 

1. INTRODUCTION ......................................................................................................................... 1 

2. THE ADOPTED LOCAL PLAN ................................................................................................... 4 

3. FUTURE HOUSING POTENTIAL ............................................................................................... 8 

4. CONCLUSION ........................................................................................................................... 20 

 
 
 
 
 

Maps included in this document are © Crown copyright and database rights Ordnance Survey. License number 100019217 (2016). 



Local Plan Housing Statement | December 2016 

1 

1. Introduction 

Overview  
1.1 This Local Plan Housing Statement has been produced in light of the updated South Hampshire 

Strategic Housing Market Assessment2 (SHMA) and the South Hampshire Spatial Position 

Statement3, both published by the Partnership for Urban South Hampshire (PUSH)4 on 7 June 

2016. This comprehensive and independent assessment of housing need across the Portsmouth 

Housing Market Area (HMA) revealed a high level of housing need identified within Havant 

Borough. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) indicates that it is a key requirement that 

Local Planning Authorities must boost significantly the supply of housing. In order to achieve this, 

the NPPF also requires Local Planning Authorities to keep Local Plans up-to-date and review them 

to respond flexibly to changing circumstances, in this case an increased need for new homes. 

1.2 More recently, through the Housing and Planning Act, the Government has reinforced the 

importance that is placed on having an up-to-date Local Plan and the implications if a Local 

Planning Authority fails to do this. Under Section 146 of the Act, if the Secretary of State thinks that 

a Local Planning Authority is failing or omitting to do anything which is necessary for them to do in 

connection with the preparation or revision of a Local Plan, the Secretary of State may intervene to 

prepare or revise the Local Plan. 

1.3 The Borough’s Adopted Local Plan comprises the Local Plan (Core Strategy) (2011) and the Local 

Plan (Allocations) (2014); the Core Strategy identifies the Borough’s housing requirement and pre-

dates the publication of the NPPF (March 2012). As such weight can only be afforded proportionate 

to the policy’s consistency with the NPPF5, a key requirement of which is to ensure the Council 

meets the full objectively assessed market and affordable housing needs. It is therefore evident 

from the high housing need in the Borough that there will be a need to identify further development 

sites over and above those currently identified in the Adopted Local Plan.  

1.4 The Council therefore proposes to prepare a new Local Plan, the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036, 

which will review and consolidate existing policies and allocations, as well as including new 

allocation sites to ensure that the Local Plan addresses the development needs of the Borough. The 

new Local Plan will ensure that the Council, in collaboration with communities, can continue to 

positively plan for the future within this reality, achieving sustainable development and creating 

successful places for future generations. 

 

 

                                                
 
 
 
2
 This should be taken to include both the South Hampshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment (January 2014) 

and the Objectively-Assessed Housing Need Update (April 2016).   
3
 http://www.push.gov.uk/work/planning-and-infrastructure/push_spatial_position_statement_to_2034-2.htm  

4
 The Partnership for Urban South Hampshire (PUSH) is comprised of all borough and district councils in South 

Hampshire, the two city councils and Hampshire County Council. More detail is available at 
www.push.gov.uk/partnership.htm.  
5
 Paragraphs 215 and 216 of the National Planning Policy Framework 

http://www.push.gov.uk/work/planning-and-infrastructure/push_spatial_position_statement_to_2034-2.htm
http://www.push.gov.uk/partnership.htm


Local Plan Housing Statement | December 2016 

2 

Guiding Principle 1 

The updated Strategic Housing Market Assessment shows a high level of housing need in Havant 
Borough and across the Portsmouth Housing Market Area. As such, Havant Borough Council will 
initiate a review of the Adopted Local Plan in order to continue positively planning for all 
development needs in the Borough into the future and ensure that decisions regarding the Local 
Plan can continue to be taken locally. 

 

The purpose of the Local Plan Housing Statement 

1.5 The Local Plan Housing Statement is the first step in addressing the rising housing need through a 

review of the Local Plan. Though the Housing Statement does not have the same status as a Local 

Plan in decision-making, it was subject to public consultation between 25th July and 9th September 

2016, has been subject to Sustainability Appraisal, Habitats Regulations Assessment and an 

Integrated Impact Assessment. Importantly, it provides the foundation  for the new Local Plan as 

Regulation 18 work and creates a positive framework for decision makers until the new Local Plan 

is adopted6.  

1.6 A higher housing requirement is a certainty in the new Local Plan and the Housing Statement 

identifies sites which the Council considers appropriate and sustainable for housing delivery in the 

short and longer term to ensure that it is able to plan positively to address the high housing need 

figure in accordance with the NPPF. In light of the high housing need, it has been necessary for the 

Council to look at sites outside the urban areas of the Borough, as defined by Policy AL2 of the 

Adopted Local Plan, as there is insufficient land within the urban areas to meet this need. This 

Statement therefore specifically identifies a number of urban extension sites outside the urban area 

which it considers appropriate to come forward ahead of their formal allocation in the Havant 

Borough Local Plan 2036, so as to maintain a healthy supply of housing land in the short to medium 

term. 

1.7 At this early stage of the Plan’s preparation, the Council has identified sites which are considered 

suitable for development under the NPPF. The Housing Statement therefore identifies a number of 

‘early release’ sites which are considered appropriate for housing delivery in advance of the 

adoption of the Local Plan (see Guiding Principle 4: Table 2).  

1.8 Though it is acknowledged the housing need figure is not a target, it is essential that the Council 

positively plans to significantly boost housing supply and approves proposals that constitute 

sustainable development on ‘early release’ sites without delay. The Housing Statement will enable 

the Council to continue to resist inappropriate development outside the urban area, particularly 

where local and national policies indicate that development should be restricted.   

1.9 By its very nature, the Housing Statement focuses on sites for the delivery of new homes. However, 

the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036 will need to plan for all three dimensions of sustainable 

development: Social, economic and environmental. Planning for the delivery of housing, business, 

industrial and infrastructure development in a sustainable manner. The evidence base research 

(Sustainability Appraisal, Habitats Regulations Assessment), the consultation with statutory bodies 

and the public, together with all the other work that goes into the creation of the Local Plan will all be 

                                                
 
 
 
6
 The Local Development Scheme is available at https://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-

policy/local-plan-core-strategy/local-development-scheme 

https://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/local-plan-core-strategy/local-development-scheme
https://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/local-plan-core-strategy/local-development-scheme


Local Plan Housing Statement | December 2016 

3 

submitted to the Government; subject to an Examination in Public and ultimately adopted by the 

Council. 

  



Local Plan Housing Statement | December 2016 

4 

2. The Adopted Local Plan 
 Background  

2.1 Havant Borough’s Adopted Local Plan (Core Strategy 2011 and Allocations Plan 2014)9 covers the 

period until 2026 and continues to form the basis for determining planning applications in the 

Borough. The Core Strategy (2011) sets out a housing requirement of 6,300 dwellings to be 

delivered between 2006 and 2026, equivalent to 315 dwellings per annum.  

2.2 The Local Plan (Core Strategy) was adopted prior to the NPPF and the housing target is based on 

the now revoked South East Plan. This fact was explored when the Local Plan (Allocations) was 

examined in 2014: 

“After the publication of the NPPF in March 2012 the PUSH authorities approved the South 

Hampshire Strategy (SHS), which provides a sub-regional basis for the local authorities housing 

requirements…The CS [Core Strategy’s] housing target towards which the allocations in this Plan 

will contribute is consistent with the SHS and remains broadly accurate when tested against the 

‘What Homes Where’ toolkit.”(Inspector’s Report on The Examination into Havant Borough Local 

Plan (Allocations) (2014)) 

2.3 National guidance10 sets out that it is a key requirement for the Council to prepare a Local Plan that 

will meet the full, objectively assessed need (OAN) for housing in its area, as far as consistent with 

the policies set out in the NPPF (emphasis added). The updated PUSH SHMA will therefore form an 

essential piece of evidence base for the new Local Plan. Secondly, the NPPF requires the Council 

to identify and update annually a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide five years 

worth of housing against its housing requirement. Whilst the Core Strategy continues to identify the 

relevant housing target for the Borough, it can only continue to be afforded weight in so far that it is 

consistent with national guidance, and specifically Paragraphs 215 and 216 of the NPPF. This is 

considered in further detail below.  

2.4 The Council is therefore taking a bold and forward thinking approach to the review of the Local Plan 

to ensure the Council and local communities can continue to have as much influence over when 

and how development takes place as possible within the context of national policy. 

2.5 The Local Plan Housing Statement is the first stage in the review of the Adopted Local Plan which 

will address the housing need for the Borough in light of the updated evidence. The new Local Plan 

will need to go beyond how housing needs are best addressed, and plan for the business, industrial 

and infrastructure requirements the Borough needs to ensure that it can continue delivering 

sustainable, inclusive and mixed communities.  

2.6 Due to the large amount of evidence to support the Plan and the need to comply with regulations 

that govern its process, the Council has therefore taken a pragmatic interim step to identify suitable 

housing sites for ‘early release’ prior to the adoption of the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036.  

 

                                                
 
 
 
9
 Hereafter referred to as the Adopted Local Plan. 

10
 Paragraph 47 of the National Planning Policy Framework 



Local Plan Housing Statement | December 2016 

5 

Five year housing land supply  

2.7 On 25 August 2016, the Planning Inspectorate determined and allowed an appeal11 against the 

Council’s earlier decision to refuse planning permission for 42 retirement apartments for older 

persons at 38 London Road, Purbrook (hereafter referred to as the ‘Purbrook Appeal’). 

2.8 A key consideration in the Purbrook Appeal was whether the Council could demonstrate a five year 

housing supply based on the Borough’s OAN in accordance with Paragraph 47 of the NPPF.  The 

Inspector concluded the Core Strategy housing target was not representative of OAN, 

notwithstanding the comments in the Local Plan (Allocations) Inspector’s report which concluded 

the Plan was sound, legally compliant and consistent with the NPPF.  

2.9 The Purbook Appeal Inspector suggests he is not able to give any weight to the Local Plan 

(Allocations) Report based on the Gladman High Court Judgement12. This confirmed that the 

Allocations Plan Inspector was not able to revisit the housing target set through the Core Strategy. It 

is in this context the Purbrook Appeal Inspector gives weight to the most up-to-date evidence in the 

PUSH SHMA which shows that 11,250 new homes are needed in Havant Borough between 2011 

and 2036. As a result, this is now the default housing target for the Borough until the new Local Plan 

is adopted with a fully tested housing target.  

2.10 The NPPF13 establishes a two stage process for local planning authorities in determining a local 

housing requirement:  

a) Identification of the OAN in setting the housing requirement for a district.  

b) There is justification for the housing requirement to be reduced below the OAN if there are 

constraints which apply which justify a lower figure.  

2.11 The Purbrook Appeal Inspector was only able to undertake the first stage in determining the up-to-

date OAN. The next stage is for the Council to fully test the housing need figure through the 

evidence base for the new Local Plan, which will consider all of the policy constraints facing the 

Borough. It will then be for an independent Inspector through an Examination in Public to decide 

whether the Council’s proposed housing requirement is ‘sound’. Only at that point will the Borough 

have a tested housing target.  

2.12 Until that tested housing target is adopted through the new Local Plan, the Council should identify a 

five year supply of deliverable sites based on OAN. This is reaffirmed by the conclusions of the 

Purbrook Appeal Inspector. The Council is therefore taking proactive and positive steps to identify 

housing sites for ‘early release’ to ensure that it can effectively plan for the increased housing need 

for the Borough in the interim. This Local Plan Housing Statement plays an increasingly important 

role in ensuring the Borough is able to identify a five year supply of deliverable sites in advance of 

the adoption of the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036.   

 

  

                                                
 
 
 
11

 PINS ref. APP/X1735/W/16/3145929 
12

 Gladman Development Ltd v Wokingham BC [2014] EWCH 2320 (Admin) 
13

 Footnote 9 of the NPPF indicates specific policies include those policies relating to sites protected under the Birds 
and Habitats Directives (see Paragraph 119) and/or designated as Sites of Special Scientific Interest; Local Green 
Space, an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, designated heritage assets; and locations at risk of flooding or coastal  
assets; and locations at risk of flooding or coastal erosion. 



Local Plan Housing Statement | December 2016 

6 

The status of the Adopted Local Plan  

2.13 Planning legislation16 and the NPPF indicate that applications for planning permission must be 

determined in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 

otherwise. There is a significant, complex and growing body of case law around five year supply and 

the status of Local Plan Policies, namely that of Hunston18 and Suffolk Coastal19 and the 

implications of these mean that:   

 Planning applications and appeals should continue to be considered against Adopted Local 

Plan Policies unless there are material considerations which indicate otherwise; 

 Planning permission will only be granted for housing proposals where development can be 

shown to constitute ‘sustainable development’ in accordance with Paragraphs 14, 47 and 49 

of the NPPF; 

 It is appropriate to continue to apply weight to the Local Plan Policies according to the 

specifics of the particular planning application or appeal; 

 The five year housing supply position at that particular point in time; and 

 The measures being taken to address any shortfall in five year housing land supply 

 The Purbrook Appeal Inspector concluded that the Council could not demonstrate a five year 

supply of housing at that particular point in time - this is a significant material consideration  

2.14 More specifically in respect of the latter, consideration will be given to the clear timetable for the 

production of the Havant Borough Local Plan and the progress which has been made towards the 

adoption of this document. In the Hunston23 case, it is noteworthy the Court of Appeal held that it 

was improper to blame a local planning authority if the OAN produced a shortfall in the absence of 

an up-to-date Local Plan: “Planning decisions are ones to be arrived at in the public interest, 

balancing all the relevant factors and are not to be used as some form of sanction on local councils. 

It is the community which may suffer from a bad decision, not just the local council or its officers.”  

2.15 With the adoption of the Local Plan Housing Statement, the Council will be able to boost housing  

supply through the delivery of ‘early release’ sites (before the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036 is in 

place). As such, the Borough’s modest shortfall against the five year housing requirement, together 

with the steps being taken to bring the Local Plan up-to-date must be considered in the overall 

planning balance in the determination of planning application and appeals. The dynamic nature of 

five year housing land supply, i.e. planning permissions granted offset by housing completions and 

the Government’s focus on this as a measure of planning success means that the Council will 

continue to monitor the situation carefully. 

 

 

                                                
 
 
 
16

 Section 38(6) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
18

 R (Hunston Properties Ltd) v SSCG and St Albans City and District Council [2013] EWCA Civ 1610 
19

 Suffolk Coastal DC & others [2016] EWCA Civ 168 
23

 R (Hunston Properties Ltd) v SSCG and St Albans City and District Council [2013] EWCA Civ 1610 



Local Plan Housing Statement | December 2016 

7 

 

 

 

Guiding Principle 2 

The Adopted Local Plan24 continues to form the starting point for the determination of planning 

application and appeals. Due weight will be given to the Borough’s dynamically changing five year 

supply of housing land and the implications under Paragraphs 47 and 49 of the NPPF. 

Planning permission will therefore only be granted for housing proposals on appropriate and 

sustainable sites identified by the Adopted Local Plan and the Local Plan Housing Statement 

(December 2016). Development proposals on those sites must be shown to constitute ‘sustainable 

development’ in accordance with Paragraphs 8-9, 14 and 47 and 49 of the NPPF. 

Due weight will be given to the housing supply position at the point in time at which the decision is 

to be taken; and the progress made towards the adoption of the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036 

which addresses housing need in line with Paragraphs 47 and 49 of the NPPF. 



Local Plan Housing Statement | December 2016 

8 

3. Future Housing Potential  
3.1 The PUSH SHMA shows a need for 121,500 new homes across South Hampshire between 2011 

and 2036. Of these 49,500 should be provided in the Portsmouth HMA of which 11,250 should be 

provided in Havant Borough. The NPPF is clear in Paragraph 47 that Local Plans must ‘meet…the 

full, objectively assessed needs for market and affordable housing in the housing market area, as 

far as is consistent with the policies set out in this Framework, including identifying key sites which 

are critical to the delivery of the housing strategy over the plan period’. 

3.2 A high level technical analysis has been completed to understand whether the established need can 

be met in a way which would constitute sustainable development and, if not, how best it can be met. 

This is set out in detail in the Housing Constraints and Supply Analysis Paper, which accompanies 

the Local Plan Housing Statement. It also provides detail as to the process undertaken to establish 

if the Borough can meet its objectively assessed need and, if as it cannot, how much sustainable 

development the Borough can accommodate.  

3.3 A thorough examination of the housing land supply and potential sites has also taken place. The 

Borough’s Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) has also been refreshed and 

incorporates the results of a ‘Call for Sites’ which was undertaken in January 2016 and a 

reappraisal of some employment sites that may be more suitable for housing. This has informed an 

approach to identifying sites suitable for housing which are free from overriding constraints. This is 

intended to maximise the level of development as the Council seeks to meet its objectively 

assessed need. 

3.4 The SHLAA does not, however, determine whether a site should be allocated for housing 

development. That is the role of the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036. The SHLAA includes all 

known sites that have the potential for housing development. The inclusion of a site in the SHLAA 

does not have any relevance to whether planning permission would be granted at the site; the 

SHLAA is the evidence for the Local Plan not planning applications.  

3.5 In line with the NPPF, development on brownfield land has been promoted through the analysis in 

the SHLAA’s assessment of suitability. Nonetheless, the high level of need for new homes means 

that development of greenfield sites will also be necessary. 

3.6 A constraints analysis (detailed in the Housing Constraints and Supply Analysis) firstly looked at 

high level constraints (i.e. those that make a site unsustainable for development). This analysis has 

shown that sections of the Borough would be inherently unsustainable for substantial levels of future 

development.  

3.7 Taking the established housing need for the Borough of 11,250 there are already a significant 

amount of homes already ‘in the bag’. Taking the completed dwellings since 2011, sites with 

outstanding planning permission, the Local Plan allocations without planning permission and 

windfall, there is a supply of 6,441. Against the need for new housing of 11,250, this leaves 4,809 

homes still to find sites for. 

 

 

 



Local Plan Housing Statement | December 2016 

9 

 
Need  

requirement 

Net Dwellings 
Completed or 

Committed 

Total Borough Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) 2011-2036 11250  

Completed dwellings (2011/12 – 2015/16)  1693 

Permissions (outstanding planning permissions at 01/04/16)  1863 

Allocations in current Local Plan (yet to be 
completed/permitted at 01/04/16) 

 1694 

Windfall Development (up until 2036)  1191 

Totals 11250 6441 

Remaining OAN to be addressed (i.e. the gap) 4809 

Table 1: Existing completions and commitments vs OAN 

 
 

 

Figure 1: Existing housing supply compared to the need for new homes as set out in Table 1 of the Local Plan Housing Statement 

3.8 In order to address this apparent gap, further investigation has taken place for additional housing 

potential in the Borough. This has used the SHLAA process (including the 2016 Call for Sites and 

SHLAA refresh) to establish further brownfield and greenfield sites that offer potential as discussed 

in Paragraphs 3.3 and 3.4. 

Further Urban Area Sites 

3.9 Limited further brownfield sites within the existing urban area which could be developed for housing 

have been identified. All deliverable or developable brownfield sites are already identified in the 

Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment. Any potential urban area housing sites are already 

supported in principle through the Adopted Local Plan (in particular Policy CS17 of the Core 

Strategy). These are the types of sites already accounted for in the detailed windfall analysis. 

Delivery from small-scale windfall sites will continue to be taken into account. 

 

 

 

 



Local Plan Housing Statement | December 2016 

10 

 

3.10 Further greenfield and previously developed urban extension sites of various sizes have also been 

considered. These are sites already identified in the SHLAA but which are not allocated in the 

Adopted Local Plan (Allocations) and previous or slightly revised SHLAA sites (for instance when 

site areas may have changed). Some new SHLAA sites have also been submitted as part of the 

2016 ‘Call for Sites’ and Draft Local Plan Housing Statement Consultation. Of these newly 

identified, smaller sites, there is potential to deliver 65 dwellings within the urban area.  In addition, 

previous discounted SHLAA sites have been reconsidered in light of identified housing need.  

Sites considered suitable for ‘early release’ 

3.11 In light of the identified housing need and the 4,809 dwelling ‘gap’ identified in Table 1, it is 

appropriate that the Council considers greenfield sites and previously developed land for 

development in the short term.  Nevertheless, as specified above (paragraph 3.10), potential for an 

additional 65 dwellings have been identified as part of the Local Plan Housing Statement 

consultation (see Table 4).  

3.12 The Draft Local Plan Housing Statement initially identified Campdown as a Strategic Site in its own 

right. However, given the site comprises two distinct parcels of land which do not make a coherent 

whole and are not dependent on each other for delivery, it has not been considered appropriate to 

take this forward as a single comprehensive strategic allocation. As such, the ‘Land east of College 

Road’ Site (UE70) and ‘Land north of Fort Purbook’ Site (UE72) have therefore been identified as 

two separate urban extensions and have been recategorised as ‘early release’ sites accordingly.  

3.13 As a result of consultation on the Draft Local Plan Housing Statement, ‘Land North of Hollybank 

Lane and Long Copse Lane’ (UE39) and ‘Land North of Long Copse Lane’ (UE50) have been 

extended and merged to form a single urban extension referenced as site UE76 in the table below.  

With this, two additional parcels of land (UE73 and UE74) have been incorporated into UE76; these 

two smaller sites were not previously identified in the Call-for-sites at the beginning of the year, but 

were put forward during the Local Plan Housing Statement public consultation. This newly 

combined area known as ‘Land North of Long Copse Lane’ (UE76) is expected to be delivered in a 

comprehensive manner and is identified as having an indicative site yield of 260 dwellings 

accordingly39.  

  

                                                
 
 
 
39

 Land North of Hollybank Lane and Long Copse Lane (UE39) and Land North of Long Copse (UE50) were initially 
identified as separate sites and a combined capacity of 220 dwellings (54 + 166).  

Guiding Principle 3 

In line with the NPPF, Havant Borough Council will continue to promote the development of 
brownfield land: 

 The new Local Plan will maximise the residential development of brownfield sites by looking 
at potentially significantly higher densities around town centres and transport hubs 

 Prior to the adoption of the new Local Plan, development on brownfield sites which are 
considered suitable for housing under the Adopted Local Plan will continue to be supported, 
even if they are not specifically allocated. 



Local Plan Housing Statement | December 2016 

11 

Site 

reference 
Site 

Indicative No. of 

dwellings 

Identified ‘Other 

Development 

Uses’* 

Emsworth  

UE67 Land to the rear of Redlands House 5  

UE76 Land North of Long Copse Lane 260  

UE02b Land North and West of Selangor Avenue 154  

Havant and Bedhampton  

UE28 Littlepark House, Bedhampton 47  

UE30 Land South of Lower Road, Bedhampton 50  

UE53 Land East of Castle Avenue 60  

UE55 Southleigh Park House 35  

UE68 Forty Acres 300 Allotments  

Waterlooville  

UE70 Land East of College Road, Campdown  350 Sports facilities 

UE72 Land North of Fort Purbrook, Campdown 100  

 Total 1361   

Table 2: Further greenfield and previously developed sites outside of the urban area suitable for ‘early release’. 

 

* This should not be considered an exhaustive list and the potential non-residential development to be provided on the 

site should be discussed with the Council at pre-application stage.  

 

3.14 The sites listed in Table 2 have all been considered through the 2016 SHLAA process to be 

deliverable or developable. As such they are free of constraints that cannot be mitigated, are 

available for development, and sustainable development could be achieved on the site. Whilst 

development on these sites would be contrary to Policies CS17 and AL2 which indicate that 

residential development should be resisted, it is necessary to make a departure from the Adopted 

Local Plan given the high level of housing need that exists. As such, the Council will support the 

principle of residential development on the sites ahead of the adoption of the Havant Borough Local 

Plan 2036, subject to compliance with the remainder of the policies in the Adopted Local Plan and 

the Guiding Principles in this Housing Statement.  

3.15 The yields set out in Table 2 are based on the Call for Sites submissions, a desktop evaluation of 

the available data and information including submissions to the Draft Local Plan Housing Statement 

Consultation. The Council has adopted a deliberately cautious approach in the desktop appraisal of 

sites by Officers. As such, the yields for these sites should be considered as indicative. 

3.16  Nonetheless, given the high housing need and the early stage at which these sites are at, it is 

possible that the yield may vary in response to site specific constraints and opportunities. This will 

be taken into account during pre-application discussions, at Development Consultation Forums, 

through the determination of planning applications; and adjusted in the monitoring of five year 

housing supply as appropriate. Development proposals for any site will need to be informed by 

detailed technical analysis and modelling in order to demonstrate that the proposed level of 

residential development is sustainable and achievable, and that the site is being used in an efficient 

way. 



Local Plan Housing Statement | December 2016 

12 

3.17 Consultation on the Draft Local Plan Housing Statement did however, highlight that residents across 

the Borough are concerned in relation to infrastructure capacity, and whether it is adequate to 

support the needs of existing and future residents. Existing allocations and sites identified for ‘early 

release’ will continue to be expected to make provision for infrastructure through the payment of the 

Community Infrastructure Levy and to provide necessary on-site and off-site infrastructure, secured 

through legal agreement (this matter is considered in further detail below). This will be essential in 

demonstrating that development on these sites is sustainable.  

3.18 Table 2 identifies where the Council expects other development uses to be provided at this initial 

stage in the preparation of the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036. Based on the Strategic 

Development Areas Financial Feasibility Study, the Council identified a requirement to deliver a 

minimum of 350 dwellings and sports facilities on the ‘Land East of College Road’ Site (UE70) to 

accommodate the needs of the Borough’s growing sports clubs. The Council has also identified that 

the high quality of agricultural land present on the ‘Forty Acres’ Site (UE68) also provides an ideal 

opportunity to provide new allotments as part of the open space provision. This list will continue to 

evolve with the Local Plan evidence and so applicants should consult the Council on other 

requirements for the sites through pre-application discussions. 

3.19 The Council will carefully consider the development and infrastructure requirements associated with 

the remaining ‘early release’ sites through the planning application process. It is expected that this 

will informed by the Council’s evidence base and continuing dialogue and discussions with 

infrastructure providers. There is also an expectation that landowners and developers will also 

undertake detailed technical analysis and modelling work and consultation with infrastructure 

providers, stakeholders and local residents to ensure that any site or area specific issues are 

identified at an early stage. This will be essential to ensuring that it can be demonstrated that 

development proposals on ‘early release’ sites are sustainable in accordance with Guiding    

Principle 2. 

3.20 The evidence base for the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036 is still being developed and the sites in 

Table 2 are not formally allocated in a local plan. As a result, it is expected that applicants for any 

site not formally allocated in the Adopted Local Plan will engage thoroughly and extensively with the 

Council’s pre-application advice service, including presenting the site at a Development 

Consultation Forum. Pre-application public consultation will also be expected. 

Sites with uncertain potential at this stage  

3.21 In response to key issues raised through consultation on the Draft Local Plan Housing Statement, 

the Council has determined that UE52 (Land adjoining 47 Portsdown Hill) is not appropriate for 

development with a proposed number of five dwellings.  It is considered that five dwellings would be 

challenging to achieve without significant harm to the setting of the Grade II Listed Sunspan House.  

Whilst a yield of less than five dwellings on the site will likely be achievable, this would mean that 

the site should not be specifically identified in the SHLAA of Local Plan Housing Statement; as such 

the site has been removed. 

Future development on Hayling Island 

3.22 In response to key issues raised through consultation on the Draft Local Plan Housing Statement by 

a number of stakeholders, the Council has determined that sites on Hayling Island are not 

appropriate for ‘early release’ and the site or area specific issues raised should be fully explored 

through the new Local Plan (and these issues are explored in further detail below). These sites will 

be re-categorised as sites with ‘uncertain potential’ in the SHLAA.  As part of this re-categorisation, 

it is proposed to combine the ‘Rook Farm’ Sites, namely ‘Land South of Rook Farm’ (UE17), ‘Land 



Local Plan Housing Statement | December 2016 

13 

North of Rook Farm’ (UE35) and ‘Land West of Rook Farm’ (UE63) as a single SHLAA site for the 

purposes of clarity. This will enable the Council to consider the suitability of the land to be 

considered comprehensively. 

3.23 The consultation on the Draft Local Plan Housing Statement highlighted specific infrastructure 

issues on Hayling Island which will require further investigation before future development can be 

considered sustainable under the NPPF. In particular, stakeholders highlighted issues relating to 

flooding, highway capacity, the single access to the Island, healthcare, education and the provision 

of utilities. These are strategic issues which relate to the Island as a whole and not necessarily 

within the ability of a single development proposal to overcome in the absence of a comprehensive 

framework, which can only be provided through the new Local Plan. 

3.24 Further evidence is needed to fully resolve these issues. As such, the Council considers that cannot 

be guaranteed that the sites are suitable for development. The Council will, however, continue to 

explore the sustainability of future development on Hayling Island through the production of the 

Havant Borough Local Plan 2036 and the evidence base which supports it.  It will continue to 

explore the evidence regarding the suitability of development on these sites, actively working with 

our partners at the Eastern Solent Coastal Partnership, Hampshire County Council (as Highways 

Authority and Local Education Authority), and the South East Hampshire Clinical Commissioning 

Group and utility providers. This will inform the approach towards these sites in the Pre-Submission 

draft of the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036. 

Sites with uncertain potential at this stage on Hayling Island 

 UE18 Station Road (North of Sinah Lane/West of Furniss Way) 

 UE77 Land at Rook Farm 

 

New Sites with Uncertain Potential  

3.25 As there is a high housing need, the Council can leave no stone unturned in finding sustainable 

housing sites to meet this need. Through the consultation on the Draft Local Plan Housing 

Statement a number of new sites were promoted by landowners/developers. These have been 

identified as sites with uncertain potential for housing delivery.  The suitability of these sites for 

development will be assessed through the evidence base for the new Local Plan and the proposals 

subject to consultation. 

3.26 The following sites have been identified with uncertain potential at this stage and will be considered 

further in the production of  the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036:  

Sites with uncertain potential at this stage 

Havant and Bedhampton 

 UE02a Land north of A27and further east of Castle Avenue 

 UE54 Southmere Field, Langstone Road 

 UE75 Helmsley House, Bartons Road 

 



Local Plan Housing Statement | December 2016 

14 

3.27 Given the uncertain potential of these sites, and in particular the outstanding questions in relation to 

the sustainability of Hayling Island to accommodate future development, it has not been considered 

appropriate to identify yields for these sites at this stage. The Council expects the site and area 

specific issues raised through the consultation, notably that of infrastructure capacity and the need 

for upgrading/improvements, to be fully explored through the production of the new Local Plan and 

the evidence base which supports it.  In the interim, development proposals on sites with uncertain 

potential will be resisted in accordance with Guiding Principle 4. 

 

 

3.28 To ensure the quality of the environment remains high in the Borough, the Sustainability Appraisal 

(SA) and Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA) for the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036 will be 

prepared in continuous dialogue with statutory consultees at Natural England, Historic England and 

the Environment Agency. The role of the HRA and SA is to ensure that housing sites do not have 

unacceptable consequences on the environment. For example, on sites with any likelihood of Brent 

Geese or waders the HRA will identify a mitigation option that can be accommodated as part of the 

development. 

3.29 The Council is also committed to working in partnership with Natural England to ensure that air 

quality modelling informs the new Local Plan. The results will then inform any necessary avoidance 

and mitigation measures which will be secured through the development requirements for each 

individual allocation through the new Local Plan.  Table 4 and Figure 2 (overleaf) shows that even 

when taking into account these additional sites there still remains a significant gap (3,383 homes) 

between the objectively assessed need for housing and the available supply in the Borough. 

 

Guiding Principle 4 
 
The principle of residential development on Table 2 sites will be considered favourably in order to 
contribute towards the high objectively assessed housing need  and to significantly boost housing 
supply in the Borough. This material consideration means that there is sufficient weight to justify a 
departure from Policies CS17 and AL2. 
 
Proposals coming forward for Table 2 sites  will be expected to continue to meet the remaining 
requirements of the Adopted Local Plan. 
 
Two sites on Hayling Island are considered to have uncertain potential for development. The strategic 
infrastructure constraints facing this part of the Borough mean that the suitability of these sites will be 
fully explored through the evidence base for the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036. This will highlight 
constraints at a site-specific level together with strategic infrastructure issues on Hayling Island and 
whether there is scope to mitigate these constraints and issues. Three other sites (UE02a, UE54 and 
UE75) were also suggested through the consultation. The suitability of these sites will be fully 
explored through the preparation of the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036. 
 
Development proposals on any sites not in the urban area (as identified by Policies CS17 and AL2) 
and not identified in Table 2 of the Local Plan Housing Statement will be resisted. This is due to the 
presence of site constraints which mean the adverse impacts of development would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the National Planning Policy Framework 
as a whole.  
Development proposals on the strategic site will be considered in accordance with Guiding Principle 5. 



Local Plan Housing Statement | December 2016 

15 

 

 
Need 

requirement 

Net Dwellings 
Completed , 

committed and 
further supply 

Total Borough Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) 2011-2036 11250  

Completed dwellings (2011/12 – 2015/16)  1693 

Permissions (outstanding planning permissions at 01/04/16)  1863 

Allocations in current Local Plan (yet to be 
completed/permitted at 01/04/16) 

 1694 

Windfall Development (up until 2036)  1191 

Additional sites inside the urban area  65 

Additional sites outside the urban area  1361 

Totals 11250 7867 

Remaining OAN to be addressed (i.e. the gap) 3383 

Table 4: Existing completions, commitments and additional greenfield vs OAN 

 

  

Figure 2: Existing housing supply and urban extension sites compared to the need for new homes as set out in Table 3 of the Local 

Plan Housing Statement 

 

New Strategic Site 

3.30 There is one area of the borough which is free from significant high level constraints and which 

remains undeveloped. Without positively identifying this site and working with the landowners and 

their representatives to identify the best way to take the site forward for development there is a risk 

that proposals for the site could be speculatively submitted, potentially in a piecemeal manner. This 

is likely to undermine the ability to secure the right infrastructure delivered at the right times to 

support new substantial development. It will also lessen the ability to achieve a sustainable and well 

planned community. 

  



Local Plan Housing Statement | December 2016 

16 

Strategic Site: Area Between Denvilles and Emsworth 

 
 
Further details about this site and the potential for new development is included in the Strategic 
Development Areas Financial Feasibility Study. It is considered that the site is likely to be capable of 
accommodating a minimum of 1,650 dwellings and a local centre. 
 
The site will require as a minimum improvements to nearby highway infrastructure, a new junction on 
the A27 and associated link road north, a new primary school, green infrastructure and surface water 
drainage. The development will need to be laid out in such a way that there remains clear distinction 
between the settlements of Emsworth, Denvilles and Warblington after completion of the development. 
Further work regarding infrastructure provision and settlement identity is ongoing and will feed into the 
allocation for the site in the new Local Plan. 

 
3.31 In order to address the Borough’s housing need as part of the new Local Plan it is inevitable that 

this site will need to be considered.  Preliminary work looking at the infrastructure requirements, 

development capacity and timeframes for the site coming forward has started and it is proposed that 

this continues through the Local Plan process. All this can feed into appropriate masterplanning and 

the new Local Plan as appropriate. 

3.32 Strategic sites of this nature require extensive preliminary work and have longer lead in times than 

smaller sites. It is intended that public consultation will inform a Masterplan to bring the site forward 

in the most sustainable way which ensures that it is a high quality community  which will stand the 

test of time. Community and wider stakeholder involvement in the masterplanning of the site will be 

facilitated through a Development Charrette41.  

                                                
 
 
 
41

 A Development Charette is an intensively produced, community-led masterplan for a development site. Usually, in a 
one or two week session, the charrette assembles key stakeholders, including the public, to collaborate with the 
design team allowing iterative design proposals, feedback and revisions to take place. This has been shown to be an 
effective means of encouraging input and producing a valuable masterplan that everyone has mutual ownership of. It 
is intended that the Design Charette for this site will take place early in 2017 and will eventually inform a masterplan of 
the site which will be adopted as a Supplementary Planning Document. 



Local Plan Housing Statement | December 2016 

17 

3.33 Piecemeal development of the strategic site would hinder the ability to ensure the correct type and 

scale of infrastructure is provided. Poor quality piecemeal development could result in less housing 

being provided as the most efficient layout across the entirety of the site is not being proposed. As 

such, it is vital that the site is progressed through the new Local Plan with the appropriate level of 

background evidence and analysis and with the input of local communities. This will ensure that the 

benefits from delivering the new strategic site is maximised. Delivery in a comprehensive manner 

can bring benefits to existing as well as new communities such as through the provision of new 

educational or sports facilities, highway infrastructure and retail outlets. 

Guiding Principle 5 

The comprehensive development the Area Between Denvilles and Emsworth will be progressed 
through the new Local Plan. The strategic site should be appropriately masterplanned, in 
consultation with local communities, in order to ensure that it is brought forward comprehensively. 
This will establish the development potential of the site, the mix of development types which should 
be brought forward, phasing, settlement identity and infrastructure requirements. 
 
So as to ensure that the correct scale and type of infrastructure is provided, development of the site 
in whole or part will be resisted until allocated through the new Local Plan and appropriately 
masterplanned.  
 
Following masterplanning, development of the site will need to be coordinated through a single 
outline planning application which covers the entirety of the strategic site. This will ensure 
appropriate coordination of the necessary infrastructure which is needed to support the site. 
 
The Council is committed to the comprehensive and coordinated delivery of this key site. 
Continuous dialogue will take place with landowners, infrastructure providers, other stakeholders 
and local communities in order to achieve a comprehensive, sustainable and deliverable 
development. In order to achieve comprehensive sustainable and deliverable development of the 
strategic site the Council will use all power open to it to facilitate this objective, including 
Compulsory Purchase.  

 

3.34 Policies to support the delivery of the strategic site will be developed as part of the new local plan.  

3.35 The extensive preliminary work, understanding of infrastructure requirements, anticipated scale and 

timescale of development at this site means that phasing and overall delivery projections for the 

strategic site will be separated out from the remainder of the Borough when it comes to housing 

policy, monitoring and projected supply. This is to allow for the lead in time required for a scheme of 

this scale which means a steady annualised delivery spread over a plan period will not be possible. 

3.36 The details of this Local Plan Housing Statement and supporting Housing Constraint and Supply 

Analysis Paper demonstrate that ‘no stone has been left unturned’ in trying to best meet the 

identified housing need for Havant Borough. The SHLAA has been revisited and a detailed analysis 

and understanding has been developed on the development potential for the Borough. 

3.37 When assessing all the above potential sources of supply, including the strategic site at the Area 

Between Denvilles and Emsworth, a gap remains between what can be sustainably achieved in 

Havant Borough and the housing need for the Borough. This gap stands at 1,733 dwellings as 

shown in Table 4 and Figure 3 (overleaf). 

  



Local Plan Housing Statement | December 2016 

18 

 Need requirement 

Net Dwellings 
Completed, 

committed and 
further supply 

Total Borough Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) 11250  

Completed dwellings (2011/12 – 2014/15)  1693 

Permissions (outstanding planning permissions at 
01/04/15) 

 1863 

Allocations in current Local Plan (yet to be 
completed/permitted at 01/04/15) 

 1694 

Windfall Development (up until 2036)  1191 

Additional sites inside the urban area  65 

Additional sites outside of the urban area  1361 

Denvilles and Emsworth Strategic Site  1650 

Totals 11250 9517 

Remaining OAN unaddressed (i.e. the gap) 1733 

Table 4: Total Projected commitments, supply and new strategic sites vs OAN 

 

  

Figure 3: Existing housing supply and urban extension sites compared to the need for new homes as set out in Table 3 of the Local 

Plan Housing Statement 

 Phasing/Annual Requirements 

3.38 New housing provision in the Borough up until 2036 is likely to include a heavy reliance on the new 

strategic site. Therefore realistic phasing will be required having regard to the lead-in times required 

to deliver the necessary infrastructure to ensure the delivery of a sustainable community. It is 

envisaged at this point that the new strategic site will start to have completed dwellings in 

approximately 2026. Any acceleration would be dependent on significant forward funding of the 

major infrastructure required to support this scale of development. On the basis of completions on-

site starting in 2026 a housing phasing strategy based on Table 5 is proposed. This will need to be 

refined as part of preparation on the new Local Plan. 

 

 

 

 

 



Local Plan Housing Statement | December 2016 

19 

 Net Dwellings Delivery (approx.) 

Total New Strategic Site Delivery 1650 Delivery 2026 – 2036 at 
average of 150 dwellings 
per annum 

Remaining parts of the Borough 7867 Delivery 2011 – 2036 at 
315 dwellings per annum 

Table 5: Potential target/phasing approach for housing delivery 2011-2036 (figures may not add up due to 
rounding) 

 

3.39 Further work will be undertaken to confirm whether the market can support this quantum of 

development (i.e. whether housebuilders are able to build out at this rate). This will be investigated 

as appropriate in preparation for the new Local Plan. 

 



Local Plan Housing Statement | December 2016 

20 

4. Conclusion  
4.1 The Local Plan Housing Statement is a fundamental part of the process of preparing the Havant 

Borough Local Plan 2036. Alongside this, once adopted by the Council, it will also provide a clear 

position statement as to which sites the Council consider constitute sustainable development under 

the NPPF.  This will ensure that positive planning for the Borough’s future continues until the new 

Local Plan is adopted. 

4.2 The Council has been extremely thorough in examining all potential land across the borough and 

has ‘left no stone unturned’ in the search for sustainable sites for development. Taking all the above 

potential sources into account the total potential supply from 2011-2036 is 9,517 dwellings.  The 

Borough Council will continue to search for additional sustainable sites when formulating the new 

Local Plan in order to further reduce the 1,733 dwelling gap with the aim of fully meeting the 

objectively assessed need. 

4.3 However, as the overall need figure is based on and applied across the HMA ( including six local 

authorities within PUSH), it is expected that the 1,733 dwelling shortfall will need be addressed by 

those other authorities that have more extensive land availability that is free from similar high level 

constraints (as used in the background analysis undertaken by Havant Borough Council). Similarly it 

is acknowledged that Havant Borough is on the edge of the HMA so it is equally important to liaise 

with our neighbours at Chichester District Council.  

4.4 The Council will continue to work positively with the other PUSH local authorities in the HMA 

together with Chichester District Council to ensure it can meet the full objectively assessed housing 

needs in the Borough in so far that it is consistent with the policies in the NPPF and fulfils its 

responsibility under the Duty to Cooperate.  

Guiding Principle 6 

The Council will continue to fully comply with our Duty to Cooperate under the NPPF. We will work 
with nearby local authorities with the aim of reducing or eliminating any identified but unaddressed 
housing need. We will also continue to work with other relevant organisations to ensure that the 
step change in development which must take place in the Borough does so in a way which 
constitutes sustainable development as defined in the NPPF. 

 

  



 

 

 
  



 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Havant Borough Local Plan 2036 

 
 

Local Plan Housing 
Statement 
Annex A: Explanation of terms and site map booklet  

 

December 2016 



Local Plan Housing Statement | December 2016 

1 

 



 

 

1. Explanation of terms 

Overview  
1.10 This annex sets out a detailed explanation of the terms used in the Local Plan Housing Statement 

and also includes maps of all the sites identified in Table 2. 

Explanation of terms and figures 
1.11 The need for new housing in Havant Borough has been calculated through the 2016 Objectively-

Assessed Housing Need Update42, which was commissioned by the Partnership for Urban South 

Hampshire (PUSH), of which Havant Borough Council is a part. This study uses a set Government 

Methodology to establish the need for new housing. The figure for Havant Borough’s housing need 

is 11,250 up to 2036. 

Term used Explanation Number 

Completed dwellings 
(2011/12 – 2014/15) 

The existing local plan covers the period 2006 -2026. 
All the dwellings count that have been built under the 
existing local plan since 01/04/2011 when the new 
local plan starts. 

1693 

Permissions (outstanding 
planning permissions at 
01/04/16) 

The amount of new homes provided if all homes with 
planning permission on 01/04/2016 are built out. This 
is the most up-to-date data available. 

1863 

Allocations in current Local 
Plan (yet to be 
completed/permitted at 
01/04/16) 

The allocations set out in the Adopted Local Plan43 
without planning permission at 01/04/2016. This is the 
most up to date data available. 

1694 

Windfall Development (up 
until 2036) 

Windfall is housing that comes forward on small sites 
that could not be foreseen, e.g. a house is demolished 
and 4 new homes built, make 3 net additional homes. 
Windfall is based on past trends in each of five areas 
of the Borough and further detail is available in the 
Analysis and Justification Background Paper44.   

1191 

Additional sites inside the 
urban area 

Further brownfield sites, on top of those identified 
through the Adopted Local Plan, on brownfield sites in 
the Borough’s urban areas. 

65 

Additional sites outside of 
the urban area 

The minimum amount of new housing which would be 
provided from all urban extension sites in Table 2. 

1361 

Denvilles and Emsworth 
Strategic Site 

Minimum amount of new housing which would be 
provided from the strategic site. 

1650 

                                                
 
 
 
42

 This is available on the PUSH website at http://www.push.gov.uk/item_12_-_appendix_2_housing_oan.pdf.  
43

 Which is comprised of the Local Plan (Core Strategy) (http://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-
environment/planning-policy/local-plan-core-strategy) and Local Plan (Allocations) 
(http://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/local-plan-allocations). 
44

 http://www.havant.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Windfall%20Background%20Paper%202013.pdf 

http://www.push.gov.uk/item_12_-_appendix_2_housing_oan.pdf
http://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/local-plan-core-strategy
http://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/local-plan-core-strategy
http://www.havant.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/local-plan-allocations
http://www.havant.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Windfall%20Background%20Paper%202013.pdf


 

 

2. Site maps – Individual sites 

proposed for ‘early release’ 

shown in orange 
2.1 This section sets out maps of the proposed greenfield urban extension sites which are set out in 

Table 2 of the Local Plan Housing Statement. 

Emsworth Sites 
 Long Copse Lane (260) 
 Land to the rear of Redlands House (5) 
 Land north and west of Selangor Avenue (154) 

 
Total through urban extensions in Emsworth: 419 

 
N.B. The Urban extension sites are in addition to sites in the Emsworth Area that will have 
outstanding planning permission, may be allocated in the existing Local Plan but do not have 
permission plus an allowance for windfall development on small sites. 
 



 

 

  

Long Copse Lane (260) 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

Land to the rear of Redlands House (5) 

 
  



 

 

 

Land north and west of Selangor Avenue (154) 

 

  



 

 

Havant & Bedhampton 
 Littlepark House, Bedhampton (47) 
 Land south of Lower Road, Bedhampton (50) 
 Land east of Castle Avenue (60) 
 Southleigh Park House (35) 
 Forty Acres (300) 

 
Total in Havant and Bedhampton: 492 
 
N.B. The Urban extension sites are in addition to sites in the Havant and Bedhampton Area that will 
have outstanding planning permission, may be allocated in the existing Local Plan but do not have 
permission plus an allowance for windfall development on small sites. 
  



 

 

 

 

Littlepark House, Bedhampton (47) 

 

  



 

 

 

Land south of Lower Road, Bedhampton (50) 

 

  



 

 

 

 

Land east of Castle Avenue (60) 

 
  



 

 

 

 

Southleigh Park House (35) 

 
 
  



 

 

 

Forty Acres (300) 

 

  



 

 

Waterlooville 
 Land East of College Road (350) 

 Land North of Fort Purbrook (100)  
 

 
N.B. The Urban extension sites are in addition to sites in the Hayling Island Area that will have 
outstanding planning permission, may be allocated in the existing Local Plan but do not have 
permission plus an allowance for windfall development on small sites. 
  



 

 

 

Land East of College Road (350) 

 
 
  



 

 

   

Land north of Fort Purbrook (100) 

 



 

 

  



 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
       

 
 

Appendix 3: sites with 
uncertain potential at this 
stage - site maps  

 

December 2016 



1 

 
1. The sites in this appendix have been submitted through the consultation on the Draft Local Plan 

Housing Statement. The boundaries are the ones which were submitted through the consultation. 

2. The sites are noted in paragraph 3.25 of Appendix 2 of this report (Local Plan Housing Statement) 

as having uncertain potential for development at this stage. 

3. The site plans in this appendix are provided for illustrative purposes only. They do not confer any 

presumption as to whether they are considered suitable for development and so whether they would 

be included in the Havant Borough Local Plan 2036. 

4. Please note that no other identified development sites have been included on these maps. 



 

 

 

UE02a Land north of A27and further east of Castle Avenue 

 
  



 

 

 

UE54 Southmere Field, Langstone Road 
 

 
  



 

 

 

UE75 Helmsley House, Bartons Road 
 

 



 

 

 



HAVANT BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET 16 November 2016

STREET NAMING AND NUMBERING AND ADDRESS MANAGEMENT
Report by Head of Development

FOR DECISION

Portfolio and Cabinet Lead: David Guest

Key Decision - No

1.0 Purpose of Report 

1.1 To outline the proposal to introduce a Policy for Street Naming and 
Numbering and Address Management that would include introducing a 
charging scheme.  This includes the proposal that EHDC provide this service 
on behalf of HBC for a fixed cost with additional income coming back to HBC.

2.0 Recommendation 

It is recommended that Cabinet:

i) agrees the Policy for Street Naming, Numbering and Address 
Management;

ii) approves the schedule of charges that will come into force on 1 
January 2017;

iii) agrees that that, from 1 January 2017, East Hampshire District Council 
will provide this service on behalf of Havant for the sum of £20,000 per 
annum; and

iv) that any fee income paid to EHDC on behalf of HBC that exceeds 
£20,000 per annum will be reconciled back to Havant at the end of 
each financial year.

3.0 Summary

3.1 From 1 January 2017 Land Charges will be managed by Capita as part of the 
5 Councils Contract.  Street Naming/Numbering and Address Management is 
not part of this contract and the function will remain with the Council.  

3.2 The establishment post at HBC to provide the SNN/AM has been vacant since 
2013.  Since 1 June 2013 the service has been delivered through an EHDC 
employee working 2 days a week with the costs being recharged to HBC.



3.3 Some Councils have started charging for services.  In order to do this a formal 
policy for SNN/AM needs to be agreed and formally approved by Cabinet.  If 
we charge for services then customers would expect a certain level of service.  
A 2 days a week service with no cover during holidays or sickness would not 
be acceptable.  The service with EHDC would offer that resilience that cannot 
be provided by HBC.

3.4 At the present time the service costs the Council about £7,500 per annum.  By 
transferring the service to EHDC and introducing a charging policy it is 
envisaged that this would generate a net  £20,000 income per annum to HBC, 
after paying the £20,000 fee to EHDC.

4.0 Subject of Report 

4.1 We have a statutory duty to name and number streets and to approve and 
register  property addresses within the Borough.   The naming and numbering 
of properties is important as it  and allows the following:

 Emergency services to find a property quickly (delays can cost lives 
and money) 

 Mail to be delivered efficiently 
 Visitors to find where they want to go 
 Reliable delivery of services and products 
 Records of service providers to be kept in an effective manner 

4.2 The following services are provided:

 Changing an existing address
 Registering a new address on an existing street
 Registering a new street and addresses on the street
 Renaming an existing street or renumbering all existing properties on 

an existing street
 Ensuring that all properties in Havant are assigned an official address 

that is clear and unambiguous

4.3 HBC has no formal Policy for providing this service and has no published 
charges.  Some Councils in the last couple of years, as the financial 
constraints have continue to put pressure on Council budgets, have 
introduced formal policies and charging schedules.  At the present time if a 
new home is built by a developer no charge is made for the work that is 
undertaken, despite the costs incurred by the Council.  A new home cannot be 
sold unless it has an address that is formally registered.

4.4 There are different pricing structures that have been employed by other Local 
Authorities.  Some are complex and hard to understand.  I am suggesting the 
following which is simple and easy to understand and priced at a level that will 
cover all of the Councils costs and provide an income stream.

 Rename a Road = £300
 Rename a Property = £100



 First plot of any new development = £200
 Additional plots 2-20 = £40
 Additional plots over 21 and above = £30

4.5 Based on the volume of work received August 2015 to August 2016 the 
following income would have been received:

 Rename a Road = nil x £300 = 0
 Rename a Property = 10 x  £100 = £1,000
 First plot of any new development = 53 x £200 = £10,600
 Additional plots 2-20 =  123 x £40 = £4,920
 Additional plots over 21 and above = 742 x £30 = £22,260

4.6 The above would generate a total income of £38,780.  The volume of 
work/income generated will fluctuate based on the housing market.  For 
example, the previous years income would have been £26,550.  However, it 
should be noted that currently the Local Plan requirement is for 315 homes pa 
and the new Local Plan is suggesting a step change in housing delivery of up 
to 450 homes per annum.  The proposal generates income while at the 
present time there is a net cost of providing this service.

4.7 The proposal is that the service would transfer to EHDC for a fixed cost of 
£20,000 per annum.  EHDC would provide the management of the post, 
would collect all of the income (the aim being that the new system would allow 
applications on line, payments on line as part of the personalisation/self 
agenda).  The £20,000 would be paid for through the income collected with 
any income over this figure paid over to HBC at the end of the financial year.  

5.0 Implications 

5.1 Resources: 

5.1 EHDC would employ staff to deliver the service.  EHDC would charge HBC 
£20,000 per annum to deliver the service. The financial implications are listed 
below:

“As is” “Proposed”
Costs of Service £7,500 £20,000
Income £500 £40,000 (Est)

____________________
Net cost/Income (£7,500) £20,000

5.2 Legal:

5.2.1 The adoption of a Policy will allow HBC to charge for services.  EHDC will 
need to agree to providing the services on behalf of HBC at their Cabinet 
meeting on 17 November 2016.



5.2.2  Currently EHDC recharge officer time to HBC for providing this service two 
days a week.  The proposed service is now a “stand alone” service that EHDC 
is providing for HBC and charging for.  This will be covered by a S101 
agreement and the arrangement will last for a period of 3 years but will allow 
for earlier termination or extension. A service specification would be attached 
to the agreement but would provide for a 5 days a week service.

5.3 Strategy: 

5.3.1 This proposal meets the strategic priority to commission services.  The 
Service would be provided by EHDC who already provides services on behalf 
of HBC.

5.4 Risks: (Environmental, Health & Safety and Customer Access Impact 
Assessment)

5.4.1 Income achieved will go up as well as down as they are effected by the wider 
economy.  However, the area of work is likely to increase due to Havant’s new 
Local Plan which seeks to increase housing delivery.  If volume of work 
increases further staff resource could be required at EHDC in the future in 
which case the price for providing the service would increase.  This however, 
would be off set by additional income.

5.4.2 There could be some negative responses from the customers that use this 
service which is currently free.  However, the majority of the volumes of work 
come from private housebuilders who are already paying for these services in 
other Local Authorities.  

5.5 Communications: 

5.6 Agreement will be required by EHDC.  Customers will need to be made aware 
that from a particular date they will have to pay for services.

6.0 Consultation

Cabinet Briefing 

Appendices:

Appendix attached of the formal policy for Street Naming and Numbering that needs 
to be approved.

Background Papers: None

Agreed and signed off by:

Head of Legal Services: 6 October 2016
Head of Finance:  6 October 2016
Relevant Head of Service: 6 October 2016



Executive Board: 24 October 2016
Cabinet Lead: 6 October 2016

Contact Officer: Julia Potter
Job Title: Head of Development
Telephone: 01730 234376
E-Mail: Julia.potter@havant.gov.uk





1 Street Naming & Numbering Policy Draft October 2016

Street Naming & Numbering 
Policy Havant Borough Council 



2 Street Naming & Numbering Policy Draft October 2016

Havant Borough Council
Naming & Numbering Policy 

Contents
Page No 

1. Introduction  3

2. Purpose of Policy 3

3. Street Naming and Numbering Charges 3

4. National Land & Property Gazetteer (NLPG) 4

5. Operational Guidance 4

6. Street Nameplates 10

7. Postcodes 10

8. Claims for Compensation 10

9. Performance Monitoring 11

10. Contact Details 11

Appendices:

Appendix A - Distribution List

Appendix B - Details of Proposed Level of Charges

Appendix C -  Street Name Specification



3 Street Naming & Numbering Policy Draft October 2016

Naming & Numbering Policy 

1. Introduction

1.1 Havant Borough Council is the Local Authority responsible for the administration of the street 
naming and numbering process (SNN), to ensure that all properties are officially addressed. 
The address of a property is important because organisations such as the Royal Mail, 
Emergency Services, delivery companies as well as the general public need an efficient and 
accurate means of locating and referencing properties.

1.2 New street names supplied will need to be accepted by the Local Authority and will be subject 
to a consultation process with the appropriate Ward Councillors, Emergency Services and 
Royal Mail primarily to avoid duplication or confusion arising from use of similar names in 
close proximity but also fitting with the Naming Conventions found in Item 5.2.

1.3 New addresses and amendments to existing addresses are registered by Royal Mail when 
notified by the Local Authority as the responsible body. Postcodes are allocated by Royal Mail 
and allocation is made in conjunction with the official addresses initiated by the Local 
Authority.

2. Purpose of Policy

2.1 This policy provides a framework for the Council to operate its SNN function effectively and 
efficiently for the benefit of residents, businesses, developers  and visitors.

2.2 The Policy defines:-
 Protocols for determining official street names and numbers.
 Recommendations to prevent confusion by duplicating or using similar names to any 

already in use

3. Street Naming and Numbering Charges

3.1 Street naming and numbering is a discretionary service provided at the request of developers 
or property owners and therefore the Council can legally charge for these service.  

3.2 For Street Naming and Numbering these charges cover:
 Consultation and liaising with other external organizations such as Royal Mail, 

and Emergency Services (as a non-statutory element of naming of streets).
 The Naming and Numbering of new properties (including conversions).
 Alterations in either name or numbers to new developments after initial naming and 

numbering has been undertaken.
 Notifications to those organizations listed in Appendix A
 Confirmation of addresses previously issued.



4 Street Naming & Numbering Policy Draft October 2016

 Challenges to existing official names, numbers or addresses held within the street 
naming and numbering records.

3.3 These charges are to be paid at the time of the application. 

3.4 Changes made without contacting the Council will be not be officially recognised and will 
not be registered with services and organizations listed in Appendix A. 

3.5 The Scale of Charges for Street Naming and Numbering can be found in Appendix B. 

3.6 Fees and charges applicable for the street naming and numbering service/s will be annually 
reviewed and publicised through the Council’s agreed communication channels including 
the website.

4. The National Land and Property Gazetteer (NLPG)

4.1 The NLPG is the definitive address list that provides unique identification of properties and 
conforms to the British Standard, BS7666:2006. The NLPG covers the whole of England and 
Wales and contains more than 30 million residential, business and non-mailing addresses.  
Local and National Government collectively is committed to using the NLPG for all of its 
addressing requirements and services.

4.2 The NLPG is a comprehensive and continually updated database, created by those with local 
knowledge in each local authority, the body with legal responsibility for street naming and 
numbering of property. As local authorities are the originators of addressing information an 
address dataset, developed and maintained at source by users of the data, will inevitably have 
the highest level of currency and completeness.

5 Operational Guidance

5.1 Street Naming Procedural Guidance

5.1.1 When a building regulation application has been approved the SNN officer will be 
informed by the developer, householder or Building Control. The applicant is 
responsible for making the request. 

5.1.2 For any development identified, the developer will be contacted; requesting suggested street 
names are submitted along with the appropriate fee. The Local Authority will inform the 
developer of the number of new street names required, this will include the request for a 
number of additional alternative names should any objection be raised to a proposed 
name. A self service portal will be available to applicants; this will be available on the 
authorities’ website. See appendix B for fees and charges.

 
5.1.3 The proposed street name(s) will be sought from the developer, but should the 

developer not put forward any suggestions, the Local Authority in conjunction with 



5 Street Naming & Numbering Policy Draft October 2016

Ward Councillors will seek suitable name(s). Any such name(s) will be forwarded to 
the developer for their comments.

5.1.4 If neither the developer of the new street/s nor the Ward Councillors can suggest 
name(s) then the Local Authority will allocate a name for the street(s).

5.1.5 When suggested names are received from the developer, a check of the suggestion(s) will 
be undertaken to ensure the name(s) are within the guidelines of the naming conventions.

5.1.6 If suggestion(s) are found to fall outside of the Naming Conventions set out in Item 5.2, then 
a written objection will be sent to the developer, informing of the reasons, together with a 
request for a further suggestion(s).

5.1.7 If the suggestion is found to be within the naming conventions, the proposed name(s) will be 
forwarded for consultation to Ward Councillors, Emergency Services and Royal Mail. As any 
objection has to be made by the Local Authority within one calendar month of receipt, a 
set time of 7 days will be given for the consultation period and the Local Authority must 
receive any objection within this time period.

5.1.8 If an objection is received from a consultee and found to be valid, a written objection will be 
sent to the developer, informing them of the reasons along with a request for further 
suggestion(s).

5.1.9 If no valid objections or reply are received from the consultees within the consultation 
period, a notice of adoption of street name will be sent to the developer.

5.1.10 Numbering of the new streets will be carried out as per the Numbering of Properties 
Conventions as Item 5.2. All properties on newly named streets will be allocated numbers.

5.1.11 The initial installation and costs of street nameplates for all new developments is the 
responsibility of the developers. It is expected that street name plates will be 
provided prior to the first occupation of the development. The developer should 
consult with Streets and Open Spaces with regards to suitability of the proposed 
street name plate locations. A signage specification can be found in Appendix C. 
Costs for works are published in our fees and charges schedule and can vary on local 
issues.

For any newly adopted streets the maintenance of the nameplate will become the 
responsibility of the local authority

5.1.12 If a scheme is to be developed in phases, the naming and numbering scheme will be 
issued for only the released phases.

5.1.13 Where a naming and/or numbering scheme is issued, the Local Authority will inform those 
bodies listed on Appendix A. 



6 Street Naming & Numbering Policy Draft October 2016

5.2 Naming Conventions

5.2.1 Wherever practicable a new street(s) with 5 or less properties and where the new street 
cannot be further extended, will be numbered into the primary road in which they are 
accessed. Experience has shown that roads with few houses are not well known and 
become difficult to locate.

5.2.2 Where a new road is an extension of an existing road, it will not be allocated a new street 
name and the properties will be numbered into the existing road.

5.2.3 Where a development includes a number of new roads, a theme for these roads will be 
requested. The developer may put forward any suggestion for the theme to the Local 
Authority to be considered. Once a theme has been agreed between the Local Authority 
and Ward Councillors the developer will be requested to provide suggested name(s) within 
this theme.

5.2.4 Developers are encouraged to preserve any historic link to the land which they are 
developing, e.g. field names the land may be previously known as, or previous property 
names located on site such as farm names or any other associated historic link.

5.2.5 Where no historic link to the land can be established for the use of a street name, the 
developer will be encouraged to have a historic link to the locality.

5.2.6 The use of a name, which relates to that of a living person(s), will not be adopted.

5.2.7 The name of a street should not promote an active organization.

5.2.8 Street names should not be difficult to pronounce or awkward to spell. Names that could give 
offence will not be used. Names that could encourage defacing of nameplates will be 
avoided.

5.2.9 New street names will not be acceptable where they duplicate or are similar to an existing 
name already in use within the district.

5.2.10 Street name suffixes are not always essential, but if used must be descriptive of the road 
e.g. “Road”, “Street” or “Drive” to indicate a thoroughfare and “Court” or “Close” to 
indicate a cul-de-sac.

5.2.11 The following is a list of possible suffixes, it is not exhaustive and sometimes other 
description words are more appropriate: Avenue, Chase, Circle, Close, Court, Crescent, 
Croft, Drive, Drove, End, Field(s), Garden(s), Green, Grove, Hill, Lands, Lane, Lawns, Mews, 
Paddock, Parade, Park, Path, Place, Ridge, Rise, Road, Row, Square, Street, Terrace, 
Vale, Valley, View, Villas, Walk, Way.



7 Street Naming & Numbering Policy Draft October 2016

5.2.12 Where an existing road is dissected by the construction of a new road, we may choose to 
rename either or both parts of the existing road, however consultation with the appropriate 
Ward Councillors will be under taken.

5.2.13 Punctuation will be used in street names, which have been approved after the 
implementation date of this policy revision. Existing street names and nameplates will not 
be affected by this policy revision.

5.2.14 We reserve the right to object to any suggested name deemed to be inappropriate.

5.3 Numbering Procedural Guidance

5.3.1 Official naming and numbering, or alterations to current official addresses will not be issued 
until such time as the appropriate Building Regulation application has been deposited. The 
numbering or renumbering of properties will be carried out in a similar way to that outlined in 
street naming (5.2.1 & 5.2.14)

5.3.2 Where a naming and/or numbering scheme is issued, the Local Authority will inform those 
bodies listed on Appendix A

5.4 Numbering Conventions

5.4.1 A new through road will be numbered with odds on the left hand side and evens on the right 
hand side.

5.4.2 A cul-de-sac will be numbered consecutively with number 1 of the left working in a 
clockwise direction, unless the cul-de-sac can be extended in the future.

5.4.3 Additional new properties in existing streets that are currently numbered will always be 
allocated a property number.

5.4.4 Private garages and similar buildings used for housing cars and similar will not be 
numbered.

5.4.5 A proper numbering sequence shall be maintained. Normally, in the interest of equality and 
diversity no numbers will be omitted from the numbering sequence, although should a 
strong preference be expressed, comments would be taken into consideration. Once 
numbered, the Local Authority will not normally re-number properties. The Local Authority 
will only renumber a property where it can be shown that there are consistent delivery 
problems or issues with emergency services.

5.4.6 Buildings (including those on corner sites) are usually numbered according to the street in 
which the main entrance is to be found. The manipulation of numbering in order to secure 
a “prestige” address, or to avoid an address which is thought to have undesired 
associations, will not be sanctioned.



8 Street Naming & Numbering Policy Draft October 2016

5.4.7 If a multiple occupancy building (i.e. flats) has entrances in more than one street, each 
entrance will be numbered into the appropriate road. 

5.4.8 We will use numbers followed by letter suffixes where there are no alternatives and to 
avoid the renumbering of other properties in the existing street. For example, these will be 
used where infill properties are built and insufficient numbers are available. Wherever 
possible infill properties requiring a suffix will be given the property number before the 
infill to maintain a proper numbering sequence.

5.4.9 Where a property has a number, it must be used and displayed. Where a name is given 
to a property together with its official number, the number must always be included. The 
name cannot be regarded as an alternative to the number.

5.4.10 All property numbers should be visible from the highway. This may mean numbers being 
displayed on posts, gates or fences (and not necessarily the door of the property) to aid 
easy identification of the property, particularly in the event of an emergency.

5.4.11 If open space or undeveloped areas exist along a length of road, it is usual to leave spare 
numbers.

5.4.12 No two buildings in one street may have the same number.

5.4.13 Where two or more properties are combined to form one single property, the property will 
usually be numbered using one of the existing numbers. This will normally be based on the 
location of the main entrance.

5.4.14 Flats will be numbered with their own separate number into the street where possible.

5.4.15 Annexes to buildings e.g. granny flats or ancillary accommodation, will be given the prefix 
“The Annex”. The rest of the address will be the same as the parent property e.g. The 
Annex, 1 High Street.

5.4.16 Moored Houseboats will form part of the Council’s LLPG, which in turn forms part of the 
National Land and Property Gazetteer. The Local Authority will only allocate an official 
address and inform Royal Mail where we have an operational requirement to do so or we 
believe the property is being used for permanent residency in the District and therefore 
subject to Council Tax. This will assist any emergency response and create a unique record 
for each property for future use. Such addresses will have to meet Royal Mails 
requirements for secure delivery points.

5.4.17 For any dwelling accessed internally through commercial premises, the accommodation will 
be given a prefix to match the accommodation type i.e. The Flat. The rest of the address 
will be the same as the parent property, e.g. where a flat above a public house and is only 
accessed internally, its address will be The Flat, Name of Public House, Street Number and 
Name. 



9 Street Naming & Numbering Policy Draft October 2016

5.5 Renaming and Renumbering of Streets and Buildings

5.5.1 Renaming of a street and renumbering of buildings is very time-consuming process and 
may cause costs or disruption to individual occupiers and owners and wherever possible will 
be avoided. Hence, it is usually only done as a last resort i.e. renaming of a street is 
normally only considered if consistent problems occur for the Emergency Services and 
the renumbering of properties is only considered when infill etc. is so great, that numbers 
to the new properties cannot be allocated. The existing street may then be subject to a 
renumbering scheme.

5.5.2 It should be appreciated that changing a street name or renumbering properties can 
cause a great deal of inconvenience for residents. The Council is therefore reluctant to 
make changes without good reason. Before making any changes we will consult with all 
residents affected by the proposals. It is unlikely that the Council would proceed with a 
proposal unless two thirds of the residents support the change. The renaming of a street 
involves a legal process that gives any resident who may object the right to appeal to a 
Magistrates Court. The Council may require residents requesting a change of street name 
to pay the Council’s cost for the process.

5.5.3 Where any order for renaming of a street is made, the Ward Councillors will be consulted.

5.5.4 Where an order for renaming of a street is made the proposed name must follow the naming 
procedures and must also fall within the naming conventions.

5.5.5 Where renumbering and/or renaming is involved,  as much warning as is practicably 
possible will be given. The notice to occupiers will give a specific date on which the new 
naming or new numbering comes into effect, which will be at least 4 weeks from the date 
of the notice

5.5.6 Where a re-naming and/or re-numbering scheme is issued, the Local Authority will inform 
those bodies listed in Appendix A.

5.6 Property Naming

5.6.1 The owner (not tenant) of a property may request the addition, amendment or removal of a 
name for their property. An application form should be completed and returned to the Local 
Authority along with the appropriate fee.

 5.6.2 The Local Authority cannot formally add, amend or remove a property name where the 
property is in the process of being purchased, that is, until the exchange of contracts, 
although guidance of the acceptability of a name may be given.

5.6.3 A check will be made by the Local Authority to ensure that there is no other property in the 
locality with the registered or similar registered name. Under no circumstance will a 
replicated name in the locality be allowed.



10 Street Naming & Numbering Policy Draft October 2016

5.6.4 Under no circumstances will a name that is offensive, or that can be construed as offensive, 
be allowed.

5.6.5 If a proposed property name is refused, then the owner will have the option to provide 
further suggestions or retain the current address.

5.6.6 Where a property has a number, it is not possible to replace the number with a name. The 
name cannot be regarded as an alternative.

5.6.7 Where an amendment to a property name is carried out, the Local Authority will inform 
those bodies listed in Appendix A

6 Street Nameplates

6.1 The Local Authority is responsible for the replacement and repair of street nameplates in 
its own administrative area. Nameplates will be erected and replaced whenever required, 
taking into account both financial restraints and requirement.

6.2 Where a street is approached only from one direction only one nameplate will be erected 
and this will face the direction of approaching traffic. Where a road can be approached from 
both directions, nameplates on either side of the junction will be erected. Nameplate(s) will 
also be erected at any junction or entrance onto the street.

6.3 The nameplates erected within the Havant Borough Councils area will be as per the 
nameplate specification. (See Appendix C)

6.4 Requests for “No through road” symbols to be added to street nameplates, will only be 
considered when erecting new nameplates.

7 Postcodes

7.1 An important element of addressing is the Postcode. The Postcode allocation is the 
responsibility of Royal Mail and identifies a number of postal delivery points and a postal 
town as defined by Royal Mail. The Local Authority is not responsible for allocating these 
codes.

Royal Mail will allocate a postcode on receipt of the official naming and numbering 
scheme from the Local Authority but the postcode will be held in “reserve” (the not yet 
built file) until Royal Mail is notified by either the developer or owner that the property 
is occupied.

7.2 Royal Mail does not publish on its website addresses that are not completed and/or 
occupied. This means that in certain cases addresses that have been officially allocated and 
issued by the Local Authority may not, for a while, be visible to anyone using the Royal Mail 
website to validate an address. This may also mean that other organisations using the 



11 Street Naming & Numbering Policy Draft October 2016

Royal Mail address database (Postcode Address File) will also not be able to validate 
addresses. 

7.3 The Local Authority is not liable or responsible for third parties updating their databases with 
address information.

7.4 Developers, owners and tenants should be aware that their properties may not have the 
same postcode as the surrounding or existing properties. 

8 Claims for compensation

8.1 The Local Authority is not liable for any claims for compensation arising directly or 
indirectly from the naming of streets, re-naming of streets, numbering or renumbering of 
properties, renaming/renumbering of properties.

8.2 The property developer must not give any postal addresses, including the postcode, to 
potential occupiers, either directly or indirectly (for example via solicitors or estate agents) 
before the official naming and numbering scheme has been issued by the Local Authority. 
The Council will not be liable for any costs of damages caused by failure to comply with 
this.

9 Performance Monitoring

9.1 The street naming and numbering team will either send written adoption or objection of the 
proposed street name(s) to the proposer within one calendar month of receiving the 
proposed street name(s).

9.2 All requests for property name changes will be dealt within one calendar month. 
However, to provide the best service to our customers, we will aim to turn requests around 
within 10 working days.

9.3 We promise to notify the Local Authority’s LLPG and inform the bodies listed on the 
distribution list (Appendix A) within 5 days of a naming and/or numbering scheme being 
issued.

9.4 We aim to respond to all Street Naming and numbering enquiries within 5 working days. 

10 Contact Details
Street Naming and Numbering
XXXXXXXX
XXXXXXX
XXXXXX
XXXX
Tel: 
Email: 



12 Street Naming & Numbering Policy Draft October 2016

APPENDIX A:

Distribution List for Street Naming and Numbering Information Internal:
Electoral Roll
Land Charges
Local Land and Property Gazetteer Custodian (LLPG) 
Council Council Tax

External:

Hampshire Fire & Rescue
Ambulance Service 
Hampshire Police
County Council Highways
Southern Water 
Thames Water
British Telecom 
Ordnance Survey
Land Registry
British Gas Transco
Royal Mail



APPENDIX B: Street Naming and Numbering Charges

Havant Borough Council

 Street Naming & Numbering Charges

From 1st January 2017
Street Naming and Numbering Charges from 1st January 2017

The naming and numbering of streets and buildings is the responsibility of the 
Council. The service is provided at the request of owners or developers and 
the Council can charge an appropriate fee for this service.

There are 4 types of charges that apply for the Street Naming and Numbering 
services;

• Addition/Amendment/Removal of property names (both for residential 
and commercial properties)

• New development on existing street (numbering of properties only 
required);

• New development to include naming of new streets (naming of streets 
and numbering of properties); 

Havant Borough Council  
Schedule of Charges Street Naming and Numbering Service 

(January 2017)

Property Name Additions/Amendments
• Rename a Road £300
• Rename a Property = £100
Numbering of New Properties
• First plot of any new development = £200
• Additional plots 2-20 = £40
• Additional plots over 21 and above = £30

These charges are not subject to VAT.

All fees are payable at time of application.



APPENDIX C: Havant Borough Councils  Street Name Plate Specification

SPECIFICATION

1. GENERAL SPECIFICATION

1.1 Manufacture Street nameplate 

90mm Black Cast Vinyl Kindersley lettering and border with rounded corners 
applied using pressure roller, to the reverse of anti-glare    Polycarbonate sheet 
with White Cast Vinyl background, generally 150mm deep, signs with two lines of 
Kindersley generally 300mm deep. Length to suit.

 
Subsidiary lettering to be 52.5mm (37.5mm ‘x’ height) Black Cast Vinyl, Transport 
heavy style all in lower case, except first letter.  

40mm minimum space between letter and border (or “No through road (816.1)  
symbol if applicable) at both ends.

All costing of ie. lettering/arrows/numbers/colours etc. eg. “Odd Nos.1-9” including 
all legends are to be incorporated within size of sign excluding Item 8 “Borough of 
Havant”.

Black border (and panel dividers where appropriate) 12.5mm depth with rounded 
corners “Scotchal” or similar approved edging.

No Through Road 816.1 symbol to be included on the end of the plate if required.  
The symbol will be enclosed by a continuation of the surrounding border unless 
requested otherwise. Minimum overall width 130mm within border. Minimum 
overall depth 120mm within border. Minimum symbol width 80mm. Minimum 
symbol depth 100mm.

“Borough of Havant” (Item 8 Provisional) if required. 49mm actual height (35mm ‘x’ 
height). Red cast vinyl Transport medium style letters in lower case centred on a 
single line positioned at bottom as per Provisional Standard Street Nameplate 
Details.

2 no Black Solid Recycled Plastic Posts 80 x 80 x 1500mm (unless specified 
separately) with moulded four way chamfered top, slotted at top to accept 30mm 



thick Recycled Plastic Plank, with signface and capping, of depth and length to 
suit.

Plank signface and capping to be fixed into post slot with 2 no 50 x 6mm screws 
each side recessed into post and capped with plastic bungs, or similar approved.

The signface to be fixed to plank using suitable adhesive and capped top and 
bottom with Black powder coated extruded aluminium channel to protect exposed 
edges of signface, with Black zinc plated Stainless Steel rustproof security screws.

Anchor pins to be used at bottom of each post at least 150mm in  length.

All signs/lettering (excluding the Kindersley alphabet) shall be to Department for 
Transport specification unless otherwise specified. 

See attached photograph for standard Street nameplate unit and lettering layout to 
comply with Department for Transport. Not including Kindersley alphabet.





NON EXEMPT

HAVANT BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET 16 November 2016

Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18
Report by Service Manager (Revenues & Benefits)

FOR RECOMMENDATION 
TO COUNCIL

Portfolio: Governance & Organisational Development

Key Decision: No

1.0 Purpose of Report 

1.1 To agree the Council Tax Support Scheme for 2017/18.

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 That Cabinet recommends to Council the following:

1) that the 2016/17 Council Tax Support Scheme is retained for 2017/18 but 
with the following amendments:

(i) the Allowances and Premiums used in determining entitlement  for 
working age claims are changed as set out in paragraph 5.3 of this 
report

(ii) the Non-Dependant deductions used in determining entitlement for 
working age claims are changed as set out in paragraph 5.4 of this 
report.

2) that the necessary amendments are made to the Council Tax Support 
Scheme document and that it is then published in accordance with Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 Section 13A(2)

3.0 Summary 

3.1 The localised Council Tax Support scheme was introduced by the Local 
Government Finance Act 2012 to replace the national Council Tax Benefit  
scheme from 1/4/13

3.2 The legislation imposes a duty on each Council to adopt a scheme by 31 January 
each year to apply for the forthcoming financial year

3.3 This report puts forward a recommended approach for 2017/18.



NON EXEMPT
.

4.0 HBC’s current scheme

4.1 HBC’s current scheme is based on the Department for Communities & Local 
Government (DCLG) default scheme (which mirrored the former council tax 
benefit scheme) but with a reduced maximum amount of support available for 
certain working age households.

4.2 The scheme requires a minimum payment of 8.5% of the council tax liability from 
all working age households apart from those in receipt of disability related 
incomes. For these households, the scheme therefore offers a slightly reduced 
level of support compared to the former council tax benefit scheme.

4.3 Scheme expenditure and caseload has reduced since 2013/14 mainly as a result 
of the improving economic situation;

Council tax support scheme caseload and expenditure 

Cases in payment 
on 31 March

Amount of 
benefit  paid 
out

note

2012/13 11,118 £9,174,118 last year of council 
tax benefit

2013/14 10,569 £8,632,007
2014/15  10,059 £8,207,832
2015/16 9,788 £7,916,713
2016/17 9,695 £8,024,831 Actual to 30/09/16

2016/17 est. 9,590 £7,917,000

5.0 2016/17 scheme 

5.1 The estimated cost of retaining the current scheme for 2017/18 is £7,920,000.
This estimate assumes that the current caseload pattern continues for the 
remainder of 2016/17 and through 2017/18. The estimate also takes account of 
the possibility that the relevant precepting authorities will levy the same increase 
in their Council Tax precept from 1 April 2017 as was levied in 1 April 2016.   

5.2 Uprating – this is the process under which various elements (Personal 
Allowances, Premiums and Non-Dependant deductions) used in the calculation 
of entitlement under the scheme are altered to reflect inflation and changes to the 
level of pensions and other Benefits.

5.3 Personal Allowances and Premiums – the arrangements for pensioners within 
our scheme are prescribed by the DCLG and they will be advising Councils of the 
new figures that must be included in our scheme for 2017/18. However, for 
working age claims it is for the Council to decide. The Personal Allowances and 
Premiums in our current scheme match those that are used to calculate Housing 
Benefit for working age claimants. To retain this consistency with the Housing 



NON EXEMPT
Benefit scheme, it is recommended that the Council adopts the same figures that 
the DWP will be specifying for the Housing Benefit scheme for 2017/18. The 
DWP will advise councils of these in due course but it is expected that the DWP 
will continue to freeze the personal allowances and premiums for 2017/18.

5.4 Non-Dependant deductions – our current Council Tax Support scheme includes 
the same levels for non-dependant deductions for both pension age and working 
age claims. The DCLG will be prescribing the revised non dependant deduction 
levels for pension age claims and to retain consistency, it is recommended that 
the revised figures set by the DCLG for pension age claims for 2017/18 are also 
adopted for working age claims for 2017/18. The DCLG will advise councils of 
the amounts in due course

6.0 Implications 

6.1 Resources: 

Taking into account the assumptions outlined in paragraphs 5.1 – 5.4, the 
estimated cost of retaining the current scheme for 2017/18 is £7,920,000. 
Retaining the current scheme would require no increase in staffing or other 
administration costs

6.2 Legal:

The Council has a statutory duty to operate a Council Tax Support scheme. Any 
changes to the current scheme for 2017/18 must be adopted by full Council by 
31/01/2017.

6.3 Strategy: 

The Council Tax Support scheme provides financial assistance to those on low 
incomes. The proposed scheme retains comparable levels of support to those 
provided for in the 2016/17 scheme. 

6.4 Risks: 

A full Customer Impact Assessment of the proposed 2013/14 scheme was 
completed during 2012. The proposed scheme for 2017/18 differs only marginally 
from the 2013/14 scheme. 

An increase in caseload would lead to an increase in the cost of the scheme. 
However, the trend over the last 18 months has been for caseload to decrease 
and this is expected to continue. 

6.5 Communications: 

Hampshire County Council will be advised of the proposed scheme for 2017/18 
on behalf of the major precepting authorities. It is not anticipated that they will 
have any difficulties with the proposal. As the proposed scheme for 2017/18 
retains comparable levels of support to those in the 2016/17 scheme, it is 
considered unnecessary to undertake any further public consultation.



NON EXEMPT
6.6 For the Community:

The Council Tax Support scheme provides financial assistance to those on low 
incomes. The proposed scheme for 2017/18 retains comparable levels of support 
to those provided for in the 2016/17 scheme and does not therefore impose an 
significant additional burden on council tax payers.

6.7 The Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) has been completed and 
concluded the following:

An Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) of the 2013/14 scheme was completed in 
2012.

8.0 Consultation 

Portfolio Holder
Finance 
Legal 
Hampshire County Council will be made aware of the proposed scheme.

Appendices: 

None

Background Papers: 

None
Agreed and signed off by:

Legal Services: 02/11/16
Head of Finance & Assets:  02/11/16
Head of Customer Services: 14/10/16
Cabinet Lead: 17/10/16 

Contact Officer: Mike Ball
Job Title: Service Manager (Revenues & Benefits)
Telephone: 01730 234171
E-Mail: mike.ball@easthants.gov.uk



NON EXEMPT

             

HAVANT BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET 16 November 2016

COUNCILLOR DEVELOPMENT PANEL
Report by the Democratic Services Team Leader 

FOR DECISION

Governance and Organisational Development Portfolio:  Councillor Michael 
Wilson

Key Decision: No

1.0 Purpose of Report

1.1 To appoint an additional member to the Councillor Development Panel.

2.0 Recommendation

2.1 That Councillor Faith Ponsonby be appointed to the Councillor Development 
Panel.

3.0 Summary

3.1 At its meeting on 7 September 2016 the Cabinet appointed a Councillor 
Development Panel oversee implementation of the Councillor Development 
Strategy, the Councillor Training and Development Programme and an Action 
Plan for taking forward accreditation.

3.2 The Panel held its first meeting on 17 October and, with the agreement of the 
Chairman it is now proposed that, in addition to those members previously 
appointed by the Cabinet, membership of the Panel be extended to include 
Councillor Faith Ponsonby.

4.0 Implications 

4.1 Resources:

Funding for the accreditation scheme is incorporated within the Councillor 
Training and Development Budget.

4.2 Legal:

None arising directly from this report.



NON EXEMPT

4.3 Strategy:

The Council has in place a Strategy for Councillor Training and Development.

4.4 Risks: 

None arising directly from this report.

4.5 Communications:

None arising directly from this report.

4.6 For the Community:

4.7 The Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) has been completed and 
concluded the following:

Not applicable.

5.0 Consultation

Presentation by South East Employers to Cabinet members.

Appendices:
None

Background Papers:
None

Agreed and signed off by:

Governance and Organisational Development Cabinet Lead – Cllr M Wilson:  31 
October 2016

Contact Officer: Penny Milne
Job Title: Democratic Services Team Leader
Telephone: 023 9244 6234
E-Mail: penny.milne@easthants.gov.uk

mailto:penny.milne@easthants.gov.uk





	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Cabinet Lead Delegated Decisions, Minutes from Meetings etc.
	8 Local Plan Housing Statement
	Appendix 1 - consultation responses
	Appendix 2 - Local Plan Housing Statement
	Appendix 3 - Sites with uncertain development potential

	9 Street Naming and Numbering and Address Management
	street-naming-and-property-numbering-policy HBC 2016 Version 2

	10 Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18
	11 Councillor Development Panel
	13 Exempt Cabinet Lead Delegated Decisions

